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PREFACE

There is an inescapable verdict of history, and it does not take a genius

to comprehend, that nati i 3 e A :

" ons which ignore their history are ignored by their
geography. History is not simply a record of past events; it is the
_qumtcssencc of the accumulated ethos of .the generations of mankind. It does
not, however, make history or its lessons remote, alien and elusive. Its
immediacy, its relevance and its importance assume greater worth and value,
specially, for a nation which has suffered geographical split in the recent past.
Study of the history of Pakistan, in this regard, presents a classic example of a
stupendous struggle for freedom, a villainous neglect of its ideology and a
criminal betrayal of the idealism of its founding-father.

All the great nations of the world, therefore, remain devotedly attached
to the achievements of their ancestors, learn valuable lessons from their
mistakes and determine their future course of action accordingly.
Unfortunately, ours is a nation, which is utterly oblivious of its past.

Pakistan was an idea in 1930, ah ideal in 1940 and reality in 19_4?.
Pakistan appeared on the map of the world as a result of an incredible
miracle but it also had to grapple with enormously painful ordeals and
turmoils. Those who were born at the dawn of independence, themselves
became fathers and mothers without ever being told by anyone lha_ll the
freedom, peace and prosperity being enjoyed by them were not achieved
overnight. These were the outcome uf_ several years of valiant and %tanic
struggle of men of courage, determination and prudence.

It is so often projected by the Hindus and by somfa.of our own so-
called intellectuals that Pakistan is a product of the British Imperialism
but history bears witness to 'thc fact that the Muslims of the
subcontinent achieved their _chenshccl g:}_al of freedom !:ay the Grace of
Allah and by virtue of their own herq:c strugglée which was full of
supreme sacrifices. They were not indebted to anyone for their
freedom, nor was it given to tl?cm in charity. On the contrary, it was the
Indian National Congress which had been born and brought up under
British patronage. It were the Hindus themselves who had received in
charity from the British the resources, the assets and the territories
which were car_marked for Pa'lustan. Even after six decades, the Hindus
are still conspiring to undermine our very existence.

It is, therefore, the need of the hour that every Pakistani should be
made fully aware of that mighty struggle which led to the creation of
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Pakistan. Every Pakistani must understand the necessity, the rationale and
the genesis of Pakistan — a promised land and country full of promise for
the Muslims of the subcontinent. He must, as a first step, know the answer
to the questions concerning the Hindu bigotry, their psychic vindictiveness
and ego-centric views of Akhand Hindustan. He must also understand the
socio-economic, religious and political endeavours that contributed to the
establishment of the All-India Muslim League and the righteousness of its
struggle to maintain the separate identify of the Muslims.

All the Pakistanis should be in no doubt about the answers to these
questions. In this book, we have endeavoured to answer these and other
such crucial questions. The degree of our success in this connection
will be judged from the feedback that we hope to receive from our
readers. We shall also be looking forward to the suggestions from our
readers about further improving the quality of this book.

This is a humble attempt on our part o portray the creation of a
Muslim homeland in its true perspective. We firmly believe that the
contemporary newspapers, both English and vernacular, clearly reflected
the genuine feelings and thinking of the Muslims of the subcontinent.
Keeping in view this fact we have fully used the available newspapers.

In this book, we have presented purely Pakistani-point of view.-We
often hear that a historian should be objective whereas it is humanly
impossible to detach one's feelings from one's Writings. H.V. Hodson's case
is a test case who takes every care [0 justify the policies of the British and
the last Viceroy, Lord Mountbatten, in his book The Great Divide.

We are grateful to our friend, Sher Muhammad Garewal, Deptt. of
History, Government College, Lahore who read the manuscript carefully
and suggested some uscful amendments. We owe special thanks to
Saleemullah Khan, Research Coordinator, N.D.C., Islamabad, for
providing material for the book out of the precious collection at the
N.D.C. Our thanks are due to our colleague Abdur Rauf who translated
some of the chapters of the book, and Tariq Mahmood of the Lahore
Museum who composed the manuscript with utmost care. Above all, we
are thankful to Allah who, in His unbounded grace and mercy, helped
and sustained us in accomplishing this task.

MAO College, Ahmad Saeed
Lahore Kh. Mansur Sarwar
March 23, 2000.
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" THE WAR OF INDEPENDENCE
(1857)

The year 1857 is highly significant in the political and cultural history of
India. It marked the eventual collapse of the Mughal Empire which had
given birth 10 a great civilization. With this, the history of India entered a
new phase. It was a transitional period between two civihizations,
educational systems and philosophies of life. The old poliical and social
systems were replaced by new ones. Before analysing the causes that led
to the War of Independence, it scems necessary 1o determine whether we
are justified in using the term War of Independence for it, or, we should
usc the words like mutiny, rebellion or military uprising for the violent
events that took place during that period.

In the first place, it should be remembered that soldiers alone were
not involved in the events of 1857. In fact, the entire population of
India, actively and directly participated in the uprising. Even the British
politicians had to admit that the uprising was not confined only to the
soldiers. Lord Salisbury stated in the House of Commons that jt was

impossible (o beheve such a lve _movement
was tnggered only by the 1 On July 27, 1857 Benjamin

Disraeli who later on became the British Prime Minister declared that

he had itats sa | not merely an
outcome of the sufferings of the soldiers. In fact. the iers had

rmﬁmﬁolauny:ngtﬁ'&ckﬁwd&mﬂmlmﬂlw
prevailing in the country. According to Justice Carthey, “the truth js
that the peoples in most parts of Northern and North-Western of
[Wdia, had risen in revoll agai mwmw;%.;ug
affair was ound its way into this ammunition depot
ignited it: It was indeed a religious and national was >

" The reality is that not only the soldiers but ordinary people as well
mmmmwmmmnmmmcmy
fn}jﬁitmdimmhnmwdumm&ﬁngmmm

Nizami, /857 Ka Tareekhi Rognamcha, Delhi, 1958, p.8
*Edward Thompson, The Other Side of the Medal, London, 1926, pI2.
*Sundar Lal, San Sartawan, Delhi, 1957, p.6S.
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SAcruciating grievances had been rankling in the hearts of the people,

Which ultimately drove them on to the course of an all out rebellion.
Moreover, if for a moment, we believe that it was a military uprising

"E should pot forget that the Indian soldiers had revolted on several

kind of brutalities which were witnessed during the uprisings of 1857, If
& Was a military revolt, which law Justified the British rulers to inflict the

MOst inhuman atrocities on innocent people? Why were villages and

fowns burnt to ashes? Even Lord Canning hirnsc}f regarded it as an
COrganised rebell; 1on" instead of a scattered uprising.

Another question is that .if the Indians had gone to Britain as traders
and in the same cunning and treacherous manner had succeeded in
establishing their political domination over that country and if the. British
had resorted to a violent struggle t0 win back their freedom, what name
would they have given to their struggle? Would they call it the War of

Oor mutiny or military uprising? fact is that the British
Toops tortured, mutilated, burnt- to death® and killed hundreds of
thousands of Indians and in this atmosphere of constant terror and
bloodshed. the common people were afraid to speak out in public about
the real nature of their struggle. The overwhelming terror which ruled the
hearts of the common Indians can be imagined from an incident narrated
by Mrs. Coupland. Once an Indian jeweller went to an English lady with
a view to selling some of his jewels. While discussing the price, the lady

'Khaleeq Ahmad Nizami, op. cit., p.S.
Malik (ed) Political Profile of Sir Sayyid Ahmed Khan — A Documentary
Record, Islamabad, 1982, p.134. -
*Mian Mohammad Shafi, /857, Lahore, 1957, p.147.
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jokingly remarked that she would send him 1o Mexcalle * Hearmg fhes
the jeweller 0ok 10 his heels and never returmed” In such an semospihere
of horror when the Englisn used the term of “mutiny™ for the evesms of
1857, the Indians had 10 follow suit Later on, when e ciouds of wmor
began W disperse and the Indians became more and more vocsl and
outspoken, they began o realise the real nature of the straggie of 1857
and started using more realistic and nationalistic terms for 2 Ulsmuacdy.
this event became known as the War of Independence. Now cven the
modern British historians have staried 10 acoept the half-truth sbows the
War of Independence. Michael Edwardes afier quoting Bratish and Indus
historians writes that fthe truth is that the rebellion was more than 2
mutiny but a lot less than a War of Independence™ )

CAUSES

1. Military Revolt Th??’

The reaction of the Indian soldiers fusled 10 the fire of havred whach
was burning in the hearts of the common people against the Brimsh These
soldiers were fed up with the inhuman and unjust treazmens mesed ot 10
them by their English masters. The officials did not foed amy
hesitation in fnjuring the religious sent the soldiers. In 1806, Ser

( George Barlow ordered that from then onwards the Indian soldiers wowid
not be allowed while at parade to use the(rilak land 1o cover thewr heads with
the safa (A traditional Indian headdress or scarf). These orders infuriased
the local soldiers. Similarly, there was a difference betwesn the
salaries and living standards of the Indian and thew Enghish’
wmmymmﬂ:mmmnmah
local soldi aMMMgnﬁmthﬁm'de

lglmwkmm‘m.

id Mustafa Rizvi Jang-e-Azadi 1857, Delhi,

_ ; ; 1959, p.9.
leulEdwardn.ncde’ur.lmdm_lm.nll. :
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able o eam a salary equivalent (o that of a low ranking English soldier*
Such unfair treatment only served to Encuc th:; feelings of hatred in the

ian soldiers against the Company. _
hearts T:cf m"‘;& Christgi':nil)' was a parn qn_d parcel of the official
responsibilitics of the Company and the military cantonments and
barracks were considered to be the ideal places for this purpose. During
peace times, when the soldiers had nothing o do, the Company officials -
tied different methods to attract them towards Christianity. Lt.-Col.
Wheeler, the Commanding Officer of a sepoy regiment at Barrackpur,
used to distribute religious tracts among the sepoys and openly addressed
them with a view to Iytise. Referring to this the Englishman of
Calcutta on April 2, lgsglsicu‘m’mmed that “unless we are very greatly
misinformed Wheeler continues the practice even with increased zeal 1o
the present day. It was no wonder therefore that the men should be in an
excited state specially when such efforts at conversion are openly
declared, and that they would discover what they considered a plot 1o
betray them into loss of caste” ? An English army commander stated thas
for the last 28 years, he had been trying to convince the Indian soldiers 1o
become Christjans. He further stated in his official report that it had
always been an essential ingredient of his official duties to save the souls
of the non-Christians from the clutches of Satan?

Such policies
:mb;l'ttered the religious sentiments of the local soldiers.

n the Company officials ordered the Indian soldiers to go to
the overseas war-fronts, the Brahman Hindus felt it to be a direct

interference in their religious affairs, because overseas voyage was
considered to be a sin by the orthodox Hindus.

2. Religious Cause

the banner of Christianity.
Expressing this desire, Mangles, the chairman of the Board of Directors of
the Company once stated in the House of Commons in 1857, “Providence
has bestowed upon us the Empire of India so that the banner of Chast
should wave triumphant from one end of India to the other.* The British
Government genercusly patronised the Christian Missionaries who came to
India in large numbers. During their stay in this country they not only

'Khurshid Mustafa, op. cit., p.107.

*R.C. Majumdar, The Sepoy Mutiny and the Revolt of 1857, Calcutta, 1957, p-249.
*Sundar Lal, op. city., p.42.

*Sundar Lal, op. cit., p.43.
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plvfﬂia“’d their religion with full zeal and fervouwr but also undul
condemned and criticised the religions of the local people. A priest nu:m:l
Dr. Pfander came to0 India in 1854, made scathing attacks on Islam in his
hook Mizan-wl-Haq. M enraged and shocked the Indian Muslims. Another
pnest named(E. Edmond declared in an open letter in 1855 that since India
had come under one guv:mmcm.]t should also have only one religion ie.%)
Cmml)'->3ﬂ" another missiﬁnary(hev. Kennedy wrote, "We must
continue our efforts till all the people right from Cape Comorin to the
Himalayas embrace the religion of Christ and India becomes a magnificent
sation, the bulwark of Christianity in the East.' )

The Company officials invited their subordinates to their houses and
forced them to listen to the sermons of the priests. Sometimes, the priests
were accompanied by the local policemen. Every possible effort was made
under the official patronage to spread Christianity. In case, a region was hil
by famine, the orphans were admitted into orphanages where they were
forcibly converted to Christianity. Such incidents were witnessed in the
orphanages of, Sikandra during the famine of 1837.% These incidents opened
the eyes of the local people. They were convinced that the Company was
bent upon converting them to Christianity. In 1850, the Company passed a.
law stating that the change of religion would have no impact on inheritance.
Such steps transformed the suspicions of the people into conviction. And
they became fully aware of the Company’s real intentions. The Indians
became so sceptical that they even looked upon the positive steps of the
Bnosh Government such as the introduction of railways and telegraph with
suspicion, taking them to be the means of spreading Christianity to the far off’
areas. It may be a revelation for many people that until 1922, the money
which was spent on Churches was drawn from the Indian exchequer.® Sayyid *
Ahmad Khan believed that this very intervention in religious affairs was the
most important cause of the violent uprising of 1857.

3. Political Causes

The English had become the rulers of India by depriving the
Muslims of their government. They left na stone unturned in wiping out
a|l the traces of Islam and the Muslims from the country. After defeating
the Muslims politically, the English colonial fulers now started a well-
organised campaign to maligh the history, culture and religion of the
Muslims. The history books which were prepared and compiled under
their patronage presented a distorted picture of the Muslim history. T

books portrayed the Muslims as barbaric, brutal, wild, uncultured and
= b
:""-Bf- Savakar, The Indian War of Independence 1857, London, 1909, p.47. -
Pﬂ{ukal Profile of Sir Sayyid Ahmad Khan, p.145.

Paisa Akhbar (Lahore), July 27, 1922, p.2.

)
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| whereas \ depicted as innocent and .
| 'E““m 1 ﬂw:: the intention of exterminating the \ .
. R wraces of e dignity and prestige of the Mughal Empire,
mstgated the ruller of Avadh to.abandon his carlier title of Nawab Wazir
and W rule that tiny state with the title of Shah. This Wwas meant only to
hemiliate and degrade the Mughal Emperor whose Empire had then been
confined 10 the city of Delhi. When the rul?:hnf Avadh became kings,

% Empire was also confiscated by the English. |
hawrm English cﬂit_glri_sﬂ'éﬂ ‘their firm grip over all the
regions of India. However, they knew very well that in order to
establish their real glory and authority, they would have to remove the
Emperor Babadur Shah Zafar from the Red Fort. The old authority and
gory of the Mughals had already vanished and now the English
became busy plotting to wipe out the last vestiges of the Mugilnirule,
No douty, the Mughal. Empire had now been confined to the four walls
of the Red Fort (the Mughals were heirs to the illustrious traditions of
the past). They were the successors of Akbar, Jahangir, Shah Jahan and

Aurangzed. They still evoked respect and devotion in the hearts of
common people. Thus, the English could not tolerate the presence of
the powerless Mughal Emperor. First step towards diminishing even

the symbolic existence of the Mughal Empire was taken in 1827 when
Lord Amherst gave up the old style of writing letters to mperor. In
the new strategy the Enw:r?s supu-iun'_g;was recognised but all
references 1o his suzerainty or to the vassalage or allegiance of the East
India Company to the Mughal throne were excluded. In 1843, Lord
Elienborough stopped sending gifts to the Emperor on behalf of the
Company on Eid, Norooz and other important occasions. Charles Metcalfe
even did not like the idea of giving a formal respect to the Em !
This act, he thought, would amount to reviving the Mughal Empire.

Although the Company had established its hold all over India, it
did not like the presence of helpless and nominal Mughal Emperors
whose Empire was confined to the four walls of the Red Fort. The
humiliating gnd insulting attitude of the English towards the Mughal
Emperors enraged the Muslims and wounded their pride. Lord
Dalhousie further aggravated the situation by issuing a decree stating
that after the death of

Bahadur Shah Zafar, his heirs would have to
Vacate the Red Fort and

would not be allowed to use the title of
Eﬂmm for themselves. This, of course
Yhasty would loge even

h . urse, meant that the Mughal
Past. Such sl nominal historical vesti

i :
the s ated an immen

-
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4. Accession of States £a

Right from the beginning, the Company had been cherishing the
desires of conquering the whole country and ruling over it single-
handedly. Thus, one by one, it started occupying and annexing the
independent Indian states. This forcible annexation of states was carried
out on a massive scale during the period of Dalhousie. He did not
tolerate the existence of any other state which cou d pose a threat 10 the

activities and interests of the Company. Thus, hg annexed the following
cight States to the Britigh occ ied territories! Satarg/Jhan; "Sambalpur
(ﬁﬂﬁﬂ anjore( Carnati¢ andAv . This long list of xations ]odd
dispmporﬁunatc\tn thé couples of wars that were fought namely, the
Second Sikh War and the Burma War during his reign.
The Company resorted to an extreme form of injustice and cruelty
in this whole process. Hundreds of thousands of people, who were
associated with the courts of these states were faced with dire economic

problems and hardships after the annexation of their states.{Lord
Dalhousie used to say openly that it was the duty of the British

Cﬁ_iimmﬁﬁlﬂ?ﬂum[nﬁﬂm@[ and unfair opportunity which
would increase its wealth and nginat_ipn.ls
Let us have a look at the annexation of the state of Avadh and the

Marhatta state of Satara which had by then, assumed a symbolic status.
In order to occupy the state of Agg@‘@gﬂmpgymummm;ﬁm
was enforced and the Nawab of Avadh was forced to pay sixteen lac

rupées in exchange for the military expenses. This was the first step
towards ruining of the state exchequer. The Company went a step
forward and started a gradual confiscation of the fertile lands of the
state. Thus, very soon, the Company seized the important territories of
Rohailkhand and Doaba. The fertility of this region can be gauged from
The act that even at that time, it was the source of savings worth two

Under the subsidiary system, a Resident was“appointed in
Avadh. He started undue interference in the internal affairs of the state.
The English Resident Sir Henry Lawrence wrote ' in the(Calcutta

depicted by the historians reveal the fact that the illegal inte
the English in the affairs of the state, tarnished their own reputation and

ruined the lives of the rulers and the masses of the state.
In 1849 and 1850, the Company's Resident in Avadh, Colonel

Henry Sleeman, who was opposed to the idea of annexing the State with
the British Empire, undertook 2 detailed tour of the State. Due to his

'Mohammad Shafi, op. cit., p-148.
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VIR oppaition o

he Offve m 18s 4 llhl' the Uy ' entions, he was removed from

e dwty o th““\lh;:‘::?i:l:;:: hl:t:":::: ‘""Im“ r 5 rnl.;:;g“:d
prepared o dotaiied - | ole siiial "'.' " 23, he
NN and W analysing the state of affairs of all the
e iy TR OF the State which (ncluded roads, courts and
5 yavwell Outram strongly recommended the annexation of

Sk Thus, on Tanuary 2, 1856, after seeking the permission of the
Board of Control, the State was annexed 1o the British Empire. Outram
WORERY the cout of Nawab Waiid Ali Shah with a letter which said, “1

< Pwallingly hand over the charge of the State 1o the English” The Nawab

e

/

Jotusend w sign the document. Offers of large sums of bribery were made.

Then, be svas theoatoned with dire consequences. But, he remained
Jefiant and bhold his ground for three days. At last, the English army
marched into the palace, ransacked it and humiliated the ladies residing
there In this way, the State was forcibly annexed

Colone! Sleeman had wamed Dalhousie that the annexation of
Avadh would lead o l‘munnly in the Bengal army, for the State was the
great nursery of the sepoys. " Eventually, his apprehension came (rue.
The afore-mentioned tragic events provoked widespread anger and
hatred among the people of this region against the English. The people
were hit hard by the economic collapse which followed the State's
annexation The hardest hit were those cighty thousand soldiers who
suddenly found themselves jobless(“The soldiers of Avadh belonged (o
the privileged class and almost every family had some of its n,embu':
in the army. The annexation of the State brought degradation !nd
despair for them and gone was the respect among the people which
they had carlier enjoyed. An ex-Avadh soldier reported to Henry
Lawrence that in the past, whenever he visited his village, all the
people would stand up in reverence for him, the moment they saw him
coming towards them However, with the fall of Lucknow, things had
gone to the other extreme When he visited the village, even the lowest
villager took pleasure in puffing the smoke of his Hugqga (Indian pipe)
in his face. These frustrated and jobless soldiers of Avadh fought
desperately duning the War of Independence.

The people associated with the coun were faced with starvation.
Properties and lands were confiscated and auctiohed in an unprecedented
fashion [After 1853, 21000 out of 35000 properties were either confiscated
or auctioned ) The extent of outrage and anger sparked off by the
annexation among the inhabitants can be judged fron('Trevelyan's remarks
st cxen the water-cammiers refused (o bring water for the English. -+

T —

'The Red Year, p97.
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5. Injustjce with Nana Sahib

-The Hindu religious law not only permits but makes it almost
obligatory for a Hindu to adopt a son if he has no male offspring. The
Hindu law recognizes an adopted son to possess the same rights as a
real son duc:s On the other hand theoctrine of Lapse Jaid it down that
u-fc atinptmn of an heir would not be recognised and that in case a ruler
died issucless, his state would be annexed to the British territories. The
main sufferers, who took a leading part in the rebellion were Dhondu
Pant better known as Nana Sahib who was an adopted son of last
Peshwa, and the Rani of Jhansi, Lakshmi Bai, whose adopted child was
deprived of the right to succeed to the throne. ;

In Iﬁlf. (the 1ast Marhatta leader Baji_Raoj was removed from

power with'the promise that he would get eight lac rupees annually as
pension from the Company. In 1827, Baji Rao nominated Nana Sahib
as his successorbut with his death in 1851, Nana Sahib’s pension was
immediately stopped by the English. He was further told that the
Company could, at any moment, seize back the Jagir of Bithur. In
order to plead for the resumption of his pension, Nana Sahib sent a
lawyer named Azeem Ullah Khan to London. But it proved a futile
attempt. Nana Sahib was filled with disdain fgr the English and actively

participated in the War of Independence. { ;/ R S
J ' Rtk Z :
6.~ Economic Exploitation s s ,.f.uferj

The brutal economic exploitation of the Indians at the hands of the
Company is a unique phenomenon in the whole human history. Before
the arrival of the Company, all the government posts were held by the
Indians. The Hindus and the Muslims worked alike in all the
government departments. When the Company started occupying
different regions of the country, the local inhabitants had to undergo
severe economic hardships which were of two t}'pes.(Fi_r_gtly, all the key

posts were reserved for the English. The doors of all the h; h posts
were barred for the Indians. Secondly, the officials of the Company did
not come to India with the intention of a permanent TESidEnCE Here The
moment they were retired or left the job due to some other reasop, they

would transfer all their assets immediately to England. Thus, slowly but
surely, the wealth of India began to be transferred 1o England. At the

same time, the Company started plundering the wealth of the natives b

indulging in illegal private trade and other business transaction :
Moreover, those hundreds of thousands of people who were fo ls
associated with the courts of the rulers of the Indian States bl:cm 4
bankrupt as soon as these states were annexed to the British Empir:me
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The Company deliberately destroyed the nati ve
inclust -
srlk could easily compete with the Furopean silk Mu::ll:::'n?: indian
England soon stopped the import of silk from France and fdy. b el
silk of Bengal, which was bought at half the price of the French aUse the

silk, soon lhr.)dpd the markets of England.’ The Indian milk wunl:'I:::mun
rate and, at the same time, much better in quality than the French ;IT“':

ltahian silk. In order 1o ruin the local industry, the Britigh Clovernme
imposed heavy taxes on it. As a result, the export of Indian cloth w:
substantially reduced. In 1793, cloth worth 3645745 pounds was expored
from India to England. However, by 1849, this export had been reduced
just 36151 pounds. Besides imposing heavy taxes on the Indian
manufactured high quality cloth, the native carpet makers were subjected
dire cruelties. They were forced to abandon their profession and in many
cases they had their thumbs cut off,

In the judicial system, the Stamp Act was introduced which not
only made difficult for the Indians to seek justice but also added 1o their
economic hnrdshlps,ﬁ " 11“‘3

IMMEDIATE CAUSE

The Enfield Rifle (invented in 1852) was also introduced in India in
1856. Its cartridges had greased shells. In early January 1857 a Brahman
sepoy of the British Regiment stationed at Dumdum, north of Calcutta, was
walking leisurely to his chowka to prepare his food, with his lota full of
water.in his hand. On the way, he was asked by a low caste to let him drink
from his lotg. The Brahman refused. The low-caste rejoined with .some
amount of pungency that, *“You think much of your caste, but wait a little,
the Sahib-log will make you bite cartridges soaked in cow and pork fat, and
. then where will your caste be?" This rumour spread everywhere in the
twinkling of an eye and in the words of Sayyid Ahmad Khan, the cartridge
incident detonated the Whole magazine. Lord Canning and Henry

of the view that the cartridges formed the real and
proximate cause of the War” In a letter to Lord Elphinstone on May 6, 1857
Lord Canning wrote, “It is not possible to say with confidence what the
causes are, but with the common herd there is a sincere fear for their caste,
and a conviction that this has been in danger from the cartridge and other
causes”” Sir John Lawrence was also of the belief that the cartridge

question was the immediate cause of the War. ——

———

1
IMuhlmmad Shafi, op. cit., p.84.

3?1::3‘?“ and Subedar, The Last Days of the Company, Vol I, London, 1918, p.117.
Y. Raye, A History of the Sepoy War in India, 1870, Vol.l, p.550.
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THE OUTBREAK OF WAR

" : :
In April 1857, some soldiers stationed at cantonment refused

(o use these cartridges. Instead of settl; peace
: ing the whole di
the Company “sentenced the ‘rebel soldiers to ten y:ﬂ:ﬂnf ﬁg_::::ll:;

jmprisonment. The remaining soldiers of th i
. e regiment then also joi
the rebellion and by May 1857, the whole city was engulfed inat:: ET;:

nfrm.ls rebellion. The common ,people also joined in. Government
hu.}:?mgs were set ablaze and telephone wires were cut off. The mutinous
soldiers marched towards Delhi and on reaching there on May 11

declared their support for the government of Bahadur Shah Zafar. The
flames of this rebellion soon reached Lucknow and Kanpur. General
Bakht Khan, Rani Jhansi, Tantia Topi, Nana Sahib and Ahmad Ullah
Shah displayed unprecedented gallantry on their respective fronts.
However, the Company successfully put down the rebellion with the help
of the Sikhs, the Gorkhas and other loyalist factions.

CAUSES OF FAILURE

The fact that within a short span of three weeks, the mutiny spread
through the length and breadth of the country shows the extent to which
the natives were furious at the policies of the English. Unfortunately,
this movement could not succeed to achieve its objectives due to the
following reasons:

1. Changes in the Plan

The revolutionaries had planned to start the War of Independence
throughout the country simultaneously on May 31, 1857. But it was
started prematurely due to the cartridge incident and the plan to wage
the war simultaneously throughout the country could not materialise. If
the proposed plan had worked, the Company would have found it
impossible to control the whole country. British experts like(Malleson
and Wilson have acknowledged that if the war had started on schedule,
the Company would have failed to overcome it.

2. The Treachery of the Sikhs

. Besides keeping away from the War, the Sikhs provided every
possible assistance 10 the English army. The Sikh states of Jind and
Patiala in the Punjab gave generous financial and military assistance 0
their English masters. In the words of ] i i
the Gorkhas had not helped us, it would have been impossi

recapture India. Besides the Sikhs and the Gorkhas, a large number of
Indians helped the English in regaining control over India.

1
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IA-:cnrding to W. Russel, (“If all the natives had io;

against us, we would have Eaenfﬂﬂmplﬂﬂy l“ﬂihi|ll=:ldddﬁ":ct: s
courage and bravery. Our fortified armies, no doubt, shé)wndl" .
courage while defending themselves but the courageous natjy .
had an equal share in this defence. If the Rajas of Jind and F'mi:]S .
not sided with us and if the Sifhs had not joined us with their _:"had
contingents, we would never have been able to besiege D:lhi“) o

3. Absence of an Active and Efficient Leader

The freedom fighters were not fighting under a single commander, No
doubt, they had pledged their support for and loyalty to Bahadur Shah Zafar
yet, he, who was then in his eighties, could not be expected to play the role of
an energetic and experienced commander tc lead and guide the people,
Moreover, he himself was surrounded by a host of traitors and flatterers,
Behind the scene, they were working for the Company. Similarly, the role
played by Ahsanullah and Zeenat Mahaf was also quite suspicious.

4. The Company’s Control Over the Means of
Communications & Transport

Another cause of the failure of the freedom fighters was that they
did not have access to those quick and reliable means of
communications which were at the disposal of the Company. An
English man wired the news of the mutiny in Delhi to Ambala and
other places even by risking his own life. This enabled the Company to
make the necessary defence arrangements. In the words of Robert
Mun!gnm:r)rf India was saved by mjlgmnis_chc.‘ "

5. Economic Condition

Indians were, at that time, facing acute economic problems. The
revolutionary soldiers who had gathered around Bahadur Shah Zafar
were crippled by severe economic hardships. He had to ask for loans in
order to provide for the needs of his army. In the presence of such an
economic crisis the soldiers could not be expected to fight properly and
devotedly. On the one hand, the Company, was in control of all the
prosperous regions of the country which can be termed as the jugular
vein of India. On the other hand, the regions where the mutiny had
originated and flourished had already been plagued by political

v —
Khurshid Mustafa Rizvi, op. cit., p.511.
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inefficiency, internal copg
Company. Thus, the
were quite appalling a

1857, 13

Piracies and the economic exploitation by the
€conomic conditions prevailing in these regions
nd could not sustain another war.’

RESULTS

The “far of Independence would surely go down in history as the
first and direct challenge to the British rule in India, on an extensive
scale. It was a desperate attemipt of a subjugated people to cut off the
shackles of a repressive colonial power which sought to keep them in
bondage. As such it inspired the genuine national movement for the
freedom of India from British yoke which started half a century later.

The War of Independence produced far-reaching implications for the
history of India. It gave the final blow to the nominal rule of the Mughals and
India came under the direct rule of Great Britain. The Board of Directors and
the Board of Control of the East India Company were disbanded and instead,
a Secretary of State for India was appointed to manage the Indian affairs. A
council was set up to assist the Secretary of State.

After the war came to an end the British made it no.secret to wipe
out the Muslims. The following gives some idea of the spirit in which
the Government officers conducted post war changes. “The Muslims
deliberately planned and tried to carry out a war of extermination, Lyall
told his father in 1858, and retaliation in such a case is sanctioned by
every human law. If the Musalmans could by any means be entirely
exterminated it could be the possible step towards civilising and

Christianizing the Hindustan” 2

The memory of this war kept alive the hatred for the English in the
hearts of the Indians. R.C. Majumdar has very rightly observed that the
memory of the war and not the war itself, did more damage to the cause
of the British rule.® After their failure in the War of Independence, the

Muslims of India, entered a newphase of their history.
. Wf‘// rl_};f

1
1|I_Er.hla]¢ee¢:| Ahmad Nizami op. cit., p.35.

. Tancis Robinson, Separatism Among Indian Muslims, Cambridge, U.P., 1974,
The Sepay Mutiny and the Revolt of 1857, p.278.
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SIR SAYYID AHMAD KHAN
(1817 - 1898)

e e L S

The War of Independence, in 1857, brought in s wake untold
misery and unending troubles and tribulations for the Indian Muslims
They were made the special target of the British wrath. The cruelty tha

" the British pergletrated on the Muslima, the torture and agony of it, the

sadistic acts of genocide and all, could not find adequate expression in
words though, yet W W, Hunter epitomised it saying, “If a politician
wanted 1o ereate sonsation in the House of Commons, he could do it by
tglating the conditions of a single Muslim family of Bengal”

The War of Independence, finally and irrevocably put an end w the
Mughal Empire and firmly established the British Raj in India. As the
English had no enmity or causes belli against the Hindus either historically,
politically or religiously, so, now they had no bones 1o pick with the
Hindus. Contrarily, they deemed it as an act of wgent exigency o
eliminate the Muslima as & nation; & precondition to their strangle-hold on
India. During nose days of terror and persecutions when being & Muslim
was considered crime enough 0 invite the white wrath, it ok a lot of
courage for an Indian Muslim o come 1o the forefront and hold brief for
his nation with the pen or with the words of mouth. In these clrcumstances,
st was Sayylid Ahmad Khan who dared o take up this delicate but highly
important task of defending the rights of the Muslims.

HIS LIFE

Sayyid Ahmad Khan was born on October 17, 1817 in Delhi. He
belonged 1o a family that had been associated with the Mughal Court at
Delhi. His grandfather Sayyld Ha'edj had been awarded the title of
Jawwad ud-Dawla in the reign of I o Alamgir 11 His maternal

wandfather was also an influential person Who was sent to Iran by Lord
Wellesley as attachd. Later on, Sayyid ‘s father was offered a
high post in the Court by Emperor Akbar'1l ',
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M; it was C“SW"?I'Y. Sayyid Ahmad learned the Holy Quran at home.
A well-known sufi-sain Shah Ghulam Al initi is religi i
As for worldly education, his Aol i zeliglous acycumos.
Rl e Ch n, his maternal uncle taught him mathematics while
- degpre hadl m‘:em' ulam Haider, taught him early courses in medicinc.
o o bk fﬂp?arllnmtres of attending literary meetings where he had
vork Gha{;' enjoying the company of the literary stalwarts of his time

MM_ ib, Imam Bakhsh Sehbai and Sadrud Din Azurda.

In his education, nurturing of his personality and in the development
of his moral f:haramer; the one who played the most significait role was
Azeem-un-Nisa Begum, Sayyid Ahmad’s mother. One instance, here,
would rc'fcgl the quintessence of the moral standard his mother had made
as her guiding principle to inculcate into her child. Once Sayyid Ahmad
slapped a servant. When his mother came to know about this incident,
she, banished Sayyid Ahmad from home immediately, and did not allow
him back till he apologised to the servant. '

Sayyid Ahmad’s father died in 1838 forcing the young man to look for
a job to meet family expenses. In his quest for a gainful employment, he
sought permission of his aunt’s husband, who was working as sadar amin
in Delhi, to learn to work in the katchehry (tehsil courts). After training, he
was appointed as sarishtadar. In February 1839, he joined the
Commissioner’s Office as naib munshi (Deputy Reader) 3nd, soon after, in
1841, became sub-judge in Fatehpur Sikri. He was transferred to Bijnor in
1855. Only three years later, he was promoted as sadr-us-sudur. 1867 saw
him rfse in rank to become judge of the Lower Court. i
By this time Sayyid Ahmad had established himself as a person of
some potentials. His son Sayyid Mahmud, a promising young man,
won a government scholarship to go to England for higher studies. The
opportunity helped Sayyid Ahmad Khan to proceed to England with his
son. They sailed for England on April 10, 1869. His seventeen month
stay, though not very long, was fruitfully used in studying system of
education in England in general and that of the Cambridge University
in particular. He also collected material to write Khutbat-e-Ahmadia. :
Sayyid Ahmad settled permanently in Aligarh after retirement in
1876, and decided to pursue his life-time plan for education. In the
meantime, Lord Lytton appointed him member of the Imperial
Legislative Council. He became the first Indian to introduce bill for the
welfare of his fellow countrymen, envisaging compulsory EmalT-'ﬁai‘
vaccination for everyone and appointment of Qazis. For four years, he
performed his duties most efficiently and with devotion and cxpre;sed
his views most eloquently and fearlessly. A case in point is the Ilbert
Bill which was to empower Indian judges to adjudicate in crimina]
cases involving Englishmen all over India. Sayyid Ahmad supported
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the bill vehemently while a Hindu member
opposed it. 4 Of the Council, iy Praseg

Sayyid Ahmad lived a vigorous and eventful life. Work;
| Public servant, he found time to write books on topics as vwngb:r.

important as religion, history archaeology, politics and M &
left behind a treasure trove of 42 books that influenced and mpj
movements in thought, and generated a lot of heat through mim:
debates in his life time as well as in the times 10 come. To crown iy
achievements, there existed a large number of Organisations ang
societies that contributed to the speedy reawakening of the Mushims oof
India which resulted in resurgence of Muslim nationhood througr
length and breadth of the Indian sub-continent He f§ the
following societies and organisations .which stood testi Y 10 his
unflinching dedication to the cause of the Indian Muslims

(1) Scientific Society (1864)

(2) British Indian Association (1866)

(3) A Committee for the Better Diffusion and Advancemem of

Learning Among the Mohammedans of India

(4) Mohammedan Civil Service Fund Association (1883)

(5) All-India Mohammedan Educational Conference (1886)

(6) Indian Patriotic Association (1888)

(7) Mohammedan Anglo-Oriental Defence Association (1893)

In 1895, the College treasurer, Sham Bihari Lal, embezzled a larpz
sum of one lac and seventeen thousand rupees from the College fund
which brought the College almost to the brink of collapse. This incident
adversely affected Sayyid Ahmad’s health. Added to it was the constamt
torture of his son Sayyid Mahmud's habit of drinking. He died on
March 27, 1898. 1755,/

INTELLECTUAL ACHIEVEMENTS

Sayyid Ahmad was a man of robust intellect. In his own words.
nothing pleased him as much as writing, which undemably
vouchsafed through his singular gift of writing. In writing, his mam
interest lay in producing works of literary and intellectual nature. The
genius in him did not feel shackled in the least. During his tenure a5
government servant, Sayyid Ahmad wrote no less than a dozen books

on religious, social and historical topics from 1840 to 1857.

| t

Jam-e-Jum (1840): It compri i i
: ) mpnses of short namratives about 43 kings
from FAn'ur Taimur to Bahadur Shah Zafar.
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Jila-al-Quloob Ba-zi

2 % b Ba-zikar-al-Mahboob (1842): It is a short biography of

Tukf e fﬂphﬂl Muhammad (PBUH).
::;Hus;{ (1844): This was the translation of two chapters of Shah

ul Aziz’s Tuhfa Asna Ashria.

Aasar ;_Hs-Smdeed’: It is a descriptive account
Showr ;c::c monuments, together with 2 chapter on the
i le i, It was this book whichevinced deep interest in

of old Dethi, with drawings

famous persons of
the westerm

intellectual circles. Sayyid Ahmad had put in remendous hard work
to collect material for this book. Collecting material on the subject
was an uphill task as the buildings of archaeological importance had
been almost destroyed by the ravages of time and inscriptions 0
them had been rendered illegible. Many a time, putting his personal

umns or tall

: w safety aside, he climbed crumbling walls, dilapidated €0
pble 1 towers to cast a closer look at the Tindegi inscriptions.
b gad Describing one such precarious venure Sayyid Ahmad under lined
recalled, “To read those

}hc t?az.ards of his adventurous task. He
inscriptions, on Qutab ke Lath_in_Delhi, which could not

W Jk“ﬁf 44 because of the height, a sort oflrapeze Or 2
erected opposite those inscriptions. Moulana Gehbai would watch me
with great anxiety and would pale for fear undernea
¥ i y / carved words®perched dangerously high above’.
The first edition of Aasar Was published in 1847 and two more
editions (1854 Delhi.» 1870 Lucknow) cameé out subsequently
during Sayyid Ahmad's life. Garci_n;dc:'l'as&y,.lhc famous Fr
orientalisL, ‘ranslated it into French. On the basis of this translation,
the Royal Asiatic Society, London, conferred honorary fellowship

on Sayyid Ahmad Khan
the important and valuable

Tasheeh Aaeen-¢-Akbari (1855): This is one of

works of Sayyid’s early intellectual accomplishments. It is 2 (estimony

1o his special interest in historiography. He not only edited, corrected
Akbari but also explained and

-

e‘/’;‘&‘: r} main body of A_I_J_E!-Fazal 's Aaeen-e-

,7"‘ elucidated difficult points, interpreted outlandish Arabic, Persian,
Shavse Turkish and Sanskrit terms and added a large number of pictures
J making the book all the more valuable, in content and approach.

roze Shahi (1862): Sayyid Ahmad brought out a

Tasheeh Tarikh-e-Fe
corrected version 0

four manuscripts.
dian Revolt: From 1857 to 1870, Sayyid Ahmad

The Causés of the In
concentrated on explaining to the Government about the Indian
' He felt that the Muslims had suffered greatly at British

]

e P : :

&f’ jﬁ Ji"’" hands, and yet it was vital to restore them to the confidence and
patronage of their rulers. This short but important booklet traced

f the Tarikh-e-Feroze Shahi after comparing

*
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th
o< of the War of Independence which Sayyid Ahmag
mutiny’ or ‘revolt’. In his opinion its most o
was that the Indians were not associated wi by
legislation and con . with the process of
: . _ sequently they had failed to comprehend
intentions behind the writ of the Government. The acti\.:u o
Pf/’?s thsugn mi_:;sionarics, he thought, proved catalyst in ig"ili:‘? u{:
i ﬁm,,mgrl_gg dIS(.:DnI;Ent into a blazing conglomeration. 7 /s 12/ s .
e b During this reign of terror, violence and persecution, Sayyid
e Ahmad openly accused the British of exacerbating the situation
without giving any thought to his personal safety. He published
five hundred copies of his book and sent all but two copies to
lrncmbcrs of the British Parliament. On coming to know his
intentions, his friend Roy Shanker Das had suggested to him 1o put
all those books to torch to save his life. But Sayyid Ahmad had
argued, “I consider it as a service to the country, nation and the
Government to make all my views public and, therefore, any harm
that befalls me by doing anything which is beneficial both for the
people and the Government is acceptable to me”. On reading this
book. the Secretary of State for India, Cecil Beadon, said, “This
man has written an essay of highly rebellious contents, therefore,
he must be asked to explain and if he fails to give a satisfactory
answer. he must be severely punished”. Later on, in 1873, this
book was translated into English by vin.
Sayyid Ahmad’s interpretation of the events of 1857 gave him first
chance to step into the limelight as a spokesman of his community.

Tabeen-al-Kalam: This book provides a comparative study of the
Quran and the Bible and its interpretation. For this onerous task,

Sayyid Ahmad hired the services of Moulana Inayat Rasool
Charayakoti — a multi-linguist — who knew English, Arabic and
Hebrew languages. He bought a printing press from Roorki for
several thousands to publish this book.

Khurbar-e-Ahmadia: This book is ranked among the representative works
ofSay)ddAhIMInacumlfad.t}nir:sph'aﬁonmmteduwn this book
mﬁmnhisdupmﬁgiomhﬂigrwjm,cmmdbyﬂwcﬁﬁciﬂnd
the life of Prophet Muhammad (Peace be upon him) by William Muir in
hismmmMSayﬁdemﬁedmmMm
m:cnﬁcbookwlﬂchcouldpmﬁdcsnﬁsfmyammmaﬂum
qwﬂianuhhadraiud.nmndanmnmalmknﬁchmded

efforts and research work. Therefore, Sayyid Ahmad
nvdhddlﬂwmymﬂrglmﬂmmlhctnmaialfmﬁsm&uﬂy
ruchingEngIarﬂ&dmtmmm;susyforlfun.Nm
buosdlog impediments he had 1o overcome and difficulties of various kind he had

=
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10 suffer in hisn‘tisskmmwconpliﬂunghmdm,q;.

p‘fbhﬂ“"SﬂﬂsbmkPﬁSMmhisMﬁmhmFmg
glimpse of what he had o suffer. On August 20, 1565, he wroge 1
Mohsin-ul-Mulk, “These days, I have feelings of heart’byuming | am
going through Muir's book which he has writien about the life of the
Holy Prophet. It has broken my heart and his bigoted views and injustice
have grievously hurt me. | have resolved as decided earfier that | will
write a book on the life of the Holy Prophet even if all the money is

fﬂ)/ spent and [ become a — fit only 10 bag, yet, no harm, as at least, |
7 shall be called up on msday as the Beggar Ahmad who lost every
pey! penny in the name of his Grandfather”."

-

In another letter on October 1, 1869, he again wrote 10 Mohsin-d-
Mulk, “T am busy, day and night, writing Essays on Life of Muhammad
and nothing else crosses my mind. Social contacts are totally suspended.
On receiving this letter, go to Mir Zahoor Husain and together with lum
contact some money-lender to get rupees one thousand on loan for me. |
shall return the amount with interest myself. I have also written to Dellu
for one thousand rupees suggesting to collect and send the amount afier
selling my books, belongings and even utensils. May God help me! My
eating and sleeping have become irrelevant in pursuit of this book”* In
yet another letter he wrote, “I am busy, day and night, in writing the
account of the life and activities of the Holy Prophet (PBUH). I have
abandoned everything else. My back is aching because of continuous
writing”,

SCIENTIFIC SOCIETY

Sayyid Ahmad founded this Society on January 9, 1864 during his
stay in Muradabad. Its purpose was to translate books of foreign
languages, and to search for rare and valuable books of Asian authors
and, in particular, those books which discussed the rise and fall of nations
and publish them. Another objective of this Society was to provide
opportunities for contacts and interaction between the Indians and the
British. However, the main thrust of the Stciety remained focused on
translating books on science, mathematics and mechanical engineering.

The first ever meeting of the Society was held on January 9, 1864
at which the Duke of Argyll was appointed its patron. The membership
of the Society was not restricted to any particular nationality. Besides

Englishmen, there were eighty-two Hindus and one hundred and seven
uslim members who worked hard to achieve its objectives.

1
Rn“ Mﬂom . &
1 Ibid., p49, » Khutoot-e-Sir Sayyid, Badaun, 1924, p.49.
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“;':“ﬂ:;:ﬁug&mnuunmmmmumu
) \thmmhﬂymhmﬂyw
on February 14, 1804 with it inaugucal session in Aligarh. An independens
mhmﬂﬂmﬁiﬂﬁemﬂdﬁvwrmnm
vanous dopartments of the Society. By 1875, it had translased and
published 27 works from English into Urdu. During 1875-98, the Society
wlm transiate only 19 works due © Sayyd's ever widening
actvites.” Notable works which were ranslated included History of India
hy&iiumﬂimyd!mbyﬁkﬁnhhkhﬂmqu‘mw
&ihkﬁﬂnﬂ&xmby].&mmuﬂﬂrm‘mo-ﬂm

The Scientific Society launched a peekly Aliparh Institute Gageste on
March 3, 1366, It was meant 10 project views on social, moral, educational
and polincal mamters. It had, basically, two goals to achieve — a two-way
projection progect — which aimed at informing the Bntish about the feelings
of the Indians regarding problems ignored as peripheral by the rulers but
fundamental by the ruled, and, at the same time, sought to familiarise the
Indians with the Bntish system of government and the English way of life.
Moulana Hah put it aptly when he saxd that after examining the earlier
issues of the paper it was unmustakably clear that it wanted to bring the two
mabons closer by clothing the English views in Indian dresses and the
Indian views in English out-fits.}

Earber ssues of the AJG camied political articles which were penned
down by Sayywd Ahmad himself. The most disinctive feature of the
paper was that #t was bidingual with English and Urdu columns running
side by sade. Another feature of the AIG was the section at the end of
each issue where the histoncal background of any significant
mmmmmmm'SMIHﬂﬁS“}'
events were illuminated by being set in perspective, and Sayyad's aim of
creating a historical comsciousness among his readers was further
pursued. Thus at the end of the Turko-Russian War of 1878, the AIG
included a retrospective survey of its onigin, progress and results,
illustrated with maps.” The AJG attached great importance to the honour
and dignity of the native press. It would give a befitting rebuttal if any
Angio-Indian newspaper cver dared to cnticise the Urdu press.
However, the paper consistently maintained its image as an emblem of
Senous and serene journalism and never published any unconfirmed
REWS or news from dubtous sources. As a policy matter it never indulged

2 Ll
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in Hindu-Muslim communal conflict but did its best W project the
: MUSIIm cause whenever the S“Uﬁl‘iﬂﬂ S0 MIM- A case 1 point as ithe

paper’s vigorous struggle to defend the Muslim point of view with regard
to Urdu-Hindi conflict. The bulk of the material, in this regard, appeared

in th_is paper. For twenty-two years of its life. the AIG appeared with
consistent regularity without failing to appear on its appointed day.
TAHZEEBUL AKHLAQ

shed a magazine on December 24, 1870 on
f London, under the title Tahzeebul Akhlag.
Enunciating the purpose of such a magazine, he wrole in its inaugural

to motivate the Muslims 10

issue, “The purpose of this magazine is
acquire civilization to its perfection 10 neutralize the hatred with which
civilized nations view them so that they may also be regarded as

respectable civilized nation™.
Those who contributed regularly for Tahzeebul Akhlag included
Nawab Mohsin-ul-Mulk, Nawab Vigar-ul-Mulk, Mouly} Chirag Al

and Sayyid Mahmud; most of the articles, though, were written by

Sayyid Ahmad himself. The measure of his prolific pen is the wumber
of articles he contributed in the first six ycars of publication. Out of two
id Ahmad wrote no less than one

hundred & twenty six essays, Sayy
hundred and twelve. After the lapse of three years, when the magazine

was restarted, Sayyid’s share was thirty three out of seventy SIX CSSRYS.

Tahzeebul Akhlag, in its own peculiar way, cndcamu&l 10 dispel
doubts about Islam, created by the European writers. It tried o make the
Muslims conscious of the social misdemeanour like spitting everywhere,
backbiting and jealousy, €tc., and exhorted them to improve their social
behaviour. The magazine could also claim credit for popularising words
like “nation”, “national sympathy”, and “national interest”, creating at the
same time feelings of Islamic brotherhood and nationhood among the
Muslims. Sayyid Ahmad also tried to draw their attention mv@urds the
usefulness of the western education through this magazine. WRsopted a
specific linguistic policy O purify and purge Urdu mﬂ"’"
verbosity, exaggeration, and sycophantic approach.

EDUCATIONAL SERVICES

f’tft:r the War of Independence, Sayyid Ahmad

convinced 'lhat existence and survival of ytl):c Muslims ﬂc:ﬂ?rz;:n:d:fm

bet!q' mlanqnship with the English, on western education and csclwwiun

ﬁlmhgm I_n his npiniun,' cure for all kind of sufferings and difficulties fac i:g
e ml.'.ms Iay_ only in western education, therefore, he urged the nats -

to adopt “‘education, and only education” as its motto. """"M"nn

Sayyid Ahmad establi
the lines of the Spectaror ©
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The Muslims of India, pri
: I id’
scnd!ng their children to I'la1 - to Sayyid’s exhortation, avoi
doupise the the English schools for vario b $\iicod
N act that Shah Abdul Aziz had permitted u: g o
: ucation. They were genuinel smobiger.us
siife dovidls o A y apprehensive that their chil
s ol m religion under the influence of western ed lqum
it we: took full advantage of the new situation and prml;ﬂ;nn.
s ;;cm fucauun with utmost zeal and zest. This state of affai:?
ot ayyi Ahrpad to take upon himself the daunting task sr
incing and persuading the Muslims to get this eduzation. ¢

COMMITTEE FOR THE BETTER DIFFU
SION AND
ADVANCEMENT OF LEARNING AMONG THE
MOHAMMEDANS OF INDIA

mad’s dilemma, in this regardr*appcared unsurmouniable.
w and analyse the reasons bzhind the Muslim

overnment schools. Keeping this
the Muslim educational uplift
the Committee was IC know
and colleges was SO low,
learning and why they

Sayyid Ah
His first task was (0 kno
reluctance to send their children 10 g
problem in view. a committee calling for
was formed in Benaras. One of the aims of
why the number of Muslim students in school
why they had lagged behind in classical eastern
showed little interest in modern sciences.

The Committee Jaunched an essay-writing com
topic promising reward for the best €ssa: It received 32 essars in all
and Nawab Mohsin-ul-Mulk’s essay was adjudged the best. After going
through these essays the ' ived at the conclusior. that in

i an urgent need of opening
from the gove amental influence, where
i well. Therefore, 2

petition on this

academic institutions, free
they could also get their own religious education as
set up to collect funds nceded 10 estahlish such an
ted the life secretary of this
decid

Committee Was
institution. Sayyid Ahmad was appoin
Committee. This proposed Muslim educational

to be established in Aligarh, in 1873.

THE M.A.O. SCHOOL, ALIGARII
The M.A.O. School, Aligarh was inaugurated on May 24, 1875
which coincided with Queen Victoria's birthday. HenrY giddons.(June
28, 1875 - May 5, 1883), an Wi S nppninted as
lary of Rs.400/-per month. _
g in Arabic,

hcadmaster, with a sa
In the beginning, the M.A.O. School offered course
Persian, English, Mathematics, History and Geogra hy. The School

instituticn was

i
5. :
K. Bhatnagar. History of the M.A.O. Coileye, Aligalh. n d,op

I



SIR SAYYID AMMAD KHAN (1817 1 §o8) IR

was affiliated with the Calcutta University. Regular classes st 4
Suhoal
ml‘;“mf!:;&u:sl?ﬂw the first batch of outgoing students 1ok
&m& ‘zﬂﬂlnﬂ t_\f the &junﬂ was wll-m‘uivml and many well 1o do
organisations came out with promises of financial help, The
U.P. Government sanctioned a monthly grant of Rs. 350/ for the School
Prominent Muslim leaders supported the School with endowments
commensurate with their financial and social status. The Nizam of
Hyderabad appropnated a Jagir worth Rs 90,000/ ylelding a monthly
income of Rs.2007/- and Sir Salar Jang gave a grant of Rs 30,000/ from
his personal Jagir with a monthly income of Rs 1V for the assistance
of the School. Hindus, for once, also extended financial help for the
School. Maharaja of Vizianagram and Maharaja of Patiala contributed a
handsome amount of Rs.3000/- each for the construction of the School,
The School which started with only four students (one of them,
Hameed Ullah, the son of Sayyid Ahmad's right hand man, Samiullah
Khan) took rapid strides as its total strength surged to 70 odd students, in
a short span of only six or seven months. Sir William Muir paid a visit to
the School on November 12, 1875 and the Maharaja of Patiala visited it
on December 6, 1875. The School had, by then, earned a place for itself
in academic field. If one man was ever to be named for this rapid
progress, it was Moulvi Samiullah Khan who deserved the whole credit.

THE M.A.O. COLLEGE

Two years after the inception, the School was upgraded to College.
Lord Lytton, the Governor-General, laid the foundation stone of the
College on January 8, 1877. The establishment of the College was the
crowning success of Sayyid Ahmad's work and it is by that work that
his name will always be revered amongst the Indians.

It was not an easy task to run a college. In its initial stages, besides
facing severe financial constraints, it had to confront stiff opposition

from a section of the Muslim community.. Certain articles in Sayyid

Ahmad's Tahzeebul Akhlag had created misunderstanding about his
religious views among the Muslims. Therefore, at the outset, when the
College was still in its embryonic stages, there was a widespread
impression that the religious views of its founder were bound to affect
the minds of the Muslim youth studying in this institution. Such
apprehensions greatly hindered Sayyid Ahmad’s efforls to collect
donations for the College. But he was not to be deterred by\these odds.
His dedication to the cause and unflinching determination met with the
crowning success when he was able to accumulate so much funds that
eight lac rupees were spent on the construction of the College building
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In twenty .
pc:ﬁ;':ir:"”- 5“)’?11.1“ Ahmad put aside his ego and condescend

squerades, sang ghazals on stage beside selling hi =2
accomplish the onerous task of establishing a College for I“I'u:I l:lhmfh %
i In a significant show of support to the great cause of cduca:]'ﬂ"m'
E_oay}-td s mission, the Muslims of the Punjab were the first =
financial help. As carly as September, 1873, Khan Bahadur Bu‘r{; “rrcf
ifh-‘“ launched a publicity campaign in Lahore for the prc e J-“'
College, while Sardar Mohammad Hayat Khan, in an T:;jd
contributed to the monthly Urdu magazine Koh-i-Noor, Lahur:
appealed 16 the Muslims of the Punjab to come forward and cuntrihuu:,
generously for establishing the College.'

After Siddons, the first Principal of the College, Theodore Beck took
charge on February 1, 1884 and worked as the Principal till September 2,
1899. Beck. a Cambridge graduate, had the distinction of being the
President of the University Students Union. He, along with Sayyid
Mahmud, succeeded in hiring the services of renowned teachers like T.W.,
Armold. Walter Raleigh and Theodore Morison. The College also utilised
the services of Moulana Shibli Nomani and Moulvi Abdullah Ansari.

From the very outset, the College laid special emphasis on religious

education. Attendance was registered at daily prayers and no one could

et promotion to the next class without passing the examination in

5:2!1:}&:!. All boarders had to fast in Ramazan. Dars-i-Quran was
included in the courses of studies in 1887.

On another level the College sought to provide the cross-section of the
Muslim students chance for social interaction to promote social, cultural and
ideological cohesion for the sake of national integration. This was done by
providing residential faciliies to the students. In 1875, the College
accommodated only 66 students in its hostels and in 1898 the College
provided lodging and boarding to 250 out of 349 enrolled students. This
facility for the Muslim students to live together enabled them, on the one
hand, to study, analyse and comprehend the various problems of their fellow
srethren and widen their vision bu also cultivated a deep sense of
camaraderiec and national integration. Theodore Beck very aptly observed
that through the residential system the College would form a little world of its
own. Daily intercourse between the students themselves, common interests,
common pursuits, studies, sports, conversation and meals awakened a
keemness of fellowship and intellectual life that nothing else could do?

E‘-‘r_aﬂ be claimed without fear of contradiction that there was no

ic institution prior to the establishment of the M.A.O. College,

1
11_'::::::}' "’.' the M.A.O. College, Aligarh, p.37.
olitics of Educational Reforms, p.231.
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Aligarh where the Muslim students could get together in such large numbers
w wdentify, discuss and resolve problems facing the Muslim community on
the whole. Such a situation would have been conducive to the progressive
evolution of national fervour and a vigorous national asprrations. The College
ot Aligarh did preciscly the same by making available to the Muslims a
orm 1o crystalize their thinking into nagonal ideclogy. A time came
uhcndiculdsnﬂnﬁufr\lm&ﬂbgemmmhcmwm:s a
community distinguishable for the similanty of their deportments and
fraternity of views. The life in Aligarh began to set a particular stamp on the
gudents. On October 23, 1892 Sir Auckland Colvin said, “To have been an
Aligarh man Is, [ have found. over and over again, a passport 1o the respect
and confidence of both the Englishmen and the natives™ ' Tufail Ahmad
Manglori aptly describes the situation saying. “With the passage of ume the
M.A Q. College, Aligarh became a centre for the whole Muslim nation from

Nipthkgcmkad.‘Wnlicﬁ [M.aﬁiudofnﬂmnjdﬂml
Mﬁhﬁinﬁtlmah&mjﬂdwmyif[“mmmnr
Musl'm'lsof&ligu'hbtnifl\\nnudmad&tsstlth{mhmsuflndialsimki
daliver the speech in the Aligarh Muslim University"

All this was achieved -by setting up QUMErOUS societies in the
Cbllege. The first of the kind was Siddon’s Union Club which was
established on August 26, 1884 or. the pattern of Cambridge University.
It was meant to hold discussions, debates and speech-contests. Both
students and teachers participated in these debates. In 1880, another
society Amjuman Alfarz {Jx"-‘f{"n came into existence at the behest of
Sahibzada Aftab Ahmad Khan. It had two main objectives: firstly, to help
remove the existing prejudices amongs! the Muslim public about the
College and secondly, to help the needy students.

i 'r : .
ALL-INDIA MOHAMMEDAN ‘/ ) ;,7 k3 7) J! p
EDUCATIONAL CONFERENCE d A

L

Although Sir Sayyid's greatest dream had been fulfilled in the
form of MAQ College Aligarh, yet he had a strong realization that this
single college was too small to fulfil the educational needs of all the
Muslims of India. In order to create educational awareness among all

haas
[M!'It Alam, History of the Mohammaden C ollege, Agra, 1901, p.168.

4 MWHM&:WM&MIN&WI}IM
Mohammad Saeed. Ahang-e-Bazgasht, Lahore, 1979, p.112.
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the Muslims of India, he laid the fo i

: ' undation of All [ndi
Edl._lc_almnnl Congress. Sir Sayyid was of the view thl:: ﬂ:?“mrmdqn
politics would be extremely harmful for the nationa] | 4

‘ nt
Muslims, He, therefore, urged them to remain away fru:?hl: ;JLFM
lan

National Congress and concentrate on getting modern edycay;
It is noteworthy that the meetings of the Indian Nati s
; ational Cop

and Muhammadan Educational Congress were held on similar ﬁmf -
that the Muslims could easily distance themselves from politics. D e
Sir Sayyid's life, the head office of Educational Conference wa se;
Aligarh College and the secretary of the college management cc;mmui?l;:
used to be the secretary of the Educational Conference as well. But After
Sir Sayyid’s death, the two institutions were separated from each other
In 1890, All-India Muhammadan Educational Congress was renamed 1.;
All-India Muhammadan Educational Conference. In 1923, it was named
All-India Muslim Educational Conference. In the first twelve years of the
Conference, its sessions were mainly held in Northern India, especially,
in UP and Punjab. During these years, five of its sessions were held in
Aligarh, one in Delhi and two in Lahore.

The first meeting of this Conference was held in M.A.O. College,
Aligarh on December 27, 1886 with Moulvi Samiullah Khan in the
chair. The Conference was attended by 161 delegates from the Punjab,
Central India, Agra and Avadh. The Conference adopted a charter of
aims and objects detailed as under:-
14~ (@) It would seek to arrange for higher studies for the Muslims.
. (b) It would apprise itself of the state of religious education in the

Gt s : English (medium) schools for the Muslims and try for its

il.}tf:)—*

| g improvement.
;(c) It would aim at popularizing the education of oriental studies

.f. y'!,?{:: (3 f‘-’- and Diniyat and helping the Ulama - the religious scholars -

)

&,
byt J

in their effort to carry the task forward.

L J ,JL{"r}*[dJ It would try to comprehend the causes of the decline of

e religious institutions and tide over them,

Y/ The AIMEC continued to hold its annual meetings regularly. The
moving spirit behind the Conference, Sayyid Ahmad, served it as its
secretary for ten years, personally supervising the arrangements for the
moot many days prior to its commencement. He took special care to see
that the proceedings of the meetings were published every year.

_ The moots convened under the Conference proved great success for
Ilhr:il'r results. People would travel long distances from every corner of
ml;f;t ;?u;tll::;u talk about national pf?blcm_s and undertake to pursue
Prior o that m“‘;‘:&m and integration with renewed zeal and zest.

a paranoic apathy among the Muslims towards

—

] | u,?'ag.f : fja.p

|
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their community welfare problems and problems of national unity. They
hardly ever gathered at one platform to discuss matters of mutual
interests. What to speak of provincial level, the Muslims never assembled
even at the local levels to identify or mull over their imminent sufferings.
The AIMEC provided a unique. opportunity to the Muslims of not only
the cities but also of various provinces to sit together and think of ways
and means for progress and national reformation.

The AIMEC was also instrumental in providing opportunity to the
Muslims to display their inborn qualities. People like Moulana Shibli
Nomani, Moulana Altaf Husain Hali, Mohsin-ul-Mulk and Moulvi
Nazir Ahmad, 10 name the few, used their various talents, through

oratory and poetry, to develop in them, a desire for education and to
enkindle courage of conviction, a passionate sclf-respect and national
sympathy. Abul Kalami Azad affirmed, “In fact, this Conference is the
training institute for Urdu oratory where the oratorical qualities of the

test contemporary literary figures were sharpened”.
After Sir Sayyid's death, the Conference entered a new phase of its

life and its meetings were held in Calcutta, Rampur, Delhi, Madras and
Bombay. A meeting of the Educational Conference held in Dacca in
1906, was attended by eminent figures from Lahore, Patiala, Hyderabad
Daccan, Patna, Bombay, Madras, Lucknow, Delhi, Calcutta and Assam~
Such grand congregations were seen only in one or two other meetings of
the Conference. The 1909 session of the Conference held in the Burmese
capital Rangoon, was attended by 250 delegates from Punjab, Bengal,
Bihar, Madras, Bombay, Hyderabad Daccan and Asam. It was chaired by
Mhahraja of Mahmudabad. All the delegates reached the venue of the
meeting after travelling for thousands of mjles by sea. With the passage
of time, the Educational Conference was able to gain the support of even
those people who were opposed to the political views of Sir Sayyid. For
this very reason, its meetings in 1899 and 1903 were presided over by
Sayyid Ameer Ali and Badruddin Tayyabji respectively.

In 1893, the Conference approved Theodore Beck's proposal for
conducting educational census, aimed at finding out the causes of
educational backwardness. It attempted to investigate as to why some
well off Muslims were also reluctant to educate their children. Those
who were given the task of gathering facts and figures of educational
census tried to explore some of the main factors which kept the
children of school going age away from schools. Some of the factors
discovered by them were pov igious reasons, carelessness and
Jndifference. This research work.continued very successfully for three
¥¢4rs and the findings of this research were regularly presented in the
Meetings of the Conference. In the light of interviews with 1932

L P
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families, conductors of the educational census
the families did not send their children w “m“‘:: hat mog o
carclessness. The task of educational census was r:;,,, adr' because of
I
alive, this project was highly successful. As an :WW
members of the Conference were sent o Punjab, UP and gt:ﬂz
gathering information. Historical essays were read oul and lecuy
were given on morality and educational progress of the M““mﬂ
during the annual sessions of the Educational Conference. For instance
Sayyid Mahmud delivered a lecture on the promouon of Westen
education in India from 1881 w 1893. The Educationsl Conference
gave its full backing for Gokhale's bill regarding compulsory end free
elementary education. AL different points of time, the Conference set uy
six sections or wings. In 1899, female education wing was set up with
Shaikh Muhammad Abdullah as its secretary. It held regular meetings
on the occasion of each annual session of the Conference. The Aligart
girls’ school, which was afterwards, upgraded as Intermediate College
was the outcome of the efforts of the female education wing of the
Educational Conference.

Social Reform Wing was set up in 1901, with Khuajs Ghulam-us
Saqalain as its secretary. Social reform is an essential component of
social life and no social progress is possible without it. The wrong
idusa:ﬂdumzﬁucuﬂam:ufﬂuh&ushm!udnﬁudmw
life and destroyed their ethical values. Under the auspices of the socie
reform wing of the Educationd] Conference, useful literature was

and distributed among the Muslims. _

In 1903, from the platform of the Conference, a strong voice wes
raised against the social evils prevailing among the Muslims. They were
urged to abstain from extravagance, futile customs and un-Islamic mics
performed at the time of marriage and death. They were 3lso advised 10
discourage the practice of begging by healthy and professional beggans.

The Educational Conference drew the atiention of untraines
reachers 1o receive professional training from training colleges.

Scholarships were sent (o the principals of provincial training colleges
for the assistance of those maﬂmwhomkmmpmvnuﬂ
from these institutions. The Educational Conference laid emphasis 00
the establishment of Aligarh Muslim University Training College. Al
dtmtimit[aidthcfamdaﬁmufﬁaclm'm&rmlﬂ
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! Itifagious

dcvntcd. itself for the de‘v:;
L was Amuman-e-?‘nraqqi-e-

7 leeny LTACts were published ynde

o "ffﬂ M.'u.rahnanan ki Guzishta
Sikanderia”, "Hugoogq-

Tanazzuli kai A shab"
On anothe; ;
M prejudicial or:r level the Conference undertook to ensure that material
taught. It fmcﬁﬂm to the Muslim culture or religion was not
Cax's Hissory & ¢ Allahabad University to exclude a book titled _
om its syllabus as it contained derogatory matcrial;&’hﬁ&t

a

ugcn?:t l.::‘;d the Confen:cnce. the one which

i preservation of Urdu language

o + Many valuable articles and important

oo iggf of II:le Conference which included

ke l'fl. f::fazla, and articles “Kurab Khana
mmiyeen” and “Musalmanon ki Taraqqi-o-

against the Muslims, - o ;

from dropping Pcrsisanlllazlm P"-g;lleq upon the University to refrain -

forced guage from its courses. The Government was

rced to accede fo the d e -
) e demand that religious education should be

taught in the government institutions.

e Although the AIMEC was a non-political organisation yet anything
- e wcred_ from its platform was readily claimed as the unified demand of
f e “}ﬂ Muslims of the sub-continent. Sayyid Ahmad delivered his first anti-
ke (‘ongress speech from its pulpit and the first ever political organisation of
the Muslims — the All-India Muslim League — used it as its launching pad.

4#’” THE ALIGARH MOVEMENT - POLITICAL ASPECT

In the disastrous aftermath of the 1857 “Rebellion” the Muslims for
the first time in their thousand-year encounter with India had found
themnselves a subject race, with their power finally broken, their dignity
outraged, their sheer survival extremely doubtful and their very existence

>, 4ok atstake. After the War the Muslims were subjected to relentless torture

and sufferings of unprecedented proportions. The following give some
idea of the spirit in which some of the British officers conducted post war ¢
changes. Lyall told his father in 1858, “If the Musalmans could by any
means be entirely exterminated it could be the greatest possible step
towards civilizing and Chritianizing the Hindustan™.

Sayyid Ahmad, for once, felt so deeply agonised at these miseries o/ /4
that he decided fo settle in Egypt but he changed his mind a little later. . J
The reasons for his earlier decision to quit India were as cogent and £]*
strong as Were the reasons for his later retraction. His explanation cwﬂ?‘“"’a
testifies how strongly he felt for his people. He said, 1 was extremely
shocked when [ was offered the property of 2 family, worth one lac
rupees, in exchange for my loyalty. 1 said to myself, “There would be
no one more silly and insensitive in this world than I, if I accepted to

i_!:mnm's Robinson, Separatism Among Indian Muslims,, Cambridge University

Press, 1974, p.102.
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become 3 Ta
wallugadar b '

f [y Y usurping their
aced annihilation. Therefore, I refused 1o laIF::]iEr;ﬂ :H::;:lt ir
ald thuy |

mind to stay in Indig I i
. - In fact, it - X
, ., ;. 1 did not think th o o utaly correct und, at
fla 2 il at the nation would ev |
# Ji+"respectable. 1 could bt of o SAN rlse ang pe
Yo * could not endure the plight of my nation, "¢ became
Sulfered this agonising thought. Believe me. this sa Or a few day,
made me look aged and turned my hair grcyilnl:h“dn;“ s
. ' - 08
that it \ynul_d be gross impotence, and rank apathy uncm;w: =
nlw nation in the lurch and seek a safe haven for myulrpa;:
” 1.6'; se, - ngy! I ought o share their sufferings, and it was my nati
[ 2l 4 duty to mmﬂqn_qs to tide over those difficulties that befell the{::l:
gave up the idea of migration and chose the path of national love" !

HINDU-MUSLIM RELATIONSHIP

S'ayyid Ahmad was a strong advocate of Hindu-Muslim unity, i
cxplams_ wh_y thn?r: was never any discrimination between a Hindu and
a Muslim in either Aligarh Scientific Society, Aligarh School of
College. He used to refer to Hindus and Muslims as two beautiful eyes
of a charming bride. But Urdu-Hindi controversy exerted so deep an Jﬂ“f"
influence on his thought and activities and changed his political outlook
altogether that it can be regarded as a turning point in his public career.

In the wake of a Hindu movement started to press for Bhasha
language and Devndgri script, Sayyid .Ahmad's political views started to
evolve into definitc shape and form. He came to believe that the Two
Nations could not co-exist. During the course of a discussion in those days,
his friend Mr. Shakespeare remarked in amazement that he (Sir Sayyid)
was 'alking about education for the Muslims in particular for the first time.

. 4ut% Sayyid Ahmad'’s rejoinder to him carried a prophetic note. He stated, 1 am
?,»,Z/ now convinced that these Two Nations will never participate in anything ']";"
7" together from their heart. This enmity and conflict, though less emphatic at 7,44
“" preseat, will gain in intensity with the passage of time due to the educated
people. He who lives, will see”. Shakespeare remarked that it would be
regrettable if his prophecy came true. Sayyid Ahmad replied, “I too should
but I am sure it would prove true”.
muct;:t;gl:, Ahmad believed that survival of Urdu was extmm:!}’
important for the Muslims. During his stay in Eng!qnd. B'abu S iv
Prasad pushed his dislike for the former Muslim rule in India and fl'“
heritage to the extent of pressing the Hindu members of the .Scw:-nu l:c
Society to replace Urdu by Hindi as the language of translation in the

had iy
Ih“l H"“".

mewhere

'Hayar-e-Javeed, p.117.
2Hayat-i-Javeed, p.162.
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Society and the publication of the Aligarh Institute Gazette in Hindi as

well. These demands jolied Sayyid Ahmad. In a letter 1o Mohsin-ul-

Mulk from London on April 29, 1870, he warned, “If it comes to be, it

would open an ending saga of split and strife between the Hindus and

the Muslims. The rupture would never be healed. !'he WO communities

7 i would be imevocably rent asunder™.! -.;ul; :
. Sayyid Ahmad considered Bhasha a dead language. In a letter to

the AIG on May 7, 1869, he wrote, “Wherever | went from Allahabad

1o Bombay, I conversed with everyone i.e. peons, officials and collies,

in Urdu. Everyone understands it fully well and answers in the same. 1

mied my utmost to find the ancient Bhasha which Allahabad
/  Association wished to put into vogue, but could not locate it”. In this
.:m*"; way, .the Urdu-Hindi conflict convinced him that the Hindu interests

joh were at variance with those of the Muslims. Jxvfiﬂ ".‘f
OPPOSITION OF THE INDIAN NATIONAL CONGRESS

Sayyid Ahmad strongly opposed the Indian National Congress and
its demands. He suggested to the Muslims to stay away from the
His letters to the first Muslim president of the INC, Badruddin
Tyabji, throw light on his views on the question of Muslim participation
in the Congress. Sayyid Ahmad entered the lists against Tyabji, with a
mﬁ forthright assertion that there was no such thing as India as one Nation,
“" ‘s it supposed that the different casts and creeds living in India can
become a nation? Can their aspiration and goals be similar? In my
opinion it is quite impossible and when it is impossible then there can be
no such thing as the “National Congress™.* In another letter on February
I8, 1888, Sayyid Ahmad called the Congress “Misnamed National
Congress™. Sayyid Ahmad's relentless opposition to the Congress based

on strong weighty arguments and a widespread resentment among the A
Muslims against it, forced Tyabji to write to Hume that “The Nizam and
all the dignitaries of the State such as Salar Jung, Munirul Mulk, Fateh
Nawaz Jung and above all Husain Bilgrami have joined the opposition
led by such well known men as Sayyid Ahmad, Ameer Ali and Abdul
Lateef - under these circumstances | have come to the distinct
conclusion, after the most careful consideration of which I am capable,

that it is time to cease holding the Congress every year™.!

'Khutoor-e-Sir Sayyid, p.66.
Hardy, The Muslims of British India, Karachi, 1973, pp.128-129,

Mohammad, Sir Syed Ahmad Khan - A Political Biography, Lahore,
1976, p.149.

“Ibid., p.152.




32 il
TREK TO PAKISTAN .

DEMANDS OF THE CONGRESS

Demands of the :
; Congress incl ~
the Legislative Councils and holdi 0 S c."m n of the
Indi : olding of the civil servi Hombers o
- :a- HSI SW:". Sayyid Ahmad kept silent on lh:r.:g :ﬂ'?lct eXamination -II:
ut in 7 ' T 4 »C dem
v 87, he raised his voice against these dema nd:?ds for two years
;hc MEC for the first time, in its meeting held in L 'ﬂkm the platform,
n, wh : ucknow,
e Ow at was the solution to the problems of H'; .
icts? Of the various ways suggested as possibl e
the C0m|:_|]|c:ncd controversy, elections leadin 1; J-;n: Feionmme.
democratic set up attracted the most attenti Sg . formation of
twrmeddistil 5 . PR 1on. Sayyid Ahmad came
ediately, with an outright rejection of the i
a svst f ; : ; the proposal. He thought thy
ystem o t:lc::_llnns did not suit the Indian malaise. Elections, and ¥ r
consequent parliamentary system of governance could suit a | a““f-
where thr.:n_: were no differences of colour, culture, race and rci? ?::ﬁ
among its :nhab!tants, But, in the case of India, in addition to ll:',s:
there 'a:ms;ad a disproportionate imbalance between the Hindus and lhg:,
Muslims in population, education and wealth. He argued that “They
want that the House of Commons and House of Lords should be
copied. Let us imagine that the Viceroy's Council is formed in the
manner desired, i.e. members are elected by the people. And let us
suppose all Muslims vote for a Muslim candidate and all Hindus vote
for a Hindu. Now count how many votes the Muslim candidate will get.
It is certain that the Hindu candidate will have four times as many,
because their population is four times as numerous. It will be a game of

dice in which one man has four dice and the other only one™.!
Sayyid Ahmad was of the firm opinion that since India was a

multi-national country, this system was likely to meet with failure
besides proving a trap of slavery for the minority. He said, “T deeply
red over this matter even before the Congress came out with such

a demand and have come (0 hold this conviction, after due
consideration of John Stuart Mill’s opinion, that in a political system
it was of fundamental

where majority vote enjoyed supremacy, _
verned by such a sysiem should have unity of ‘

importance that people go st
race, religion, language and historical traditions. Presence of these
things make a responsible government viable and useful, but mlhllﬂs

would be gained in their absence except annihilation of the country”.
Sayyid Ahmad’s apprehensions, in this regard, were

unfounded. He was afraid, and quite justifiably, that under this system

of elections, Muslims could not be elected as members of the Councils.

| samiluddin Ahmad, Early Phase of Muslim Political Movemen, Lahore, nd.. p24
25 meen Zubairi, Tazkira-e-Sir Sayyid, Lahore, n.d., pp.198-199.
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" l‘:ninti_ng out these perils, he explained, “Just consider the clection
‘W" situation. The Hindus and the Muslims are not equal in numbers in any
district. Can you say that the Muslims will dominate the Hindus and

s } capture self-government. Recently, a vencrable Musiim belonging to an
;ﬂj ; 'fﬂncﬁslrnlly bearded family of Calcutta met me and complained “that it

jf 4 }’A was a great tragedy that eighteen Muslims were likely to be elected to
I the city Municipal Committee but nonc had succeeded: all the Hindu
contestants were elected, instead. Now, the Government should
nominate a Muslim. The situation is similar in every city. Even in
Aligarh, had there been no special arrangement, no Muslim, not even
our most respected friend, Moulvi Khawaja Mohammad Yusuf, could
ever have got votes sufficient for his election, and, as a rcsu}l. would
have waited expectantly to be nominated by the Government”.

Again on November 23, 1886, Sayyid Ahmad further explained his
point of view in an article published in the AIG. He argued, “If at any
future time there should be a Parliament with Hindus and Muslims sitting
/ }ﬁ ”. on two sides of the House, it is probable that the animosity which would

ensue would far exceed anything that could be witnessed in England.
w{ Moreover, the Mohammedans would be in a permancnt minority and their

case would resemble that of the unfortunate Irish members in the British

Parliament who have always been outvoted by the I-E.nglis;hrr'n'.':rl’'.z
CIVIL SERVICE EXAMINATION

The examination for the Civil Service, responsible for the
administrative set up of India, was held in England which prevented the
Indians from competing for it. In addition, the Government decreased
the age limit for the examination from 21 to 19.

In this background, Surendranath Banerjea started an agitation
against the downward revision of the age limit. Sayyid Ahmad fully
endorsed this protestation. He considered this decision a .conspiracy 1o
close the doors of the services on the Indians. Once again through the
columns of the AIG, Sayyid Ahmad urged the Indians to hold meetin
all over India and to draw up memorials protesting against the change™.

Both Banerjea and Sayyid Ahmad, with mutual understanding on the
subject, carried on the campaign against this decision of the Government.
Banerjea visited Aligarh on June 21, 1877, where a meeting was held
which was presided over by Sayyid Ahmad. As expected Sayyid Ahmad
strongly criticised the Government, in his presidential address, on this
controversy. On May 17, 1884, another meeting was held in Aligarh, at

Pt

1

Sirajuddin Ahmad, Sir Sayyid Key Lecturon Ka Mujmooa, Lahore
L + ; s . 1890, p.253.
M. Yusuf Abbasi, Muslim Pblitics and Leadership in South Asia, Islamabad, 1981, p.237.

3
Muslim Politics and Leadership in South Asia, p.24.
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which Banerjea delivered a strong speech demanding that the
Service Examination should be held in India as well. O
! Gradually this protest started gaining momentum and assumed +

fqrm of anti-govesnment movement. It forced Sayyid Ahmad 1o rn'ut
his stance, as fidelity to the British Government was an element of f:t:
with him. Therefore, he disassociated himself from the agitation ay he
saw it assummg violent proportion. Consequently, he opted to oppose
the holding of the Examination in India because he also saw liule
opportunity for the Mushms in it He termed the suggestion for the
Civil. Service Examination to be held in India and England
simultaneously as a demand resulting from the clamouring of the
Congress and that the Congress might be projecting views of other
nationalities but not those of the Muslims.’

REVTEW OF ALLEGATIONS ON SAYYID AHMAD KHAN

Apart from some Hindu historians, a few Muslims, like Moulvi Tufal
Ahmad Manglori and Atique Siddiqui were of the view that Sayyid Ahmad *
Khan's opinion_about the .Congress were formed under the influence of
Theodore Beck - Principal of M.A.O. College, Aligarh. Manglon
ventilated his outburst saying, “During the reign of the Company (East
India Company) the drummer announced the state proclamation that public
belonged to God, country to the king and command to the Company
Bahadur. Similarly, but unfortunately, the same was true of Aligarh
‘ College in Sir Sayyid’s old age which announced that the nation belonged
| to God, College to Sir Sayyid and command to Beck Bahadur?
-' However, the facts point to the opposite and contradict the alleged
' Jﬁzﬁ telage o sayyid Ahmad to Beck. The year 1887 saw Sayyid Ahmad
r on taking up -udgels against the Congress. Sayyid Ahmad took this stance at
the ripe of age of 70, while Beck was only greenish 28. A young raw
mind that Beck was in those days, could hardly be fancied to have
influenced a man of Sayyid Ahmad’s intellectual calibre, experience,
insight and political acumen — and at that advancec age. The allegations
were highly improbable as Sayyid Ahmad was under no obligation to
Beck as the former was the employer, the latter an employee. Sayyid
Ahmad was, in no way, obliged to follow Beck's counsels. As far as his
views on method of election were concerned, he had aired his opinion
long before the inception of the Congress. Once, speaking on Local Self-
government Bill on January 12, 1883, he postulated, “Hindustan, in itself,
is a continent that inhabits different nations which follow different

g

:Tazlira-e-Sir Sayyid, p.205.
Musalmanon ka Roshan Mustagbil, p.299.
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religions. A strict adherence to these religious codes separates even the
neighbours, In India, where differences based on caste system still exist
- "."'hm d"ffﬁ'ﬂﬂl nations have not blended well and where religious
conflicts are in full swing, where education in its modern meanings has
not developed in all sections of. the society in equal proportions, 1
bch*‘-'ﬂrt‘—fﬂcrlinn to Local Boards and District Councils, for the sake of
Supporting various demands, based on its simple and pure principle of
majority shall create larger problems rather than producing civilized
concepts. So long as religious conflict and caste discrimination persist as
the greatest factors in the socio-political situation in India, the pure
system of election can not be set into motion salisfa-::n::rily",I

These views reveal Sayyid Ahmad’s approach to the problem and
thinking of a mind steeped in and imbued with the futuristic concern

" for the well-being of his nation. He laid bare his considered opinions on

the subject on January 12, 1883, whereas, Beck arrived in India in
November, 1883, nine months after his speech.’

Moulvi Tufail Ahmad also alleged that “Beck had so dominated
Sayyid Ahmad in his later days that Sayyid Ahmad willingly
surrendered Aligarh Institute Gazette to him”. The fact is that Sayyid
Ahmad’s name always appeared as Editor on the AIG, right from its
inception. Whereas the Gazette volumes from November, 1897 to 1899
are not available even in Aligarh itself.

That the allegations against Sayyid Ahmad were ill-founded and
biased are amply borne out by their inherent flaws. Those who levelled
these charges of contradictions in Sayyid Ahmad’s character and flaws in
his personality, perhaps, failed to realize that the man was made of
sterner stuff. He would openly and dauntlessly support a cause, without
fear of criticism or condemnation, if he thought it was in the interest of
his nation. Even Beck, once had the taste of Sayyid Ahmad’s courage of
conviction and bold defence of his national honour. The Principal,
Theodore Beck, had made a particular uniform necessary for the students
of the College for daily ‘Drill’. The students, opting the easy way out
started wearing the same uniform to College. It was enough to maké
Sayyid ;l}hmad extremely angry. He condemned Beck saying, “There is a
trick in it. He wants to ruin my life-long achievement”. He delivered a
lecture, afterwa{ﬂls, in the presence of Beck. Beck did not like the dress-
uniform comprising Turkish cap (Fez), coat and the English shoes.

;Tazﬂra-e-&'ir Sayyid, pp.169-170.

A Mayers, Theodore Beck and Sir Syed Ahmad Kha

lPravacar:uraud Puppet (Unpublished Thesis), 1973. : it o
Sir Syed Ahmad Khan - A Political Biography, p.172.
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Sayyid Ahmad ref;
: erred to Beck's disliki ing. “Thi
that is Turkish cap, coat m“m:g:.ﬂ:::g o This dress of Yours

dress is used by the Sultan of Rome, his mmm:;& o
Ms. We have

adopted the same. In India,

Beati ame. some short-sighted, . o fs

2 S:‘li::mcn wish to keep the Indian in an abject Sgu:ndm;d M“dm:; - f -
pon them. They oppose the use of this cap and shoes”, - wpe

Moulvi Abdul Haq stated that the last sentence was applauded so

enthusiastically that the hall &C ith i turned sepill
hoed with it. Theodore Beck '
and became extremely nervous. At the end of the meeting aupi “

students tore off their col i - :
some curtains out of mem?lnmed silk turbans. Some made shirts and

As stated in the preceding li i v
to the interest of the Eluslimnr%all‘ig?;rszt: };:ffc?:a?ﬁ :] O T B
this regard. Hume, the found ) I #j
Musﬁrﬁs‘ o e, the founder of“the. Congress, in order to coax the ?”’
8s8 & into joining the Congress, “gave a press statement in November,

, that the Congress enjoyed the support of Lord Dufferin, the
Governor-General of India. Sayyid Ahmad issued a very strong riposte. 4 gy
He wrote that the activities of the Congress were against the interests of T
!he: h_{usllms as a nation. They would, therefore, oppose this party even if 1’?" g
it enjoyed the support of Governor-General, Lord Dufferin, Secretary of
State for India and all the members of the British Parliament.

Similarly, the daily Pioneer of Allahabad suggested in February,
1878, that the Director, Public Instruction should be included in the
Managing Committee of the M.A.O, College. Sayyid Ahmad, without
wasting any time, issued a rejoinder explaining that the suggestion was o
unwarranted and unacceptable. He took the plea that the fundamental
principles of the College, i.e. self-help, cultural training and system of
education, did not permit any English DPI to be installed to supervise
these activities.”

‘All these facts go to prove conclusively that Sayyid Ahmad's ideas
and thoughts about the Congress were the result of his considered
personal opinions and, thus, Moulvi Tufail Ahmad’s allegations had
ngthing to do with TG&“[}‘. ) o

By and by, as the time passed, the profound wisdom and futuristic . Jt

of Sayyid Ahmad’s views gained widespread approbation. In A
1926, Moulana Mohamed Ali praised his political stance paying tribute to
Sayyid Ahmad Khan with his typical objective aplomb, “Viewing the actsy-’ f,
mddwdsofd\elnstgm:raﬁonmday. it is very easy to be wise after the :;r,‘f-
_evepts. In my opinion, Sir Sayyid’s methodology was based on wisdom 0"'81

foulvi Abdul Haq, Chund Ham Asar, Karachi, 1959, pp.270-271.
Yhistory of the M.A.O. College, Aligarh, p.71.
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NWIMMMm:ﬁdMMWﬂmﬂhilmﬂh.l
am i to admit that no well-wisher of the Muslims of India could
M;ﬂytﬂﬂ'mm for the guidance of the Muslims".

Allama Igbal also commended the political stand-point of Sayyid
Ahmad when he said, “'1 admit of thi that the strategy adopted by,
sir Sayyid. half a century ago. was right and, after the bitter experience
of the present times. importance of this strategy is being felt™.

" In the same way, a famous nationalist newspaper Madina (Bijnor)
commented, “When the Congress was established, Sir Sayyid
restrained the Muslims from joining it and it is a fact that Sir Sayyid's
action proved much useful. Exigencies, on which Sir Sayyid's
estrictions were based, were absolutely justified and correct™.?

1
M.
- Rafique Afzal (ed) Gufiaar-e-Igbal, Lahore, 1969, p.73.

Madina (Bijnor), editorial, October 22, 1913,
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LEGISLATIVE COUNCILS
(1861-1892)

The East India Company |
established factones in Bnmrl)::ayy B:ngglrd:n:d ;:;a; Bpmes ek vl
: ) ras, which w -
on. known as Presidency Towns. In the beginning these T s
independent and autonomous. it
Tﬂ. streamline the Company affairs, the British Parliament passed the
_I-_{_cgulanggAct (1773) and the Pitt's India Act (1784). These Acts changed the
a:hmr_ustraDVf: structure c?f the Company. The Bengal Presidency became the
pﬂmaﬁesﬂﬁt)[arﬂ ltsgovmbccanwﬂmﬁom&mal of India,
(b) Calcutta became the capital of the Raj. (¢) The British Parliament began
indirectlycontrolling and supervising the Company’s Govemnment in India.
The Charter Act of 1833 centralised the law-making process and
all laws now began 10 be made in Calcutta. An ordinary Member was
included in the Governor-General’s Executive Council known as the

Law Member. In 1834 T.B. Macaulay, the
»

appointed the first Law Member or the law minister.
the Governor-General and

Before the War of 1 ndependence, it Was
med the dual duty of making law -

his Executive Council which perfor :
and its execution. But the War underlined the need for associating
indians with the process of law-making in India. It was felt by some of
the British administrators that the association of Indians with the law-
naking process of the country was essential. In 1860, Sir Bartle-Frere,
a1 member of the Governor-General’s Executive Council, commented,
“The addition of the native element has, 1 think, become necessary
owing to our diminished opportunities of i h indirect
channels what natives think of our measures and how the native
community will be affected by them.... It is a greal evil of the pr
system that the Government can rarely learn how its measures will be
received or how they are likely to affect even the Europeat subjects

bt
Rashiduzzaman, The Central Legislature in British India 192147, Daccd.

"96S. p.1.
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Sir Sayyid Ahmad Khan in his small but important treatise The
Causes 0 the Indian Revolt had pointed out the non-association of the
[ndians with the law-making process as the main cause of the ‘revolt’.

So the War of Independence underlined the need for associating Indians
with the law-making process in India. The British Government realised that it
was dangerous to continue to legislate for millions of people with few means
of knowing except by rebellion, whether the laws suit them or not.

The British Government Vvery wisely decided to associate the
[ndians with the law-making process and in 1861 the Indian Councils

Act was passed.

D.,J) ;j'ftd)

,-f:'-F (D

MAIN FEATURES

(a) The Act provided that for legislative purposes the Governor-
General’s Executive Council should be enlarged and not less
than 6 and not more than 12 members should be appointed.
These members were called the Additional Members of the
Executive Council. The Additional Members attended thg,
meetings of the Executive Council only and when the Councii;
had legislative work on its agenda. |
The Additional Members were (O be nominated by the
Governor-General for a period of two years. The Act provided

that half of the members must be non-officials.

Previously the Governor-General’s  Executive Council
consisted of 4 members. Now its number was raised to_3 and
the Commander-in-Chief was appointed as an extraordinary

member of the Executive Council.
The Governor-General was the President (speaker) of the

Council as he used to preside over the meetings of the
Council. In his absence either a senior members or a nominee
of the Governor-General used to preside over the meetings.
The Act also gave limited powers of legislation to the
Presidencies of Bengal and Madras. Not less than 4 and not
Executi}re.Cuuncils.‘ The Governor-General was authorised to
create mmfllar Councils for N.-W. Provinces and the Punjab.
All flu:dbllls and regulations passed by the Provincial Council
required the assent of the Governors and the Governor-General.
The Additional Members were i '
aek Gioetions in e . given no powers. They could neither
The Go Executive Council nor move any re<olution.

vernor-General was authori iss *

authorised to issue ordinances.

1
S.R. Mthmlﬂ i war, F.' !]'F
4O ia" P rt
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(i) Before the Indian Councils Act of 1861, the Executive Council at

E’; “J_,_.ﬂ ¢ (#4 ) Calcutta behaved almost like-a “petty parliament”, the Act gave an
ity to the Secretary of State for India to ciip the wings of

the Calcutta Council. The Act introduced safeguards of requiring
the Governor-General’s prior sanction for the introduction of bills
and contentious subjects and preserved his veto.
As Charles Wood, the Secretary of State for India, once wrote to the
Governor-General that every care should be taken to prevent the Council

from developing into a “.miniature parliament”, the British Government
took every precautionary measure to prevent such a happening.

The Imperial Legislative Council functioned more or less as a Durbar
of the Viceroy. The Additional Members were carefully hand-picked and
their role and status were advisory only as Subramania Iyer in his address
to the first session of the Indian National Congress commented that the
function of those Councils were limited to registering the decree of the

Government and stamping them with legislative sanction.
From 1861 to 1892 the Additional Members who were nominated to

the Imperial Legislative Council were cither the Indian princes or big

landowners, rich merchants or retired officers. By modemn standards of

tative institutions they could hardly be called the spokesmen of the
Indians at large. The Indian members had hardly shown sufficient interest in
the debates on rare occasion. Their speeches were, as a rule, short, read out of
manuscripts prepared before the actual debates. They showed keener interest
only in discussing the Bills relating to property, taxation, and inheritance.

Most of the Bills were passed without discussion and often at a
single sitting. The Indian members did not present any opposition to the
Government. In 1878, the Vernacular Press Bill was passed at a single
sitting. It was one of the most discreditable measures passed by the then
Viceroy Lord Lytton. Curiously enough, not a single Indian opposed
the Bill on the floor of the Council, though it was universally
condemned throughout India as the “Black Act”.

Furthermore, the non-official Indians did not show eagerness to
attend the meetings of the Council. Sir Henry Maine wrote in a minute
in 1868 that offers of seats in the Legislative Council were often
declined and the nominated Members showed the “utmost reluctance to

come and the utmost hurry to depart”.” o
With all its limitations and drawbacks the Indian Councils Acﬁif 1861

was a milestone in the constitutional history of India. A
says, “Even the longest journey begins with one small step™, so the Act was

1 )
K.V. Punnai Pgpaps
Cl:Lnnmah, Constitutional History of India, n.d., p.95.
ntral Legislature in British India, p.2.
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;hn;tl ::;Ill step uciln the Inpg journey of constitutional development. Once the
were admitted into the Legislative Councils the démand naturally
grew that their number and powers should be enhanced.

THE INDIAN COUNCILS ACT 1892

: 'J'{llh the formation of the Indian National Congress the political climate
in Il*fint began to change gradually. The public opinion in India began
sing the Government for further expansion of the legislative councils.

Secondly, the establishment of the universities at different places
b in their wake the political awareness to demand representative

institutions in India.

Thirdly, Lord Lytton's repressive policies like the imposition of the
Vernacular Press Act or the “Gagging Act”, his Afghan policy and the Ibert
Bill controversy all contributed to the “nationalism” among the Indians.

In a letter to the Secretary of State for India in 1881, Lord Ripon, the
Viceroy, had suggested that the indirect election to the legislative councils
through the local bodies should be introduced so that the Government
could run in accordance with growing public opinion.” But the Secretary of
State regarded the suggestion as premature and ignored it. Lord Dufferin in
1888 set up a committee With Sir George Chesney, as chairman, t0
consider the question of Reforms, Dufferin made it clear that he was not
contemplating to set up a parliamentary system after the British model in
India. The British Government was in no hurry to introduce reforms as is
revealed by the fact that the Bill was introduced in the House of Lords in

1890 and kept lingering till 1892 when it was passed.
MAIN FEATURES

(a) The number of Additional Members of the Governor-General’s
Executive Council was further raised. Now the Council was to
consist of not less than 10 and not more than 16 members.

(b) Two-fifth of the Additional Members of the Council were to
be non-officials.

(c) The Additional Members were given limited powers. Under

- the previous Act they could not ask questions. Now they were
granted this privilege of asking questions on matters of public
interest.

(d) The number of Additional Members of the Provincial
Councils was also raised. Now their number was fixed

between 8 and 20. For Bengal the number was fixed at 20.

t - T
'S Gopal, The Viceroyalty of Lord Ripon, 1880-84, London, 1953, p.85.
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(¢) The Act authorised the Additional Members to discuss the annua)
financial statement under certain conditions and restrictions v
opportunity to “indulge in full, frec and fair criticism of the
financial policy of the Government" was given (o the members.

The Indian Councils Act of 1892 was a “‘cautious extension” of the Act
of 1861 which aimed at conciliating the Indian’s demand for steady

development of representative institutions in India. It was an attempt at
compromise between the official view of the Council as “pocket legislatures”
and the educated Indian view of them as “embryo parliament”, As Dufferin
had emphatically declared that it should not be concluded that he was

contemplating to set up a parliamentary system after the British model,
Under the Act of 1892, the legislative councils became a centre of

political training. As the Aga Khan affirmed in his memoirs that the
Viceroy's Legislative Council in those days was a small select body of
influential people, wielding real authority and his tenure as a member
there gave him the political training.

In the Imperial Legislative Council now men like G.K. Gokhale,
Sir S.P. Mehta, Ashutosh Mukherjee, Rashbehary Ghose and Nawab
Salimullah Khan made their position felt and respected by the
Government. It was during the working of the 1892 Reforms that
Indian politicians began to show greater interest in the debates of the
Council. Their speeches generally lasted longer than those of their
predecessors in the earlier councils. Most of the leading members in the

Council were prominent lawyers in the country.
" SHORTCOMI1iNGS OF THE ACT

Although Lord Curzon in a confidential letter on June 20, 1902, to
Lord Cross, the Secretary of State for India, described the Reforms as a
great success, yet the Act of 1892 also did not come up to the
expectations of the Indians.

Firstly, the inability to influence the administration on important
matters such as Indianisation, reduction of military expenditure and
taxes, admission of. Indians in the Executive Councils caused
frustration to the non-official members.

_ Secondly, the non-official members constituted a permanent
minority before the official bloc. It was impossible for a non-official
'“*m,l'?ﬁ_l‘ {0 press any demand against official bloc.

Supplenﬁ:f’ questions asked on the whole had been rare and
SrY question could not be put. Only 13 questions about

Services,
S, railways, revenue and foreign exchange were asked in 1905-06.

"The M
€moirs of Agq Khan, London, 1954 p.73
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were very few questions on political grievances but from 1905
were some questions on the partition of Bengal.

Fourthly, sometimes the information was denied if the answer to

any question involved the official in lengthy preparation. On March 10,
1905, Gokhale's question was not answered on the plea that it would
involve unnecessary pressure on the officials.

Fifthly, on many occasions, the Government passed many bills
disregarding the strongest opposition by the Indian members. For
example, in 1905, the Indian Universities Bill was passed though it was
strongly opposed by the Indian members. The Gﬁve}'nmgnl faile;d_to
pay attention to non-official gpinion on some very vital issues which
later took the shape of political grievances. In 1875, the Government
imposed excise duty on cotton goods. During the discussion of the
pudget this matter Was raised in the Legislative Council, but the
Government did not take any significant step to redress the grievance.
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THE INDIAN NATIONAL
CONGRESS

a common education and common

Common skills and functions,
the Raj held the Indians together in

aspirations and resentment against

the form of associations.
The earliest associations we
where the commerce and adminis

re organised in the Presidency Towns
tration of the East India Company had

first unsettled the traditional order. In 1853, the Company's Charter was
“to expire. For Indians the time was ripe to float new political ventures
whose petitions might influence the legislature in making up their mind.
Hence the discussions over the renewa
British Indian Association (Calcutta) the Bombay Association and the
Madras Native Association which were to dominate the politics of the
Presidency Towns for the next quarter of a century. These associations

brought nineteenth century India across the threshold of modern politics."
In 1883, the -llbert Bill was moved in the Imperial Legislative

Council over which the Europeans raised so much hue and cry that the
Bill had to be withdrawn. Consequently the events of 1883 widened the
rift between the natives and the Europeans. Henry Beveridge, in August
1884, wrote to Annette, “India is getting very unpleasant with the strif iy
The Bill rocked the students community which went irﬁE_ a frenzy of

ke the editor of Englishman fear for the Raj.

protest, NOisy enough to ma
the eve of a crisis which will try the power of

J. Farrell wrote, “We are on
the British in a way in which it has not been tried since the Mutiny”.

The Ilbert Bill controversy showed the Indians the way to the Indian
National Congress as rightly verified by B.C. Pal. The plan of the creation

of INC was conceived, hourished and nurtured by Allen Octavin Hume 2
retired British Officer of the Bengal Civil Service ostensibly for politi
reasons. Hume was a very staunch well-wisher of the Raj. His resignation
from the Bengal Civil Service was not prompted by any distrust against

1. :
]g:lul Seal, The Emergence of Indian Nationalism, Cambridge, 1971, p.194.
JEdwin Hirschmann, White Mutiny, Delhi, 1980, p.282.

The Emergence of Indian Nationalism, p.217.

| of the Charter gave birth to the
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Government or by love of the down-trodden multitude of India. On the
contrary, he resigned to serve the interests of the Empire in a different
ity. With this goal in view, Hume had apprehended towards the end
of 13’!3,_ while still in service, that the prevalent political unrest, widespread
mic dfapmssion and increasing number of conspiracies might, once
again, culminate into a situation similar to the one in 1857. Therefore, he
thought of ways and means to provide the Indians with opportunities to
give vent (0 their pent up feelings, suppressed ambitions and unrealised
. tions, so that they would not entertain any idea of secret plots. It is
worthwhile here to mention that such an idea cropped up in Hume’s mind
after reading Sayyid Ahmad Khan’s book The Causes of the Indian Revoilt.
This was stated by Hume himself to Sahibzada Aftab Ahmad Khan!
After resigning his post, Hume, in order to give a concrete shape to his
plan, wrote a letter to the graduates of the Calcutta University on March 1,
1883, exhorting them t0 shun self-interest, and self-aggrandisement and to
develop selflessness and love for the country .in them.
In fact, Hume wanted to establish a social platform more than a
litical one, where the Indian could openly discuss and deliberate
gpon the problems of their social and community — welfare and
development. He had suggested that governor of the province should
preside over meetings of this forum to cultivate closer liaison between
the rulers and the ruled. This plan, as it was designed to serve the
Empire, received unqualified support from the rufers. Lord Dufferin,
the Governor-General of India, added a new dimension to Hume’s
brain-child. He suggested Hume 1o transform his proposed organization
into a political party as there was no “Her Majesty’s Opposition” in
India. He. thought that in this way, the Government could know the
nature of reaction among the Indians to the measures taken by the
Government.> The Congress was established to serve the purpose of
‘safety valve' and overt constitutional channel .for the discharge of
Indian ferment. The most interesting aspect of this consultation is that
Lord Dufferin extracted a solemn promise from Hume to keep it a
secret so long as he was in India. It was neither the first, nor the last of
the treacherous moves that characterise the British rule in India.
Thereafter, Hume went O England in connection with the
establishment of the INC and held parleys with a large number of
members of the British Parliament including John Brights Sir James
Caird, Lord Ripon, Lord Dalhousie and many more. Before his
departure for England, Hume founded “Indian Telegraph Union”, in
Eimhay to reflect Indian public opinion, and to transmit news, about

1
Ameen Zubairi, Tazkira-e-Sir Sayyid, Lahore, n.d., p-171.
illiam Wedderburn, Allan Octavin Hume, London, 1913, pp.59-60.
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important problems of India, to the British press. During his w— |
England, he exchanged views with the editors of the 1;? " .
newspapers to elicit their sympathies for the problems of India, e

Hume's return from England was marked by hectic preparations
for holding the inaugural session of the Congress which was 10 be helq
at Poona from December 25-30, 1885. But the venue was shifted (o
Bombay where W.C. Bonnerjee presided over the session at Gokaldas
Tejpal Sanskrit College on December 28, 1885.

In this inaugural session, K.T. Telang on behalf of the Congress moveq
a resolution stressing the absolute necessity of expansion offthe Imperia)
Legislative Council and the Provincial Councils. The Congress also
demanded that the members of the Legislative Councils should be elected by
the people. Secondly, it also put forward a demand that the Civil Service
examination should be simultaneously held in England and India.

The INC, in its early days, supported the British Raj. It was a pro-
British party. It was not only conceived and brought up by a Britisher but
it also received support and blessing from several other Britishers.
Congress party’s proclivities were established by the perpetual presence
of members of the British Parliament at its sessions like W.S. Casson,
Charles Bradlaugh and Semuel Smith. Among those who presided over
Congress sessions during its embryonic stages for several years were
people like George Yule (1888), Sir William Wedderburn (1910), Alfred
Webb (1894), Sir Henry Cotton (1904). Wedderburn felt so devoutly
attached to the cause espoused by the INC that he opened its branch in
England and spent one thousand pounds yearly to promote its activities.

There is no denying the fact that the INC had established very
warm and cordial relation with the Raj. It is quite evident from the fact
that in 1886, the Governor-General, Lord Dufferin, invited the
Congress delegates to tea in the Government House and very next year,

Lord Connemara, the Governor of Madras also graced the Congress
delegates by treating them to tea. A year earlier, in 1885, a few days
before the inaugural session of the INC a large numbér of Bombay
dignitaries, including Justice Jardine; Wedderburn and Principal
Wordsworth, met the delegates and assured them of their support.

The INC had won over the sympathies of the members of the British
Parliament to use them to enhance its credibility and support among the
masses. It succeeded in goading Charles Bradlaugh in 1888. In the
meantime, the Congress continued to tap all resources, in men
material, to accelerate its propaganda campaign and to ingratiate with its
z;::cﬁgdﬂrc;s It formed a committee by the name. “Indian Political
only for its :u spent a large sum to the tune of 2500 pounds in 1889

propaganda in Britain to create a favourable public opinion
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for its working." Similarly, British Commitice for Indian National
Congress came into existence on July 27, 1889 which launched a journal
India in 1890 to present problems of India from India's point of view.

For an endless number of years, the Congress kept on harping on the same
wne of its unequivocal loyalty to the Raj. The first president of the Congress,
Bonnerjee, affirmed in his first presidential address, stating, “There is no one
more complete and consistent well-wisher of the British Government .than 1
and my friends sitting here around me'". In 1886, Dadabhai Naoroji went a step
ahead. Proudly proclaiming allegiance to the British Government in his
presidential address, he suggested, ‘“We should, like men, dccllme that we are
loyal to the backbone and we appreciate the benefits which the English
Government has bestowed upon us. We value the English education which has
wransformed our darkness into sunshine”. Sir Pherozeshah Mechta expressed
similar views in 1890. Confirming his loyalty to the British Crown, he said,
“The question of our allegiance has been settled for ever™.

There is almost tolal consensus on the point that the Congress looked
at the British as its benefactor and repeatedly pledged 1its unconditional
fidelity to the Crown. Situramaya, the “official” historian of the INC had
conceded this fact saying, “Congressmen loved to parade their loyalty in
the earlier days”. When in 1914 Lord Pentland, the Governor of Madras,
visited the Congress pandal, not only did the whole House rise and applaud
the Governor, but Mr. AP, Patro who was speaking on the despatch of
Indian Expeditionary force was stopped abruptly and Surendranath
Banerjea was asked to move a resolution on the loyalty of the Congress 10
the Crown which he did with his usual exuberance of language.

A similar incident occurred at Lucknow in 1916, when everyone in
the Congress meeting stood up to greet Sir James Meston.? Another
very significant feature of the Congress meetings in those days was
hoisting of the Union Jack at its opening sessions.

Some prominent Hindus acknowledge the fact that “The. Congress
was in fact brought into being through the initiative and in pursuance of
dlf:ct British governmental policies on a plan secretly pre-arranged
""'“I_" the Viceroy, as an intended weapon for safeguarding British rule
against the rising forces of popular unrest and anti-British feeling”.
;’:‘li;-:i patf Rai also affirmed: “It is an undisputable historical fact that

l - Congress uwaum INC was a product of Lord Dufferin and that the
= e frumsda established more with the object of saving the British
nger than that of winning political liberty for India".*

®

1
K.K.
2 Aziz, Britain and Mustim India, London, 1963, p.31.

attabhi §i
R.Dun }::ﬁl?m The History of the Congress, Allahabad, 1935, p.101.
g r: Today, Bombay, 1949, p.289,
+ 10ung India, Lahore, 1927, p.131.
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_These accounts reveal, in appropriate measures, the exten
which the Congress was socially, morally and above all iﬂteltntuaum
subservient to the British Imperialism. y‘

CONGRESS AND THE MUSLIMS

Hume, the godfather of the Congress, invited Sir Sayyid Ahmad
Khan, Nawab Abdul Latif (Secretary, Mohammedan Literary Society)
and Sayyid Ameer Ali (President, Central National Mohammedan
Association) to attend the inaugural session of the Congress. All the
three leaders refused to attend, and rightly so, because they thought,
their participation in the session would be repugnant to the interests of
the Muslims. Separately though, they took the same decision, despite

the fact that they had divergent views on political issues.
In 1886, the Congress session was held at Calcutta, But:

surprisingly, not a single Muslim delegate from Calcutta attended the
session lending ‘credence to the inference that the Bengali Muslims
concurred with the opinion of Sayyid Ameer Ali and Nawab Abdul
Latif on the question of Muslim participation in the Congress.
However, in 1887, in the second session of the Congress, out of the
total delegates of 607, only 76 were Muslims. Of these 76 Muslim
delegates, 56 belonged to Madras and the remaining twenty represented
all the other provin.es. This tiny group of Muslims which was
projected to reflect Muslim representation prompted Sayyid Ahmad
Khan to remark that these Muslim delegates were not electe. even by
ten Muslims, therefore, they could not claim to represent the Muslims.
As the time passed, the INC succeeded to spread its roots and felt
more at ease with itself, its honeymoon with the Government firmly
consummated, it placed a Muslim, Badruddin Tyabji, in the top slot, to
make him the first Muslim president of the Congress. In times Tyabji
initiatec a debate through his letters to Sayyid Ahmad Khan on the merits
and demerits, advantages and disadvantages for the Muslims of joining
or avoiding to join the Congress. But, subsequently, Tyabji had 10
concede that the majority of the Muslims was opposed to the Cnngress.'
In this regard, after-a cursory glance at the record of the annud
sessions of the Congress, one thing that comes to light, through
comparative study of the number of Muslim participants on different
occasions, is the fact that a large majority of the Muslims did not support
the Congress. The following table shows the strength of Muslim
delegates in annual sessions of the INC between 1885 and 1910.

1
Peter Hardy, The Muslims of British India, Karachi, 1973, p.131.
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Congress

Session  Place p:._i::lm Muslims :
1885 Bombay 72 2 (Both Bombay Attorneys)
1886 Calcutta 440 33 (27 from Bengal)
1887 Madras 607 79 (59 from Madras)
1888 Allahabad 1,248 219 (152 from N.W.P. and Avadh)
1889 Bombay 1,889 248 (80 from Bombay)
1890 Calcutta 677 116 (82 from N.W.P. and 29 from Bengal)
1891 Nagpur List not available
1892 Allahabad 625 91 (81 from N.W.P. and Avadh)

1893 Lahore 867 65 (51 from the Punjab)
1894 Madras 1,163 23 (17 from Madras)
1895 Poona 1,584 25 (21 from Bombay)
1896 Calcutta 784 54 (42 from Bengal)
1897 Amraoti 692 57 (53 from Berar)
1898 Madras 614 10 (10 from Madras) 5
1899 Lucknow 789 313 (308 from N.W.P. and Avadh)
1900 Lahore 567 56 (52 from the Punjab)
1901 Calcutta 896 74 (54 from Bengal)
1902 Ahmedabad 417 20 (19 from Bombay)
1903 Madras 538 9 (5 from Madras)
1904 Bombay 1,010 35 (25 from Bombay, 1 from Bengal)
1905 Benares 756 20 (9 from U.P.)
1906 Calcutta 1,663 45 (24 from Bengal out of 686 delegates)
1907 Surat Adjourned sine die.
1908 Madras 626 10 (3 from Madras)
1909 Lahore 243 5 (3 from Bengal, 2 from the Punjab)
1910 Allahabad 636 19 (8 from U.P.)

It would be interesting to note that the Congress offered return fare
to persuade Muslim delegates to attend its sessions. The twenty two years
long period (1885-1906) saw only two Muslims becoming the president
u‘f the Congress. During a much larger chunk of its life, stretching over
sixty three years, since the inception of the Congress from 1885 to the
parppun of India in 1947, it remained dominated, in consonance with jts §
political colour and creed, by Hindu leadership. There were only sevéi
MUSIIEE'W"&D became the presidents of the Congress till 1946. They were
gad:udddm Tyabji (1887), Rahmatullah Siani (1896), Sayyid Mohammad
Mal.:lkhtl:l-' (1913), Hua_m Imam (1918), Mohamed Ali Johar (1923), |

Ahmad Ansari (1927) and Abul Kalam Azad (1940-46).
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No doubt, there existed a sharp difference of perception wi
with
the INC among the Muslim leadership in India but as it is evident rl;ng:ﬂﬂ: '

facts and figures mentioned above, a large majority of the Muslim populace
nherent hostility born of centuries old

viewed the Congress with gn i

experience of betrayal and treachery. This hostility was manifestly projected
by the Muslim press, from Calcutta to Punjab, which unanimously opposed
joining the INC. The Rafig-i-Hind (Lahore) reflected the anti-Congress
feelings of the. Muslims of the Punjab and asserted that the Muslims could
not continue to participate in the Congress agitation as their interests differed
from those of the Hindus. The Muslim Herald (Madras) questioned the
application of the word ‘National’ for the Congress since .this term could
only be applicable to a people “descended from one stock, speaking a
common tongue, amenable to a uniform law and united under one
Government”. The only thing comman between the Hindus and the Muslims

was their common alliance to the British, otherwise, “In all respects, they are ' :
widely sundered in race, religion, social forms and customs”. Similarly the A
Mahomedan Observer of Calcutta dispelled the fear that abstention from the
Congress would undermine Muslim political interests.

On the other hand, a large number of Muslim Anjumans including
Anjuman-i-Istam (Bombay) Anjuman-i-Islamia (Amritsar) Anjuman-i-
Himayat-i-Islam (Lahore) and Anjuman-i-Rifa-i-Aam (Allahabad)
decided to stay out of the INC.

It is a significant fact that Muslim opposition to the Congress
continued even after Sayyid Ahmad’s death. Alfred Nandy, Secretary
of the INC, in a statement claimed that now Sayyid was dead so his
policy of opposition (0 the Congress was also dead. The Muslim

Chronicle reacted that the opposition to the Congress of the general
body of Musalmans was as strong as it was 14 years ago. Sahibzada
Aftab Ahmad Khan reminded Nandy that the Muslims of the present
day might be poor and backward but with all their poverty and
backwardness they still had some sensc of self-respect and honour and
no sensible and responsible Muslim would ever join the Cungmss.l

The present day Hindu historians have now begun to concede the fact
that the Muslims were strongly opposed to the Congress in its nascent
period and that a large majority of them stayed away from it. B.R. Nand2
testifies: “It must be acknowledged that Muslim opposition to the INC in
these early years was stronger and more stubborn than the Congress leaders

then — and for many years later — were prepared to recognise”.’
v 3 . -
M. Yusuf Abbasi, Muslim Politics and Leadership in South Asia 1876-1892,

Islamabad, 1981, pp.238-39.
o Saleem Ahmad, The All-India Muslim League, Bahawalpur, 1988, p.70.
R Nanda, Gokhale — The Indian Moderates and the British Raj, Delhi, 1977, p322-
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- remind them of the Muslim rule”." His statement stands corrobor
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3.

URDU-HINDI CONFLICT

“ThA 'f“““‘-'-’“ﬂd French orientalist, Garcine-de-Tassi; once Wrote,
e Hindus, because of their prejudice resist everything that_may

P)’ the stance the Hindus took in respect of the Urdu language. Indeed,
it was this unjustifiable posture of the Hindus towards Urdu that created
an unbridgeable chasm between the Hindus and the Muslims.

Historically, Urdu language had its seeds sown when the Mughals
ruled India and it prospered during their reign. In fact, it had come into
being through a combination of dialects and .words of different
languages. Farhang-iAasfia, an authentic dictionary best illustrates the
claim that Urdu came into being by intermingling of words of Bhasha,
Persian and Arabic. The Dictionary contains 54014 words in all out of
which 22198 words are of Hindi.2 Tt may be recalled that Urdu was not
the language which the Muslims had brought into India with them, it
was born, matured and nourished on the Indian soil. TAat

Contrary to a comm ed keen

on misconception, the Hindus evinc
interest in the development and propagation of the. Urdu language. Their
bution in the enrichment of the

contri language is the one thing that can
not be minimised. Great fiction writers like Ratan Nath Sarshaar (who
wrote Fasana-e-Azad spreading over four thousand pages, Munshi Prem
Chand, Krishan Chander, great critic like Chakbast, translator like
Munshi Teerath Ram Ferozepuri, and great poets like Maharaja Sir
Kishan Prasad, Pandit Dya Shankar Nasim, Firaq Gorakhpuri and Tilouk
Chand Mahroom arc few of the celebrated Hindu litterateurs without
whom no literary history of Urdu language would be considered
complete. It again goes (0 the credit of a Hindu, Ram Babu Saxena, to
have written the first ever formal literary history of Urdu. To no less
measure was their contribution in the field of literary magazines. Several
popular literary magazines were brought out by the Hindu literary figures
like Naubat Roy Nazar editor Khadang-e-Nazar, Diya Narain Nigam
editor Adeeb and Zamana to name the few. To give just one example of

14 1taf Husain Hali, Hayat-i-Javeed, Lahore, 1984, p.144.
3giadiq Ali Khan, Bey Tegh Sipahi, Karachi, 1971, p.119.
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the Hindu patronage of the language, it would suffice to menti
there were 19 journals and periodicals edited by the Hindu editors "ty
a total number of 64 published from Lucknow from 1872 to 1883 .
In this background, it looks rather odd that the Urdu-Hindi ;
¥-,4 took the centre stage as the most lenuous problem in the Indi iy
. ; an politics,
fliv during the forty years from 1860 to the end of the century and played ap
important role in creating a feeling of ‘national identity’ and ‘separatism’ '
among the Indian Muslims. In fact, the Urdu language and its Persian
script had become the emblem of the power and glory of the Muslim past
during the second half of the 19" century. It would be no exaggeration to
say that these two had assumed the status of a dogma among the Muslim
populace. As language, Urdu received tremendous boost when it was
declared the official language in 1837. In U.P. alone, out of 23
newspapers in 1863, 17 were in Urdu and only 4 were in Hindi language. ,&,ﬁ,-f,‘!.
This situation though less enjoyable to the Hindus, forced a ite o
statement out of a fanatic Hindi supporter, Babu Shiv Prasad, wﬁ%a: "“? [
“Now, Urdu is assuming the status of our national language". 4'2.{“
There is no denying the fact that Urdu-Hindi conflict was an offshoot /}J
W of the interminable conflicts of the Hindu-Muslim politics. As a result, !
5"’ e ripples of distrust and subsequent current of political maglstrom had N
engulfed the whole religio-social scene on the Indian sub-continent, The
t«*_“‘?,t.i-'l ~ement for the establishment of Ram Raj by the bigoted Hindus was ’fj
¢ 7" Ybased, fundamentally, on their inveterate enmity for the Muslims. This (;ﬂgl
movement spilled over and targeted Urdu as one of its main enemies and, “*
when, pushed to its logical end, it started demanding for the abolition of
Persian script and introduction of Hindi and Nagri scripts in its place. In this
connection, the first practical step was taken under the patronage of
Maharaja of Benaras who patronized the establishment of “Benaras
Institute’” in 1861, to oppose Urdu, which was followed by the setting up of
., “Allahabad Institute” for the same purpose. Hindus had alwvays the
use of Urdu on the flimsy argument that Hindi was more popular among the
masses. Their claim could not be substantiated as the circulation of Hindi
papers was woefully less than the Urdu . The myth of Hindi
popularity was exploded when Babu Shiv Prasad’s Hindi newspaper Shimla
Akhbar failed to enhance its circulation beyond a paltry 52 copies. The
situation was not encouraging for Hindi in other areas either. In one of his
in 1874, the Chief Commissioner of Avadh wrote that only 41 books
were published in Hindi in Lucknow as compared to 172 books in Urdu.
It is, therefore, quite evident that the movement against Urdu was il
no way, an intellectual or a literary movement. It was, indeed, a political

N W

ln'iidq-F-Jadud, weekly, Lucknow, January, 15, 1960,
*Francis Robinson, Separatism Among the Indian Muslims Cambridge, 1974, pp.70-71.
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vestiges of the Mu-sﬁmMushp: culture and to completely efiminate all the
mm"su'ltﬂ'lsﬂvtaand rule in India. It was in spite of the fact that the
their personal e U'ﬂ‘- Cﬂnsni:ss itself had been using this language for
$ibir 36 %o : ves tll today.” They never used the ghastly language
St ﬂljh ftal"”m“?" Y struggled to revive and preferred instead to speak and
of Pandit jﬁwahardmla] tive and pompous Urdu. In 1916, the wedding card
highly flo Tflth'u, son of Pandit Motilal Nehru, was printed in
Wwery Urdu dialect which reveals that the animosity of the Hind

and tha
t of the Congress towards Urdu was mainly an extension of their®

ingrained hatred for the Muslim. The wedding card ran as under:
¥ > = -
=i o Laed Uﬂi.ﬂ‘;luﬁ.{d:i#-.rmﬁfq.tf
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In 1867, during the days of Sayyid Ahmad, a campaign was
launched from Benaras to replace Urdu and Persian script with Basha

and Nagri scripts in government offices and courts. Sayyid Ahmad ., ..

3 |

A

i

Khan was so utterly disgruntled with this campaign of vilification m#

-against Urdu that he was compelled to remark to his friend Shakespeare -, S

that the current disputes had convinced him of the futility of expecting

the two communities to join hands on any issue whatsoever.

As a reaction to and concurrently with anti-Urdu campaign, an
organisation under the name of “Central Association” came into existence,
with a view to safeguard and defend the Urdu language, at Allahabad.
Simultaneously, various newspapers including Al-Absar, Benaras Gazette
and Aligarh Institute Gazette took upon themselves the responsibility of
launching a counter-offensive in favour of Urdu and_began pinpointing

nefarious motives hidden in the Benaras demands.’

rils and
F:'c-"'" FTI._:A #1 r;_l-.-.i,ll_’hi-i

LThe above statement is testified by Nisar Ahmad Faroogi of Delhi University wlio in
Hamari Zuban (Aligarh) disclosed that during the last general
posters and advertisements sent by the All-India Congress

his article published in
elections the number of ‘ :
Commiltee to the Provincial Committees in three languages was as follows:-

English 25925

Hindi 24725

Urdu 29100

(See Sidg-e-Jadeed, Lucknow,

U I |

weekly. May 5, 1967, p.22.)

’Hayai-e-Javeed, 1964, pp.163.

dom Movement, Vol. 11, Part I, Kﬂlal‘:ihi. p.36.
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Anti-Urdu movement gradually’ gained momentum. Ope
incident, in a long chain of vents; took place during a meeting 0;"{‘;:
Bhagalpur Scientific Society on November 7, 1871. The Lt.
qf _,_B\ﬂ_ngal1 George _Cal]'lpl:lell, attended the meeting. Moulvi Imdad
while delivering the presidential address, drew heavily from his Arabic

' and Persian vocabulary which did not go down well with the audience
Beharis were, perhaps, already waiting for such an occasion, Thﬁ‘.\"
protested and suggested to the Lt.-Governor to decree the use of the sfped
local dialect instead of a ‘foreign language’. Taking a cue from the ks, wif
audience, .c Li-Covernor condemned Urdu as a foreign language, U
went a step forward and ordered the education department to exclude b
the Urdu text books from the curriculum.

However, this decision of the Lt-Govemor was not looked upon
favourably by the high officials of the Government machinery. Even the
semi-official newspaper of Calcutia the Englishman criticised the decision

J The Hindus received another chance to damage Urdu when, in 1882,
.+ “Hunter Education Commission was set up. This time, it"was in the Punjab
“I"" and the U.P. where this spectre raised its head. A large number of societies
¢ [***'3nd organisations presented countless Memorials against Urdu before the
_..u-"Commission. Once again, Sayyid Ahmad Khan came forward and
-““ succeeded in convincing the Commission that the problem was not simply d\l“!"‘ M
a linguistic conflict but had assumed an aggressive political overtone. ¥
The Hindus, true to their evil nature, never let any opportunity sl_ipj; i
to damage the cause of the Muslim through their clandesting stratagem, or .ﬁ tf.f

.+ wherever possible, by their vulpine methods. In March 1898, a Memoral "/

4/ 7 was presented to the highly partisan Lt-Governor of U.P.. Anthony

4 Macdonnell, to introduce Hindi and Nagri scripts in the government offices

' and courts. It happened during the last days of Sir Sayyid Ahmad Khan.

Anthony Macdonnell, the Lt.-Governor of the U.P. was highly biased
against the Muslims and he always suspected Muslims hatching conspiracy
against the Raj." Conjuring up a dreaded spectre of revolt by the Muslims,
he proposed to the Governor-General that the Muslims were a threat to the
British Empire and, therefore, their strong position in the gmvenunﬂm
service should be politically undermined as far as possible.” With this
objective in view, he not only ordered the use of Nagri alongside Urdu in

government offices and judicial courts in U.P. on April 18, 1900, but also

L

1
_Monlh!y Urdu (Jubilee Number), Karachi, November, 1953, p.9.
1::1;:::‘:&3 lMacdnnncIIjsl anti-Muslim proclivities can be gauged from his
Aénal l?i:' the partition pf‘Ben‘gal in 1905. He denounced the Partition of
Plassey [M:i glrcales} adnum_s.tratwe blunder in India since Clive’s victory al
Isf'para : ul Hamid, Musiim Separatism in India, p.67].
Tism Among the Indian Muslims, p.43, .
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notified to,
should bfm?mdw““ concerned that in future only those candidates %,
Anthony ﬁmdo“'hﬂ knew both Persian and Nagri scripts.! g

disdain for Musli vl Ord?r, undoubtedly, was the outcome of his

ls inteeeeting 10 oo culture that éxtended to the language they used. But, it

second . ;'D note that even the Indian Government itself termed the

Indian miu the order as severe and eventually changed it. Now, the i
& ik handms found t_lwmsel\re.s between the devil and the deep sea. Dnﬂdk,“» g

jobs and on thcthe English were planning to evict them from government -, ﬂj =4

etnibolised other, the Hindus were bent upon exterminating whatever Wﬂ
ymbolised a separate Muslim identity in an attempt to revive Ram Raj. Yp* fver “ 5

goes without saying that changing the script of a language sounds as a ~ P‘ju_gl

death knell not only to the language and its literature but also to the .2

separate entity of a nation. Pandit Nehru himself once admitted that, “A ’

chang_e u_f script is a very vital change for any language with a rich past, for

a script is a most intimate part of its literature. Change the script and

different word-pictures arise, different sounds, different ideas™? Toynbes,

the illustrious historian, has also observed and quite aptly too that there was

no need to burn the great libraries of a nation: it, unnecessarily, brought bad ;

name; enough is it to change the script of a nation’s language.” |

REACTION OF THE MUSLIMS

The Indian Muslims, quite naturally, reacted strongly to
Macdonnell's orders. These orders were viewed as an assault on Muslim
nationhood. .The counter-attack was launched by Nawab Mohsin-ul-
Mulk in a public meeting on May 13. 1900. In an emotionally charged
speech he declared, “We shall present a Ynemorial to the Governor
through a delegation. If we succeed, well and .good, if we don’t, we
would feel satisfied that we did our duty. Come on, Muslims! let us make
a last attempt with confidence in God’s mercy and in official justice
regardless of whether we win or lose so that we could say with Mir:

/fé-ii—u:‘—:.-u::f‘;g:;.ﬁ

Nawab Mohsin ul-Mulk organised the Urdu Defence Association
which convened several public meetings at various places to protest against
the Government's decision. In this cnnncr_ctiun a meeting was held mw’w:
Lucknow on August 15, 1900, evenaat the risk of enraging the authorities. M\ v
In this meeting Nawab Sahib moved a resolution which is as follows: 4

1Separatism Among the Indian Muslims., p.44.
2y, waharlal Nehru, An Autobiography, New Delhi, 1982, p.452.
34 b0l Hasan Ali Nadvi, Karawan-i-Zindagi, Karachi, n.d., p43.
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“It is certainly not the opinion of this con :
resolution of April 18, 1900, regarding the mmﬁﬁﬁ%nm The
paseed by Sir Anthony Macdonnell deliberately in partialiy wiy " °
particular party or with the intention of hurting the followers oflslunnﬂy
taking an unjust step. On the other hand, as it would be evident from Iy
Honour's statement, his resolution is only beneficial to the people of
Western and Northern Avadh, though this meeting can not agree to (he
opinion of His Honour”.! Addressing the meeting he said, “Though we
do not-have pen in our hands and there is no power in our pen ang
because of it we are less visible in offices, we have, nevertheless, power

., . 1o hold the sword in our hands”. He finished his speech on a melancholy
/i/ev i note that reflected the scary atmosphere prevailing in the province.

Sir Abdul Qadir, who was among the audience, later recalled .
that he had never seen such geal, fervour and passion before, with
which Nawab Mohsin-ul-MWk delivered his speech. It.was like

lava of words that flowed down in spurts of eruptions from the P

mountain. At the end Nawab Sahib said, “Well, if the Government
is bent upon destroying Urdu language, we, will cast the corpse of
Urdu in the river Gomti and die with it”. In an emotionally charged
voice he recited the following verse:

ﬁ;-r‘:/d,n.:«/’fjbﬁ

ﬁ = (P i e 2 § s

On this, there rose such a thunderous applause and roar of approval
that it looked as if the roof of the hall would be blown off.?

The Governor was so terribly annoyed with the tone of the Nawab
that he immediately called a meeting of the Board of Trustees of the
M.A.O. College, Aligarh and threatened that Mohsin-ul-Mulk would
have to choose between the secretaryship of Urdu Defence Association
and the government’s grant for the College. Nawab Sahib resigned the
secretaryship of the M.A.O. College, Aligarh. Macdonnell did not leave
it at that. On October 19, 1900, he debarred the Nawab from using the

title of Mohsin-ul-Mulk.”
< ATTITUDE OF THE HINDU LEADERS

~ Though Urdu-Hindi tussle subsided for the time-being during the
time of Anthony Macdonnell’s successor Sir James La Touche, yet the
advent of twentiethycentury saw ascendancy of Hindi over Urdu. Hindi

1 e
]Amt_.aen Zub.am. Hayat-e-Mohsin, Aligarh, 1934, p.155.
lhshlq Husain Batalvi, Chand Yadain Chand Taassurat, Lahore, 1970, pp.43-44.

Hayat-e-Mokhsin, p.9l.
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came o be used in the government offices and judicial courts of the CP,
the UP. and Bihar, Now, the namow-minded Hindu leaders Iike
Savarkar, Hardyal, Sampoornanad, Malavia and Tundan sqrted
conspiring to impose Hindi on the whole of India. For this sinister
objective, several groupings like Hindi Sahaita Samailon, Allaha!:lad,
Hindi Parcharni Sabha, Benaras and Hindu Mahasabah came into being.

A slightly different but more diabolical attitude was adopted by the
so-called ‘unbigoted’ Gandhi. In 1917, he declared that Hindi was the
only language capable of becoming the national language of India and
that by Hindi he meant the language which was written both in Nagri and
Urdu scripts. Realising the stupidity of his enunciation he modified his
stand and started using a euphemistic term ‘Hindustani’ for both Hindi
and Persian scripts. It was on his insinuation that the INC adopted a
resolution in 1925, stating that Hindustani would be the only nations
language of India. Only ten years after, in 1935, Gandhi came out in his
true colour and used the term ‘Hindi Hindustani’ instead of ‘Hindustani’
for the national language of India, which betrayed his true motives.

In 1937, the Congress Ministries availed of this opportunity to
settle scores with the Muslims in a most blatant manner. Their first
target pertaining to the ongoing tussle, obviously, was the Urdu
language. On February 20, 1938, Subash Chandra Bose, the president
of the INC declared, “Only Hindi can be the common language of India
and those who have not learnt it yet should learn it because it will help
them transforming into an Indian nation”™.!

Likewise, B.C. Khare, the Chief Minister of Bombay declared on April
10, 1938, “Nobody should have any doubt that there should be a common
language in India and it has been accepted by all that language is Hindi""2

. ﬂ URDU AND THE-ALL-INDIA MUSLIM LEAGUE

As a reaction to the naked partiality and injustice of the Qovemment
and brutal hostilities of Hindu majority, Sayyid Ahmad, Nawab Mohsin-ul-
Mulk and the All-India Muslim League took up cudgels To defend and
protect the Urdu language. In this connection Anjuman-e-Taragqi-e-Urdu
was formed in 1903 for the progress and prepagation of Urdu. "

The AIML began its activities in defence of Urdu in right earnest.
It passed numerous resolutions defending the rights of Urdu. In 1910, it
deplored the attempts to damage the cause of Urdu. Shaikh Abciul
Qadir, who moved the resolution, described the attempt to elevate an
other language to make it a common language with Urdu “as an effog

1
Farman Fatehpuri, Hindi Urdu Tanaza, Islamabad, 197
g neioy v 1976, p.397.
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to dig a well for water while the river is a in flow™.1 ‘
that any attempt to damage its impnﬂa‘ml!_‘\:%fﬂd— 'o%gﬁt;t :i: Wamneq
interests of the progress of India. Moulvi Mahbogh ”m'h‘ begt
supporting the resolution, remarked that Urdu was the Jm ..ﬁ"n While
India and the development of the Muslim community wag syng.ﬂ.".f_‘!_pf
with the preservation of the Urdu lapguage. Ymous

The AIML kept on building pressure and mobiliseq the puby;
opinion in its efforts to forestall any more steps by the Governme,
inimical to the interest of the Urdu language. In December lglnm
Nagpur, Shaikh Zahoor Ahmad moved a resolution that the Leag:
viewed with a sense of shock and deep indignation all the measures
taken for the projection of Hindi and Punjabi compared to Urdu ang
demanded the Government not to encourage anti-Urdu movements,
Sayyid Nabi Ullah, in his presidential address, declared Urdy as the

national language and said that the language was capable of fulfilling
the national needs. He urged the Muslims to take firm steps for the
progress and protection of Urdu.

In the Lucknow session of the AIML in 1916, Moulvi Wahid
Husain moved a resolution which expressed deep concern over the
steps taken by certain quarters to displace Urdu from the legitimate
position it occupied as the lingua franca of India. The resolution
stressed upon all those interested in the growth and formulation of
Indian nationality, the desirability of encouraging Urdu, which alone
could be thé common language of the country.? -

The AIML severely condemncd the measures adopted by the
Congress ministries to suppress Urdu. In 1937, at another session of the
AIML at Lucknow, the Raja of Mahmudabad moved a resolution which
called upon all Urdu-speaking people of India to make every possible
endeavour to safeguard the interest of their language, in every field of
activity with which the Central & Provincial governments are concerned.

Thus the Hindi-Urdu conflict not only transformed the political ethos
of the Indian sub-continent but also, in some ways, accelerated the pace
of socio-political polarisation between the two cardinal communities i€,
the Hindus and the Muslims, which, in turn, rejuvenated the potentials
hitherto lying dormant in the Muslim psyche. The Muslims of India,
thpugh still not fully aware of the full extent of the nefarious designs of
Hindu bigotry active behind their movement for Hindi domination, ¥

they realised their right to defend their culture and language. The conflic
Jetween Hindi and Urdu,may well be regarded an important link in the

L 2
lijﬁar:t‘u.ui:_hn Pirzada, Foundations of Pakistan, Vol.1, Karachi, 1969, p.132
s, 2undations of Pakistan, Vol.l, p.384.

Re:olulians of the A1) India Muslim Le ague, Oct. 1937-Dec 1938.
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EIDH&EQEiﬂ_G&gEMMEmm. that finally culminated in a clear-cut
emand for a separate homeland for the Muslims of Indian sub-continent.

Paul Brass testifies that the Urdu-Hindi o
was the critical factor i ent_of Muslim ism.

Similarly, Dr. KX. Aziz also holds the linguistic conflict responsible for
the Indian disunity” which helped the formation of more than orie
nationalism. mﬁ also of the same opinion that these
developments of modern Muslim separatism.’

It will only be pertinent to refer to a prophetic statement of
Moulana Sayyid Suleman Nadvi. The Moulana, while delivering his
presidential address in Urdu Muslim Conference in Calcutta on
December 31, 1939, said, “In the brightness of the modern-daylight,
something darkly unfair is being done and which is that every
government official from top to bottom is engaged in doing his utmost
in promoting the cause of Hindi. In my opinion, it is a disfavour to the
Congress rather than a favour; it is reinforcing the misconception in‘the
minds of the Muslims that it is what we can do with half the powers,
what else we will do with full powers; as a result of which the country
will be divided into two parts.* :

A renowned Congressite, Tufail Ahmad Manglori, once admitted
that when a resolution against Urdu was passed in the U.P. it caused deep
agony among the Muslims and the Hindi-Urdu controversy created a gulf
of disunity between the two nations which widened day by day.’

Ypanl Brass, Language, Religion and Politics in North India, Cambridge, 1974, p.137.

%K K Aziz, The Making of Pakistan; A Study in Nationalism, London, 1967, p.126.

3Aziz Ahmad, Studies in Islamic Culture in the Indian Environment, Karachi,
1970, p.260.

4Sayyid Suleman Nadvi, Nugoosh-e-Sulaimani, Karachi, 1967, pp.163-165.

SMusalmanon ka Roshan Mustagbil, p.333.

7

A



. 6

| _ %THE PARTITION OF BENGAL

Lord Curzon assumed the Viceroyalty of India on December 30, 1898,
\ He soon drew up 2 programme of administrative reforms, most of
* which evoked opposition But none of his measures generated so much

heat and aroused opposition and excitement as did the partition of

Bengal in 1905. The partition was, in no way, directly related to events

during Curzon's tenure in office: it hung in balance since 1853 when

Charles Grant proposed:the partition of Bengal. Lord Dalhousie in 1854

complained about the tremendous administrative burden on the Lt.-

Governor of Bengal. Later on, when Orissa was in the grip of a severe

famine in 1866, the committee investigating the causes of the famine,
recommended that the boundaries of this huge province should be re-
demarcated. Six years later in 1872, the Lt.-Governor, Sir George
Campbell submitted in his report that on¢ man alone could net

supervise the affairs of the province efficiently.’
A CAUSES OF PARTITION

The population of the province of Bengal in 1903 was seven crore
eight lac and its area measured 1,89,000 miles. Only one Lt.-Governor
was responsible for the administration of this very vast area. It is quite
evident that it was impossible to look after multiple administrative
problems of this huge Province. How much the Lt.-Governor remained
over-burdened by hectic day-to-day affairs of the province could be
understood by the fact that he found time only once to pay visit to
important places of the Eastern wing of the Province like Dacca &
Chittagong during his five years term of office. Similarly, various other
areas of East Bengal remained neglected for a long time. The
Government had failed to do_anything for the SOCi0-economit
development of the poor and down-trodden people of this area. These
were the causes which brought about the partition of Bengal.

” The most interesting aspect of this partition, however, was that Lord
urzon took this momentous decision for some other reasons. AS T

=

o

YA History of th ;
ry of the Freedom Movement, Karachi, 1961, Vol.III, Part I, p-2
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happened, the Government of India decided to create a separate
administrative unit for the Uria speaking.people who lived in different
provinces. In 1901, the Chief Commissioner of the C.P., Andrew Fraser,
proposed that Sambhalpur after merging it with Orissa be placed under
the administration of Bengal. In the same year, the. Chief Commissioner -
requested to be relieved of his duties from the district of Sambhalpur.

" In the meantime, the government of Madras also complained about its
administrative problems due to ethnic polarisation as various language
groups speaking Tamil, Uria and Malayalam, created administrative and
law and order problems. The move for joining area of Uria speaking people

- ‘with Bengal was-initiated solely with a view to solving such a problem, but
it was bound to further complicate the matter. Therefore, a decision was
made to merge Dacca, Mymensingh and Chittagong with Assam.

Towards the end of 1903, when the Bengalis came to know about
this readjustment of areas, they protested very strongly against merger
with such an underdeveloped area as Assam. They maintained that
acceptance of this plan would deprive them of all those facilities which
accrued to them as citizens of a province ruled by a Lt.-Governor.

As the events unfolded, Lord Curzon undertook a tour of East
Bengal in February, 1904. He assured the people of Dacca, Chittagong
and Mymensingh that the Government would eglarge the proposed
province and establish a Board of Revenue and a Legislative Council.
Furthermore, Dacca would be made the capital of the new province and a
Lt;Governor would be appointed. Eventually on_July 20, 1905, the
sprawling province of Bengal was divided into two parts to solve its
administrative problems as a result of which a new province came into
existence on October 16, 1905, This new province comprised an area of
1,06,500 square miles with a population of 31 milljon, two third of which
were Muslims. The province included Assam, Eastern and Southern
Bengal, Chittagong, Dacca, Rajshahi and Malda districts. As promised,
Dacca was declared the capital of the new province. Consequently, a

Legislative Council and Board of Revenue were also established.

~~_ THE DEPLORABLE PLIGHT
' OF THE EASTERN WING

As already mentioned, East. Bengal was totally ignored by the
Government before partition. It was only Calcutta that attracted
government’s undivided attention. It was wrongly presumed that
development of Calcutta meant the development of the whole of
Bengal. A cursory glance at the various developmental activities and
the funds allocated for these purposes would reveal a different story.
For example, the amount spent in 1901 on education in Calcutta was
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much larger thap what was spent in East Be

B;ngal neither had a university nor ngal on the Whole, B,

N t -
ocfully lacked religp), it

a distance of only 264 miles from Calcutta. Byt

cover this distance by train, owin i
; { E» mainly, to an g
network. Followmg details testify to the back obsolete

deplorable apathy of the Government in this regard. -

Metaled Roads Unmetaled Roa

East Bengal: Chittagong 11 miles 1311 miles o 1322013-]
Dacca 170 miles 887 miles 1957 gnﬁ:es
West Bengal: 1154 miles 1822 miles 2796 '1es
North Bengal; Rajshahi 204 miles 4643 miles 4847 ﬂlﬂ
Central Bengal 326 miles 3569 miles 4095 mil::

Another example would reveal the extent to which East Benga)'s
development was ignored, '

It seems that the Government had developed Railways and other
means of communications with a view to link only Calcutta with- other
parts of the country. It would be interesting to study the comparative
time-period a letter took to reach its various destinations. A letter
posted from Calcutta reached Benaras, 479 miles away at 9.15 am.
next morning, Allahabad, 564 miles away, at 1.00 p.m., Dacca, 330
miles away, at 12.00 noon and Chittagong; 264 miles away three days
later. Following chart amply reveals the discriminatofy treatment meted
out to East Bengal with regard to postal and telegraphic network."

Postal Circle Year Post-Office  Letter-Box  Postmep
- Bengal: 1898-1899 1757 4909 2395
1899-1900 1816 4971 2453
East Bengal: 1898-1899 460 1140 600
1899-1900 - 471 1172 622

Besides, the Chittagong port of East Bengal did not functiun
properly as it was not connected with the rest of the Province either by
road or by train. :

HINDU OPPOSITION

In 1903, when the Hindus came to know about the proposed
partition of Bengal, they kicked up a severe storm of protest. Calcutia
became the centre of this protest as the Hindu lawyers apprehended that
establishment of Dacca High Court would not only adversely affect thexr

1
Sufia Ahmegd, Muslim Community in Bengal, 1884.-1912, Dacca, 1974, p.23%.
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Jegal practice but also damage their political interests. Similarly Calcutta-
based Hindu newspapers especially the Bengalee (ed. Surendranath
Banerjea) and Amrita Bazar Patrika (ed. S.K. Ghosh) opposed the

“partition tooth and nail. They were in the forefront of this agitation
because they feared that the establishment of the Muslim press in Dacca
would badly affect their circulation and business interests. '

The other Hindu group opposed to the plan was the powerful class of
absentee landlords, who had their agricultural land in East Bengal but lived
in Calcutta. For them, the partition of Bengal was a death-knell for their
political and feudalistic supremacy. In short, every section of the Hindu
community reacted sharply and opposed the partition of Bengal with the
same degree of severity they thought their material interests were
threatened with, Partition of Bengal, in fact, meant a death-blow to the
monopolistic interests of the whole Hindu nation. They felt threatened by
this division because the Muslims of the Province could launch a struggle
now for the restitution of their long-usurped civil and political rights. With
these apprehensions in mind, a Hindu leader, Mahindra Chandra of Kasim
Bazar, in his speech against the partition remarked, “In the new province
the Muslims will be in majority and, the Bengali Hindus will be in a
minority. We shall be strangers in our own land, I dread the prospect and
the outlook fills me with anxiety as to the future of our race”.!

The culminating point of the Hindu agitation was reached on
October 16, 1905, the day when the new province of East Bengal was
officially created. The Hindus of Calcutta celebrated this day as Black
Day. On that day, they wore black dresses, smeared their foreheads
with ash. Business remained closed and they kept fast unto death

(Maran Barat). Surendranath Banerjea has recorded that the
announcement fell like a bombshell: “We felt that we had been insulted
humiliated and tricked”? They used inflammatory remarks and aroused
religious sentiments to make the anti-partition movement more
effective. They declared that partition was an insult to the goddess Kali
Bj_a_r_a and that it served a mortal blow to the Bengali nationalism.

The Indian National Congress, which claimed to represent all the

Indians, was in the vanguard of the opposition to the partition of Bengal.

SWADESHI MOVEMENT

The Hindus had started Swadeshi_movement on August 7, 1905, to
strengthen their movement against the partition of Bengal. It called upon all
and sundry to start using only those things which were locally-made. It had

1
A History of the Freedom Movement, Vol.III, Part I, p.14,
urendranath Banerjea, A Nation in Making, London, 1925, p.189,
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two purposes to serve. O one hand, it was aimed at Rising the

Hindu industry and, on the other, to bo mﬁﬁ‘ﬁﬁ—.
whereby pressurising the British Govﬂn;%f;oﬁsﬁmw@
This movement gained popularity and momentum. Foreign cjog,
was readily put to torch whenever and wherever it was found The
Hindu students did not hesitate even from attacking their own f;iend
who were found using foreign cloth, These students went so far ast:

refuse to take their examination on imported paper. To top it al] 4
telegram was sent to the Manchester Chamber of Commerce snyi‘ng

that it would have to help reversing the decision of the partition of

Bengal if it wanted to sell British cloth in India."
It is an admitted fact that all Bengali Hindus took part in the

movement. against the partition of Bengal. It gave birth to a popular
joke that every Bengali Hindu who participated in the movement either

became an orator or a professional journalist.
Gradually, the movement was led to assume an anti-Muslim

posture. Hindu press started a vilification campaign against the
Muslims and threatened them openly with dire consequences. Every
day, the Hindu newspapers came out with allegations and accusations
that the Government was encouraging Muslims to attack Hindus and,
therefore, the Hindus should take up arms against them. A newspaper
went to the extent of suggesting that unless and until all the rascals (the
Muslims) and the government officers who supported them, were burnt
alive, the fire of Hindu vengeance would not be put out.

Next weapon in Hindu armoury was the subtle use of art and
literature to spread hatred against the Muslims. Hindu writers,
playwrights in particular, chose the anti-Muslim themes for their plays
to fan the feelings of distrust and disdain against the Muslims. Bankim
Chandra Chatterjee was the most popular writer in those days. His
claim to popularity rested solely on his ability to malign Muslims; he
had no match in this field. .Nirad Chaudhri, in his autobiography, has
observed that the partition of Bengal left a permanent legacy of
estrangement between the Hindus and the Muslims and that a “cold
dislike” for the Muslims settled down in our hearts. We declined to sit
with our Muslim class-mates who smelt of onions. New arrangements
were made to meet the Hindu demand by dividing each of the school
classes into two sections, one formed exclusively of Muslims and the
other of Hindus”?

N\

1 . . \
:;:i im Muslim Separatism in India, Lahore,1967, p.56.
" iy ! \nan, India of Today, Bombay, 1907, b.87.
' ."]“"1 Chaudhry, Autobiography of an Unhawnl Indian, London, 1951, p-237.
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Another measure of Hindu opposition to the partition of Bengal is the
rapid increase in the circulation of the Bengali newspapers which poured
oil on the fire of anti-Muslim sentiments. Circulation of The Bengalee
jumped from three thousand to eleven thousand and that of the Amrita
Bazar Patrika from two thousand to seven thousand five hundred.!

REACTION OF THE MUSLIMS
*
The partition of Bengal proved to be a blessing in disguise for the
Muslims. Now, they could avail of this opportunity to reclaim their
usurped rights. So, naturally they welcomed the partition of Bengal
wholeheartedly. Nawab Salimullah Khan of Dacca addressing a
meeting in Munshiganj, supported the partition vehemently. He
observed that “The partition of Bengal had aroused us from inaction
and directed our attention to activities and struggle”.
On another occasion, Nawab Sahib while addressing the Imperial
Legislative Council, spoke the language of reason and moderation: “Time
would show that there had been no severance in the sense understood by
those who opposed the creation of the new province; no division of the
Bengali-speaking people, Hindus or Muslims; no weakening, but on the
contrary a greater development of the two sister provinces, better
government, better education in both, better means of intercommunication,
and generally a great accession of strength to the Bengali race™
Nawab Ali Chaudhri, declaring the partition as a step favourable to
the Muslims said, “The Partition has infuse ew life in the Bengali
Muslims and now they feel that their rights are readily accepted and
ir. has in ifold as. compared to earlier times™.
A contemporary Muslim writer, Sardar Ali, aptly observed: “All the
hue and cry which has been raised, and all the patriotic movements which
have been so suddenly started have nothing whatsoever, to do with the
Motherland or with the welfare of India. They have no nobler purpose
than the maintenance of a class predominance in a province wherein the
Hindus are in a distinct mir.ut:u'it},r“’.‘I This is quite interesting that the
partition of Bengal was welcomed and supported by the Muslims of
Calcutta who had nothing materially to gain from the measure.

1 II w L] * P . T - C B F
E"y E g "

*Muslim Separatism in India, p.55.
*Ibid., p.5S.

*India of Today, p.62.
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BENEFITS OF THE PARTYTY
FOR THE MUSLIMS =

Before the partition of Bengal, Eag Bengal
Il:vackward in education. In 1905, it had only three col]
wenty six excellent colleges of West Bengal. It w i
pacca and Rajshahi that education upgtu pns:;rgz:itl: Zﬂcgﬂ %
imparted. East Bengal did not have a single science colleg :ﬂ e
there were three such colleges in West Bengal, e,

The partition of Bengal provided an Opportunity
forge ahead in every field of education. Besides opening new prj
schools, the existing primary schools were Provided with bl:g
facilities. As a result, the number of Muslim students ip these schog)
inclzreased considerably. In 1905, the total number of Muslim students in
primary schools was 3,17,699 which increased to 4,351,157 in 1912,
addition, special attention was paid to the female education also. Hj
schools of the Province also saw a rapid increase in the number of

Muslim students. Total number of Muslim students in high schools in

1905 was 8869 which increased to 20,729. Similarly, teaching

community also saw more and more Muslims joining its rank and their
number jumped from a meagre 9654 to 14,656, in 1912,

In a short span of six years after the partition of Bengal till 19]],
colleges had been opened in all the five divisions of the Province. In view
of the growing number of students in colleges, teaching staff of colleges
had to be strengthened with .more teachers. There were only twelve
teachers in Dacca College in 1905, but by 1911, the staff had been
expanded (o thirty. teachers. Likewise, the number of teachers increased
from five to fourteen in Chittagong College. Librarians were also appointed
in colleges and the dilapidated college buildings were renovated.

The other most important, but sorely neglected civic sector before
partition, was the field of communication and transportation. It was only
after the partition of Bengal in 1905, that attention was paid to the
improvement of means of transportation in East Bengal. During the period
between 1906 and 1911, more than two hundred miles of railwgy track was
laid down while one hundred and forty miles of branch-lines were under -
construction. This not only helped in the improvement of transportation
facilities but also gave necessary boost to commerce and trade. As a result,
business activities flourished and businessmen prospered.

East Bengal is an area where natural waterways are one of the
greatest means of transportation. This new Province had about thirty five
large rivers including the river Ganges, the Brahamaputra, the Kernaphuli
and the river Surma. Tiiere were about 24 thousand miles of waterways

°8¢S Compareg

10 the Muslims ¢,
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THE PARTITION OF BENGAL ' 67
in Bengal and Assam which desperately needed to be repaired, improved
and made navigable. These waterways had also been rendered unsafe for
gravelling and transportation because of the rapidly deteriorating law and
order situation and because these had been turned into happy hunting

unds by dacoits and pirates. In 1905, there was a small force of river-

ds comprising thirty-five personnels to patrol the waterways. It was

" too small a force to ensure safe journey. Therefore, this force was
considerably enlarged after the creation of the new province. The new
administration also introduced a steamer service which provided a quick
means of transport to the general public and specially to the business

community. It also facilitated the Postal Service. A letter which reached
Shillong from Dacca in 72 hours, now reached in 46 hours.

As already mentioned, the Chittagong port had never received the
attention of the government of united Bengal. After the partition, the
port was modernised and now foreign ships could enter it to load and
unload cargoes. New dockyard facilities augmented the export of jute
from 68,919 tons in 1905-1906 to 7,02,72,050 tons in 1911-1912. In
the same period, an increase of 1,97,78,125 pounds was registered in
the export of tea. All this was intolerable for the Hindu traders of
Calcutta. Therefore, the Bengal Chamber of Commerce suggested to
the Calcutta Port Trust to keep a tight grip on the sea-trade of East
Bengal, so as to reduce the Chittagong port to only a coastal-trade
facility." In short, the partition of Bengal ushered in a new era of
progress and prosperity for the Bengali Muslims, intrigues and

conspiracies of the Hindus notwithstanding. :
»

BAMPFYLDE FULLER’S RESIGNATION &b (

Bampfylde Fuller was appointed the first Lt.-Governor of East
engal. He tried hard to ameliorate the miserable condition of the
Muslims and to extricate them from the yoke of Hindu domination.
Fuller concentrated more on the Bengali farmers who were ruled and
exploited by absentee Hindu landlords living in Calcutta. These
Iandlprds used to extract illegal and arbitrary taxes and rents, besides
Dfﬁcital taxes, from their Muslim tenants in addition to a tax for the
fepairs of Hindu temples. They had also built their personal jails where
they imprisoned their ‘criminals’. Fuller also tried to stall the Swadeshi
movep'nent and particularly tried to prevent the students from taking
E:: in .lhe'pc_ilitical agitations through administrative orders. Two
ools in Sirajgan;j defied his orders and the Lt.-Governor approached
"MK, Moll
1981, p.gs.

a, The New Province of Eastern Bengal and Assam, Bangladc«
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the Senate of the Calcutta University to disaffiliate them as punish
It infuriated the Hindus. It also sparked off a bitter tussle ben:.rs v
Indian Government and the Lt.-Governor. This confrontation r‘:ﬂllh:
in Fuller’s resignation which gave the Muslims a very rude shock u'IE;d
Hindus, however, termed it as their triumph. A letter from Nawai: A]?
Chaudhri to Mohsin-ul-Mulk is the evidence of the degree to which thl
Muslims felt perturbed over Fuller's resignation. He wrote that ﬂ-,e
Bengali Muslims had been apathetic but now they had realised th:
consequences of their apathy. If the Muslims instead of supporting the
Government had started agitation like Hindus, they would not have to
face the present situation. From one angle, the Government had taaght
Muslims by accepting Fuller’s resignation. Now

a good lesson to the
they would adopt the same way the Hindus had followed."

ANNULMENT OF PARTITION

The movement against the partition of Bengal gradually lost its
momentum. Even Surendranath Banerjea himself conceded: “We indeed
recognise mwwﬁﬁnn has come o stay, and Wwe are not anxious

ts the agitation was dying out. But, unfortunately,

to upset it, By all accoun
King_George V..of Britain annulled thig_‘s:mm_lall‘_inﬁgs Royal
[December 12, 1911, This Royal

proclamation during Delhi Darbar on
e Bengali Hindus. They took out a mammoth

declaration rejuvenated th
procession to celebrate the declaration and demanded that the Day should be
included as a national event in their calendar. Ambka Charan Mauzamdar,
expressing great joy over the decision of the Government, said, **Lam ready
to die happily today”. The Bengali Hindus were so overjoyed by this decision
that on the occasion of the Royal visit to Calcutta, many journalists suggested
o include the King and his Queen in the Hindu Es_q'l_thga_n,
On the other hand, this decision was a shattering blow to the

Muslims. It left them sullen and disillusioned. Their anger and
indignation had widespread repercussions. The Muslim leaders
as a betrayal of worst kind.

intelligentsia condemned the decision

Abdullah Al-Mamoon Suhrawardy expressed his anger in a letter 10
Lord Curzon which read: “If we are silent and less vocal, our silence 1
the silence of anger and sorrow and not that of acquiescence. The
Muslims deeply resented the fact that the Government empluyﬁd the

cowardly device of putting the announcement in the mouth of the King
Emperor and thus muzzling us effcctivcly“.’

"Wiuslim Separatism in India, p-86.

2Muslim Separatism in India, p.80.
3Matiur Rahman, From Consultation to Confroniation, Londpn, 1970. 9-237'
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He called a meeting of the Muslims on December 24, 1911, to
deliberate upon the situation created by the announcement at the Delhi
Darbar. The meeting was presided over by Nawab Sayyid Mohammad, The
meeting, after thorough deliberation, stressed upon the, need to bring about a
change in the strategy of the Muslims and called for close cooperation with
the Congress. Another meeting was held on December 30, 1911, which was
presided over by Kh. Mohammad Yusuf. In this meeting a resolution was
moved by Nawab All Chaudhri which expressed a deep sense of frustration
and grief on the decision taken by the Government.

Nawab Viqar-ul-Mulk in an article strongly criticised the
Government and called upon the Muslims to rely upon Allah and on their
own efforts, He wrote: “The partition proved to be Allah’s blessing for
the Muslims and the rights of 66% of the population which were hidden
from the eyes of the public and the Government, were brought to light.
The Muslims of the Province started making progress day by day. It was
a great political blunder on the part of the Government to revoke the
partition without assuring the Muslims about steps to be taken for their
security in future. It could be said that the Government had shown.an
unjustifiable apathy towards the Muslims, Judging from the cvents
which-have been witnessed, it is as clear as the day that suggesting to the
Muslims to rely upon the Government is a futile proposal. Now the days
for such proposals have gone. What we have to trust, after our trust in the
blessings of Allah, is to trust our own strength™.'

He expressed similar views about the decision of the Government
i a letter to his friend. He wrote to him: “The Muslims should, .at
least, make a strong attempt to demonstrate that they have looked upon

Government's indifference towards them with utter disgust, and that
the Government's present policy is like the thrust of an artillery which
trampled over the dead corpses of the Muslims without giving thought
to the fact that, a corpse among those poor dead bodies, might have
some life and it might have felt a little pain” 2

Nawab Salimullah Khan in his presidential address to the AIML in
March, 1912, echoed the popular Muslim feelings on the subject saying: -
“The partition had given us an opportunity to bestir ourselves and it
awakened in our hearts the throbbings of a new national life. We, so far
as the Muslims of East Bengal are concerned, felt for the first time, that
we too had rights and privileges British subjects. We got the chance, to
get freedom from the nation which dominated us before the partition.
Annulment of the partition for us means the deprivation of those splendid

1 ;
Ikram Ullah Nadvi, Vigar-e-Hayar, Aligarh, 1925, pp.689-693.
2 Ameen Zubairi (ed), Mukay,
. eeb-e-Vigarul Mulk-o-Mohsinul Mulk, Agra,nd., p.117.

4

= i - e T . i o R e - i
Wiadia o S T emmm—



70 TREK TO PAKISTAN

Mohamed Ali spoke about the annulment of - P
bitterness: *“fhe Muslims of East Bengal had been mu:fm f?:; ;ﬂ’bﬁm
of . ir rulers, and mow that it was no longer convenient for the ry] -
continue the fight, they made their own peace with all convenjent sp;: T
would be hard to discover in history a more ignoble instance of betrayal e

. . e yin
which loyalty had been rewarded with deprivation of recently recovere
rights, and contentment had been punished as the worst of crimes" 2

Lord Minto, the erstwhile Viceroy of India, condemned this decision
of the Government. He said, “We .assured the Muslims off and on that the
partition was a settled fact. We had also assured the Muslims to safeguarg
their interests and value their fidelity. None among the experts of the Indian
politics and whole of the civil service could ever think about the revocation
but the annulment proved that it was a humnan possibility”,?

Muslim reaction to the decision culminated in the form of a resolution
presented in the annual session of.the All-India Muslim League held in
Calcutta in March, 1912. The resolution expressed deep disgust at the
Government's decision. Moulana Mohamed Ali who moved the resolution
said that it might look odd to many people that the mover was a non-
Bengali and added that he regarded all the Muslims as one nation,

The Muslim press did not'lag:behind in this campaign of criticism.
The Muslim newspaper castigated the Government on this issue.
Zamindar (Lahore); Vakil (Amritsar), Al-Bashir (Etawah), Zulgarnain
(Badaun), Comrade (Calcutta), Paisa Akhbar (Lahore), and Mussalman
(Calcutta), were unanimous in their opinion that the Government had
taken this step only to win the goodwill of the Hindus. Abu Saleh
observed in the columns of Mussalman (Calcutta) that, “Agitate and

you will get what you want, remain calm and you will have your heads
chopped. This is the moral we are givens’.”
The most forceful indignation was expressed by Zamindar over the

British Government's decision. In a very strong worded editorial the
newspaper wrote:-

'Syed Sharifuddin Pirzada, Foundations of Pakistan, Karachi, Vol.L, pp.236-37.
*Afzal Iqbal, Life and Times of Mohamed Ali, Lahore, 1974, p.66.

Ameen Zubairi, Siasat-e-Millia, Agra, 1941, pp.89-91.

Mushirul Hasan, Nationalism and Communal Politics in India, Delhi, 1979,

pp.53-54.




THE PARTITION OF BENGAL .

“In the British Parliament whcﬂ a few sympathizers of Bengali Hindus
o iheir VOICE against the partition of Bengal, the Secretary of State for
' k, could make only one sentence statement that it

" On the other hand the Indians also received news by

[ndia with 3
that the line of partition had been drawn on the land of Bengal
4 fikean indelible line. Now rubbing of the hands in regretful distress may
M b off the palm lines bul'i_ljfc  issue of the partition of Bengal has become a
fine of fate. The annulment of the partition can be possible if only fate can
red. But the Royal edict which was read out to the Indians on 12
December at the Delhi Darbar proved that the line of fate could be
obliterated, destiny could be changed but not the Royal edict, and the
Muslims who had been slumbering in the dome of Bismillah, covered in

HU the sheet of contentment and obeisance could be pulled out of it

‘f The annulment of the partition of Bengal left indelible marks on

'ry Muslim politics. This decision of the Government led the Muslim young
lawyers and journalists, Moulvi Mujibur Rahman, Abdulla Al-Mamoon
Suhrawardy and AK. Fazlul Haq to establish links with the Congress.
Only after six weeks of annulment of partition, Muslim leaders like
Sayyid Ameer Ali, Vigar-ul-Mulk, Nawab Ali Chaudhri, Moulana

Mohammad Ali, Sayyid Raza Ali, Abdul Aziz, Samiullah Beg and others
change in the political strategy of the

felt a strong need to bring about a
Muslims. Ip short, the annulment of the partition of Bengal brought about
as tremendous a change in_the body-politic of the-sub-continent as, was
by the partition of Bengal itself. Later trends of the Muslim pplitics
sfi nderwent in the wike of

amply testify the cataclysmic transformation it u
litics had now turned

the announcement at the ‘Delhi Darbar’. Muslim po
acquiescence o active and vigorous

tlicf:uml:fand changed from passive
participation in the national affairs.
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THE SIMLA DEPUTATION

The Simla Deputation is a .Jandmark in the history of Modem
Muslim India, because for the first time the Hindu-Muslim conflict was
lifted to the constitutional plane.

In fact, the Indians were not satisfied with the Indian Councils Act of
1892. They were agitating for more powers. Bowing to the growing
political pressure and increasing social unrest, the Government decided
10 increase the number of seats for the Legislative Councils and their
powers. On July 20, 1906, John Morley, the Secretary of State for India,
speaking on Indian Budget in the British Parliament, announced that the
Government wanted to bring about more constitutional reforms in India.
Morley’s speech necessitated the formation of Simla Deputation.

John Morley’s speech had caused ripples of anxiety among the
Muslims of the sub-continent. His proposed remedy envisaging an
electoral system for the formation of Legislative Councils, if
implemented, as was demanded by the Congress, would have reduced
the Muslim to an irreversible state of subjugation to Hindu majority.
With these apprehension in mind, Sahibzada Aftab Ahmad Khan in a
letter to the Pioneer (Allahabad) on August 11, 1906, wrote, “At a time
when the question of enlarging the scope of the Indi islative

ouncil, as far as it concerns the Indian element. is before the Imperial

Mwmw_qpnsidc@ﬂnn”. Sahibzada was of the
view that neither elections nor nominations were suited to the
requirements of the Indian Muslims and that “Their position in this
country demandsthat a certain number of seats be allotied to them both
in the Imperial and the Provincial Councils and their seats should btl'—
filled up by Mohammedans elected by votes of their own community”-
The weekly Muslim Patriot (Madras) took the clue and penned down
an editorial on this important issue on August 24, 1906. The weekly
clarified the assumption that India was inhabited by one class or by o
race of people, but by a heterogeneous mass of different races and creeds
whose interests were often at variance. The paper although supported €

"Muniruddin Chughtai, “Simla Deputation”, Journal of the Research Society of
ikistan, January-April, 1966, pp. 160-161.
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"extended representation in the Legislative Councils but wished “Tt were
based on the recognition of class interest, each distinct community having
representatives of its own in proportion to its importance™.!

Now, many Muslims including Nawab Ismail Khan of Datawali,
Khawaja Yusuf Shah, Nawab Ali Chaudhri and Nawab Vigar-ul-Mulk
drew the attention of Mohsin-ul-Mulk, the Secretary of the M.A.O.
College, Aligarh, to John Morley’s speech.? This prompted Nawab
Sahib to write a letter on August 4, 1906, to Archbold, Principal of the
College, which said, “You must have read and thought over Morley’s
speech. It is very much talked of among the Indian Muslims. There is a
general complaint that we take no part in politics”. Mohsin-ul-Mulk
expressed his apprehensions about the forthcoming constitutional
changes saying: “If the new rules are to be drawn up to introduce
‘election’ on a more extended scale, the Mohammedans will hardly get
a seat, while Hindus will carry off the palm by dint of their majority”.
Mohsin-ul-Mulk asked Archbold to advise whether “It would be
advisable to submit a memorial from the Mohammedans to the Viceroy
and to request His Excellency’s permission for a deputation to wait on
His Excellency to submit the views of Mohammedans on the matter”.

In response to Nawab Sahib's letter Archbold contacted Dunlop
Smith, Private Secretary to the Viceroy and on August 10, 1906, from
Simla informed him that the Viceroy was ready to meet the Deputation.”

On receiving Archbold’s letter, Mohsin-ul-Mulk set upon probing
the possibilities of putting together a deputation for this purpose.
Nawab Imadul Mulk Sayyid Husain Bilgrami prepared an address
which was finalised in the meeting of important and leading Muslim
leaders after thorough deliberations on September 16, 1906, in
Lucknow. Finally, 29 vears old the Aga Khan led a depurtation,
comprising 35 notable leaders of the Muslim public opinion to a
meeting with the Governor-General, Lord Minto in Simla on October 1,
1906. The deputation included the following gentlemen:-

Bengal: (1) Shahzada Bakhtiar Shah
(2) Sir Abdur Rahim, Bar-at-Law
(3) Nawab Bahadur Sayyid Amir Husain Khan
(4) Naseer Husain Khayal
(5) Sayyid Nawab Ali Chaudhri i
(6) Mirza Shujat Ali Beg

'Muniruddin Chughtai, op. cit. '
zMalil.lf Rahman, From Consuliation fo Confrontation, London, n.d., pp.18-19.
35?0‘1 Razi Wasti, Lord Minto and the Indian Nationalist Movement 1905-

1910, Oxford, 1964, pp.62-63.
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Punjab: (7) Mian Mohammad :
(8) Malik Umnar m,f%?i.ﬂ;“' Bar-atLaw
(9) Khalifa Sayyid Mohammag .
(10) Khan Bhadur Col. Abdul Majemr
(11) Khan Bhadur Khawaja Yusyf Shah
(12) Mian Mohammad Shaf;, Bar-at-Lay
(13) Khan Bahadur Shaikh Ghulam Sadiq
UPp. (14) Munshi Ehtesham Ali
(15) Sayyid Nabi Ullah, Bar-at-Law
(16) Moulvi Sayyid Karamat Husain, Bar-at-
(17) Sayyid Abdur Rauf, Bar-at-Law
(18) Munshi Abdus Salam Khan
(19) Nawab Muzammil Ullah Khan
(20) Mohammad Ismail Khan Datavali
(21) Sahibzada Aftab Ahmad Khan, Bar-at-Law
(22) Nawab Vigar-ul-Mulk
(23) Habib-ur-Rahman Khan Shirvani
- (24) Nawab Mohsin-ul-Mulk
Bombay: (25) Sultan Mohammad Shah Khan, the Aga Khan
(26) Moulvi Rafi-ud-Din Ahmad, Bar-at-Law
(27) Ebrahimbhoy Adamiji Peerbhoy
Madras: (28) Khan Bahadur Ahmad Mohay-ud-Din Khan
(29) Moulvi Sayyid Sharf-ud-Din, Bar-at-Law
(30) Sayyid Ali Imam, Bar-at-Law
(31) Nawab Sarfraz Husain Khan

Law

Sindh: (32) Sayyid Allah Dad Shah
CF; (33) Moulana H.M. Malik
Daccan: (34) Sayyid Sardar Ali Khan
Delhi: (35) Hakeem Aimal Khan

The Simla Deputation was composed of members drawn from the
Muslim nobles, Jagirdars, Zamindars, Tallugadars, lawyers,
merchants and retired officials. Members of the legal profession fonqnd
the largest single group. Two members of the pre-British rul!ﬂE
families of Mysore and the Carnatic represented the old ruling
aristocracy, two retired high officials of the Hyderabad State service.
the Foreign Minister of Patiala and three Nawabs came from the t.ughﬂ
officials and social groups; and the 10 barristers, one retired sub-judge.
two honorary magistrates, one special magistrate, were drawn from the
English educated upper middle class. An important feature of 'h‘
Deputation was that most of its members were closely connected with
the Aligarh movement through the AIMEC. Besides, many qf them
were associated With various political and semi-political parties
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Anjums like Anjuman-i-Islamia, Lahore, Anjuman-i-I
A.m!'IISIr. Mohammedan Political Association, Muhan{madan Iilt:-.ru}iuya‘
Society, Calcutta, Central National Mohammedan Association and
Eastern Bengal and Assam Provincial Mohammedan Association.,

The I'V_lemorial which was presented to the Viceroy carried
14611183 signatures of the Muslims from Peshawar to Madras.!

DEMANDS,J}H\J; e ;’ B

The Simla Deputation presented the following charter of demands

: / . to the Governor-General:
e 1) The Muslims should be given the right of vote under separat
(M k#ﬁ( g g separate

electoral system.
{# (2) The Muslims should be given representation on the Imperial

] LT)
Jyd} ‘ Legislative Council in excess of their population.

(3) Electoral system should be given preference over nomination

system as far as possible.

(4) The Muslims should be given their dug share in_the gazetted
7/ » =. and non-gazetted cad ing to a specific proportion.
b, / (5) The Muslims_should be appointed as judges of the High
? Courts as well as the Chief Courts.

(6) Seats should bé reserved for Muslims on the senates and
syndicates of the various universities.

(7) Financial help should be given for the setting up of
University.

(8) The Muslims should be given representation on the Executive
Council of the Governor-Gengral.

Lord Minto told the deputation that so long as he was associated
with the country’s administrative .affairs, the Muslims should rest
assured that their national rights and interest would be preserved.

HINDU ALLEGATIONS

The Hindus did their best to malign the Simla Deputation by
alleging that “it was engineered”’ by the Government to offer “a staungh

istance to all nationalist ambition and activity” or that it was a
“Command Performance” or that Archbold was its originator or that the
“ingpirafion_came from Simla” or that Mohsin-ul-Mulk was “at the

k and call of the Government of India” or that it was “a counter
poise to the Congress aims”. '

'From Consultation to Confrontation, pp.8-9. A - R e
Py
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Con '
downplay gressite newspaper Amrita

thc lm . Bﬂm;- Pﬂ .
represent the whole of T P UiMio e

involved in o ! I‘t}dia and_self-serving Britigh ‘ did ng
was b 0" This propaganda of Brir; Office .
acked up, among s

: thers, b : Srilish “congp

S others, by people like R Piracy

Is»‘][ngh" Ashok Mehta, R.C. Mujamdar, ‘Pawardh:llﬂdra Prasad, G N
oulvi Tufail Ahmad N and above 4)) b

Manglori. In fact ;
developed the theory of %UI'ISpirgE act, the above mentiopeg

e _ " on th
Manglori's book in which he criticisedy © conlents of Tyfy

. A Archbold’s letter
It says, “The most significant aspect of the letter is that it :;ﬁuglun 10,
response to the letter to Archbold from the Private Sccrtm“’;ttlt:n ut‘n
-

Viceroy of India. The letter contained instructions v
rcgarding the contents of the Address, mode u;iiﬂg’;”::;?m
complexion of the delegation and after saying all this tred to ke
turn_self in t‘hc background. Therefore, it clearly reveals that the :;5
motive l:!:hmd this move is the vested interest of the Anglo-Indian
community rather than the well-being of the wretched Muslims”,

First of all it must be clarified that the above mentioned letter of
Archbold (10 August) was in icply to Mohsin-ul-Mulk’s letter of
August 4, 1906.

Let it be presumed that the letter was, in fact, written by Archbold,
even then, the allegation of official involvement in the formation of Simla
Deputation does not hold water because Mohsin-ul-Mulk had outrightly
rejected the suggestions regarding his emphasis on system of nomination
instead of election and the preparation of address, it is worthwhile to point
out that Mohsin-ul-Mulk had expressed his strong disapproval of the draft
of the address sent to him by Archbold. He wrote to Archbold, 1 firmly
believe that the opening remarks of your address which suggest that the
Muslim shall keep away from political activities in ﬁ1+ture, s!nall be re*_,senled
by every Muslim™.? Therefore, Archbold’s letter itself is sa{fﬁmm )
dispmvc this allegation. It must be kept n mind that Archbold’s role was
limited to that of an emissary of Mohsin-ul-Mulk. " o

Hindu historians_fondly allege that it _were lhe_ BTIIISH;HS

termi arate_clectorate. It_ is a frivo :Jm
accusation as the British were deadly opposed to ‘th!_: idea of wpkamw
electorate. Harcourt Bulter, the then Deputy Commissioner qf}.‘ucd =
(later on became the Lt.-Governor of U.P.), strongly mnclﬁm e
meeting of September 16. 1906, which gave the final Sh:?p[uslim
address of the Simla Deputation, for he had proposed that t

' Lord Minto and the Indian Nationalist Movement, p.73. . 1945
3Tufail Ahmad Manglori, Musalmanon ka Roshan Mustagbil, Delhi.

.I o
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should not put up a demand for separate electorate.’ Similarly, Dr. Lal
Bahadur's allegation that Archbold’s presence in Simla, while the
Aligarh College was still in session, was an ‘official conspiracy’ is
contrary o the factual evidence.” In fact, the Aligarh College was
_closed for summer vacation in those days as is revealed by Tufail

M;ngluri who wrote, “In_those days, Archbold, the Principal of the
Aligarh, W in_Si summer vacation”.” Secondly,

le familiar with the Aligarh_tradition, know that the English
Principals of the College used to spend the Monsoon scason elther-at
Simla or at some other hill station,

In order to prove his ‘conspiracy’ theory, Laf Bahadur has referred
1o a certain letter of Archbold’s which he wrote to an unknown person of
Aligarh. In this letter Archbold wrote, “I have played an important part in
this drama and 1 have with me unpublished but interesting
correspondence relating to this matter which 1 do not wish ‘to bring
out”! This assertion seems untemable and self-negating because
Archbold, according to his own words, did not want (0 publish the
material. then how come, Lal Bahadur happened to lay hand on an
unpublished letter. Moreover, considering the circumstances in which
Archbold had to leave the College, it was quite unexpected of him to
have shown such magnanimous restraint to malign the Aligarh College.

Hindus, as they were peerless in the art of garbling statements and
twisting meanings, tried to ferret explanations in the expression of
‘command performance’ which Moulana Mohamed Ali Johar used, to
describe the .Simla Deputation while presiding over the Coconada
session of the INC in 1923. They took this expression out of its context
and attempted to prove that Moulana too regarded the Simla Deputation
the result of a conspiracy by the British. In fact, Moulana had said, "“To
follow the fashion of British journalists during the War, there is no
harm now in saying that the Deputation was a ‘command’ performance.
It was clear that the Government could no longer resist the demands of
educated Indians, and, as usual, it was about to dole out to them a
morsel that would keep them gagged for some years. From whatever
source the inspiration may have come, there is no doubt that the
Muslim cause was this time properly advocated. In the common
territorial electorates the Muslims had certainly not succeeded in
securing anything like adequate or real representation and those who

"Peter Hardy, The Muslims of British India, Karachi, 1973, p.156.
Bahadur, The Muslim League, Its History, Activities and Achievements,
JBonk Traders, Lahore, 1979, pp.35-36.
‘Mlua!mnan ka Roshan Musiaqbil, p.349.
The Muslim League, Iis History and Achievements, p.35.
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denounced angd A
he “%%me
%and not the :::;ﬁm:f “SDagate
Retween Muslims and their more numemm
However, the facts bee these oo tobRieen”
Cputation. There is no doubt whatsoever that 3
Into place as a result of effo the Deputa
: rts done by Mohsin-ul-My|k
Muslim leaders, Mohsin-ul-Mulk had informed H ad other
September 2, 1906, that a Muslim delegation
Governor-General and present a memorial, if permitted fhe
: . : ; 0 do so"?
simply demolishes the conspiracy theory as there was no need to n >
through the labyrinths of bureaucratig_formalities to arrange 3 < :
with the Governor. As alleged, if this ‘drama’ was being eim:;uhng
behest of Minto or the Government, the request for a meeting s;‘l}tl[u:
h:-gvc been accepted promptly. But, on the other hand, Lord Mingo vy
still undecided till August 8. On this date, he wrote to John Mgrlew:s
have i ion" yL
ave nat-yet decided to meet the deputation”. Two days later, on
Aggust 10, Ibbetson, a member of the Viceroy’s Council suggested 1o
Minto to meet the deputation. Therefore, Dunlop Smith informed
Archbold of the Viceroy's decision the same day. He also intimated to
him that a proper request should be made for this meeting and the draft
of the Address should reach at least two days before the proposed
meeting.” Therefore, Mohsin-ul-Mulk made a formal request for the
meeting on 7" S=ptember, 1906, while the copy of the address had not
reached the Viceroy till September 19.*
A recent study of the All-India Muslim League’s record had provided
a further proof that contradicts this allegation. It reveals that Mohsin-ul-
Mulk had borrowed a sum of Rs.4000/- from King, King and Co. at the
inferest rate of 7% to meet the expenses of the Simla deputation. He had
hoped to return the amount after collecting contributions but, somehow, it
could not be done. After his death, the Company started correspondence
with the Muslim League for the return of the loan and, at one stage,
thyeatened to get Mohsin-ul-Mulk’s property confiscated.” Now, the
guestion is, if the Simla Deputation was arranged at the behest of the
British Government, could it not foot the bill also.

S r—— >

would meet

'Afzal Iqbal (ed), Select Writings and Speeches of Maulana Mohamed Ali
Vol.II, Lahore, 1969, pp.115-16.

2The Muslims of British India, p.156.

3From Consultation to Confrontation, pp.19-20.

4Lord Minto and the Indian Nationalist Movement, p.67. |

SSyed Razi Wasti, “New Facts about Simla Deputation” in The Political
Triangle in India, Lahore, 1976, pp.73-82.
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Now, after a prolonged bickerings arl_d acrimony, the Hindu

historians have seen the light of the day and have started conceding that

the Simla Deputation was, after all, not organised through a British
conspirac orm ims of India by themselves on
ir own. Tripathi, in his book The Extremist Challenge, con t

the Simla utation :
by the Musli ves.! Similarly, M.S. Jain also

explained that it could be said without fear of contradiction that, the
Government had no hand in the formation of the Simla Deputation and
that its formation was the crowning achievement of the Muslims
themselves.? In the same way, Dr. Shila Sen opines that proponents of
the Simla Deputation were no other than Nawab Mohsin-ul-Mulk and
his friends.” B.R. Nanda has also confirmed that Nawab Mohsin-ul-
Mulk was responsible for the formation of the Simla Deputation.

The Simla Deputation was unique in that for the first time the Indian
Muslims were not only prepared but also anxious to take their full share
in the political activities of the country as a Distinct Identity.’

The importance of the Simla Deputation lies in that fact that
Minto's acceptance of the demand of separate electorate was the
foundation of all future constitutional proposals made for India and in
the words of the Aga. Khan: “Its final and inevitable consequence was
the partition of India and the emergence of Pakistan.®

For Sayyid Ameer Ali, the Simla Deputation and Lord Minto’s
address carried a two-fold significance as a turning point in Muslim
politics and British policy. He hailed the Simla Deputation “as the first.
concerted Muslim action conceived in a copstitutional spirit”.

Even the die hard Congressite Moulvi Tufail Ahmad Manglori has
admitted the fact that “th ims at large were very happy at.ihe

success of the Deputation”. i

! Armales Tripathy, The Extremist Challenge, Calcutta, 1976 p.164.

:M,S.Jain, The Aligarh Movement, Karachi, 1979, pp.154-156.

‘Shila Sen, Muslim Politics in Bengal, Delhi, 1976, p.37.

5_;3,1?;“.13, Gokhale - The Indian Moderates and the British Raj, Delhi, 1977,
p-331.

*From consuliation to Confroniation, p.8. ~

;m M.-,mir;ha;r:ga Khan: World Enough and Time, London, 1954, p.94.
ﬁ‘l’usn;fm“l:l,?:dﬂn Muslim League 1908-1928: An Historical Study,

)
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THE ALL-INDIA MUSLIM LEAGUR

Sayyid Ahmad Khan had advised the Muslims to
politics and to devote themselves to acquiring of “::r}’naway from
The Muslims as a whole, acted upon this advice. How“;t‘-u:l:tinn.
« diter hﬂs

death In Mancjl._lﬂgﬁ, the situation took a dramatic new t
forced the Muslims to decide whether to continue with lheir:: which

VY. ff Sayyid Ahmad’s advice or to adopt a new course of action
-_,W [f;)/ U‘ The anti-Muslim movement of Bal Gangadhar Tilak inténsir
/) ,(\ " feeling of insecurity among the Muslims. His movement was I:uml;d-thc
from the beginning on hatred for other religions. He laid the fuund;E :
~—of Cow Protection Society- In 1892, he wrote a series of articles agam:l
the cow-killing in his newspaper Kesri. At last, he succeeded in
generating a new religious fanaticism among the Hindus. This led to a
series of bloody Hindu-Muslim riots. He presented Shivaji (the notorious
anti-Muslim campaigner) as 2 natjonal hero. In his newspaper the

Marharta he wrole, ‘ymmnns_&ﬂﬂbﬂ their heroes so as o get
" hout a political party the Muslims

ioht from them”. At this stage, wit
cringed Ee[plcssly during the upsurge of Hindu agitation.

Besides these movements of Tilak, the Urdu-Hindi controversy

also awakened the Muslims to the realisation of the need for a politica
party The anti-Urdu posture of Anthony Macdonnell in the year 1900
also played a vital role in the political awakening of the Muslims
According {0 Sayyid Raza Ali, the seed planted by MacDonnell o8
April 18, 1900, slowly got firm roots in the ground and in six years
time, appeared in the form of a plant in December 1906, at Dhaka.

In the meantime, Muslim newspapers and journals begau © cany .
articles and letters calling for a separate political party of the
In support of this growing demand, Nawab Ismail Khan, Mohsit
Mulk, Moulvi Mahdi Hasan and Sayyid Raza Ali wrote forceful &
in the Paisa Akhbar, the Aligarh Institute Gazette e P “""’
respectively. Sayyid Raza Ali even went to the extent of wrilin
the Muslims should no longer remain away from the Congress:

Muslim newspapers like -ul-
Zulgarnain, Al-Azeem and Urdu-e
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THE ALL-INDIA MUSLIM LEAGUE .
1

readers, the realisation of the need fi separate

" - - or a i iti
urgqm;atmn in order to safeguard their rights inMuu:hapPthal
Cl.'.llll":l[r:': l; Is ;;:df at other such important places. i

e Shifa-ul-Mulk observed that as the state of thi
_ hings had

cha:_tged the Muslims could hardly expect to gain thr.-.~i1-gsml:ajuz:u::t?».;il tlg
relying on the Government and that it was high time for them to take
steps to bring their grievances to the notice of the Government

. respectfully but fegrlessly through a separate political association of

W

\

%58

)

t!!mr own. The Asr-e-Jadeed held that the Muslims would not get “their
NSEPMPLWMmm appointments, seats in
the Legislative Councils or in the University without agitating for them
through a political organisation”.’ -

Mian Fazle Husain, during a meeting of the Anjuman-e-Himayat-
e-Islam at Lahore, drew the attention of the Muslims towards the need
for a separate political party.

At the provincial level, the Muslims did have their political parties
such as the Mohammedan Political Association (U.P.), the Provincial
Mohammedan Association of Eastern Bengal and the Punjab Muslim
League. But until then, there was no political party on an All-India
level. At last, the Muslims held a meeting at the house of Nawab
Hamid Ali Khan in Letcknow on QGWMZD.:ZLEQ.L— At this meeting,
Nawab Viqar-ul-Mulk stated this position by underlining the decline of
the Muslims, their ever-decreasing number in government offices,
attacks on their political rights and their deprivation in central and
provincial councils. He concluded that it had become indispensable for
the Muslims to have their own political party. Thus, a political party
named ‘“Political Organization™ came into being but it could not
achieve any significant Success. The need for a Muslim political party
was once again disc ussed on the eve of the Sln_ﬂgD;pmaﬁunj[LlE_%

J\, MOSLEM ALL-INDIA CONFEDERACY SCHEME
\ e

On November 11, 1906. Nawab Salimullah Khan went to the press
with his scheme of the Moslem All-India Confederacy, Salimullah was not
content with merely approaching the press, he circulated his scheme to
various associations and individuals all over India.? In this proposal, he laid
great emphasis on the need for establishment of a separate Poli_ﬁcai party
for the Muslims. This scheme had the following important objectives:-

(1) The Government should be supported and the rights of the

Muslims should be safeguarded in every possible manner.

"Matiur Rahman, From Consultation 1o Confroniation, London, n.d., p.33.

2Erom Consultation to Confrontation, pp.30-31.
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(2) The growing infl
Muslims who have already joi shuulgol:g ked and the
to W. The scheme also ninwdm :‘:;M %
youngmen of education, who for want of an organisation, o
o not find scope to exercise their fitness and ability for publi {mﬂ
is proposal of Nawab Salimullah Khan was vehementl e

by the Hindus. Severely critigising this proposal, the Bengaln)igslm
expressed the hope that the Muslims would not join the new schum: o
newspaper also ridiculed the name Moslem All-India Confederacy o
wrote: “it reminds us of Mahratha Confederacy of the old and the Igh:;‘d
Confederacy of more recent times". The Beharee characterised IE:
scheme as “hopelessly preposterous” and calculated to embitier the
relations between the Hindus and the Muslims. It hoped that none of the

Muslims would associate with “Salimullah tomfoolery”.

~ THE ESTABLISHMENT OF THE
ALL-INDIA MUSLIM LEAGUE

In December 1906, after the annual session of All-India
Mohammedan Educational Conference, the All-India Muslim League
came into being during a meeting presided over by Nawab V igar-ul-Mulk.
Stressing the need for a separate political organisation for the Muslims,
Nawab Vigar-ul-Mulk said in his presidential address: “The aim for which
we have gathered here is not something new. We had realised its need at
the very moment when the Congress was founded. As the time passes, We

»

as to resolve the issue which, hitherto, has been lying in cold storage .
Nawab Salimullah moved a resolution about the formation ufihq

All-India Muslim League which was supported by
Khan, Hakim Ajmal Khan and Moulana Mohamed
aims and objectives were set for the All-India Muslim League:

1). Tmmﬂmummﬂliaﬁ_ﬂimi@.fsﬂin gs of loyalty 10

the British Government ﬂnd_tg_Lﬂ_mL—“ﬂE}L"l‘EEP.“E_‘ﬂ.i?“ s
may arise as t0 the intentions of the Government with regard

to any of the measures. . ;
2) To _gmmmadmmn political rights mmmmwj"—' o
™" Musalmans of India and.to respectfully represent their

and ueirntiom to the Government.

5 yed Razi Wasti, Lord Minio and the Indian Nationall! Movement 1905191

Oxford, 1964, p.77.
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3) To prevent the rise among the Musal ' i
of bty wwards ofhés communiies Sbed o e
ther a orementioned objectives of the League.

Here, One very interesting comparison would not be out of place
The Congress was the creation of those Hindus who largely belonged m;
the three Presidency towns of Madras, Calcutta and Bombay. They
were all English speaking men of upper castes. In the making of the
All-India Muslim League those who got together belonged to the Urdu
speaking background. These Muslims, unlike their counterparts, came
from all provinces under the British control.!

Another interesting point is that the organizers of the AIML

borrowed the name “Muslim League” from the ,L'Eaguc, which-already
existed in the Punjab. Moulana Mohamed Ali admitted the fact to the
Punjab Muslim League Jeaders saying, “Yes, I know that your l_.g?y:
was started in June 1906, we liked the name ‘League’ and copied it’’,
== Indian press gave a mixed response (0 the formation of this new
political organisation. It was welcomed by the Times of India (Bombay)
and the Daily Telegraph (Lucknow), the Pioneer and the Civil and Military
Gazerte (Lahore) gave 2 neutral response. However, the pro-Congress
news s such as theBengalee started a series of hostile and abusive
aHFm%tsinn. Condemning this new development the Bengalee, on
January 8, 1907, deplored the League and its founders and predicted that
wit will, if it seeks to fulfil its mission fraternize with the Congress, and
eventually coalesce with it. If not, it will go the way of the Patriotic
Association of the late Sir Sayyid”. This newspaper often called it
“Salimullah League”. It is also quite interesting to note that the political
party which was to split India and create the world’s largest Muslim state
went unnoticed in Britain. According to The Spectator, the objectives of
the League were excellent, but “we confess that we do not like this feeling
among Muslims that they must 0rganiz.in a camp by themselves”. The
only other notice of the League’s birth was an enthusiastic article in the
Contemporary Review which accorded a warm welcome to it. It declared
hat the -indian Muslims had forsaken the shades of retirement ‘for the
political arena, henceforth a new factor in Indian politics had to be
::ﬁ““d with"." We find no mention of this new party in the official as
Mamate comespondence between Lord Minto and John Morley. The
d did not take any note of the event.
'e opinion of Dr. K.K. Azi

r__mmﬂ-ﬂflh_c All-India Muslim Leagug, First the old belief uttered

:m-;d Saleem Ahmad, The All-fndia Muslim League, Bahawalpur, 1988, p.89.

KK.Azir Roiens
Aziz, Britain and Muslim India, London, 1963, pp.63-64.
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by Sir Sayyid that the i
Hindi s Muslims were a separate entity,

: ian National Co a1y, the
the Muslims to associate themselves wiu\m - 2t oy

Agitation_against the Partition of Bengal which con Lris the

l;lusllii ?1 th;{ indu designs of domination over whole > Be
inaily the Muslim desire to have their own exclysi ectora oo
representative institutions.' — il

Those who were desirous of formin
were divided into four groups.

\!y _ {L_l) Nawab Saiimullah Khan and Nawab Alj Chaudhry of Bengal

who wanted to use the new party as a forum to €0
P’ movement of the Hindus against the Partition of Bcn::fm -

5/ b \:ﬁ 2) The second i :
: group consisted mainly of educated
/ \ f: believed that it was impossible to aiqlm't the ﬁﬂnp?mle s
U’J A/ electorate and due share in government services without agitation,
¢ L}J.: ' They included Yaqoob Hasan, Abdul Aziz, editor of the Obseryer
y Y (Lahore), Khwaja Ghulamus Saqalain artd Mohamed Ali Johar
7 13) The third group comprised mainly those who wanted 1o use
. '-'() })" the League for the protection of Urdu and other rights of the
? W Muslims. The prominent members of this group were Nawab
. Viqar-ul-Mulk and Sahibzada Aftab Ahmad Khan.
I, ll" 4) The fourth group consisted of radicals like Mian Fazle Husain
v ¢! and Moulana Hasrat Mohani who, besides safeguarding the
. )d‘ },7 rights of the Muslims, stressed the need for cooperation with
Ul the Indian National Congress. :
The central office of the League was set up at Aligarh. Nawab
Mohsin-ul-Mulk and Nawab Vigar-ul-Mulk were appointed as its joint
secretaries for the time being. A sixty-member committee was set up 10
prepare the constitution of the League within four months and to mah‘.
necessary arrangements for its first session. In this way, the first All-India
based political party of the Muslims came into existence. It should be
kept in view that it was the outcome of the political consciousness and
awakening of the Muslims and that no external pressure or factor was
involved in it. The AIML came into being as a result of the awakening of
the Muslim community from its slumber. The Congress was started thirty
years after the establishment of the Calcutta University and after a lapsé
of almost the same period from the foundation of the Aligarh CD!IFS‘
(January, 1877) the Muslims established the AIML. The politicd
awakening among the Muslims had been in direct proportion (0 the -
spread of education in the community. Matiur Rahman has very 3%
summed up the formulation of the AIML ““that it was no_mushroof

g a new Muslim political party

'K K Aziz, The Making of Pakisian: A Study in Nationalism, London, 1967, p2-




THE ALL-INDIA MUSLIM LEAGUE ",

wth. Nor_was it the i ivi e
¢ was the inevitable of the forces, on the one hand of Hindu

— ’ .

exclusiveness and revivalism and on_the other of th ;

ﬁ'iﬁﬂ!jﬂiﬁﬁ_@_ of the Muslims starting with_the f g g @
roarh College and the Central National Mohammedan Association’ Mm:ﬂ i
oreover, .

it was neither founded by an Englishman, nor was it presided
over by any Englishman from its inception till the end. On the contrary
the Congress was founded by an Englishman and its various sessions

were presided over by the English. /
TV g, A M
S/ STRUCTURE OF THE AIML" * & 74

According to the rules adopted the membership of the League was
imited to just 400 with a proviso that the limit could be increased. A
Central Committee, subsequently renamed Council, was to be
established. The League was (O have an executive comprising a

president, six Vice-Presidents, 2 Secretary and two Joint-Secretaries.
The Central Commitice was o elect a president for each annual
session. Between 1908 and 1919 two_permanent Presidents, the Aga

) Khan and Maharaja of Mahmudabad, served the. League. After 1934
ts lly. The AIML started with

/,| ' # the League clected its president annua
ulk as Joint Secretaries. From 1908 to

Mohsin-ul-Mulk and Vigar-ul-M
m /o) 1933 seven Secretarics (Major Hasan Bilgrami, Aziz Mirza, Wazir
; Hasan, Zahur Ahmad, Saifuddin Kitchlew, Mohammad Yaqoob and
Malik Barkat Ali) served the League. In 1936, Nawabzada Liaquat Ali
Khan became the Secretary and mminMﬁ&’f&?hiiﬁfﬁb?tﬂ[}_ﬂ‘f
The League depended on membership fees and donations mostly
coming from the Aga

L

Khan. Although concern Wwas frequently

expressed regarding shortage of funds yet no effort was made to
increase the League’s membership.

 14))) S// PROVINCIAL LEAGUES

J:L % The Muslims warmly welcomed the All-India Muslim League and
very soon its branches were set up in various provinces. In April, 1907,
Moulvi-Rafiuddin Ahmad set up one such branch at Poona. He imse
was appointed as ifs~ secrerary white the Aga Khan was named as
president. In 1909, the League was organised at district level in various
parts of Deccan. In the same year, the Deccan League began to be known

as Bombay Ifrcsidcncy Muslim League. A similar branch was set up in
%t Bengal in October, 1909. Moulvi Raziuddin and Nawab of Dacca

1 %
. From Consultation 1o Confrontation, pp.43-44.
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Prince of Arcot and Nawab Yagqoob Hasan + 1908, g,
and the secretary of the Madras League.

Tyt the presiden,
the Punjab Muslim League on mm?m"ww
THE LONDON MUSLIM LEAGUE

It was being felt right from the beginnin -

Muslim League would not achieve mnﬁhﬁhmmg:,ﬂ&
winning the British public opinion to its side. Therefore, it was decideq
to establisi*thc London Branch of the League. The inaugural' meet;
was held on May 6, 1908, at London's Caxton Hall. It was puug.p.:
by the Muslims and those British people who favoured their viewpoint
This meeting was presided over by Sayyid Ameer Ali.

It had the
following aims and objectives before it. =
1) To promote accord and harmony among different nationalities
of India.
2)

To work for the advancement of the general interests of the
country in harmony with and in_goncert with other Indian

communities.

3)  To advance and safeguard by all constitutional and loyal methods
the special interests of the Mohammedan subjects of the King.

4)  To bring thé Mohammedans so far as possible into touch with

.. leaders of thought in England.'

Ameer Ali; in his presidential address, stressed that the Muslims had
their particular problems-and interests which had to be taken up separately.
Ameer Ali'made it clear that it was impossible for the Muslims to merge
their separate communal existence into that of any-other nationality or to
strive for the attainment of their ideals under the aegis of any organization
other than their own. Ameer Ali acknowledged that diversity of religion
and ethical standards make the absolute fusion of races and peoples ul
India impracticable, but there was no reason why they should not work in
harmonious concord in the promotion of common interests.?

It must be remembered that separate Muslim representation was
not the spontaneous outcome of the Simla Deputation but was largely
wrested by Ameer Ali and his London Muslim League from John
Morley, the Secretary of State for India, supported by Anthony
Macdonnell and an influential pro-Congress lobby. John Morley,
influenced by Gokhale and the Congréss lobby in England, was a stout

'M. Yusuf Abbasi, London Muslim League 1908-28: An Historical Study.
Islamabad, 1988, p.19.

2Ibid., p.20.
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import of Gokhale’s presence i E,,‘B,Dm“";rfd";:sdws
tempo of pro-Congress lobby the Lond -
itself the onerous duty of defending the ri

. ——L t
Ameer Ali made a representation to the U.ﬂ‘u?f Separate electorate.

India on November 11, 1908, about the sepmmszlf:tw of State for

of the political
nNsequent Mounting

On Muslim League 1o0)

after the representation of LML hosted a breakfast pwmr:lneeﬂb:‘z; :

guests including four Members of Parliament, On that ;
Ali explained to the British people that “in view of tr:icul‘l:r:}:ﬁ
and race Muslim interests could not be identical in all respects o
other communities inhabiting the country™.! . _

The LML started a press campaign which proved quite successful,
Ameer Ali wrote many letters to The Times over the separate electorate.
On January 14, 1909, expounding the rationale of the Muslim demand,
he observed that in India, “the two communities are still widely divided
in habits, customs and traditions of race and religion”. i

On January 27, 1909, LML delegation, headed by Ameer Ali,
waited upon John Morley in the India Office. Never before a Muslim
deputation was received by the Secretary. of State. Ameer .Ali
emphasized in clear words the Muslim claims to separate nationhood that

“the. Muslims have common ideals, and by traditi igion
NG r\; E form a nationality quite apart from.all other peoples of India”. Ameer Ali
S pleaded separate representation starting from the lowest level of District
: Boards and Municipalities to the Imperial Legislative Council.
~

4

R

« Itis quite interesting to note that the Hindu press right from Bengal
to the UP. and the Punjab denounced the right of separate electorate.
The Hindu press of Bengal was more vociferous, influential and
commanded larger circulation than the handful of the Muslim press.
The Bengalee dismissed the demand of separate electorate at every
level “as altogether a new thing”. The paper deplored that John Morley
had held out hope to the Muslim deputation; and in sarcastic words
remarked that “Muslims may congratulate themselves on an easy
victory, but if they had vision they would perceive what mischief they
had done”. The Hitgvadi denounced “Ameer Ali and Company for
sowing seeds of dissension between Hindus and Muslims”. :
_ ﬁlﬂwush the Muslim press was too weak but it unanimously raised
its voice in defence of separate electorate. The Mussalman (Calcutta, ed.
Mujeebur Rahman) was surprised that the provision of separate electorate
for the Muslims should have “caused considerable uneasiness, if not

ﬁm%WBH__W and regretted that the “effusion of
Wwounded sentiments in this respect have, though well-guarded, been

1
London Muyslim League 1908-28: An Historical Study, p.86.
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Paper The Soltan (Calcutta) tog 7\
s k '
L publishing a derogatory canmntg;am;,m’ 2 Hing,
M“Sllms - Hlndtm press dﬂbale was n-lnl'lillg on the s‘a.ml. -
Willingness tu . Plnjahee (Lahore) cunsidnrcd= s i,
(Lahore) mm'“ LML deputation as a surrender m”“'lelf's
tened that “if John Moﬂgy's Sﬂheme Tribuﬂe

Tepresentation is carried into effect in it o SCpara
: S present fi - te
drive Urdu language and character out of India Orm: the Hindus will
On the other

_ hand, the Muslim press of ‘

gmegf }'}h’s efforts. The Paisa Akhl:mr rcfe::liigﬁ'::ﬁ;u:pﬂ:‘ﬂﬁd

anerjca’s statement that Muslims should ponder g
consequences of separate representation which might lead ?:T hmb

| ?a“y led t0) permanent separation, the Paisq Akhbar n:‘:u o
needléss to say, Muslims have given deep thought to the “*‘-S‘de
Ameer Ali and his colleagues in London are fully alive to lheqpolit]i?::i

aspirations of Muslim nation”. The Zamindar of Moulana Zafar Aj;

Khan denounced the Tribune's Opposition to separate electorate.

In the UP. the Abhyudaya (Allahabad) claimed that all right-thinking
Muslims were opposed to the separate electorate. The truth is that the
Muslim press throughout India i.e. Al-Haq (Karachi) The Muslim Herald
(Bombay) The Aligarh Institute Gazette (Aligarh) Zulgamain (Badaun)
and Al-Bashir (Etawa) supported the separate electorate, while the Hindu
press totally opposed it. Dr. Yusuf Abbasi has very rightly observed that
the configuration of Hindu and Muslim opinions on the separate electorate
| issue was more than divergent perceptions in a political debate but
' reflected their inherent polarization as naturally exclusive national groups,
and may be seen as an indicator of the degree of separation which divided
them in their aspirations of a shared future”.! ; |

The London Muslim League remained actively engagsd in its
mission till at last the British Government had to grant the right of
separate electorate to the Muslims under the Minto-Morley Reforms of
1909. Thus it would not be wrong to say that the right of separate
electorate was the outcome of the untiring efforts of Sayyid Ameer Ali

. and his London Muslim League.

Ly

ifandon Muslim League 1908-28: An Historical Study, p.120.

-
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THE MINTO-MORLEY REFORMS
, (1909)

Agitation and constitutional reforms have always gone hand in
hand with each other in India. The Minto-Morley Reforms were
introduced to bring an end to the agitation against the partition of
Bengal. The Montagu-Chelmsford Reforms was an attempt to heal the
wounds inflicted upon the Indians during the Khilafat Movement and in
the Massacre of Jallianwala Bagh. The 1935 Reforms came as a relief
package following the Civil Disobedience Movement of the Congress
in 1930. The Cripps Proposals which were meant to ‘change the non-
cooperation of the Indians into cooperation during the Second World
War, can be regarded as the continuation of the same process.

The Minto-Morley Reforms was another step, on the part of the British
Government towards the establishment of a representative government in
India. The process of constitutional reforms in India began with the Indian
Councils Act of 1861. The creation of the Indian National Congress and the
political awakening of the Indians forced the Government to amend the Act
of 1861 and another Act was enforced in 1892 but it 100, failed to quench the
political thirst of the Indians. The various steps taken by Lord Curzon during
his Viceroyalty, provoked a sharp unrest among the Indians. The partition of
Bengal, the Universities Act and other such steps incited the anti-government
feelings in the hearts of the Indians. Meanwhile, the inception of the All-
India Muslim League made the Muslims conscious of the need to protect and

. preserve their rights.

When ﬁwm the Governor-General, India
mmgmdfedby:poﬁdcalmhfﬁ:ﬂsm'wagiqglmm
campaign against the partition of Bengal. Inmhprmucmm
Lord Minto was keenly desirous to win over to his side, the Muslims and the
moderate elements within the Congress. The Congress at that time, was
divided into the “moderate” and the “extremist” factions led by GK.
Gokhale and B.G. Tilak respectively. Lord Minto wanted to win the support
of the Indians by increasing the number of the members of the Governor-

. : ' islative Council. He used to say that
Sewerars Tsodetion R St St LAPES B0 S e ot
the .welfare of the Indi ble -
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Am;lingmhim,.drmof&émm .
mﬁmaﬁmof!leﬁﬁs!:Rujmmmbdz:: Indiang 1y ;,

House of Lords that he.would have. nothing o do yogr 2 ed in
_duqcuymilﬂhwdyladpﬂnmmhﬁﬂmmofd:mifg
mmeopmingﬂmﬁtﬂmsimufdmwum SYystem in
Lord Minto again made it clear: “We_have distinctly my
fepresentative government in its western serme is totally frarr rcS.

Indian Empire. We have aimed at the reform and e 10 the
Councils, but ot the creation of Parliamens™ The Reforaneeemcil-ot ou
establish a kind of constitutional autocracy blending the "iended i
absolutism derived from the Mughal Emperors with the @
Lord Minto and Secretary of State for India, John Mor|
exchanged correspondence on this issue. Lord Minto was of the vi
that the new Reforms would have no attraction for the Muslims H'ﬂew
as an adequate representation was not provided to them. The Minto.
Morley Reforms were originally aimed at giving representation 1o the
maximum number of sections of society in order to win their s
for the Government. In this connection, special consideration was given
to the represenfation of the loyalist classes. For this reason, the feudals
who were, at the time, most loyal to the British Raj were given six seas
in the Imperial Legislative Council under the Act of 1909. The Minto-
Morley Reforms had the followirg main features: .
_ /%1) Under the Reforms, the number of the Additional Members
7 / of the Governor-General’s Executive Council was increased to
_ J , / 60 (nominated and elected). It can be termed as a step towards
. f J gf Hiﬁirg"ii_ Assembly on a small scale. The majority of the
/ ; official members. was maintained in the Imperial Legislative
Council. Out of the total members, 23 were non-official while
the others were official members. ~
2) The Muslims were given the right of separate electorate. , .
3) The powers of the members of the Imperial Legislative
Council were enhanced. Now they were entitled to discuss the
budget and move resolutions regarding. tax”amendments but
certain restrictions were also imposed on their powers. Interest
on loans, religious grants and debate over railways wos
declared beyond the jurisdiction of the Council. - ool
4) Under the Indian Councils Act of 1892, the members ©
ask questions but they could not ask supplementary q"“_"”“
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Now th -
W the i

. were given the right 1o ask

questions s
mwm“mmum'Miﬂcwdm

give immediate mm‘lf::::uppsl’am v, i

5) Members of the Imperial Legislati E"‘m}’qm.
“‘““"Hﬂluﬁnmbutmcm- ve Council were allowed 1o
disallow the deb ouncil President was authorised to

6) Rules and cbate over any part of any resolution.

S and regulations were framed about the debate over
P"bllt{ interest in the Legislative Councils but certain checks
were imposed on them including the relations of the Indian
Government with other States and the debate over the matters
being discussed in the courts. ;

7) - The number of the members of the Executive Councils of the
Governors of Bombay, Madras and Bengal were increased to four.

8) The number of Additional Members in the various provinces

. was also increased. The maximum number of these members
.in the big provinces which included Bombay, Madras, U.P.
and Bengal, were fixed at fifty. The number of the members of
the Punjab and Burma was fixed at thirty.

9) For the first time, an Indian, S.P. Si was included in the
Viceroy's Executive Council although, the step was bitterly
criticised in England. Previously, Muslims had demanded that
two Indian members including one Muslim should be included in
the Council, When the Muslims reiterated this demand following

J}' the appointinent of Sinha, the Government promised to appoint a
(‘f " Muslim, the next time. Thus, Sayyid Ali Imam was appointed as

a Member of the Executive Council after Sinha’s resignation.

The Minto-Morley Reforms were welcomed in the moderate circles.

- Speaking in the Imperial Legislative Council, Gokhale said, “My Lord, I
sincerely believe that you and Lord Morley have saved the country from
anarchy and chaos”. However, these reforms failed to satisfy the Congress
hard-liners. They believed that there was a hell of difference between the
Reforms and John Morley's Despatch dated November 27, 1908.
Surendranath Banerjea and Madan Mohan Malvia bitterly denounced these
Reforms. Banerjea was of the view that bureaucracy was hindering the
success of the Reforms. Under this Act, those accused of rebellious
activities were disqualified for the elections. Madan Mohan Malvia was
highly critical of this clause and asserted that if two Britishers Michael
David and John Bernard who were tried for seditious activities could
become members of the British Parliament and the British Cabinet, why
were the Indian Nationalists subjected to this ban? The Bengalee also
condemned these Reforms and described them as against the British
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political system. The All-India Muslim League welcomed these Ref

A resolution was passed in the Delhi session of the League in 1919 i
L Which

offered cooperation with the Government for the success of the Scheme

The chief contribution of the Minto-Morley Reforms was g,
experience it imparted to the Indian members. The quality of speeches |
the Councils improved; there was less reading of manuscripts =
carlier without any reference to the ‘actual debates. Now the members
were required to stand up to make any speech. A
introduced-in-the_country under the Minto-Morley Reforms but the -
franchise was extremely restricted and as such it failed to give adequate
political training. Moreover, elections were also indirect. At some places
the number of voters was not more than nine or ten. '

Thes&#Councils were only,consultative in nature. They could only eriticise
the Government and ask questions. The Government therefore did not give any
special importance to these Councils nor did it give any value to the resolutions
passed by the Councils. For instance, in the first eight years (1909-1917), a total
of 168 resolutions were presented in the Imperial Legislative Council. Only 24
of them were accepted by the Government. Similarly, in 1911, 30 non-official
MMMWMMWFMBN.OMM
were approved. The members of the Legislative Council did nof take much
interest-in the activities of the Council. For instance, |31 bills were presented in
the Council in the eight years between 1910 and 1917. Seventy-seven of them
were passed without any discussion. _

Non-official members sometimes tried to discuss very elaborately
certain Bills of great importance, for example, the Indian Court Fee Bill
(1910) Indian Factories Bill (1911) the Indian Companies Bill (1911
the Criminal Tribes Bill (1912) and the Indian Patent and Design Bill
(1911) which were also modified by their amendments.

““Private Members’ Bills had been rather scanty. Only 5 private Bills were
passed by the Council upto 1917. M.A. Jinnah was the first Private Member
whose Wagf-alal-Aulad Bill was passed by the Council. As has beeo
mentioned before, Lord Minto wanted to give maximum representation (0
the Indians but he had no intention of setting up self-government. Professor
Coupland rightly remarked that the Minto-Morley Reforms hrouﬂhrabﬂ‘?’ﬂ:_;
representative government rather than a responsible government. Ano
15&5’:‘2 of the Minto-Morley Reforms was that although non-officil
members had a majority in the provincial councils, the nominated o™
official members always sided with the Govemment and in this way, th°
Majority became ineffective: In other words, the Govemnment g3V
something with one hand and took it back with the other.

mgt‘-::mdcmug all of their drawbacks, the Minto-Morley Reforms
a decided step forward in the constitutional evolution of India
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A NEW PATH OF THE
ALL-INDIA MUSLIM LEAGUE

The All-India Muslim League came into being as the first all-India
based political organization of the Muslims in 1906. In the beginning,
its aims were confined to the protection of the rights of the Muslims
and creating the feelings of loyalty in them for the British Government..
However, with the passage of time, the need for the change in the
League’s goals and objectives began to be felt. In the meantime,
“young group” had taken over the leadership of the League from “old
guards”. They began emphasizing on finding ways and mean§ of
getting rid of the policy of “British loyalism” and adopting a new angle
of vision. The following factors were responsible for amending the
constitution of the League.

ANNULMENT OF THE PARTITION OF BENGAL

In December 1911, the British Government annulled the partition of
Bengal which prompted hostile reaction, not only from the Muslims of
Bengal put those of the whole of the Muslim India. Nawab Vigar-ul-Mulk
expressed his deep anger and shock at this decision and remarked that it
was crystal clear in the light of those incidents being witnessed at that time
that advising the Muslims to trust the British Government was a futile
exercise. He further said that under the new circumstances the Muslims
could not afford to follow such an advice. He urged the Muslims to trust in
the grace and bounty of Allah and to rely on their own powers."

ALIGARH MUSLIM UNIVERSITY

Sayyid Ahmad Khan was keenly desirous of upgrading the M.A.O.
College, Aligarh, into a university. Although, he could not see the
fulfilment of his desire during his lifetime, the Muslim leaders who
came after him vowed to fulfil his mission. The Muslims of India had

! Ameen Zubairi, Makateeb-i-Vigarul Mulk o Mohsinul Mulk, Agra, n.d. p.115.
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wn. Therefore,

since long been aspiring to have a university of their 0
Educational

during the Lahore session of All-India Mohammedan
Conference in 1889, Theodore. Marison. presented posal
regarding a separate university for the Muslims." In 1906, the Simla

Deputation besides making some other demands also asked the
sed university- The

Government for financial assistance for the propo

lack of financial resources had been the main obstacle in the way of th‘

establishment of the Muslim university. The College biilding was :-:,ull
b all its capital.

incomplete and due to a massive fraud, the College lost
ncial aid to the College-

For this very reason, people stopped giving fina :
In these difficult and unfavourable circumstances, Nawab Mohsin-ul-
ia] Fund. One of its

Mulk established the Sir_Sayyid .
branches was set up in Bengal in 1899; After the death of Mohsin-ul-
“started in hi ¢ same purpose- By

Mulk a similar fund was started in his name for th
. +his fund. In that year, the

1910, Rs.L@@ﬂﬁDf— had been deposi
demand for a Mushim University became more VOC&'.
ttee was set up with the Aga Khan

1911, a Central Foundation Commi
as its President and Nawab Viqar*ul-Mulk as its Secretary. Its aim was
o collect the money needed for the proposed university- Its branches
were opened throughout the country. Moulana Mohamed Ali devoted
some columns of the Comrade to the cause of the University. Moulana
Shaukat Ali, who at that time Was a government servant in Delhi took
feave for two years and started his mission to collect money for the
university, in the capacity of the secretary to the Aga Khan. On this
occasion, Nawab Vigar-ul-Mulk made a heartrending appeal in which
he said, “In these last days of my life, my only desire is that all of you,
thinking it to be your duty, must dedicate all your efforts to the noble
task of the provision of money for the Muslim University and, thus
give a practical proof of your national life”. T
Muslims from all over India, contributed to this fund. The great
sacrifices which the ordinary people made for this noble cause can be
judged from the fact that by October 31, 1911, out of the total amount,
which had been collected, Rs. 24863, eleven annas and six paisas were
contributed by the. N.W.F.P. and Baluchistan, Rs. 20308 by Bengal
Rs.43545 by Bihar.® The contributions made by the poor and backwgarti
people of the N.W.FP., Baluchistan and the Punjab were more than

1 b - :
Anwaar Zubairi, Punjah Sala Tareekh All India Muslim Educational Conference

Badaun, 1936, p.69. _
“ramullah Nadvi, Vigar-i-Hayat, Aligarh, 1925, pp.165-66.
3prancis Robinson, Separatism Among Indian Muslims, Cambridge, 1974

p-199.
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what they could afford. Such was the enthusiasm among the Indian
Muslims for the proposed University. -

The ruler of Bhopal, Sultan J e donated one lac s
for this fund. This generous display of charity Eﬂg‘hted the Aga Khan
who remarked:"

6 s vt b S s bk )

At J‘Zl Jrﬁ (,k” - Jlﬂijhi W-.‘J br;dj
The Aga Khan toured round the country in order to collect the
nt required.

mi ;re:lat aristocrat of Meerut Bhayya NMMin d{?nath five
thousand rupees. He owned a Rolls Royce car the price of which in those
days was Rs.80000. At this, the Aga Khan remarked, “We have coTcz
here to get some contribution and not the zakat of your R_nllisuyc ;
Responding to it Nizamuddin announced to double his cunmbu!mn.

An important point to be noted here is that the Aga Khan himself and
some of his wealthy companions were in a position to pay all the expenses
of the University but in that case the Government would have concluded
that perhaps only a few rich Muslims were interested to have a university
of their own. Thus, each and every Muslim made contributions according
to his or her position and proved to the Government that the demand for a
separate Muslim university was the demand of the entire Muslim nation.

On February 16, 1911, a commitiee under the presidentship of the
Maharaja of Mahmudabad, Sir Ali Muhammad Khan, was set up to frame
the constitution of the proposed university. Ali Bilgrami and Dr. Zia-ud-Din
were appointed as secretary and joint secretary respectively. In April 1911,
Ali Bilgrami presented the manuscript of the constitution to the Committee.

: At this point, the Government announced that the proposed
university would not be called as the Aligarh Muslim University nor
will it have the power of affiliauon. By doing so, the Government lost
Its credibility with the Muslims. Particularly, the issue of affiliation
provoked deep differences among the Muslims. In his newspaper the
5?::1:4&, Moulana Mohamed Ali strongly opposed the idea of not
pmpogdg 1:::: Muslim educational institutions to affiliate with the
B en o T b s o
19_the cutting off our hand today, we agree to it, it will amount
o & r_hands an ur_futu nerations, who

cy of affiliation. They would damn

g ﬁ“-'ltd—hy-l.h.ls_unh_y___l

1 1':}“[ cce such a rm.-.char'usrn for the university which
1‘;"“-——— progeny of its real ben:fn_s_’_’. Mian Muhammad Shafi
:s::m Zubairi, Agha Khan, Karachi, 1950, p.63.

Hashmi, “Bhulee Bisri Yadain”, article in Urdu Digest, February, 1978.

o
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threatened to take a legal action against the Committee jf ;
accepted a local university." “

Lord Hardinge was not unaware of the wave of unease which thi
decision had swept through the entire Muslim community. He criticiseq
this decision of the Secretary of State and called it highly disappointing, i,
declared that it was simply an absurd thing that a handful of governmen
officials and .foreign elements should make decisions against the opinion
of the Government and the people of India. He further expressed his fears
that the decision might trigger agitation in the country.?

Besides affiliation, another important issue was related to the
autonomy of the University and the Government’s control over it. The
Muslims wanted the proposed university to be free from al|
governmental control. They wanted its administration and
management entirely within their own hands.

This issue created so much anger and outrige among the Muslims
that when the Aga Khan justified state control, the Muslim Gazetre in its
issue of March 18, 1912, criticised him and wrote that in that matter he
was not at all representing and advocating the true feelings and
sentiments of the Muslims. It warned that in such a case, the Muslims
would use for some other purpose the money which they had collected
for the proposed University. Criticising the policies of the Government,
Nawab Vigar-ul-Mulk declared that if the Muslims would not have as
much control on their university as they have on M.A.O. College, they
had better abanc 'n the idea of a separate university. The Muslim leaders
were divided i 0 two groups on this issue. Aftab Ahmad Khan and
Shaikh *l.Jullah were in favour of giving up their demand of affiliation
i the; «ot full control over the university. On the other hand, the Al
hrethers were demanding both the right of affiliation and complete
avionomy for the University. Fed up with the policies of the
Government, the Muslims started seriously considering the idea of
spending the collected money for some other purposc.’

Meanwhile, the attitude of the Hindus was also extremely
négative. As the demand for a separate Muslim university gained
momentum, the opposition of the Hindus also became stronger:
According to a Hindu leader Bepin Chandra Pal, the setting up of
Muslim University, meant nothing but a centre fggiﬁmk

propaganda.* This, the extreme frustration generated by the
.—-___'————-—?

e . .
Ga?l M?mnll. “The Campaign for a Muslim University” (article), p-170.
| Minault, op. cit., p.170.

Paisa Akhbar, 29 Nov
‘ : ember, 1912, p.6, 23 A
A History of the Freedom Movement. peih 1913, p.2.
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attitude of the Hindus and the British Government paved the way
for a change in the constitution of the All-India Muslim League.

THE WRETCHED CONDITION

” !
.\;é W OF THE MUSLIM COUNTRIES

The Muslims of India were still recovering from the injuries
inflicted upon them by the English, when they started receiving
disturbing news from other Muslim countries.

In September 1911, Italy invaded Tripoli which had been under
Turkish rule for several centuries. The Muslims of Tripoli
mﬁ;dﬁjéc'imo'iﬁh'uﬁﬁn atrocities. This invasion sent a wave of
unease in the Indian Muslims. Anti-ltalian rallies were held in several
cities including Calcutta, Dacca, Madras, Poona, Allahabad,
Lahore, Karachi, Lucknow, and Gorakhpur.' The Muslim of Calcutta

wook the initiative and 0 ned the Indian

@rescent Society for helping the Tur |
Bn October 7, 1911, the Council of the All-India Muslim League

held its session at Lucknow and passed three resolutions condemning the
Jtalian invasion and calling for the boycott of Italian goods. These

resolutions reflected the emotional attachment which the Indian Muslims
felt for the Ottoman Empire. The Governor-General, Lord Hardinge, also
noticed the anxiety of the Muslims. He informed the Secretary of State
for India that he had received reports indicating that the Italian invasion
had become the burning topic in the N W.E.P. Furthermore, the Muslims

had the feeling that the English were siding with the Italians.

THE INVASION OF TURKEY
BY THE BALKAN STATES

In 1912, the Turks were faced with yet another calamity that
deepened the wounds of the Indian Muslims. With a view to driving
Turkey out of Europe, the Balkan States, instigated by Britain and other
Eum?ean states, invaded Turkey. On this occasion, 00, the Indian
Muslims provided valuable assistance to their Turkish brethren. The
students of the M:A.O. College, Aligarh created a noble example of
ﬂmhbr refusing to eat meat and sweet-dishes and donating the
- Yy ;ls :!vud to the Turkish relief fund. They even sold the

urtains of their rooms and deposited the money in the fund.”

e

Matiur Rﬁ:,'::nm Consultation to Confrontation, London, n.d., p.229.

,l o ""“?*_ he Muslims of British India, Karachi, 1973, pp. 182-83.
 Zubairi, Zia-i-Hayat, Karachi, n.d., p.54.
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A 23-member medical team headed by Dr. Mukhtar Ahmad Ansari y,
sent to Turkey to help the wounded Turkish soldiers. The team includeq g,
MB.BS. doctors [M.A. Ansari, Ali Azhar Fayzee (Bombay), Naseen,
Ansari (Jonpur), Mohammadullah (Calcutta) and Shamsul Bari (Goya)] ang
seven dispensers [Ghulam Ahmad Khan (Lahore), Mohammad Nurul Hasap
(Meerut), Chiragh-ud-Din (Delhi), Sayyid Tawangar Husain (Karnaj)
Etemad Rasul (Chappra), Abdul Waheed Khan (Mirzapur)] and ten
Ambulance workers [Abdur Rahman Siddiqui, Shoaib Qureshi, Aziz Ansari
Khaliquzzaman, Abdur Rahman, Qazi Bashir-ud-Din, Manzoor Ali, Yusuf
Ansari, Ismail Husain Shirazi, Tawangar Husain]. It may be mentioned here
that 19 out of these 23 members of the team went to Turkey on their own
expenses. One of them, Abdur Rahman, sold all his clothes, books and rare
photographs to the teachers and students of the M.A.O. College, Aligarh in
order to meet the necessary expenses.'

Referring to the sentiments of the Muslims of that time, Dr. Ansari
wrote that only the Muslims of Delhi collected fifty to sixty thousand
rupees. A huge crowd gathered outside the Jamia Mosque in order to
give a hearty send off to the delegation. With regard to the number of
its participants and the spirit of these people, this gathering had a
historic significance and in its grandeur and magnanimity was unique
and unparalleled. In fact, perhaps, such a charged gathering was never
seen on the streets of Delhi since the times of the Mughal a:::t'q:uzrnurs.1

To quoie another example of the love and devotion which the
Indian Muslims had for the Turks. Moulana Mohamed Ali went to
Bombay in order to see off the delegation. On their way, the medical
mission had a group photo with him at Bhopal. It was printed in the
September 18 issue of Al-Hilal, Calcutta, with Moulana’s following
remarks and two heartfelt Persian lines.

“O you people who are going to the land of the wounded, do

not be harsh on them while dressing their wounds because those

wounds are in fact not their wounds but the wounds of Islam™

= WA Jr s S ek

S 8 ¥ J dg = ¢
The exciting poems of Moulana Shibli also played an important
role in provoking the sentiments of the Muslims. At a meeting If
Lucknow, he recited a poem. Not only the audience but he himself
burst into tears. This poem clearly mirrors the love and anxiety which
the Indian Muslims had for the Turkish Muslims.

'Mohammad Yusuf, Abdur Rahman Peshawari, Karachi, pp.245-46.
2Qazi Abdul Ghaffar, Hayat-i-Ajmal, Aligarh, 1950, p.122.
Abdur Rahman Peshawari, p.128.
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not complain of not writing letters for, we remember nothing except
serving the nation. We have forgotten our home, our brothers, our
relatives and everything. We are too busy with our own state of affairs”!

This medical mission was given a tumultuous reception when it

Moulana Shibli who was present on this occasion tried to touch the feet
of Dr. Ansari. When the latter hesitated the former remarked, “These
are not your feet but the feet of Islam’s paragon of poverty”?
~ Besides the Turks, the Iranians were also being persecuted by the
Russians. On March 3, 1912, the Russians bombed the Iranian city of
Mashed and danmiaged the tomb of Imam Ali Raza. Iranian scholars were
hanged. All these events severely wounded the sentiments of the
Muslims. Consequently, the poems of Shibli, the editorials and articles of
Al-Hilal, Comrade and Zamindar and the fiery speeches of orators
ignited the fire of hatred for the English in the hearts of the Muslims. In
these circumstances, the All-India Muslim League came under strong
pressure from the public opinion to make changes in its constitution.
Things went so far that the Muslim press threatened to form a new and
more valiant political party unless the League amended its constitution.®
Radical changes were witnessed within the League itself when in
1910, its central office was shifted from Aligarh to Lucknow. The age
limit for joining the League was reduced from 25 years to 21 years
whereas the membership fee was reduced from Rs.25/- to Rs.20/-which
could be paid in instalments, That very year, Aziz Mirza was appointed
as its new Secretary, He belonged to the “young group”. After taking
ufﬁmﬂmmSecretaryinﬁlsedamwspirit in the League. In his very

YPaisa Akhbar, 12 March, 1913, p.4.

idullah Khan (ed), Magalat-i-Youme Shibli, Lahore, 1961, pp.14-15.
*From Consultation 1o Confrontation, p.256.
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first year, he travelled to all the major cities like Calcutta, Barej;
Poona, Bombay, Madras, Banglore, Wimbari, Simla and Dacca, Ty,
office work of the League increased so much that the need was felt (o
recruit an assistant secretar)r.' ’

On the proposal of Wazir Hasan the constitution of the League was
amended on March 22, 1913, and instead of “loyalty towards the
British Government the League decided to wage a constitutional
struggle to attain-suitable self-government for India under the aegis of
the British Crown”.

The important thing is that, for the preservation of the Muslim rights,
the demand of self-government was made-conditional to suitable to India,
The Muslim press all over the country hailed the change in the constitution.
The Mussulman (Calcutta) on March 28, 1913, welcomed the change of
objective with the remarks that “the last session of the All-India Muslim
League was a unique event not only in the history of Muslim Ind‘a but in
that of India as a whole. The new policy inaugurates a new era in the
political history of the country”. The paper declared “the goal of self-
government”’ set up before them as the “national aspiration”.? .

From 1913, the All-India Muslim League entered a new phase.

““‘”’“; 24 August, 1911, p2.
aleem Ahmad, The All-India Muslim League, Bahawalpur, 1988
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THE KANPUR MOSQUE
TRAGEDY

e —

According to Sayyid Raza Ali, the tra of
regarded as one of the worst examples of gt:grﬂriﬁt:: i:nmspunzmh{;qu;c;ndr
In 1908, the Government .of U.P. approved a total amount of two la:;.mil a halit'
lac rupees 10 widen the roads of Kanpur and to accomplish other welf
works. This SFh:ny: also included the A.B. Road. The widening of this r:q:l
T o ot e e B

‘ losque in the Machli Bazar. When the
Hindus came to know of this proposal, they forced the Government to
abandon this scheme. The only way left to protect the temple was to turn the
road into some other direction, because between the mosque and the temple,
there was not much space for the road to commence. Therefore, the Muslims
were faced with the dangerous possibility that the eastern part of the mosque
which was used for baths and places for ablution might have to be
demolished to make room for the road. Thus, on April I, 1912, during the
session of the Improvement Trust Committee, the Muslims requested that no
portion of the mosque should be included in the road for the sake of its
widening. But they had a feeling that the Government had determined not to
pay heed to the demands of the Muslims.

In the eyes of the Muslims, a mosque is a satrosanct and enjoys
immunity against perfidious acts. In April 1913, Sir James Meston, the
Lt.-Governor of the U.P., received a petition, through Shahid Husain,
from a group of Muslims of Kanpur_including farwa against the
“alienation of any part of the mosque”.

During a meeting of the Muslims of Kanpur, five eminent
scholars proved that the controversial portion was, from the religious
point of view, part and parcel of the mosque. Moreover, if required,
this place for ablution was used for offering Juma and Eid prayers. In
this connection, a delegation of the Muslims had a meeting 1_v1th the
collector but to no avail. On April 12, 1913, a Memorial was
presented to the Lt.-Governor by Barrister Shahid Husain. The

Memorial called for protecting the east
the possible demolition. On May 6, 1913, James Meston sent a letter

ern part of the mosque against

iy
o g b
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to the oy

the 5,:: :dmnfll"‘fls concluding that “The washing place is not gl_‘qf

E";PEEEMMMd. The authorities © the
i s sked e on which a washing place

will be built for them by the Municipal Board"

- On July 20, 1913, the Lt-Goveror, Sir James Meston, himself
visited Kanpur and inspected the Mosque. On the very nex! &% police
was deployed around the Mosque. Showing complete disregard  for the
feclings of the Muslims, the Government demoli
the Mosque. The news of the demolition provoked anger and outrage

among the Muslims and the Muslim press strongly protested against it
This Government action was deplored and condemned llnougheul.‘ India.
In the meanwhile James Meston asked Tyler, Kanpur Magistrate, ‘Eﬁuk:
effective measures 10 prevent any breach of peace jgﬂmgqgc,uon with the
=Mqunﬁ_h_§_g_ﬂg&:f he wants extra ice let him have sO o

While the parleys were going on. portion of the Mosque was
' ‘ Muslims of Kanpur

Jl'

and agitated procession carrying black flags appeared bf.fore the
Mosque and began 0 place loose bricks. in place of the dismantled

structure as a symbol of reconstruction.
Apoliccfuruwhichmssentmdisperscd\cmb.opcnedﬁm
under Tyler's orders. The firing continued for 15 minutes and six
hundred rounds of cartridges were used. The event was depicted in prose
and verse in the Muslim press throughout India. Some of the most
moving verses in Urdu poetry were written by Moulana Shibli Nomani.

ey foe 2R IES
LE-"‘-U'&?L'!-:‘;F{J
f:fq-,g:;.gdmi.}";{
Lﬂ-‘"’i—*ﬂff—il-—fgcg
| /"Usfhfz’_m.z.:_r
g 5/-'.;- T
e ST mf i L2 VY
u & T & A

The Mus..lim A!_\jumans all over India (Anjuman-e-Ziaul Islam,
H&Aw&xﬂm Al Al man-i-Hidayatul TS,
Anf_nlan-l—lslamm. Koha_E_ name a few) strongly protested

3omb.
adaun
’_,._._-—-—i
3
'Spencer Lavan, “The Kanpur Mosque Incident of 1913 in Punjab Past and

2 Present (Quarterly, Patiala), April, 1934, p.99.
ibid.. p.101.
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aamst the ﬁ'nng on the Muslims. The Muslim press also condemned the
vernment's action. The Zamindar commented, “The demolition of the
part of _lhe Kanpur Mosque at the point of bayonet and the
characterisation of the Muslim outcry caused thereby — a spectacle so
heartrending that it has shaken the faith of the Musalmans in the
Government's principle of non-intsrference in religious matters”.! The
Observer, Lahore, expressed ‘surprise’ that Tyler should have given
orders to fire at the crowd, the paper termed it as an “unnecessary step”.
It is interesting to observe that the Hindu press did not sympathise with
the Muslim cause. The Tribune, Lahore, referred to Sir James Meston as
a “kind-hearted and humane ruler” while referring to those killed as “the
ignorant fanatics who took the law into their hands”.?

The Muslim press in Bengal and U.P. also opposed the action of the
Government. Most outspoken of the Bengal Muslim papers were the
Hablul Matin, the Muhammadi and the Mussalman all of which were
continuously critical of the Government and supportive of the
Muslims of Kanpur. An article published in Muhammadi on August
15, 1913, stressed how the Kanpur killings had united Muslims all over
India. The Editor saw the event as a repudiation of Queen Victoria’s
royal proclamation of 1857 and as a cruel attack on the religious faith
of the Muslims.’ In U.P. the most outspoken of the Muslifi
newspapers were the Muslim Gazette, Lucknow, Musawat, Allahabad,
Al-Musheer, Moradabad, and Tauheed, Meerut. :

The AIML did not remain quiescent during the Kanpur Mosqna..
tragedy. Two notable resolutions were passed by the Council of The
AIML on August 31, and on September 19, affirmed the criticism {?;
the Muslim press. The resolution urged the appointment of &
committee comprising both officials and civilians to conduct an
impartial inquiry. More significant was the resolution of September
19, which expressed gratitude to Sayyid Wazir Hasan and Mohamed

Ali for going to England to present the Muslim case.

Sir James Meston’s attitude further deepened the wounds of the
Muslims. A few days afterwards, he visited Kanpur and distributed
merit certificates among those policemen who had taken part in the
firing. In the opinion of Sayyid Raza Ali, it clearly manifested the fact
that the British Government wanted not only to show injustice 1o the
Muslims but also to degrade and humiliate them.

Lord Hardinge, as the Government documents show, was never in
agreement with M&ﬁn about his policies. He was of the opinion that
“the demolition of the Mosque at a moment when Sir James Meston and

;'ﬁw Kanpur Mosque Incident of 1913, p.104.
Tbid., p.105.
The Kanpur Mosque Incident of 1913, p. 108.
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On August 19, 1913, a delegation headed by the Mahocs:. -
Mahmudabad had a meeting with the Lt.-Governor and 1o}d himI -
the demolition of the Mosque had sparked off anger and shock -
the Muslims of India. He was further told that the feelings :‘;“::E
Muslims in that case were not artificial, individual or local. Sayyi:
Wazir Hasan and Moulana Mohamed Ali went to England in order 1o
brief the British people about the tragedy. .

Lord Hardinge visited Kanpur alongwith Sayyid Ali Imam on 13-14
October. He worked out a compromise with the Muslims allowing them
to build a new arcade over the public road to make up for the lost
accommodation. He visited the Mosque, ordered the release of prisoners
and withdrew the cases. Lord Hardinge recollected in his memoirs that,
“My speech and act of clemency were not only received in Cawnpore but
throughout India with the greatest enthusiasm™.! It is interesting to note
that quite a number of Englishmen viewed Hardinge’s attitude as
submissive in a colonial territory, and openly stated that it was unwise of
Hardinge to have adopted a policy of appeasement.? The Anglo-Indian
press also did not approve of his act of clemency because, according to
them, it would lead to more troubles by various Indian factions.

Thus this tragedy playe® a significant role in awakening political

consciousness among the Indian Muslims and stimulating their hatred
for the Raj.

* .
I‘-'l'l'l.ila“ll:m: Hardi

inge, My Indian Years | 910-16, London, 1948
‘ ! - ] 1 , p.88.
Hamid, Muslim Separarism in India, Lahore, 1967, p.97.
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THE MAKING OF THE
LUCKNOW PACT

In December 1916, an agreement was reached between the AIML
and the INC which came o be known as the Lucknow Pact.

The run up to this Pact was marked by long and arduous rounds of
negotiations spreading over a considerable period of time. The revocation
of the partition of Bengal in December, 1911, brought about a tremendous
transformation in the Muslim politics. So much so, the All-India Muslim
League changed its constitution in 1913, which paved the way for the
Congress and the League to come closer. Together with these
developments, there rose a demand - which started as a fuzzy whimpering,
attained crescendo and became popular frenzy — for Hindu-Muslim unity.
As early as. 1910, Sayyid Nabiullah voiced this demand while delivering
his presidential address in a Muslim League session. He said, “The alarm
which my fellow country-men are raising about possible break-up of unity
on the implementation of separate electorate is false. We do not want unity
on paper only but we want a real unity from the heart in the interest of our
country. Aren't our Hindu friends satisfied with their everlasting and
permanent majority? What else do they want? Why do they look at our
separate representation with jealousy? It appears as if they intend to muffle
even our weak voice, intoxicated by their heavy majority. Is it the way of
reconciliation? I appeal to the good sense and patriotism of my Hindu
leaders that Hindu and Muslim statesmen, particularly, members of the
Legislative Council should exchange views on the problems pertaining to

the interest of the country”.!
The first ever initiative undertaken in this regard came from the
Etufdem of the Congress, Sir William Wedderburn, who convened a
Unity Conference” on January 1, 1911. This Conference was attended
by sixty Hindus and forty Muslims including Surendranath Banerjea,
a*&Mmj. of Darbhanga, Madan Mohan Malavia, Motilal Nehru,
Gokhale, Nawab Vigar-ul-Mulk, the Aga Khan, Ebrahim Rahmatullah

‘Swy:d mmu Pirzada, Ff:uudafiﬂﬂ-l of Pakistan, Vol.l, Karachi, 1969,

N
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and Syed Mohammad.! But the "
significant breakthrough. conference failed 10 achieye 4

The question of Hindu-Muslim unity had :
before the outbreak of World War I in 1914, There exioma om0t el
of total consensus among almost all the political circles in 1:;-""%
the outbreak of War, political thought on this question cmmll_n. But with
statesmen were of the opinion that they would have to m,r;m Indian
mutual differences if they were to achieve anything from the r;onm their
the War. They knew that they would have to close their ranks t:hsh after
united front to the British and to adopt collective mﬂ"{m a
attainment of their goal. It was, however, a hard nut to crack. :’ the
difficulty in this regard was to bring all those Indian leaders at one lat:l
Muslim statesmen were eager to hold meetings with the Hindu Iud:sbm
the AIML and the INC held their respective sessions in different cities
According to Raza Ali, “Mohammed Ali Jinnah prevailed upon the
Council of the AIML to decide that the annual session of the League would
be held in Bombay towards the end of December, 1915"2

Eventually, the two political parties held their meetings,
simultaneously, in .Bombay in December, 1915, due to M.A. Jinnah's
untiring efforts. The 'shamiana’ covered venue carried the themaic
message atop its main entrance in Urdu: Ittfag Main Barkat Hai, which
translated into English would read “Union is Strength”. The aimosphere
of bon homie, desire for understanding and cooperation, greal
expectations about the success of mutual consultations had generated a
lot of euphoric enthusiasm among the participants on both sides. No
greater achievement in the compiex Hindu-Muslim relations could be
envisaged than to have among the distinguished non-Muslim visitors in
the AIML session, men like B.G. Tilak, M.K. Gandhi, S.P. Sinha, Pmdll
Malavia, B.C. Pal, B.G. Horniman, Mrs. Annie Besant, Mrs. Sarojni
Naidu and others.® Similarly, the League leaders reciprocated the good-
will gesture by attending the session of the Indian National Congress:

The speeches delivered at the meetings reflected the common desire

cooperation. Moulvi Mazharul Haq of the All-India Muslim League and -
of the Hindu-Mmlllm

Sinha of the Congress spoke eloquently in support

unity in their respective presidential addresses. It is worthwhile t0 mention
here that the presidential address of the Congress president was ! L
wrdedmcasmcspeechofthepmsidmﬂnfuwuaguum.ﬁﬂl‘
enthusiasm. This provoked Mrs. Sarojni Naidu to comment “Mazharul Haq's
address, though it lagged behind in political affairs, was the address of

1961, pp.120-12V

VA History of the Freedom Movement, Vol.llL Pant |, Karachi,
:Sayyid Raza Ali, Aamal Nama, Delhi, 1945, p.348.
A.H.Dani, (ed.), World Scholars on Quaid-e-Azam, Islamabad, 1979. P-lm'
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: brave and truthful person. On the contrary, Sir Sinha’s address
was careful and full of inapt moderation™. It gave rise to a joke that the two
Frllellﬂlhlwﬂﬁd to read each other's speech during their train journey
W.Mﬁrgmmmn&mmwhichmmisfmmysim

The two parties agreed to set up reforms committees at their
meeting in Bombay and which eventually held their combined meeting
in Calcutta in November, 1916. After four days of deliberations, a
scheme was prepared which was approved both by the Congress and "
the League in their Lucknow sessions.

In December 1916, the two parties met in Lucknow. The session was
attended by Fazlul Haq, Abdur Rasul, Akram Khan and Abul Qasim
from Bengal, from the Punjab Mian Fazle Husain, Zafar Ali Khan, from
UP. Sir Raza Ali, Moulvi Mohammad Yaqoob, Syed Aale Nabi, and
Aftab Ahmad Khan and from Bihar Husain Imam and Mazharul Haq
participated. In his presidential address while emphasising the need of
introduction of self-government in India, M.A. Jinnah said, “If the
Mmmmtthcpnidmufnam.ifthcymnuluulnfﬂupalcur

ion of the laws that govern mankind elsewhere, if their minds can
grow in knowledge and power and can think and plan and organise
for common needs of the present and for common hopes of the
future, then the only future for them is self-government. The vital
question today is: Is India fit to be free and to what extent? There can be
no shelving of the issue at this juncture. It has to be settled one way or the
other. If she is not fit today, she has got to be made fit for self-
government. This, 1 maintain, is no less a duty and responsibility of the
Government than of the people themselves. We are fighting and can only
fight constitutional battles. This peaceful struggle is not, and will not, be
wanting in the quality of vigour and sacrifice, and we are determined to
mvinu:meBr_itishEmpu:tlutweu:ﬁlfurtln'placcufapannu
within the Empire, and nothing less will satisfy India”.

IMPORTANT FEATURES

Following were the important aspects of the Lucknow Pact:

1) The Hindus agreed to the right of separate electorate for
the Muslims;for the first an last time.

2) The Hindus conceded that the Muslims would have one
third representation in the Imperiat Legistative Council.

3) A ‘weightage’ formula was proposed under which the Muslims
would “get less ion than their populalidn in the
Legislative Council in those provinices where they were in

_ majority but more in provinces where they were in minority.

The Foundations of Pakistan, Vol.1, pp.376-77.
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4) The following were the proportion of Musli
Musl representa
were agreed to for the Provincial Legi [atti]:e%mils* on tha

Mustim .
Province " Bof *:u‘ﬂ;lrﬁm:hi“ "';---....___
Canral Province 43 s | 7O
Bihar & Orissa los % 34
Madras 6.5 S 28,
U.P. 140 30 )
m 20.4 133 Iz“____
Punjab 54.8 % &
Bengal 52.6 70 —

5) It was decided that no non-official member
bill, resolution or a part of it, rﬂn@ﬁ}ﬁ; :"”
elected body _if three-fourth of the.members of the affmg
nation opposed it.

6) It was demanded that the number of the members of the
Imperial Legislative Counci] be increased to 150 and 4/5 of its
members be directly elected by the public. THe president of
the Council be elected by the members themselves and not
selected by '_;ﬁ?f}aw?rﬁﬁmf'ii_ was—proposed that total
members of the I;egi'élhtiv'e Councils of the larger provinces
should be 125 and that of the smaller shéﬁﬂ'b?i’%m 5010 75.

7) Tt was demanded that members of the"Central and Provincial
Legislative Councils be given tI?E_ri_g_lll_tu move adjournment

B

mns.

8) It was-demanded that the control of the Secretary of State and

that of the Government of India over the provincial
governments be curtailed to give them more autonomy.
Nobody from Indian Civil Service should be made either the
Governor or Head of the provincial governments.

9) It was demanded that all the members of the Councils should
have the right to ask supplementary questions. Till then only
the questioner himself had this right 1o do so.

10) All sources except customs, post & telegraph, salt,
railways be transferred to the provincial governments.

11) The Council of the Secretary of State for India be disbanded
and two Assistant Secretaries may be appointed to assist him
instead: one of them must be an Indian. Besides, the salary 0
the Secretary of the State must be disbursed from the British
exchequer instead of from the Indian treasury.

12) Half of the members of the Executive Council of the
Governor-General must be Indian who should be elected b
the members of the Imperial Legislative Council.

opium and
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13) The same method should be adopted for the
Executive Councils of the governors. PARTNS S
14) Judiciary must be separated from the executive and no
officer should be delegated with judicial authority.!

REACTION OF THE MUSLIMS
AND THE HINDUS

The Lucknow Pact evinced different reactions from the Muslims
and the Hindus. The Hindus of the U.P. opposed the Pact on the
ground that it ensured the right of separate electorate for the Muslims.
On the other hand, the All-India Hindu Mahasabha strongly criticised
the whole Pact but their opposition was ineffective as some of Hindu
leaders like Tej Bahadur Sapru, Motilal Nehru, Jagat Narain Mulla and
Chintamani had themselves taken part in the formulation of the Pact.?

Similarly, the Muslim opinion on the subject was also divided.
Those Muslim leaders who were in favour of cooperation with the
Congress supported the Pact but the followers of “Sir Sayyid school of
thought” opposed it as they were not ready to countenance any link
with the Hindus whatsoever. Mian Mohammad Shaft, though himself a
member of the Reforms Committee, opposed the Pact tooth and nail.. His
opposition to it became 5O vehemently scathing that his Punjab Provincial
Muslim League had to be scuttled from the All-India Muslim League and
the Provincial Muslim League of Mian Fazle Husain was accorded
recognition because he supported the Pact.’

The Paisa Akhbar vehemently condemned the Lucknow Pact.
The paper wrote dozens of leaders criticising the Pact. It was of the
view that by bringing the policy of the League in line with the
Congress, Wazir Hasan had done grievous injury to the Muslim cause.

The Hindus and the Sikhs of the Punjab also opposed the
Lucknow Pact but from a different angle. The Punjab Hindu Sabha
strongly opposed the inclusion of separate electorate in the Pact as
“undue appeasement of the Muslims”.

The Bengali Muslims had a special reason to object to the Pact. Their
collective rejection of this Pact was based on the fact that their majority in
the provincial legislative council was turned into minority. The young
League leaders were accused by the “old guards” of selling out their

1
Shan Mohammad, The Indian Muslims — A Documentary Record, Vol.4,
Meerut, 1981, pp.305-310.
i '-'Eﬂﬁ:mn 2 " . . 3
Studies, May, 1977 p‘mg the Lucknow Pact” (article) in Journal of Asian
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community to the Hindus. The Lucknow Pact produced wi
resentment amongst Bengali Muslims." The provisions of “‘:"d‘sprm
criticised by the League leaders many of whom left the Bep Pact wery
worked through the Central National Mohammedan Associati, =8
formed their own organisation — the Indian Moslem mhﬁ‘:ﬂﬁm
thought that Bengali Muslims were entitled to the
Ay : . percentage of
coincident with their 52.6 percent of Bengal population.? e

OnﬂwﬂﬂﬁhmﬂFﬁlu]Hﬂ]ﬂﬂcﬂﬂwnfﬂtpuw&
view that the 40 percent representation for their community was {just ang
fair” inmmideraﬁunufmefactsumlﬁmﬂyﬂﬁsmnmfucmof
what they enjoyed at that moment and secondly the Muslim community i
Bengal was not socially and politically developed enough to claim larger
representation.” The Bengal Provincial Muslim League, which had greatly
contributed to the framing of the Pact, was compelled o present a
memorandum to the Secretary of State for India, Edwin Montagu,
demanding 50% representation for the Muslims in the Bengal Council. The
opposition to the Pact gained momentum and by December, 1917, almost all
notable parties of Bengal had become unanimous on this point. On April 17,
1917, Risalar an Urdu daily of Calcutta, voiced the common views saying
“The success of the scheme will place the Muslims under the thumb of the
Hindus. Muslim interests will not be safeguarded unless they get at least
equal representation with the Hindus in the Council”.* The Indian Muslim
Association of Nawab Ali Chaudhry and Siraj-ul-Islam
“generous represéntation™ for the Muslims in the Legislative Council*

The Bengali leaders as late as 1933 continued criticizing the Pact.
Abdul Karim, presiding over the general meeting of the Bengal
Provincial Muslim League in 1933, warned that “Young Muslim

Bengal now wide awake to their true interest are not likely to allow the
bartering away of their birthright without a challenge”. He accused
the Lucknow Pact had relegated the Muslim majority in Bengal 0
ntolerable position of a permanent minority.* _
In U.P. also, those followers of “Sir Sayyid school of ﬂiouglgt'f
who rejected the Lucknow Pact, included Khan Bahadur, Shaikh
Abdullah from Aligarh. Several newspapers of U.P. like Al-Bashir, Al

"Harun-or-Rashid, The Foreshadowing of Bangladesh, Dhaka, 1989, p.18.
% conard A. Gordon, Bengal — The Nationalist Movement 1876-1940, Delhi.
1979, p.159.
3Mhe Foreshadowing of Bangladesh, pp.18-19.
4Nationalism and Communal Politics in India, p.93.
’II#M;. The Muslim League: s History, Activities and Achievements, L3
pl15. :

.‘Tﬁt Foreshadowing of Bangladesh, p.40.

L1




THE MAKING OF THE LUCKNOW PACT 111

Mizan, Zulgarnain, Mashrig and Aligarh Institute Gazktte were in the
forefront of this campaign against the Pact. Thus the Muslim public
opinion was split down the middle with regard to the Lucknow Pact.

IMPORTANCE

The Lucknow Pact was the culmination of the Quaid’s persistence

efforts for the Hindu-Muslim unity. It was for these efforts that
S_;mlnlﬂﬂidu gave him the title “The Ambassador of Hindu-Muslim
Unity” which he so richly deserved. The Lucknow Pact holds a special
significance in the Indian history. For the Muslims, it had a value of
central importance because the Hindus accepted the demand of separate
electorate for the first and the last time. This was so despite the fact
that the Muslims had to pay a heavy price in Bengal and the Punjab.
By getting the principle of separate electorate incorporated in the
Lucknow Pact presented to the Secretary of State, the Quaid had lifted

the issue of separate Muslim representation beyond pale of controversy

and paved the way for its presentation in the Montford Reforms.”

The Lucknow Pact, by its implications, exploded the myth of the
Congress that it was the sole spokesman of the whole of India — a
claim that it had corisisténtly drummed up.for years. A padt by its very
nature and constitution” predetermines the existence of two or more
parties. Thus the Lucknow Pact negated the claim of the Congress (o
be the onty single party representing the whole of India. At the same
time it provided the Muslims with much needed guarantee that no
resolution which they opposed would get legal sanction.

The Lucknow Pact not only hastened the important policy announced
ernment on August 20, 1917 but in certain important

by the British Gov
respects it also influenced the course of events during the next few years.

An objective assessment of the Lucknow Pact, for its merits and
demerits, its gains and losses, will reveal that parties concerned
certainly showed flexibility in surrendering some of their own demands
to accommodate the others with a view to achieving workable
objectives. It manifested the Indian statesmen’s sense of maturity and
sagacious political manoeuvering. They established beyond doubt that
. they could sacrifice their personal interest for the sake of self-
government for India. Unfortunately, this ‘approach’ and atmosphere
of cooperation through compromise proved to be transient and India
was soon gripped by Hindu bigotry and prejudice once again.

1 .
World Scholars on Quaid-i-Azam, p.382.
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THE MONTAGU-CHELMSFORD
REFORMS (1919)

While introducing the Minto-Morley Reforms, Lord Mimg was aimj
at winning the support of the moderate-faction within the Congress but u,;:
Reforms could not satisfy any section of the Indian society. As a matter of
fact, the British Government was following a definite policy which implied
that instead of fully curing the political ailments of India, occasional doses

should be given as a momentary relief. But now, things had changed

radically. The Indians had become fully aware of such tactics. The
accelerated pace of political developments in India forced the Government to
view the Indian problem from a new angle. The movement for self-
government had gathered momentum in India in the wake of the First World
War, The Home Rule League had become quite popular with the people. On
the other hand. Hindu-Muslim unity had also seen the light of the day as a

being made more vigorously. In these Circumstances, Lord Chelmsford was
sent to India as the new Governor-General.

During the First World War, the. Indians argued that if Britain was
fighting for the survival of democracy, why was it hesitant to allow
democracy to flourish in India. They asserted that if Britain claimed itself to
be the champion of freedom, why was it reluctant to grant freedom to India.
finally induced to sense the wave of unrest
of State for India Edwin Montagu made 2

statement in the House of Commons on August 20, 1917 which is known as
the August Declaration. He said, “The policy of His Majesty's Government
with which the Government of India are in complete accord is that of the
increasing association of Indians in every branch of the administration of
gradual development of self-governing institutions, with a view to the
progressive realization of responsible government in India as an integral part
of the British Empire”. In order to implement this Declaration, Montag!
visited India (November 1917-April 1918) and held meetings with
government officials and political figures regarding the establishment of 8
responsible government in India. In July 1918, Governor-General Lord
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Chelmsford and Montagu compiled a detailed report about constitutional
reforms in India. According to the Report, the establishment of a responsible
government in India had hitherto been impossible on account of the lack of
education and the absence of political consciousness. The authors of the
Report were of the view that the responsible government could only
Mhmmmmumdmmm
thhﬁwum.mwdhw
heated debates and discussions and diverse opinions were
wmumlmmmwmﬂummm
Report. The Reforms had the following main features:
Tb:priuwyohjmﬁuofﬂmreﬁrmwl:minlhhﬂhmh
mﬁﬂwﬂ:ﬁmmmwmm
Mhmmmenﬂ&lﬂumﬁrnf

mulmdﬂqnhhddumwnhpminmeﬂminim.

1) The number of Indians in the Governor-General's Executive
Council was increased to three.

2) A bicameral central legislature was set up. The Lower House
was known as the Indian Legislative Assembly while the
Upper House was called the Council of State. The Legislative
Assembly consisted of 145 members while the Council of
State had 60 members. Members of the Lower House were
clected for three years whereas the members of the Upper
House were elected for a period of five years.

Up w0 1920, the Indian Legislative Council played, for all
WWMMEQMH!MMP[ICWHTDIN
any proposal against the .official majority. Nor could it be
successful in censuring the Executive. The financial powers were
virtually restricted to the discussion of budgets. With a non-
official majority and all the paraphernalia of the modemn
legislature, the new Central Legislature created under the 1919
Reforms came to exercise greater power. It marked a new
milestone in the growth of Indian legislatures which was the
avowed pwpose of the Montagu-Chelmsford Reforms. The
autocratic power of the Government of India and the local
governments was veiled but the change brought by the Montford
Reforms was so substantial as 1o amount 1o a political revolution.

" W work was divided into central and provincial
subjects. The central subjects included defence, foreign
affairs, customs, relations with the Indian States, telephone,
currency and railways. Those subjects which ‘were not

1 the provinces were regarded as central subjects.
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Provincial subjects <included local self- ¢
health, education, irrigation and :griculmr:.wmm e
4) The powers of the members of the Assembly wer
increased. .Before 1919, members of the Assembly m;dﬂm
move adjournment motions but they got this right under x
Montford Reforms. Moreover, they were also allowed to
resolutions on their own behalf. N
5) The right of separate electoraté for the Muslims was kept intact.
6) Under the Reforms, the Secretary of State for India was to get
his salary from the British exchequer. Previously, he was paid
from the Indian exchequer.
7) It was announced that after ten years, a commission would be
set up to assess the success or failure of these Reforms and to
explore the prospects for further improvements in them.

Dyalrch).r
l
Central Subjects Provincial Subjects
Reserved Subjects Transferred Subjects
(Secretaries) (Ministers from Provincial
of Indian Civil Service Assembly)

The most important feature of the Montagu-Chelmsford Reforms was
the introduction of Dyarchy system. In line with the Report of 1918, the
training of the Indians for running self-government was started from
provinces. Provincial subjects were further divided into two categories;
known as Reserved Subjects and Transferred Subjects. Reserved Subjects
wmmlatedmmusedcpmmmwhichmemamgedbythcﬁwm
himself with the help of his secretaries. Ministers were responsible for the
Transferred Subjects. ‘These ministers were members of the Assembly and
were responsible to the Assembly for their actions. Thus, it was the start of
responsible government on a limited scale. Reserved Subjects included
police, irrigation, forestry, judiciary and revenue. All the unimportant affairs
were included in the list of Transferred Subjects. They included departments
like local self-government, education, cooperatives, agriculture and industry.

Provincial administration Wwas also divided into two Pparts.
Reserved Subjects were administered by the government appointed
secretaries. Secretaries, who were not members of the Assembly, Were
appointed for five years. The Assembly was not entitled to dismiss
them from their posts. A team of ministers was appointed by the

|
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Governors to manage the Transferred Subjects. They held their posts as
long as they enjoyed the confidence of the Assembly.

Dyarchy was a unique system of government which remained
operative in nine provinces for sixteen years. But this system did not

succeed due to the following reasons:-
1) The introduction of Montford Reforms synchronized with a very

2)

3)

4)

inauspicious combination of circumstances. The political atmosphere
was extremely tense due to the Rowlatt Act. The massacre at
Jallianwala Bagh ended all prospects of improvement in the situation.
Meanwhile, Britain’s hostile attitude towards Turkey severely hurt
ﬂmfecﬁngsofﬂwMuslimmmdiaanﬁmmﬂdnmhngu
mminsﬂmuw&ndimwmhmufﬂnm&tphnln
such circumstances, the Khilafat Movement and the Non-
vement gathered momentum and in no time, the

Cooperation Mo .
whole country was engulfed in these movements. Assemblies were

boycotted as a part of the Non-Cooperation Movement. In 1924, an
irv commission acknowledged that the Reforms could somehow

hawbmnMesuccessﬁﬂ.hadmﬁcbeenmpoﬁﬁcaIMmmmﬂ
had the Assemblies not been boycotted.
An important feature of the parliamentary system is that all the
ministers are jointly responsible for their work. The Dyarchy
system was an attempt to create a responsible government but this
fundamental principle of parliamentary system was ignored. Under
Dyarchy, all the provincial ministers were individually responsible
for their actions. For this very reason it was aptly remarked that
under Dyarchy, there were ministers but no ministries.
The distribution of provincial subjects was also inappropriate. Quite
cleverly the Government declared all the income-generating departments
as Reserved Subjects and all those departments where money was spent,
were transferred to the provincial ministers. Consequently, ministers were
left at the mercy of the provincial government. By keeping the all-
important finance department with itself, the Government made the
munisters dependent on the Government.
Under the Reforms, the Governors were given unlimited
powers which literally destroyed the objective of the Reforms.
In the parliamentary form of government, Governors are no
more than constitutional heads but under the Montagu-
Chelmsford Reforms, they were given wide-ranging powers.
They could veto the laws of the Assembly and the ministers
;r";muld also enforce their will in the Transferred Subjects.
mﬂr:’;iimmﬁemnge_ of the Governors in the day-to-day
gled the spirit of the Reforms.
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THE MASSACRE OF ——
JALLIANWALA BAGH

Some places become so fused with the events Of One parti
cvcn}, taking place in them that their Very names nn: charged wi
special meaning or significance. Examples are Mayerlin: v“ml
Gettysburg and not least, Amritsar. Every time there is violence vir

a civilian population, such as at Sharpeville or Budapest, the n:ﬂ!:}

Amritsar is mentioned.!

A brief peried of Hindu-Muslim unity ensued in the wake of the
Lucknow Pact 1916. Both the nations started working for the self-rule for
India. In the meantime, the Government was much perturbed by the secrey
and revolutionary activities during the World War I. A committee headed
by Justice Sidney Rowlatt was appointed to investigate into the causes of
such activities and to suggest possible remedies. After his detailed
investigations, Rowlatt presented a report to the Government on April 30,
1918. In the light of the recommendations of the report, the Government
introduced a bill in the Imperial Legislative Council. The Rowlatt Bill was
supposed 1o give unlimited powers to the administration and the police.
The accused neither had the right to appeal nor could take the services of a
lawyer for his defence. The Government could put anyone under house
arrest, without assigning any reason.’

The Indians who had made heroic sacrifices for the British Government
during the First World War, were under the illusion that after the War, they
would be granted self-government in return for their sacrifices. But contrary
mdwhcxmaﬁomﬁrygmﬂﬁrmwardinﬂ:hmofﬂwkowlmm
Thus, there was a storm of protest against this act from one end of the
country to the other. When the bill was presented before the Imperia
Legislative Council, all the 23 non-official members voted. against it. They
included some who were always regarded as ultra loyalists.

In his speech during the debate over the bill, the Quaid-i-Azam
vehemently opposed it for being against all the fundamental notions of

1
l&nlm Swinon, Six Minuies to Sunset, London, 1964, p.2.
Rupert Fumaeux, Massacre at Amritsar, London, 1963, p.36.
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law and justi :
the um?é‘:::ﬁ;;:;?‘:h@: }he administration would definitely misuse
said that no civilised co s }"'ﬁuld get under the new Act. He further
that the approval of thllm!'}' in the wqud had such a law. _He+wnmed
unease throughout th e bill wuuld.tngger widespread agitation and
M0 e e it the country. This unrest would be unparalieled.
o e ole. pointed out that the new Act would have harmful effects
Wll?l ey relationship between the Government and the people.
" en this bll! was handed over to the Select Committee On.

ruary. 19.19~ Sir Muhammad Shafi and Surendranath Banerjea
wrote dissenting notes on it. Banerjea proposed that the bill should be
sent to the High Courts, local governments and other public institutions
in oqdcrl to ascertain public approval. On this occasion too, the Quaid
bltterl? opposed the bill and demanded that the Government should
advertise the bill to elicit public opinion."

Despite all the opposition from the Indians, when the bill became a
law, the Quaid resigned from the Imperial Legislative Council as a
protest. In this connection, he wrote a letter to the Governor-General on
March 28, 1919. Each and every word of that letter displays his
feelings of nationalism and boldness. He wrote,

*“The passing of the Rowlatt Bill by the Government of India, and

the assent given to it by Your Excellency as Governor-General

against the will of the people, has severely shaken the trust reposed
by them in British justice. Further, it has clearly demonstrated the

constitution of the Imperial Legislative Council, which is a

legislature but in name — a machine propelled by a foreign

executive. Neither the unanimous opinion of the non-official

[ndian members nor the entire public opinion and feeling outside

has met with the least respect.

The fundamental principles of justice have been uprooted and

the constitutional rights of the people have been violated. I,

therefore, as a protest against the passing of the Bill and the

manner in which it was passed tender my resignation as a member
of the Imperial Legislative Council for I feel under the prevailing
conditions I can be of no use to my people in the Council nor

consistently with one’s self-respect is cooperation possible with a

Government that shows such utter disregard for the opinion of the

representatives of the people in the Council Chamber and for the

feelings and sentiments of the people outside™.”

N 3

M. Rafique Afzal (ed), Se d Speeches and Statements of Quaid-i-Azam
Mohammad Ali Jinnah, , 1973, pp.84-85. =
2\ H Saiyid, Mohammad Ali Jinnah: A Political Study, Karachi, 1970, pp.81-82.
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The prediction of the Quaid came true and a storm of ap
swept across the country. Strikes were planned “lfﬁughomg? Protes;
M.K. Gandhi started his non-violence movement against i, ndia ang

It is to be noted that not only the Punjab politicians but the :
the Punjab also strongly condemned the Rowlatt Act. The Nmp;s‘ In
(Lahore, 23 March 1919) wrote, “The expected has ha g
Government, in opposition to the most considered opinion of ;hf m
public, passed the Rowlatt Bill. Governinent by its deliberate con :
for the Indian point of view has shown that it is not in a mm
sympathetic towards our aspirations. It is now our duty to put the
Government to trouble in every constitutional way.!

The Vakil (Amritsar, ed. Abdullah Minhas) on 26 March also
criticized the Government, saying, “The Secretary of State also gives
his assent to the Rowlatt Act. Signs go (0 show that if it comes to pass,
an agitation will be set on foot in India the like of which the history of-
the country will be unable to show. Can it be hoped that if the
Government of India has not realised the importance of the matter the
Secretary of State will, with the help of Lord Sinha,.endeavour to
understand the situation.” But, alas, no one was ready to understand the
situation and the bill became an act. Majority of the newspapers in
Lahore including the Desh Ted., Dina Nath), the Hindu Gazette (ed.,
Kishan Chand) the Punjabee (ed., S.K. Lehri), the Tribune (ed., KN.
Roy), the New Herald (ed., Sandal Singh, Leader, Zamindar all
vehemently condemned the Rowlatt Act.

The Siasat (Lahore, ed., Syed Habib Shah) on the 10® April wrote
a very forceful editorial note remarking that a government agency
distributed not hundreds but thousands of Urdu copies of the Rowlan
Act among the people of Lahore. A note at the end pointed out that it
has been very clearly stated in the act that the measure was meant for
revolutionaries and anarchists only. The paper asked that if, as was
stated, the act had been passed only to deal with the people fomenting
rebellion against Government, why did the non-official Indian members
of the Viceregal Council offer a strong and unanimous opposition to it?
Why had Mr. Jinnah and Pandit Malviya resigned their seats on the
council saying that they considered the law most fatal for the cause of
freedom? The paper continued, “Are only a few highly placed officer
of Government endowed with wisdom and are they alone the well-
wishers of the hundreds of millions of Indians. Have all the great Hindv
::dﬂt“f:;‘ a:;adb:"c s nﬁ;ﬂﬁmm;:;]?l:]d ‘:10 they wish ‘thei'r :?atin.ns il? E::
tnds knd S, socid mad bad?ls that they can't distinguish bet

i
Punjab Press Abstracts, 1919, p.135.
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At that time, Sir Michael O'Dwyer was the governor of
He had an imperialistic nature and had a sunn:ohu'ed fmttleeplunlg?:;
educated class. Lawyers too, were the target of his antipathy. He
wanted to preserve the British Raj by all means. He often used to say
that the English had gained the Government of India by force and only
force could keep it intact. He believed that soft-hearted people could
not manage the affairs of the state. He also did not like the idea of
introducing constitutional reforms in India. That is why, he bitterly
opposed the Secretary of State, Edwin Montagu, when he visited India
regarding the constitutional reforms. He regarded talking and meeting
with Indian politicians as an insult and believed that the only place
suited to them was the jail. According to him, all the Indians were liars
and were quite incapable of running the Government. He often
sarcastically remarked, “It is a great irony that those who are unable to
manage the affairs of a school or a newspaper are coming forward
enthusiastically with the proposals of running a great state”.

Under these conditions when the whole country was at fire,
O'Dwyer wished that the Punjab should remain free from all sorts of
political activity. Thus, he banned all public meetings, processions and
protests in the Province. In the meantime, M.K. Gandhi announced that
he would start a tour of the Punjab from April 10. To curb the political
unrest in the Punjab, the Government banned the two well-known
leaders of Amritsar, Dr. Saifuddin Kitchlew and Dr. Satyapal from
making speeches. Later on, a plan was made to arrest them. It was
decided that both the leaders would be summoned by the Deputy
Commissioner of Amritsar to his office and would then secretly be
taken away from the city. So, Miles Irving summoned them to his

office and through a back-door sent them to Dharamsala.?

The news of their arrest soon spread like wild fire. On April 9,
1919 a large crowd gathered in a park began demanding the release of
their leaders. When the situation was out of control, the police had to
open fire which made the situation even more tense. The angry mob
looted the city’s National Bank and Chartered Bank. The bank manager
and his assistant were killed. On April 10, General Dyer received
- orders to leave Jalundhar for Amritsar. He reached Amritsar with 475
English and 710 Indian soldiers and two armoured vehicles.

In reaching Amritsar, General Dyer issued orders banning all

public meetings, demonstrations and rallies. On the morning of April

13, he toured round the city along with the Deputy Commissioner and
made announcements at 19 places that all meetings and processions had

$a o .
:Alhlq Husain Batalvi, Igbal Kai Akhri Do Saal, Lahore, 1969. p.85.
Massacre at Amritsar, p.52.
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been banned and that if those orders i
would not be ruled out.! were disobeyed the use of force

At about four, when General Dyer was told :
being held at Jallianwala Bagh, he became furious. Bldh;h:ryﬁns was
been deployed at all the important places in the city. D Haht“d?
marching towards the Bagh with 90 troops and ordered :he);, mw
fire on that unarmed gathering. The audience were caught mut:pcn
hail of bullets, all of them frantically trying to escape from thc
meeting place which had suddenly become a screaming hell. The f?::ﬂ
continued for almost fifteen minutes which left 379 people dead on thi
spot and more than 1200 injured. :
" The savagery and brutality of General Dyer can be imagined from
the fact that during investigations, Chimanlal Setalvad asked him
“Supposing passage was sufficient enough to allow the armoured ca:;
to go in, would you have opened fire with the machine guns?” He
replied, “I think probably yes”. Asked what his objects were, Dyer said
he was going to fire until the crowd dispersed, and he fired until they
dispersed. They started to disperse at once but he went on firing. He
looked upon the Indians as “rebels” and he considered it his “very
horrible duty to fire and fire well” 2

Gener3l Dyer believed that the Indians living in the Punjab were
involved in an organised conspiracy against the Government and the
events of Amritsar were a part of that conspiracy. However, the Hunter
Committee arrived at the conclusion, in the light of the evidence
brought before it, that the riots of Amritsar were not the part of a pre-
planned conspiracy to overthrow the British Government.’

After the massacre at Amritsar, martial law was imposed on the
Punjab and a brutal reign of terror was unleashed on the people of the
- province. The students of Lahore were ordered to walk for seventeen,
miles under the blazing sun of May with their beddings on their heads.
Col. Frank Johnson, the Martial Law Administrator at Lahore, when
asked by the Hunter Committee to comment he protested it was only
sixteen miles. He had consulted the map, he stated, and he explained that
it was no hardship for able-bodied young men. It was only a mild llflﬁ'.’f
physical exercise”. Johnson also ordered that all pedal-driven cycles 1
bossession of students on the rolls of the D.A.V., Sanatan Dharm and

ar's

:Masmcm at Amritsar, pp.74-75.
JMciusacre at Amritsar, pp.121-122.
Jbid., p.105.

sfqha! Kai Akhri Do Saal, p.107.
Masscre at Amiritsar, p.102.
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Dyal Singh College be delivered at Bradlaugh Hall." All the citizens of
Lahore were ordered to hand over all of their vehicles, bicycles, lamps
and fans to the military. A judge of the Punjab Chief Court, Sir Shadilal,
who later on became the Chief Justice, went to the office of Col. Johnson
and told him that he was a judge of the Chief Court and that 1o enable
him to discharge his duties properly, he might be exempted from the
above-mentioned order and be allowed to use the car. Col. Johnson
replied, 1 don’t care for the needs of anyone. I. am only interested in the
maintenance of law and order so hand over your car to me”.

The martial law orders were pasted on the walls of the houges of
the prominent citizens of Lahore including people like Sir Fazle
Husain, Pir Tajuddin and Khalifa Shujauddin. They were responsible
for their safety. Col. Frank Johnson admitted before the Hunter
Committee that when a similar placard pasted on the wall of Sanatan
Dharm College hostel was torn into pieces, he ordered the arrest of the
professors along with 65 students. They were then ordered to walk for
three miles. Later on, they were made to stand in the sun thyoughout the
day. The Colonel said that he had been awaiting an opportunity to show
the students the power of martial law and he took this opportunity to do
s0.) The Principal of Dyal Singh College was punished only because
someone had pasted an objectionable placard on the College wall. In
Lahore, water and power connections were cut off.

In Amritsar, Miss Manuella Sherwood, a missionary, was beaten
by angry mob. To save her life, she rushed to a street but there, too, she
met with similar treatment. As a consequence of this incident, people
were banned from entering that street. They could enter the street only
by crawling. That is why, this street came to be known as the
“Crawling Street”.

The Indian public opinion vehemently condemned the brutality of
General Dyer. E.G. Horniman, editor of Bombay Chronicle wrote, “The
Jallianwala Bagh battle is an achievement which has created for Dyer a
special niche in the gallery of frightfulness... it will go down in history
as an indelible blot on British rule in India™.* Even 'i'iinsl&p Churchill
cqndr.mm:d saying, “This is an episode which app€dr§ Yo me to be
without precedent or parallel in the modern history of the British
Empire. It is an extraordinary event; a monstrous event, an event which
stands in singular and sinister isolation™.* |

1 . : '
“Martial Law Notice No.17", Civil & Military Gazette, Lahare, April 20, 1919
L] W i L] p- I-
iZaﬁullﬂ'l Khan, Tahdees-i-Naimat, Dhaka, 1971, p.183.
Massacre al Amritsar, p.102,
Six Minutes 1o Sunses, p.69.
SSix Minutes o Sunset, p.151.
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The public opinion in England was .divided _ing
regarding the brutal tactics used by General Dyer. One mu"’" &roupy
opinion that this timely action of the General had saveq o °L e
another mutiny and that he had taught a good lesson to he bla.:;s&""'
another group believed that the tragedy at Amritsar hag ol . But
important role in inciting the nationalistic feelings among the .. ™
As a result, within a short span of 27 years, this precious jewe] of -
British crown was lost. These savage acts of General Dyer and ]:]:'
Governor O'Dwyer could not suppress the passions for independere.
among the Indians. The Jallianwala Bagh massacre shattered once for
all the tradition of loyalty to the British Crown.
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- THE KHILAFAT MOVEN—

In World War I the Ottoman Empire decided to side with Germany
During the war the Indian Muslim~ feared thap if Germany was d"&ﬂ'ﬂd,
Turkey would also suffer badly. But Great Britap continued Teassuring the
world that they were not fighting the war ¢

0 deprive Turkey of s ital
city, Asia Minor or the fertile lands of Greece. Presiden; Wilson ?Ft&u
US.A. had also assured in his famous Fourteen Points that

: i the Turkish
sovereignty would continue on its onginal territories,

The question that had been continuously agitating the minds of he
Indian Muslims was the fate of the Ottoman Empire in the aftermath of
the War. Before answering this question it is imperative 1o analyse
thoroughly the religious and political co i
hearts and minds of the Muslims. The

fact of the matter js that Sympathy
of the Indian Muslims with the Khilafat was not the outcome of 3

: an-i-Ghani that relationship between the
Caliphate and Indja Was established initially. After the pious Caliphate

When the Umayyads came to power, the Muslims of Sindh also accepted
Ir sovereignty. Hazrat Umar-bin-Abdul Aziz, after becoming caliph
Wrote several letters to the notables of Sindh. Their close contacts
Succeeded in leaving wholesome effects on the Hindu Rajas who after
having been moved by the piety and austerity of the Caliph, converted to
ls"f"' and adopted Muslim names, During the Umayyad rule, various
CMissaries were sent to India.as Naib-i-Khilafat. These contacts increased
during the Abbasiq rye. Caliph Abu Jafar Mansur appointed one Muflis
a8 his vicegerent who laid . o sso of the city of Mansura in
9B, after the name of he Caliph. These were the times when Sultan

: 4znavi had established a very powerful state in Central
Asia. How much he valued allegiance to the Caliphate can be ascertained
from the fact that he always considered it his religious obligation to
‘Mform (he Caliph aboyt every new achievement. Not only that but he
alwayg Sought a formal permission of the Caliph before launching every




—
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new Indian venture. In recognition of his servi
awarded him the title of Yameen-ud-Doula whicﬁl::l::hm the Calipy
an honcerr.! Sultan Shamsuddin Altamish was also granty 20 &
Baghdad in 626 Hijra. The Sultan felt so elevated with thj 8 Khlar py
he celebrated this occasion in his capital with great pums honour thy
However, it was during the reign of Mohammad Tughlaq lh; ;ﬂeﬂ shoy,
between the Khilafat and India attained new dimensions. Ziayddi- n ="
a renowned historian, describes the eftent to which Mohammag l-?- dari,
; . ! u
held Khilafat in high esteem. He says that the Sultan had such
devotion with the Khilafat which can’t be described in words. The Syjt,
engraved the name of the Caliph on his coins in place of his own nam:
In 744 A H., the Sultan received a Khlat from Egypt. The Sultan felt so
honoured that he went outside the capital along with his courtiers and
scholars to welcome it and placed this decree on his head after alighting
from his horse and celebrated this occasion in the city.”

One can easily assess the extent to which the Muslim rulers attached
respect and honour to the Khilafat from currency of the Delhi Sultanate,
These coins carried .the name of the Caliph alongside the names of the
Indian rulers. The study of these coins reveals that the king did not consider
himself the permanent ruler but regarded himself as the vice-regent of the
Caliph. Even the smaller independent states established thousands of‘miles
away from Delhi also considered themselves subservient to the Caliph.
Stales lik va, Gujerat and Bengal engraved the names of the Caliph
with ir own rulers on their coins.

As it happéned that Ottoman Caliphate was founded in Turkey at
the time when Mughal dynasty established itself firmly in India,
Although in the larger contexi of tribal rivalries Ottoman and

Tairmurites were rivals yet the Mughal dynasty did not ignore its

obligations towards the protectors of Harmain Shareefain. So much so
entioned in Friday Khutba.

that the name of the Ottoman dynasty was m
After the fall of the Mughal dynasty when Sultan Tipu tried to outs the

British from the sub-continent they obtained a letter from Sultan Saleem I
through their ambassador in Constantinople addressed to the Sultan. In this
letter the Caliph of Islam advised Tipu Sultan not to have any truck with
the French, who were the enemies of Islam and the Muslims. It clearly
proves the importance of Khilafat for the Muslims, In 1857, during the War
of Independence, the British once again obtained a letter from Sultan
Abdul Majeed for the Indian Muslims which exhorted them not to revolt
:'“‘“‘ the British who enjoyed the friendship of the Caliph.®

Sayyid Suleman .

:I::Ei”_ Nadvi, Khilafat Aur Hindustan, Azamgarh, 1340 AH,p8.

Khilafat Aur Hindustan, p.79.
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N .

mnuwM&mwwm:Mw' the
Ouoman Empire, with the ultimatc objective of dislodging Turkey from
whﬁ:mﬂﬂhm&mﬂtrﬁpofﬂqﬁd?mw
Muﬂﬁummd&t&me&mm
memmummﬁmdrmm
w.ﬂﬂmMMﬁhﬂTﬂyuhrﬁ;ﬂnhﬁwuﬂ

' ufwMuhmudmhmodummmn
u.nilin:ﬂbycﬂlmcﬂ“ﬂnmkmofﬁm.“lpmcmmm
Muslims were fully justified in thinking that with the disintegration of the
mnt,diphaue,nwymldkuﬂldﬂhmmwpﬁﬁp

the world. Seen in this context, Khilafat Movement became a
thﬂdhuﬂlgﬂmﬁnﬂﬁﬁshlmdmmm
mentioning aspect of the whpiufl‘airisthuEuupunmudRmil
always portrayed ﬂmlmuﬂmmgaﬂmuﬂmmu\e
rights of Christians and other non-Muslim minorities living in the vanous
inces of the Ottoman Empire and incited them against the Turks. But

at the same time, the inhabitants of their own occupied termitorics were
always kept deprived of their due rights. :

The evidence mentioned above go lo prove beyond any iota of
doubt that the Ottoman Caliphate had an abiding relationship with
India. On their part, the Indian Muslims had proved their love and
sympathy with the Turks in the War of Tripoh 1911. One of the several
gestures of good-will and fraternal love for the Turks was an Indian
medical delegation which went to Turkey to express solidarity with the
Turkish cause during the Balkan wars. It amply proved the willingness
of Indian Muslims to sacrifice everything for their Turkish brethren.
That was why the British, after having assessed the true feelings of the
Muslims, were forced to declare that His Majesty’s Government was
only fighting against the Turks and not against the Caliph of Islam.

This could not. however, allay the fears of the Indian Muslims who
were profoundly perturbed about the safety of their holy places. As a
result an organisation, Majlis-i- Khuddam-i-Kaaba, was set up on
December 3. 1919, which ultimately succeeded in extracting a promise
from the Government that the holy places of the Muslims would not be
harmed at all. It ismﬂm’pmofnfuwbmthalyconwnnfﬂwhﬂhn
Muslims for their Turkish brethren. They were always ready to share
their difficulties. Whenever the Indian Muslims received any information
Mﬂwpoblemnfuthmﬁshhodewouldumhmha
Wmmmmmmwwmﬂkmwr

. and its adjoining areas on May 15, 1919, the Indian Muslims
WMWﬁmMWMMMUhmm
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10 no avail. On June 1, 1919, Seth Yaqub Hasan, ¢ :

another Memorial to the British Prime wnmﬂ:mfn'ﬁF Presentey
discussed the international importance of the Turiig " P hag
survival of the Ottoman Empire and the si Problem

gnificance of Khjj + the
Pacts and pledges are honoured only when the rival &fm‘. i
equal strength and status. On the other han are of

di histﬂr}' stand - |
the bitter fact that a treaty between the vic S Witness

tor and t_hc vanaui
ruler and the ruled has been treated as not Quished, the

wor'h the paper it is wr
on. Similarly, the British commitments with the Indian Muys|; e

ms
question of Turkey were broken with arrogant disregard for a)) ::nﬂ:
of morality for the sake of political gains. The British Gﬂ\fﬂmmmi
went ahead with its designs to dismember the

S ¢ _ Ottoman Empire, anq
entered into negotiations with other colonial powers to divide the

Empire. It sent a wave of anger through the Indian Muslims who fe]t
cheated and hoodwinked by this blatant violation of repeated pledges
and commitment by the British. The Principal of M.A.O. Collegs,
Aligarh, Theadore Morison wrote an article which reflected the real
extent to which this incident had infuriated the Muslims. By way of
warning the British people he remarked that the “proposed division of
the Ottoman Empire has ignited a fire from one corner to the other. Just
meet those Muslims who live in London and try to assess how their
hearts are burning. In India, the Muslims are deeply incensed from
Peshawar to Arcot. Their women at home are grieving, wailing and
mourning the fate of Turkey. Businessmen who do not gcnj:ral-ly bother
about the matter: of public concern, have ignored their business and are
now concentratiig on these matters. The religious scholars of Deabfmd:
and Nadvatul-Ulama have discarded their seclusion and are protesting.
The Muslims have forgotten everything in the face of thjg grief. J:kfcwi
d.ys ago, a Muslim remarked that he took extraordinary interest m;h:
Constitutional Reforms as an Indian but failed to take notice W tn
Edwin Montagu moved for its second reading in the House of Cﬂ:ﬁi
because he was possessed by the fear of impending disaster of ;I' B.ﬂs
Tte Aga Khan, Sahibzada Aftab Ahmad Khan and ﬁpbaS*M'usﬁm
continued to intimate to the British Government what did the
feel about the Ottoman Empire and Khilafat. K of gret
During these turbulent period of British rule in India evc!;fd e fir
disconcerting nature took place in rapid succession which fue 7
of hatred in the natives against their masters. One of such events i
eventually turned the tide of history was the brutal mﬂﬁ:m ’
Jallianwala Bagh in 1919. This pre-plagned carnage paved the e
Hindu-Muslim unity. The Hindus and the Muslims now decided ¢

1
Ameen Zubairi, Siasar-i-Millia, Agra, 1941, p. MS.
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unitedly and take ;iwps against the Government. To begin wi
15 thousand Mus_lims assembled in Bombay on 20th Mar%:l:, ;;?E;
where Khilafat Committee was formed with Seth Jan Mohammad

wmsmt' Ina Pllbllr: MIHE under the auspices nf this
Bombay Khilafat Committee on 5th July, 1919, it was decided to set up a

pation-wide organisation known as the All-India Khilafat Committee.
Seth Chottani and Moulana Shaukat Ali were appointed the president and
the secretary respectively. Branches of this Khilafat Committee were
formed in every nook and corner of the country.

As a sequel to the new flip to the movement, All-India Khilafat
Conference was held on November 23-24, 1919, which was presided
over by Moulvi A.K. Fazlul Haq. Moulvi Fazlul Haq in his presidential
address emphasised the need to seek cooperation from the non-
Muslims. The following four resolutions were passed at tae meeting:-

1) The Muslims of India should not participate in the celebration

of Armistice to register their anger over the excesses
. committed against the holy places in Iran and Turkey.

2) The Muslims would be forced to adopt a non-cooperative
stance against the Government if Turkey was treated unfairly
in the Armistice. ~

3) They would boycott the British goods in case Tugkey w
treated unjustly. _3 sude .J

4) A delegation was to be formed to abreasithe British Government
about the feelings of the Muslims on the question of Khilafat.

The worst fears of the Muslims regarding Turkey proved true when
the terms of the Treaty of Sevres were made public in May, 1920. This
‘pact was imposed on Turkey as a result of which the Ottoman Empire

was divided. It made the Indian Muslims intensely angry. They lost
their patience as well as their trust in British pledges. They believed
that the Peace Conference was bent on the destruction of Islam. They
gave vent to their ire in several ways. They passed resolutions, took out
protest march and launched agitation. On' December 6, 1920, Jamiatul-
Ulama-i-Hind passed a resolution in an extraordinary meeting that the
Muslims were now duty bound to boycott the enemies of Islam since
Bﬁ_t-‘lin had openly violated the pledge by undermining the rule of
Khilafa, uprooting the religious authority of the Caliph of Islam and
thus had proved their religious prejudice against Islam. '

Soon, after, a formal fatwa (a religious decree) was issued which
Was signed by 500 ulama calling-upon the Muslims to non-cooperation.

e —

1
Siasar. . Millig, p. 156,
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KHILAFAT DELEGATION

In December, 1919, both the Congress and the Khilafa;
held their sessions simultaneously at Amritsar. It coincided 'withcomm‘
of Moulana Mohamed Ali from jail who went straight to A;':ﬁmh“
participate in the deliberations. The deliberations succeeded (o 1isar 1
consensus point that a delegation from India should immadim;m“ ata
to England and other European countries to present the demands {nil‘
delegation comprising Moulana Mohamed Ali, Syed Husain, and S“n?_‘
Suleman Nadvi was elected which was later on expanded 1o inclue S,
Musheer Husain Kidwai, and Moulvi Abul Qasim. Moulana Mohameg kh
was to head the delegation while Hasan Mohammad Hayat was ﬂppoim:l.;
as secretary. Moulana Mohamed Ali was to present the Muslim point of
view on political matter while Sayyid Suleman Nadvi was to explain the
Muslim conception of Khilafat from religious point of view. Sayyid
Suleman Nadvi had the distinction of giving exhaustive rebuttals to all anti.
Islam articles which appeared in the British press." :

The delegation prepared a charter of demands to be presented 1o
the British. It contained the following demands:-

1) That the Sultan of Turkey as the Caliph of the Muslims should
be kept as the sovereign ruler of an independent state
comprising of Constantinople, Thrace, Anatolia and Armenia.

2) The areas of Hijaz, Syria, Palestine and Iraq which had the
holy places of Islam should be protected from the rule of the
non-Muslims.

3) Spade work should be initiated to pave way for the
independence of India, without which it was impossible to
protect the Islamic countries.

To achieve these goals and to project the views of the delegation, a
magazine Muslim Outlook was stalled from London. This magazine
carried a detailed account of the activities of the delegation. The
delegation held a meeting with the British Prime Minister, Lloyd George,
which proved useless as he was not impressed by the arguments of the
delegation. He rejected their point of view outrightly and remarked thal
the treaty with Turkey would be made on the same principles which
formed the bases of treaties with Christian states and Turkey would ™
be allowed to keep non-Turkish areas in her ;:ut:ussf:.:s‘.s;i«:m.1

The delegation used all its resources o enlighten the people &
Europe in general and those of London, Paris and Italy in particular 0
the Muslim point of view about Khilafat. However, the delegation mel

e
Sayyid Suleman Nadvi, Bureed-e-Frang, Karachi, 1952, p.11.
ayyid Hasan Riaz, Pakistan Naguzeer Tha, Karachi, 1970, p-91.
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with little success and returned to India i ;

significant achievement, O, 1920 withonk ey
This unsuccessful tour of Europe convinced

Ali am:] Sayyid Suleman Nadvi that the ﬁ'eedh:;u I::tl'l and{;:":d

imperative to secure the freedom of Islam. The Khilafat delegation :I:

came t0 the bitter but correct realization that it would amount to self-

deception to rely on any British party whether it was the question of

Khilafat or freedom of India. .
ity

NON-COOPERATION MOVEMENT

The leaders of the Khilafat Movement realised that a new strategy
should be adopted to reinvigorate the zeal and zest for freedom among
the general populace. With this objective in mind they decided to
launch a movement of Non-cooperation. An extraordinary mﬁng of
Jamiat-ul-Ulama-i-Hind was convened on September 6, 1920, at the
end of which the fatwa of Tark-e-Mawalaat was issued. The fatwa

comprised the following injunctions. ¢
1) Disassociation from all executive and legislative councils.

2) Boycott of courts.
3) Boycott of all such government schools and colleges which

received government grants,

4) ‘Relinquishing of all honorary offices and magistracy.

5) Renouncing government titles.

6) Resigning government jobs.

As a result of this proclamation of farwa, hundreds of thousand
people’ returned the titles and stopped sending their children to
government schools and colleges. All those highly educated youngmen
who could have risen to high government positions bade farewell to their
bright - future and accepted ordinary jobs in private sector.! Similarly,
thousands of students left their studies to join the national movement.
About three thousand students abandoned their studies in Calcutta only.

For the Hindus, it was a dream come true. True to their selfish nature
and exploitative propensities, they manipulated the situation (o their
maximum benefit. The vacuum created in government offices was joyfully
filled in by the Hindus, while the Muslim government employees willingly
accommodated starvation for the sake of national freedom.

The fatwa, however, had its dissenters among the Muslims as well.
In fact, the fatwa had called upon everyone cither to boycott the
government-financed institutions or refuse government grants. In this

respect, the Muslim leaders pressurised the management of M.A.O.
'Pakistan Naguzeer Tha, p.80.
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College, Aligarh to tum down the offers of
The management, however, did not oblige. i financig) aid.
As a result, a stiff conflict ensued between Moulana M

and the Trustees of the College. Consequently, the Mou]nhm Alj
friends parted ways with the College and decided mana and hjg
independent institution, Jamia Millia. Contrary to this tenqicr P 2
Aligarh College, there was complete normalcy in the Hindu U::m s
Benaras because Madan Mohan Malavia, not only spurned the c;:ﬂmty G
refusing the financial grants of the Government but also refused Ear-d %
Moulana Mohamed Ali Johar and M.K. Gandhi to address meey; sow
the University campus. M.K. Gandhi, on his part, finished the l:fi;m
matter stating with convenient innocence that “Malavia Ji does h
agree”. In this way no damage was done to the Hindu University,' "

HINDU-MUSLIM UNITY

Though very short, it was the first and the last time when the
Hindu-Muslim unity was at its peak. The Muslims did everything they
could to cultivate the Hindus and win their hearts. The Muslims went to
the extent of recognising the Vedas as the revealed book. They prayed
in Hindu temples, participated in the Ramayana Pooja, painted their
foreheads with Tilaks, flowed flowers and sweets (Batashas) in the
_ river Ganges and arranged the purely Hindu religious ritual Ram-Leela.

To top it all, the Muslims frequently announced “Gandhi deserved to be
a prophet” and affirmed “Gandhi would have been a prophet, if the
prophethcod had not been stopped”. Cow-slaughter was also
abandoned. But the most highly deplorable thing they did to please the
Hindus was to allow a fanatic and bigoted Hindu Shardhanand to
deliver a speech from the Prophet’s pulpit in the Jamia Masjid, Delhi. It
was the same Shardhanand who started the Shuddhi movement. But,
despite all these heretical overtures, the Muslims could not succeed in
bringing about any change in the Hindu mentality. .

That the Hindus remained adamantly intractable was reflected in
Gandhi's statements. The Muslims were issuing fatwa against the
slaughtering of the cow and the goat but Gandhi, on the other hand, W85
stating, “From the point of view of Hindu religion protection of the cO% »

extremely necessary. Only Non-Cooperation Movement can help I

gaining Swaraj (independence) and through Swaraj they can protect e
cow”. Sita Dev, a disciple of M.K. Gandhi delivering a speech In mﬂ:
said. “When we have the authority, we shall make as many laws as We

'Siasat-e-Millia, p.161.
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Slaughtering cow is a problem of vital i
Government has done nothing despite our requests. N »

cows have been slaughtemd in Kﬂ.ﬂ]ia“rar only. W shall ) :
of the cow in India when we shaj| have the aulfmit; of ;I:ghn Shﬁhmg

1slation™,
HIJRAT MOVEMENT

Duwing this period, Abyl Kalam Azad and Moulana Abdul Barj
Farangi Mahali issued a fatwa which declared migration from India
desirable for the Muslims of India after World

i : War L. But, migration on the
part of an individual ‘incorrect’ from the point of view of Shariah and, at

131
in India. The

Muslims sold their property and headed for Kabul. A group of 750
Muhajreen set out for Kabul in a train from Sindh with Barrister Jan
Mohammad Junejo as its leader. This train carrying Muhajreen received
enthusiastic reception at every .railway station and enkindled a new vigour
and zest for migration in the Punjab. How popular this Movement had
become in a short time can be gauged from the fact that more than thirty
thousand Muslims had left for Kabul by the second week of August, 1920.

The rural areas of Peshawar and Mardan were also deeply effected
by the Hijrat Movement. For their selfish motives, the Hindus of these
areas urged and encouraged the Muslims to emigrate to Kabul. They
started buying their lands and property at throw-away price. So much
S0 that, in some areas, a piece of land worth ten thousand was bought
for a paltry amount of Rupees one hundred and a bull worth Rupees
two hundred was purchased for only Rupees forty,

This Movement had caught the fancy of the Muslims of N.W.EP. so
strongly that le wrote and sang songs expressing their emotional fervour
for the cause.> The following couplet reveals the sentiments adequately.

r./-'?;l.!{ u:f:b'-'-tgjﬁﬁl:{ Uil
J"-.‘-'JF'J&J rﬂgﬂd‘!’:ﬂﬁ‘nr__l

Translation: _ .
It doesn’t matter if I am destroyed. It also doesn’t matter if am grief-
Stricken. Whatever may happen, my friends (let's) go to Kabul.

‘f‘-——-—.__

,iasat-i-Millia, p. 161,

,ﬂl‘“]m Rasul Mehr, Tabrrukat-e-Azad, Lahore, n.d., p.203.

+. Baha,“Hijrat Movement and the N-W.F.P.", slamic Studies, Islamabad, 1979, p236.
Hijrat Movement and the N.W.F.P.", Islamic Studies, p.236.
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In the beginning the Afghan Government m'lconwddummml "
according to a well-thought-out policy. mmmhghm
minﬂufmufmadwninghugcﬁdcufreﬁxmimm%,
frontiers. On the other hand, the refugees who had succeeded in ene -
Afghanistan, soon became disgusted with the miserable mruiﬁomﬂm:;
Wmuwﬂhmmwdmofmmmedmh
difficulties while returning from Afghanistan.

The Hijrat Movement was an emotional and ill-advised movemeq
which was not approved of by majority of the ulama and the learned
leaders of the public opinion. They included Moulana Ashraf aj;
Thanvi, Moulana Habib-ur-Rahman, Moulana Abdur Rauf Danapur
Pir Mehr Ali Shah and Hakeem Ajmal Khan." In the words of Dr, [
Qureshi, the Hijrat Movement did not have the potential to prodyce
constructive results. Its only result was that the sincere and zealoys
people who responded to the call of Hijrat enthusiastically suffered
severe hardships.” But inspite of that it must be remembered that the
Hijrat Movement was a symbol of anti-British imperialism.

KARACHI TRIAL

In 1921, a resolution was passed in the Khilafat Conference meeting
in Karachi, condemning military and. police service as unlawful and
enjoined upon the Indian Muslims to leave the two departments. Angered
by the demand the Government arrested Moulana Mohamed Ali and six
other people on treason charges. The court proceedings against these
persons started on December 26, 1926 in Khaliq Dina Hall, Karachi.
During the hearing of this case, Ali Brothers, Moulana Husain Ahmad
Madni, Dr. Saifuddin Kitchlew Pir Ghulam Mujaddid, Moulana Nisar
Ahmad and Sawami Shankar Acharya, all took the position that since
Islam does not condone the killing of a Muslim at the hands of another
Muslim, therefore, it was against the dictates of the religion for the
Muslims to join the British army and kill other Muslims.

Moulana Mohamed Ali Johar deposed before the court that it was
his bounden duty to abide by Allah’s law if ever there was to be a clash
between His laws and the laws of the Government. He stated, “There
are present clear verses in the Quran that ‘he who purposely kills his
(Muslim) brethren, will be punished in hell. Therefore, it is against
their religion for the “Muslim soldiers to go to Arabian country and
fight. It is sacrilegious for a Muslim to do so. I don't care if I am

'Dr. Mueemuddin  Ageel, “Tahrik-e-
National College, Karachi, 1982-83, pp.210-11.

2
LH.Qureshi, The Musli ; . inent,
Karachi, 1977, p31 ;’ im Community of the Indo-Pakistan Subcontinen'

Hijrat”, Ilmo-Aaghe, Joumal of the
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hanged for saying so. I hope, my dead body
in my grave that it is the faith of the Muslims that it s against the
religion to serve in the British army under these circumstanaes™.!
Moulana continued his arguments before the court for two days nn.d
ultimately the court released Shankar Acharya but sentenced the rest of
the accused persons to two years rigorous imprisonment.

MOPPILLA REVOLT

Hindu-Muslim unity was still at its peak when a mutinous situation
arose in Malabar District in Madras which came to be known as
Moppilla revolt. This revolt created deep cracks in the Hindu-Muslim
unity. Malabar had become the centre of .disturbances right from the
beginning, because the Muslim inhabitants here were mainly ethnic
Arab who were forced to live a life of slavery under Hindu feudal lords.
Moppillas were extremely religious and emotional by temperament.
Knowing their tendency to be easily fired up, the Government wanted
this area to remain free of Khilafat influence.

In June, 1920, the Khilafat Committee was set up in Malabar and
eventually in September, 1920, Moulana Mohamed Ali toured this area
along with Gandhi. The Government panicked and consequently imposed a
ban on Khilafat public meetings in Amaud. Moulvi Yaqub Hasan, a leader of
_ Madras, was arrested when he tried to violate the ban. The incident infuriated
the Moppillas. The Government reacted swiftly and arrested many Moppilla
leaders on August 20, 1921. It added fuel to the fire and riots broke out
everywhere. In the beginning, only British officers were the targets but the
Moppillas soon wreaked vengeance upon the Hindu landlords. The whole
area was gripped by lawlessnsss: communication networks were attacked,
railway tracks damaged and wires were disconnected rendering government
authority virtually ineffective. The Government had to impose martial law to
reimpose its writ. The administration put down the -revolt extremely
ruthlessly resulting in heavy loss of life and property. According to one
estimate as many as 2339 Moppillas were killed, 1652 wounded and 5955
were arrested during these riots.?

THE END OF KHILAFAT MOVEMENT

. The end of Khilafat Movement was E_Fo'l'ight about indirectly by
Gandhi’s announcement to discontinue the Non-Cooperation movement.

shall continue to cry even

1 .
Mohammad Sarwar, Musalman Aur Ghair Muslim Hukoomat, Lahore, 1947,
pp.114-19, ;

Nacem Qureshi, “Some Reflection on Muppi'lla' Rebellion 1921-22", Journa
of the Research Society of Pakistan, April 1981, pp.1-10.
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Gandhi used an incident of
' arson on Febru
stit;tr; fire a poln':b ;atntion at Chora Chu:r{;‘ 1[9}?52& when a violent mgy,
c{n:cons es to death as an ex ur by
Qmpca:aﬂnn movement. It adversely “ﬁm;dmlh;n Ié:‘“ off me“rmng
since it had come to be regarded as an inte & ilafat Movemep
movement. Soon after, in 1924, Ata Turk a L e

democratic government in Turkey after abolishing Knilap ", "P f 2

of government which served a finishing blow to the Kh“afatﬂ a System

»in India and people lost whatever interest was left in this nmuerr:: T -
_ n

EFFECTS /14 0oss 5
The Khilafat Movement had come under severe criticism right
the beginning. Its carpers and critics believed that the lmmﬁom
. upnecessarily shown enthusiastic interest in an alien concept and a pmbﬁ
extraneous (o the Muslims of the sub-continent, thereby laying waste 1o
17, ¥ cir € and resources. This was a nonsensical and preposterous
swH(¢¢" objection as Khilafat was not a foreign problem for, the Muslims of India,
Islam clearly lays down that it is the duty of a Musliffi to render succour of
every kind to those Muslims who are in trouble. Turks themselv i
lh_at_it was ;_l__uc to the speeches and articles of the Indian Muslims that they
realised the im irnati 3

The Khilafat was a symbol which meant different things to different
people, but the anti-British nature of the symbol provided some
consistency and on this basis Hindu-Muslim alliance was built. For the
ulama the Khilafat symbolised the continued supremacy of Islamic law
in the world. For the western educated moderates, the Khilafat
symbolised the principle of religious freedom and self-determination of
peoples. For those more extreme in their political orientation, the Khilafat
symbolised the futility of any accommodation with the western culture
and political institutions. For Muslim labourer and peasantry the Khilafat
symbolised Islam itself, their faith which was endangered by Christian
hegemony and ultimately their chance for eternal salvation.”

The greatest affect of the Khilafat Movement was that it created in
thé Indian Muslims a strong political consciousness. The Muslim
nation which began its political career in 1857 by pledging “aliegiamq"
to the Government came to realize, as a result of the movement, their
cwn identity as a political entity.

It was due to this movement that the Muslims ultimately succeeded
in breaking free from the yoke of slavery. It neutralised the supposed

-

'Races Ahmad Jafri, Magalat-e-Mohamed Ali, Part 1, Lahore, pp-217-18.

’Gail Minault, The Khilafar Movement — Religious Symbolism and Political
. fobilization in India. Columbia, 1982, p.210.  *
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: rulers.
the Raj and considered going 1o jai for cril e g E ™" e temor of
’ - e

national pride and honour, X

The Khilafat Movement, i "h"’ il
itical manoeuvering and exigencies® In addit i'. useful exercise in
'cies” In addition, it imparted training 1o

uslims for agitanonal polinc .
politics™ and politics of npplmp:m:: &ﬂ" to “drawing-room
mmm&dﬂwmﬂﬂfmmimh;?mmmm
were so emboldened that instead of presentin :PPFI o o Muties
memorials, they resorted to staging &cmms gty o b b
in stark violation of government’ S ——
arought ° e . _:‘*mmmdultimmltdm

ht ‘extremists’ and ‘loyalists’ on one platform. Apparently, there
was little in common between the Aga Khan md- Moluundy:u'

. ; 1 or
between Sayyid Ameer Ali or Dr. M.A. Ansari. Whether the ‘extremists’
were creating a furore in India or the ‘constitutionalists’ were writing to
the Times in London the aim was identical.” -

'_l'hm is no denying the fact that the Khilafat Movement imparted
training, lessons, political consciousness and courage of conviction to
the Muslims of India. These years of trouble and turmoil prepared them
spiritually and politically t0 launch another movement that came to be
known as Pakistan Movement. History of those ycars stand testimony
1o the fact that the zest and fervour with which the Muslims of India
rallied 1o the Flarion call of the Quaid-i-Azam was the incvitable result
of the Khilafai Mavemcnt. All the first and second ranking leaders
under whose guidance the Pakistan Movement was launched had
participated in the Khilafat Movement. The notable, leaders among
them were Moulana Shaukat Ali, Nawab Ismail Khan, Moulana Hasrat
Mohani, Chaudhry Khaliquzzaman, Abdur Rahman Siddiqui, Moulana
Akram Khan, Sardar Abdur Rab Nishter, Sir Abdoola Haroon, Syed
Rauf Shah, Moulvi AK. Fazlul Haq, Allah Bakhsh Yusufi and
Moulana Shabbir Ahmad Usmani 10 name the few.’

The influence of Khilafat Movement became significantly visible
on the thinking of the two most aclive, encrgetic and indoctrinated

sections of the Muslim nation — the students and the wlama. It

lished the tradition which saw st :
' ics. The Kmnlafat Movement inspired the wlama 10
loistered life 10

religious schools and discard their € _
have continued to do sO since then.

politics which began with the
Nationaltsm. London. 1967
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come out of their
participate in politics and they
Similarly, the tradition of students

'K K Aziz. The Making of Pakistan: A Study in
pp113-14
}pakistan Naguzeer Tha, p.146
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Wﬁnm till today. The students involvemey, i/
politics, according to LH. Qureshi, continues to exist and throy e
“sinister shadow”” upon the academic life of the sub-continent ! -
There was hardly any sphere of human life which did not ¢
under the influence of the Khilafat Movement. Its effects .
multifarious, comprehensive and everlasting. For the first time
Muslims of the sub-continent realised the necessity of national educat;
free from governmental control. Jamia Millia,, the educational institutioy
for the Muslims, is a memento of Khilafat Movement. A host of other

in general and fulfil the national requirements of the Muslim populace,
Noteworthy among them were Madrasa Islamia, Calcutta, Nationa|
College, Pama and Qumi School, Delhi. According to official statistics,
about 98182 students were enrolled from primary Madrasas to Jamia
Millia level in 1340 national schools and colleges in 1921-22 during
Non-Cooperation movement. These national schools and colleges were
very well-served in a crop of highly qualified and trained teachers at
nominal emoluments thus establishing a strong tradition of sacrifice and
selflessness in the nation-building efforts. .

After the fall of Mughal Empire, it was Khilafat Movement which,
for the first time, knitted together into one integrated and disciplined
national entity the Muslims of the sub-continent. The call that was sent
forth from the Khilafat House, Bombay, received widespread
enthusiastic response all through the length and breadth of India from
Peshawar to Calcutta and from Madras to Rangoon.

The Khilafat Movement gave birth to leaders of invincible conviction
and unshakable faith who were glad to go to prison and even to accept the
hangman’s noose for what they believed to be true and right?

Psychologically, the Khilafat Movement liberated the psyche of the
Muslims which culturally they got over the slavish imitation of ‘western

s style’ of life. Those who proudly strutted in Seville suits burnt their costly
- apparels and started wearing ordinary khaddar (coarse cloth) suits. Many

rich and well-to-do persons gave up the life of pomposity and affectation
and voluntarily started living a life of austerity. For instance, Moulvi
Mazharul Haq whose own house was no less than a grand palace opted 10
live in a hermitage known as Sadaqgat Ashram.®

1 _ :
lx‘i h;”"‘_ﬂm Cm;tmumly of the Indo-Pakistan Subcontinent, p.316.

-Aziz, The Indian Khil ; ’

Karachi, 1972, p.xxiii. ilafat Movement 1915-33: A Documentary Record
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By actively participating in the Khilafat Movement, the Muslim
women of India got their first practical experience of politics. During the
movement, Bi Amman (Abadi Bano), the mother of Ali Brothers, regularly
attended public rallies and processions. Following the arrest of her sons
she undertook a tour of various region of India, including Punjab. Besides
attending the Congress and Muslim League sessions in 1917, she presided
over a meeting of All India Women’s Conference, held in Ahmadabad in
1921. Muhammad Ali Johar's wife Amjadi Bano also actively participated
in the Khilafat Movement and later on, in the Pakistan Movement. She was
nominated as a member of All-India Muslim League Working Committee
and during the historic session of the League in March 1940, she was one
of those who spoke in favour of the Lahore Resolution.

Begum Hasrat Mohani and Begum Shafi Daudi were also
enthusiastic participants of the Khilafat Movement. As a whole, all of
them were veiled women and in the existing social scenario, their
enlightened political consciousness and active participation in the
national political life, was indeed, a laudable and bold step.

The Khilafat Movement -played a significant role in winning
widespread fame and popularity for Mohandas Karamchand Gandhi,
following his return from South Africa. Abida Samiuddin has very
appropriately pointed out the fact that the generous donations of the
people during the Khilafat Movement played a key role in introducing
Gandhi to the general masses of India, because with these donations

and contributions, he was able to undertake an extensive tour of India.

Of the several important resultant developments of Khilafat
Movement was that the Muslims developed a political consciousness —
a consciousness which integrated them not only in the mainstream of
national politics but also infused a new enthusiasm in the political
activities of the sub-continent. The Muslims, uptil now had tread their
separate path but during the Khilafat Movement they joined the
Congress to transform it into a real party of the masses. Dr. Ambedkar,
an untouchable-stalwart, noted that “Mr. Gandhi made the Congress a

wer in the country, which it would not have been, if the Muslims had

not joined it”. Nawab Ahmad Saeed Chattari stated that one of the
achievements of the Khilafat Movement was that it pulverised the
British misconception of their omnipotence and forced them to
moderation to a great extent. Sf'y

i

'B.R. Ambedkar, Pakistan or the Partition of India, Delhi, 1945, p.142.
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wm’l‘ge 'beauufui c!rcam of Hindu-Muslim unity seemed collapsing
uring the Khilafat Movement and .the moment that movement
weakened, a long and bloody chain of Hindu-Muslim riots started (?n
the eve of Moharram in 1922, there was rioting in Multan. The 'nmu;
year saw similar riots in Saharanpur that left more than a hundred
people killed and wounded. The worst violence of this type erupted in
Kohat in 1924, where a Hindu wrote a highly provocative poem that led
to large-scale rioting. Since 1924 a series of Hindu-Muslim riots
engulfed the sub-continent from one end to the other. Even according
to modest estimates in about five years (1923-27) there were 117 riots
which took a toli of 450 lives.! During the twelve months ending with
April 1, 1927, there were 40 riots resulting in the death of 197 and in
injuries more or less severe, to 15,598 persons.

It were the Hindus who started the fire of hostilities by their
extremist movements like Shuddhi and Sangthan initiated by Pandit
Madan Mohan Malavia, Lala Lajpat Rai and Shardhanand. Sangthan
means binding or holding together forcefully. As a core objective of
this movement the Hindus were trained in the use of sticks, and pieces
of bricks, etc., which they could use very effectively against the
Muslims during communal riots. Shuddhi means purifying. It implied
that the Hindus who had abandoned their religion and had embraced
Isljmm%g:ﬁeﬁme_dg re-embrace their former religion.

Both these movements were meant to eliminate the Muslims from
India. In his presidential address delivered on July .25, 1926, Dr. Moonje,
the leader of the notoriously prejudiced movement, Hindu Mahasabha,
declared that the objective of the Hindu Mahasabha was to unite all the
Hindus and to promote the Hindu religion in such a way that Hindustan
should really become worthy of its name that is, the land of the Hindus..
Dr. S;;“;;’;‘:Y- _:’h.i_lﬂ presiding over a meeting of the Avadh Mahasabha
the Frene, oo A3 Bagland is the Iand of tho English, France that of

’ ermany that of the Germans, similarly, Hindustan 1

Yo
KXK. Az itai
.- \2, Britain and Muslim India, London, 1963 p-89
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land of the Hindus". ’I"he Hindus wished tha
et be expelled from India or be converteg by t‘;“m!:dus;im should
ihis very ""‘5"“""?‘ Hindu daily Par?gz (Lahore) “Tnteum' Due to
1927, that _ me an issy ife a on July 11,
s, In the following couplet, which was ve ;
Jays, the poet exhorted the Hindus: Y POPUlar in thoge
i\ L”“:“:“ﬂ'rtﬂvﬁrf
q_?i_fufurﬁf S AP P

J'l.’ Ll ;LI.‘LJF;,*
Ot vt s O ey s,

The task of Shuddhi should never be allowed to cease, becayse i .
stroke of fortune that nations get such opportunities. mndzﬁfﬁx’;? by a
remnant of faith left in you, let no Muslim survive in the mr]d: B

To counteract the activities of such organisations, ifuddi
Kitchlew and Meer Ghulam Bheek Nairaﬁg founded g‘réh%
isations as Tanzeem and Tableegh. An interesting thing is that
even in those days, there were some Muslim leaders. who were still
harping on the tune of Hindu-Muslim unity and, thus, bitterly opposed
the Tanzeem and the Tableegh. Conditions had deteriorated to such an
extent that the Secretary of State for India stated in British Parliament
that the greatest threat confronting India at that time was the communal
differences. He predicted that if Britain quitted India at that moment, it
would inevitably mean that the country would be engulfed in the flames
of a bloody civil war between the Hindus and the Muslims.
During the Khilafat Movement, the All-India Muslim League had
practically ceased to exist. Eventually, it keld its session at Lahore in
1924, under the leadership of the Quaid-i-Azam. In his presidential
address, he stressed on Hindu-Muslim unity and said that the
establishment and continuation of foreign rule in India was. the direct
outcome of disunity among the Hindus and the Muslims. He regretted
that the two communities did not trust each other and hoped that India
would get a responsible government worthy of the status qf a Dc:_mlmuﬂ
the moment the two nations began to work unitedly. At this session, i
I-‘?M passed the following important resolution and said that it must
be included in any future constitution of the country. G B
1) India should have federal system of government with ;
autonomy granted to the provinces. The centre 10 g
only the affairs of common interest.

1
Ameen Zubairi, Siasar-i-Millia, Agra, 1941, p.211.




140 ' TREK TO PAKISTAN

2) If at some point of .t;nzfinthﬁmn{ w:;& heooml“ mmd. b?_;
cmmp W)ww
Punjab, Bengal and the N-WEZ. oS L

3) The representation in the jegislative_councils be in-

ith the population. N

4) mm———’i;:me :unmth ‘nsTt;ukLhaie_cpminﬂfl_'s'p_us freedom,

arate electorate must continue.

g Thli Ll:lrm= wm%mm of a community in a council, opposed
a resolution or 4 bill concérning their particular community, that

ssolution or bill should not be allowed obe moved.
This resolution clearly brings out the viewpoint of ﬂjlt- uslims.
. . : in 1926, the Quaid-i-Azam once
During the Delhi session of thg League in | e 5
again stressed the need for Hindu-Muslim unity and exPrmﬁd hOPC at
the problems of India would be overcome by friendship and cooperation.

As mentioned carlier, it was a time when communal violence was
escalating at an alarming pace and the bloodthirsty Hindus were
tightening their grip around the Muslims. Even in these dcpmslng
circumstances, leaders like the Quaid-i-Azam were earnestly working for
the Hindu-Muslim unity. The Hindus believed that the right of separate
electorate granted to the Muslims in 1909, was the main nl:?stacic}:? thu.;.
way of Hindu Muslim umty. Pandit Motilal Nehru had a similar opinion.
Meanwhile, the well-known jurist and deputy leader of the Swaraj Party
in the Central Legislature Srinivasa Iyengar and the Quaid-i-Azam
exchanged views about the prospects of Hindu-Muslim unity.

In 1927, the Quaid was in Delhi in connection with the budget
session of the Central Legislature. On his invitation, 30 eminent
Muslim leaders got together at Western Hotel, Delhi and prepared a
formula for Hindu-Muslim unity. This formula is known as Delhi
Muslim Proposals. Some of the participants of this meeting were, the
Maharaja of Mahmudabad, Moulvi Shafi Daudi, Nawab Ismail Khan,
Sir Abdur Rahim, Moulana Mohamed Ali, Abdul Mateen Chaudhry,
Mian Muhammad Shafi, Sir Zulfiqar Ali Khan, Moulvi Muhammad
Yagoob, Sir Abdul Qadir, Sayyid Aal-e-Nabi, Anwar-ul-Azeem, Dr.
L.K. Haider, Dr. Mukhtar Ahmad Ansari, Husain Shaheed Suhrawardy
and Raja Ghazanfar Ali Khan. For the sake of Hindu-Muslim unity,
these Muslim leaders were prepared to forego their right of separate
electorate if only .their following demands were met. In case, these
demands were met, they would readily accept the joint electorate.

1) Sindh should be separated from the Bombay Presidency and
constituted as a separate province.

'Syed Nur Ahmad, Martial Law Sey Martial Law Tak, Lahore, 1966, pp.79-50.
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2) On the pattern of other :
5 provinces s 4.
be formed in the N-W.F.P. and Bal legislative councils g

3) Representation in the legislati uﬂ""’“
Bengal should be u&i‘dsi:il:;v;e“mhg of the Punjab and
4) One-third seats in the Central Legis| Alicn.
for the Muslims. gislature should be reserved
Explaining these proposals, 7
this offer was inter-de:em];::[ mdlh;ul({::x:] ;‘;‘:‘"‘ made it clear that
its entirety and that the Muslims would, give up:?m or rejected in
if the other party accepted the proposals. Accordin set[:,ar:: S
separate electorate was not an end itself but a mmnsg to an ded o
issue was how to give a real sense of confidence and m‘“I the real
minorities. He made it clear that an overwhelmin :;n dnage
Musalmans firmly and honestly believed that the saapagrats::aj{mt}r .
; electorate
was the only method by which they would be secure in all respects. Th
Quaid emphasized that no time should be lost in bringin:e:b:;u;:
speedy settlement at that critical juncture.! The real aim was to provide
adequate guarantees for the protection of the rights of the Muslims.

The Delhi Proposals reflected his noble intentions and revealed his
views about Hindu-Muslim unity. Calling Jinnah a great leader, M.A. Chagla
had once enthusiastically exclaimed that it was Jinnah alone who with a
magic wand accomplished the seemingly impossible task of Hindu-Muslim
unity.? “We have after all succeeded”. Sir Mohammad Yaqoob wrote
triumphantly, “in finding out a formula on which there was a unanimity of
Muslim opinion and which has shifted the burden of proof on the other party;

it is for them (Hindus) to clasp the hand of friendship which the Muslims
have extended” > Mis. Sarojini Naidu gave him the tite of the “Ambassador
of Hindu-Muslim unity”. The leaders of the Indian National Congress also

welcomed these proposals. Expressing his opinion about these proposals,
Srinivasa Iyengar said that it was for the ﬁrst‘timeaftcr along period that the

prominent Muslim leader$

141

witness to the same iends. _
criticised by some quarters but the factis that they can lay the %;“:m;;
firm and real understanding between m.Asuﬂn!ﬂ{:d"“Ef“
of national life can be erected on these basis in future - o check the

Pandit Motilal Nehru called them t"¢ best e before the Al
communal riots. When the Delhi Proposals were P

'The Indian Quarterly Regisie" 927, Vol pp3637
G. Allana, Quaid-i-Azam = The Story ofa Nmm,q Ansari, the Congress
JM“SMT"I Hasan, A Nationalist Conscienceé = MA

the Raj, Delhi, 1987, p.153.
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India Congress Committee, Dr. Ansari, Motilal and Iyengar preg, g
their acceptance as a basis for a political accord with the League, § 5
a conciliatory response paved the way for a very shoﬁ "
rapprochement between the INC and the AIML. But very m:ﬂm
Hindu Mahasabha and the Hindu press started bitterly criticisip
proposals. The daily Hindustan Times Fummented at length op the
Muslim proposals remarking that the spirit behind the proposals y,,
one of “heads 1 win; tails you lose”. The paper wrote, “in what way i
the establishment of joint electorate connected with the separatigp of
Sindh, and the introduction of reforms in the N-W.EFP. 4
Baluchistan”. Arguing for the joint electorate the “paper wrote thy
besides “protecting” the minorities they help in the growth of a spirit of
nationalism. Concluding the paper remarked that, “we cannot by
condemn the spirit of petty bartering that has inspired the resolution
and feel amazed that such leaders as Dr. Ansari, Moulana Mohamed
Ali and Mr. Jinnah should have appended their signatures to it”.!

Similarly, Motilal Nehru was severely criticised for supporting the
Delhi Proposals. A Bengali newspaper Surya wrote that the “Congress
had become a handmaid of Nehru and that the sole function of the All-
India Congress Committee is to register his decrees”. It concluded that it
was an open secret that he favours the Muslims.> The Punjab Hindu
Sabha passed a resolution denying the INC any locus standi to represent
the Hindu community in negotiations with Muslim organisation and
declared that any settlement arrived at would not be binding on the
Hindus and that the Hindu Mahasabha was the only proper body to deal
with such ma;ters.’ The Sikhs also denounced the separate electorates as
ii was ‘harmful to the healthy growth of nationalism”.

The Congress Working Committee and the All-India Congress
Committee decided to accept the Delhi Proposals but changed their
decision six months later. Meanwhile, a strange development took
place. Sir Muhammad Shafi who had attended the Delhi meeting, o0
returning to Lahore, started a campaign against the Delhi Proposals and
declared that under no circumstances the Muslims could abandon their
right of separate electorate. It is interesting to note that when Sif
Muhammad Shafi was criticised for attending the Delhi Conference ad

supporting joint electorate, the Paisa Akhbar, a spokesman of the Shafi
League, wrote in an editorial that

! te in ¢ “Many newspapers have asked as 0
which Muslims S:_r Shafi had consulted before giving his opinion l“ﬂ
who are the Muslims of whom he is the leader. In the first place S

1 :
The frf.dmn Quarterly Register, 1927, Vol.l, pp.34-35.
; mt:sl;uul Hasan, Nationalism and Communal Politics in India, Delhi, 1979, palt
ndian Quarterly Register, 1927, Vol 1, p.3s.
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hafi, Sir Abdur, Rahim, Mr. M.A. Jinnah” .
:'II.IS“ITIS were involved in these cnnstﬂ;?o::.d'r'::: yl}?;hcr.l’fnmlnen:
many leading figures of the Musl#ns can not be WT:Jng ;Ec“::: of so
conditions which have been linked to the acceptance of ly, the
electorate are quite satisfactory”.* of the joint

At a meeting held under the auspices i i
Muslim League on May 1, 1927, at Bparkat fiiﬂ;:lafnui?algaﬁm;?m’
Igbal presented the following resolution about separate :lectura:u. e

“The Punjab Muslim League declares its firm |
conviction that under the present circumstances
prevailing in the country only separate electorate can
enable the Central Legislature and other provincial
councils to become the true representative councils of
the people of India. Only separate electorate can
safeguard the legitimate rights and interests of the
Muslims and can bring an end to the communal tensions
gripping the country. It is, therefore, the calculated
opinion of the League that as long as an effective and
adequate arrangement for the protection of the rights of
the minorities is not made, the Muslims must insist on
preserving the right of separate electorate as a
fundamental ingredient of the Indian constitution.?

Sir Fazle Husain deputed Sir Zafrullah and Dr. Ziauddin to
propagate in the British press that the opponents of the Delhi Proposals
were only few in number,’ \

In this way, the All-India Muslim League was divided into “Jinnah
League” and “Shafi League” on the question of separate electorate.

It must be remembered that not only the leadership in the Punjajb, a
Muslim majority province, but the Muslim leadership of the Hindu
majority provinces also raised their voice against .the joint electorate.
On March, 29-30, 1927, the Muslim member of the Madras Ltglsfftl}ft
Council issued a statement expressing their fear that the “joint

electorate will not only prove detrimental to Lhtlp"h““‘fl “d““m;“;“
of the Muslim community but will also jcﬂpﬂd}“ the '"“’_mt? t:n:t
Muslims and to a very great extent hamper the friendly relationsaip
exists between the Hindus and the Mus ims"." , Oxib

At a special meeting the Muslim Wﬂmmai?‘?ﬁp;mm
had a prolonged discussion on the Delhi Proposals.

1
Paisa Akhbar, March 31, 1927, p.9. ,
M. Rafique Afzal (ed), Guftar-e-lgbal Lahore, 1969, pp-26-2
‘Ham'nl Law Sey Martial Law Tak, p.83. 17.38
The Indian Quarterly Register, 1927, Vol.I, pp.2 /=%
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were Sayyid Ali Imam, Si akhruddin, ‘ !
Shafee Dy:ludi. and Sarfraz ;usaiﬂ Sayyid Ali Imam, Sayyid Abdul
Aziz and Shafee Daudi s ported _ -
Fakhruddin was of the opin?sn that under the joint electorate chances of
friction would multiply. Sarfraz Husain was of the view that separate
electorate was necessary as long as Hindu mentality was not changed. The
meeting adopted a resolution which described the replacement of separate
electorate as “‘premature” and harmful to the erests of the Muslims. The
resolution called upon the Indian Government {0 introduce reforms at once
in the N-W.FP. and to separate Sindh at once from the Bombay
Presidency. The Muslims expressed HOP® inat the “Hindus as proof of their

mans and thus pave the

change of heart will support the demands of Musal

way for settlement of political differences -

Although these proposals created dissension among the Muslims yet,
they demonstrated the Quaid's eamnest desire to creaté unity between the
Hindus and the Muslims even in difficult and hostile circumstances.

Quarterly Register, 1927, Vol.I p.40
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The Montagu-Chemlsford Reforms (1919) had sti

years the British Government would again go into . )
constitutional progress. But the political situagtiun in lﬂn‘:i: ?:::inﬂ?: ll;rd l'az
Government to amend the Section 84A of the Act and the words “;:t:js-.
" expiration of ten years” were replaced by “within”. Accordingly u: :
November 26, 1927, the Government announced the appointment :af a’
Statutory Commission which consisted of Sir John Simon (chairman)
Viscount Burnham, Baron Strathcona and Mount Royal, Edward Caiogan:
Veron Hartshorn, Richard Lane-Fox and Clement Attlee.

Two reasons were stated for the Commission’s before time
appointment. Firstly, the British Conservative Party feared that its rival, the
Labour Party, could use Indian problem as an important issue during the
1929 elections. In anticipation of such a development, the Conservative Party
appointed a commission in 1927, well before its scheduled time. Secondly, at
_ that time, C.R. Das and Motilal Nehru’s Swaraj Party was severely criticising
the British Government in the Assembly regarding the reform process. The
Government believed that the premature appointment of the Commission
would be very helpful in suppressing the opposition and the aggressive
criticism of the Swaraj Party. A notable point is that on March 11, 1926,
while addressing the Indian Legislative Assembly, the Quaid-i-Azam had
demanded the appointment of a commission as mentioned in the 1919 Act.
During the speech, he emphasised that the Commission should consist of
such members who could satisfy the people."

The Commission appointed by the British Government did not have
even a single Indian member. Thus, the appointment of this exclusive
British commission sent a wave of shock and anger throughout India. The
then president of the Congress, Dr. Mukhtar Ahmad Ansari; asked the
Viceroy to urge the Secretary of State for India and the British Government
to withdraw its decision about the appointment of the Cnmnﬂss;im:l,
otherwise, the Indians would be left with no option but to boycott it.” Sir

pulated that afier (e

'Waheed Ahmad (ed), Jinnah-Irwin Correspondence, Lahore, 1969, p.3.
>Mushirul Hasan, A Nationalist Conscience — M.A. Ansari — The Congress and
the Raj, Delhi, 1987, pp.43-44.
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Tej Bahadur Sapru condemned the Commission as a blow against the |
national pride of India.

~ The Quaid, while criticising the appointment of all-whites commission
said, “T cannot even imagine the appointment of a commission which has
been given the task of deciding the future constitution of India and its 350
million inhabitants but which does not contain even a single Indian member”.
He opined that the appointment of a non-Indian commission was
fundamentally wrong which must be responded with a total boycott. Ina
telegram to the Punjab Congress Committee he called for the boycott of the
Commission and said, *1 believe that treason against India would benefit no
community except those who have been given the task of misleading the
Indians”.! In another similar statement he said, “The Jallianwala Bagh was a
physical butchery the Simon Commission is the butchery of our souls”?

Two members of the British Labour Party sent a telegram to the
Quaid in connection with the Commission. In his reply, he told them
that exclusion of Indians from the Commission was a fundamental
mistake and that no self-respecting Indian would associate himself with
or serve on the Commission unless invited on absolutely equal terms
and equal rights in it. He further requested the Labour Party officials
that as a practical proof of their sympathy for the sentiments of the
Indians, they should tell the’ other members of the party not to have
anything to do with the Commission.”

M.A. Jinnah's attitude towards the Commission was not based on
opposition for the sake of opposition. He earnestly desired to settle the
dispute between the Indians and the British Government about the
membership of the Commission. That is why, in March 1928, he
presented two proposals to the Viceroy in order to deal with the situation.

1) The Simon Commission should be changed into a joint commission.

2) An Indian commission should be constituted and its powers

should be the same as those of the Simon Commission.

Lord Irwin agreed to these proposals and wrote to the Secretary of
State for India, Lord Birkenhead, about them. The latter disagreed with
the proposals but on the insistence of the former, presented them before
the Bntish'cabmct. H{:wevcr, by using his influence, Lord Birkenhead
got them disapproved.

The British viewpoint about the exclusio gy
Commission was that Jf 10 or three Indians iy
Commission, they could not represent all the political, religious and

! Ahmad Saced
ifbid.. p.54.
S.R. Bakhshi, Simon Commissi :
4, ik sion and Ind i : )
Jinnah-lrwin Correspondence, pp.9-10. ‘an Nationalism, Dethi, 1977, p.45.

(ed) Gufiar-e-Quaid-i-Azam, Islamabad, 1978 p.54
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¢ :
economic interests of the country. If all the communities were rep
the Commission wqyld have found it impossible to function effec

The Indian viewpoint was that if Indians could be includc. i . :
Skeen Committee and the Lee Commission (both appointed by the
British Government) why could not they bé included in the Simon
Commission. Secondly, they asserted that a commission investigating
into the affairs relating India must have incldded some Indians.

This is interesting to note that the personnel of the Commission
came in for criticism in Britain also but for different reason. Here the
weak membership of the body was strongly criticised. Geoffrey
Dawson, the editor of The Times was shocked at the weakness of the
team behind Simon. In his opinion it was really a one-man show.

In these circumstances, all the major Indian political parties such as the
All-India Muslim League, the Indian National Congress, the Hindu
Mahasabha, the All-India Khilafat Committee and the Bengal Muslim
League decided to boycott the Commission. Besides the Anglo-Indiz  °sS,
most of the Indian newspapers favoured the policy of boycotting the non
Commission. The Hindoo was much critical of it and called the appcuitment
of the Commission an insult to India. The newspaper Bande Mataram hailed
the Commission because it would show [0 the world that the British empire

The Leader of Allahabad declared the

was based only on force and tyranny.

Commission to be a calculated affront to the Indian opinion and self-respect
of the Indians. According to the Bombay Chronicle the exclusion of Indians
from the Commission was indefensible, unjust and humiliating. The Indian
National Herald stated, “The Viceroy’s announcement fulfills the worst
expectations. The British Cabinet has risen to the full height of Imperialist

arrogance and contemptuously refused to Indians to the membership of the
Commission in defiance of the obvious intention of the act of Parliament”.’
In the Punjab, the daily Paisa Akhbar which represented the
Punjab Provincial Muslim League was in favour of cooperating with
the Commission. On the contrary, the Zamindar of Moulana Zafar Ali
fhan was a bitter opponent of the Commission. It gave the name of
Sfmc:n-wnrshippcrs“ to the supporters of the Commission. In its
ec!:tonals, it vehemently opposed the Commission. A news carried by
this newspaper would clearly reflect its attitude:

Jp P
P e SIS )
LB KL sw i ig otk tts
. ” Hh #{ aﬂ" 2 .

ISi-MH Cm .
ion and the Indian Nationalism, p.51.



S e

148 TREK TO PAKISTAN

The reception of the Simon Commission. A very warm welcome of the
Simon Commission by the Toadies. A congregation of half a dozen
bearers on the platform. A pin-drop silence at the railway station.!

Those who were in favour of cooperating with the Simon Commissigp
argued that the Commission was only meant for preparing the
recommendations for the future constitution and if on that occasion the
Indians did not present their demands before it, it could damage their
interests. In this connection, Nawab Ismail Khan insisted that if the Indians
did not consider it an insult that the British Parliament had the right 1o
formulate their constitution, why had they become so outraged on a minor
issue of not including the Indian representatives in the Simon Commission.?

The appointment of the Simon Commission caused a rupture in the
All-India Muslim League which was divided into the “Jinnah League”
and the “Shafi League”. Mian Muhammad Shafi was in favour of
cooperating with the Commission. The Jinnah League held its session at
Calcutta on December 3, 1927 where a resolution calling for the boycou
of the Simon Commission was approved. The Punjab Provincial Muslim
League held its session at the residence of Mian Muhammad Shaft on ’
November 13, 1927. In a resolution it decided to cooperate with the
Commission, Allama Igbal was also in favour of cooperation with the
Commission, although he disliked the idea of an all-white commission
and called it unexpected, disappointing and painful.’

Besides the Punjab Provincial Muslim League, the other political
parties which decided to cooperate with the Simon Commission were
the Punjab Landlords Association, the Chief Khalsa Diwan, the
National Unionist Party, the Punjab Chiefs Association, the Central
National Mohammedan Association (Calcutta), the European
Association and the Justice Party (Madras).

The Indian Legislative Assembly also debated over the issue of
cooperation or non-cooperation with the Simon Commission. Lala Lajpat
Rai tabled a motion calling for the boycott of the Commission. It was
approved by a vote of 66 to 59. On this occasion the Quaid-i-Azam
supported the arguments of Lajpat Rai. He levelled trenchant criticism
against the Government’s stand and policy. He said, “Please do not mislead
us. The whole quéstion before you is this. Do you wish any decent party, -
any self-respecting man, to cooperate with you or do you want only those
who come before you as petitioners? If you want petitieners only, I wish
you luck. If you want decent, self-respecting men, to work with you, then

1 ; .
Zamindar (Lahore), November 1, 1928, p.5.

i w«rﬁaf Law Sey Martial Law Tak, Lahore, n.d., p.94.
Ahmad Saced, Igbal Aur Quaid-i-Azam, Lahore, 1977, pp.18-19.
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bcfmnk.bchomsundtellusplainly.youhaunmwequa!mwu
hav:nntgmwwinthcprmmnsﬁmionnfthc&nmﬁﬂim”.

The Simon Commission paid two visits to India. The first lasting
from February 3 to March 31, 1928 and the second from October 11,

1928 to April 13, 1929. A countrywide general strike was planned for
February 3, 1928. The moment this Commission stepped on the Indian

soil the entire sub-continent was resounded with the slogans of “Simon
Go Back”. Wherever it went, it held its meetings with various
delegations under police cover. Before the arrival of the Commission at
a certain place, the whole area was invariably cordoned off by the
police. The Raja of Mahmudabad has narrated an interesting incident in
this connection. When the Simon Commission visited Lucknow the
taalugadars of Avadh gave a tea party in their honour to prove to the
Government that the people of U.P. were cooperating with the
Commission. When they were being entertained the people flew kites
from various points in the city and were then cut in such a way that
they dropped at the place of the feast. They carried on them the words
«Gimon Go Back”. The administration was furious but Iu:lpla&s.l

The Commission reached Lahore on October 30, 1928. The
Government took tight security measures at the railway station. At noon,
a big procession chanting “Simon Go Back”, left Mochi Gate for the
Railway Station. Lala Lajpat Rai, Zafar Ali Khan and Abdul Qadir |
Qasuri were leading this procession. At the end of the Landa Bazar, there :
was a fence of barbed wires. At this point there was a clash between the H
police and the crowd. A police officer named Scot started batten-charge’
on the protestors. During the course of this confrontation, Lala Lajpat Rai .
was hit near his heart. The blow proved fatal and he died a few days later.

The long awaited Simon Commission Report was finally published
in May 1930. The first volume surveyed the Indian political,
communal, constitutional, administrative, financial and educational
systems and' an examination of the problems facing India. The second
volume set forth the proposals for constitutional reforms. It is
interesting to observe that except for the Daily Herald the entire British
press welcomed the Report. According to The Times the first yolume
was the refutation of the claim advanced by the Hindus that India was a
‘nation’ in the sense in which Germany Of Sweden were nations.” The

Commission made the following recommendations: :
the provinces should be aboljshed and

1) The Dyarchy system in | d ar
all the portfolios should be handed over to the provincial
5 g n_'" ] e -

of fn;ﬂa _ Policies and
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ICH. Philips (ed.), The Partition

1947, London, 1970, p.383. g
3 K. Aziz. Britain and Muslim india, London. 1963, p.118.
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minifaén. The powers of the central government and
provincial governors should be reduced. 4

2) Federal system of government should be introduced in India

3) The right to vote should be extended to more people. '

4) An ‘expert committee should be constituted regarding the
separation of Sindh from Bombay. The separation of Singp,
»as not granted in principle. First there would have to be a
close and detailed enquiry into the financial consequences
which wopld follow such a step.

5) The demand of the Frontier for equal status was also neglected.
“The inherent right of a man to smoke a cigarette”, said the Report, *
“must necessarily be curtailed if he lives in a powder magazine”,

The Report’s biggest bombshell was its hostility to the Muslim
demand for majority rule by separate electorate in the Punjab and Bengal.

The Muslim response to the publication of the Report was one of
annoyance and exasperation. The Quaid expressed his dissatisfaction over
the Simon Commission Report. On June 24, 1930, in a statement he
declared that the Report was unacceptable both to the Hindus and the

Muslims. In another statement he termed the Report as totally

unsatisfactory and unacceptable to the elected members of the Indian

Legislative Assembly.? According to Allama Igbal, “A death blow has

been struck at the Muslim majority in the Punjab”. He was for starting a

very strong and effective agitation against the Report and was prepared for

every sacrifice. Ch. Afzal Haq was of the same view and said that he and
| other Congressites like Dr. Alam, Zafar Ali Khan and Abdul Qadir Qasuri
were all for the Muslim majority in the Punjab. They would like to make a

common cause, go to the villages and start an unprecedented agitation.”
The editors of Ingliab, Siasat, Muslim Outlook and other Muslim
newspapers told Nawab Muzaffar Khan frankly that the scheme of provincial
autonomy suggested by the Report was entirely unsatisfactory. They alleged
that the Report had practically established Hindu Raj, under British protection,

in all provinces throughout India including Bengal and the Punjab.*

-+ The Executive Board of the All-Parties Muslim Conference described
the Report as “unacceptable to the Muslims of India and retrograde and
reactionary in spirit”. It demanded that the Muslims be granted a clear
majority in the Punjab and Bengal, that Sindh should be separated and that

. reforms must be introduced-in the North-Western Frontier and Baluchistan.

:David Page, Prelude 1o Partitida, Délhi, 1982; p.205.
Iqbal Aur Quaid-i-Azam, p.28. S
Prelude to Partisiow, p.20T. -~ -

Ibid.. pp.206-7. X
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THE NEHRU REPORT

The Nehru Report is an important document in the constituti
; 3 : y onal
:{l?;:g?ﬁ(:jg‘:a;g;fommm which helps in understanding ‘the nature of
The M““‘ff’fq Reforms (1919) had envisaged the formation of a
statutory commission after ten years to determine the next stage in the
realisation of self-rule in India. The commission which was to be formed
in 1929, was constituted two years carlier on November 8, 1927, under
Sir John Simon. However, the Indians were not pleased with its structural
shape and form as all its members were the English and no Indian could
find a berth on the Commission. Consequently, the Indians decided to
boycott the Simon Commission. All the major Indian political parties,
with the exception of Shafi League of the Punjab, refused to cooperate.
M.A. Jinnah gave expression to the genuine reaction of the Indians
saying, “The Jallianwala Bagh was a Physical butchery, the Simon
Commission is the butchery of our souls”.
Announcing the formation of this Commission, the Secretary of State
for India, Lord Birkenhead, had challenged the Indians to frame a
unanimous constitution. All the political parties of India accepted the
challenge and called an All-Parties Conference to be held on February 12,
1928. This Conference was attended among others by National Liberal
Federation, Hindu Mahasabha, All-India Muslim League, Central Khilafat
Committee, Central Sikh League, Home Rule League and Nationalist
Party. In"this preliminary meeting more than one hundred delegates
participated. Those who attended the meeting included Pandit Madar
Mohan Malavia, Moonje, Tej Bahadur Sapru, Motilal Nehru, Mrs. Sarojni

Naid i Jinnah, Mohamed Ali Johar, Nawab Ismail Khan,
aidu, Mohammad Ali Jinn P gl the‘

Shoaib Qureshi, Hasrat Mohani, Shafee Daudi, dgr
Raja of Mahmudabad.? In this meeting the ﬁﬁ and m:}tn pgl:mris
discussion was the question of the form of the Indian constHOR

' o which divided the participants into two
nsisted relentlessly that the mmmn

56.
id-e-Azam, Islamabad, 1976, p-56-
5 Communal Politics in India, Delhi, p271.

1
Ahmad Saeed (ed.), Gufiar-e-
ushir-ul-Hasan, Nationalism and
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should include declaration of complete independence while others felt

satisfied with Dominion Status. After protracted deliberations, the
Conference decided in favour of Dominion Status for India. In ano
: Committee on February

related development, the Conference appointed 2 /
78, 1928, whose task it was to ponder oven discuss m_readbare. the
questions of fundamental rights, right of vote, position of Indian States and
whether the Indian Parliament would be unicameral or bicameﬁl. The
Committee was required to submit its report as carly as possible. In the

; troversial matters raged on and on and
meanwhile, arguments on these con 8, 1928. To

the Conference had to convene a second meeting On March otk
settle raging controversies between the Muslims and the us
particularly on issues of separation of Sindh from Bor_nbay, separate
n of seats, the Conference appointed two sub-

electorate and reservatio ’
committees on March 11, 1928, which were asked to present their reports

in the next meeting in Bombay. ‘
The next meeting of the Conference was held in Bombay

according to the schedule. But the meeting remained inconclusive as,
on the one hand, the two sub-committees had not been able to complete
their task and on the other, the delegates having diverse opinions were
sharply divided failed to arrive at any consensus point. Therefore, the
Conference, as a way out, choose 10 appoint a small committee, headed
by Motilal Nehru, and Pandit Jawaharlal Nehru as its secretary, to
prepare the constitution. The Committee had Sayyid Ali Imam, Shoaib
Qureshi, M.S. Aney, M.R. Jayakar, G.R. Pardhan, Sir Tej Bahadur
Sapru, N.M. Joshi and Sardar Mangal Singh as its members. Three
members of the Nehru Committee did not show any interest in the task
while Sayyid Ali Imam attended the meeting only once. .Despite these
hurdles, the Nehru Committee completed its task in three months and
its report was published on August 15, 1928. This report came (0 be
known as the Nehru Report. '

COMPLETE INDEPENDENCE
OR DOMINION STATUS

From the very out-set the Committee was dogged ifari
problems. The All Parties Conference had beengghmulztilfsﬂ:fﬁo;‘z
meeting in Delhi due to difference of opinion. Therefore, in order to find
a common ground between the divergent opinions, a compromise
furmul? of a total responsible government was put far;.vard The Nehru
C?m'nuttec advanced this idea of complete Responsible ;.'.‘iovcrmne-tt
vithin the ambit of Dominion Status for India. The proposal was
oriti-" d harshly by Moulana Hasrat Mohani condemning it as a total
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betrayal. The Moulana went on to oppose even the vote of thanks for
pandit Motilal Nehru on this report. He blasted this resolution saying,
«pandit Nehru does not deserve our thanks at all because he has proposed
Dominion Status as a goal for India which is treason and a vote of thanks
 for traitor is nothing but is a travesty of facts. Our destination is complete
independence and we can not agree (0 anything less than that”".

SAFEGUARDS

The Nehru Report proved to be the proverbial fly in the ointment
of Hindu-Muslim unity. Controversy on this Report between the
Hindus and the Muslims opened up a whole new areas of reservations,
conflicts and dissensions. In the aftermath of accusations and counter-
accusations, an atmosphere of mistrust, distrust, mutual conflicts and
substantial differences came to the surface which proved to be the
stumbling-block in the way of freedom.

The ratio of Hindu and Muslim population weighed heavily in
favour of the Hindus as they were larger in number than the Muslims in

' the Indian sub-continent. The Muslims, on their part, have seen through
the treacherous mentality also over the past politically hectic years.
Therefore, now they demanded certain safeguards as they had genuine
reservations about Hindu mentality. In fact, the Nehru Report had
categorically rejected the demand of safeguards or artificial nurturing
by giving incorrect statistics. It purported to say that the Muslims were
in dominant majority in the Punjab, Sindh, the NNW.FP. and
Baluchistan and were so powerful that they could defend themselves.
Besides, the Report declared that only those communities needed
special protections which were only 10% of the population.?

SEPARATE ELECTORATE

The political existence of the Indian Muslims depended totally on the
mode of elections. Keeping this in view and in peculiar political condition
of India, the Muslim leaders had demanded separate electorate for their
community. They had believed that the political rights of the Indian
Muslims could only be safeguarded under separate electoral system. After
much bickering, the British Government accepted this demand in the
Minto-Morley Reforms. This system had also been maintained in the
Montford Reforms of 1919 while in 1916 at the time of Lucknow Pact, the
Hindus had, for the first time and the last, accepted the demand of separate

1
’:aus Ahmad Jafri, Karavan-e-Gumgashta, Karachi, 1971, pp.13-14.
afi Ahmad Kidwai, The All-Parties Conference Report, Delhi, 1928, p.45.
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! wlmmmhmm_qu.l, nd
had consented 1o drop this demand in?E*ufﬂ'm,ihw Azam
Hindus rejected this offer but g

RESERVATION OF SEATS IN
PUNJAB AND BENGAL

nteed in the Lucknow Pact n
obgerved that the demand of '
the demand for separate el
Committee remarked. *It 1§ impossible
reservation of seats for * the

Mmajority  (community) because all
nationalities in the Punjab

and Bengal could protect their interests” ?
Hindu opposition 1o this demand notwithstanding, the Muslims had

definite justifiable reasons to agitate for reservation of seats. Shoaib
Qureshi, a representative of ‘

Se¢ provinces were generally poor and
uneducated while the Hindus, on the other hand, were educated. neh.
well organised which enabled them to have complete monopoly in
trade, commerce and banking sectors. Therefore, their ascendancy in all
these fields neutralised and rendered ineffective the numerical strength
of the Muslims; thus, the justification for reservation of seats. But the
Nehru Committee rejected this demand.

SEPARATION OF SINDH FROM BOMBAY

The annexation of the province of Sindh with Boﬁy;‘:‘:
laring example of peculiar British colonial strategy to
ks, The Beas India Company captured Sindh in };4?;:
immediately after attached it with the Bombay Presidency

'The All-Parties Conference Repor, p.49.
- .
Ibid.

-
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ific interests despite the fact the two areas did not have anything in
on. The obvious result of this step was that the majority of the
nce turned into minority. Ever since, the Muslims

Myélims in the provi L
‘tad been d emanding that the decision be reversed and Sindh be given

its rightful separate provincial identity. | '
The Nehru Committee deliberated on this question at length. It
concluded that the provinces should be rcdivided on the ba_sis of the
Janguage and aspiration of the inhab:taqts. .The. Cnmm_mcc also
conceded that Sindh was a linguistic unit which l_mpllcd that it a_aught to
be a separate province as 74% of the population was Muslim. The
demand of separation of Sindh was also f:avuured by th::‘Parsces n'uf
Bombay. Ruling the attachment of Sindh with Bmpbay as ‘unnatural’,
the Report, however, emphasised that the provinces cuulg not be
divided on €thnic grounds. Taking icto account all the important
matters, the Nehru Committee decided that a comprehensive
investigation into the financial and administrative matiers shouid' be
carried out before separating Sindh from Bombay. But afterwards in a
meeting of the All-Parties Conference held on August 3!). 1928, N:!Tru
Report came under thorough scrutiny. The meeting decided to modify
the earlier recommendation and proposed that Sindh could be separated
and given a separate provincial status on the following conditions:-

- TRl
el

1) Sindh would attain financial autarky.

2) A vast majority of Sindhis should accept to bear the financial
responsibilitis.

3) Sindh would have the same system of government as would be
guaranteed under constitution for other provinces.

4) Non-Muslim minorities in Sindh would have same rights and

privileges as Muslim-minority in other provinces.
REFORMS IN N-W+F.P. & BALUCHISTAN

In the case of N-W.F.P. and Baluchistan, the Nehru Committee
proposed that like other provinces constitutional ‘reforms should be
Eﬁ:mﬁ hhn.-:r: also. hStmngely, the Committee first omitted the
| uchistan in the Report but, i i ini
B & S bitiosond Burt i Gprt:m' later cm'. included it explaining
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REJECTION OF 1/3 REPRESENTATIQN
OF THE MUSLIMS

156

The Muslims had demanded that they should be giy
representation in the Central* Legislature. The Nehru cm:n : R
rejected this demand on the plea that the Muslims formed less th;:,-:“mﬁe
fourth of the total population of British India and therefore they :m'
not be given one-third representation. The Muslim representative n: ‘:}I:
Committee, Shoaib Qureshi, did not agree with the logic and reagop;
of the authors of the Nehru Report. He kept insisting o

that the Mus;
should be given one third representation in the Central Legislanu:ﬁhms

FEDERAL SYSTEM OF GOVERNMENT

All those concerned with the constitutional problems of India were
unanimous on the point that solution to Indian malaise lay in according
maximum autonomy to the provinces. They believed that the
establishment of a federal government was indispensable. On their part,
the Muslims also demanded that since they were in majority in some
provinces, therefore, the central government should have lesser
authority. It was all the more imperative so that the provincial
autonomy was not compromised. However, contrary to this demand,
the Nehru Committee proposed 2 nnitary form of government making
the central government all powerful. In addition, it also proposed to
invest all the residuary powers in the central government.

In this way, the Nehru Report ignored all the vital demands of the
Muslims. While the Nehru Committee was busy in preparing its report,
the Quaid-i-Azam was in Europe. After returning to India, the Quaid,
once again, made efforts for Hindu-Muslim unity, but failed due 0
strong opposition from the Hindu Mahasabha. The Quaid-i-Azam
proposed a few amendments in the Nehru Report during a meeting of
All-Parties Convention, held on December 22, 1928, which Wi
convened to ratify or.confirm the Report. The Conference held 18
meeting with Dr. M.A. Ansari in the chair. The Quaid-i-Azam, in th
open session proposed (a) one third representation in the centre
legislature (b) reservation of“seats in the Punjab and B"“ﬁ
Proportionate to the Muslim population and (c) inyestment ‘?f - Is
residuary powers in the provincial governments. All these PWP?“““
Wwere opposed and rejected by the Hindu-Mahasabha. M.R., Jayakah |
Mahasabha representative stated in a highly derogatory languag®

1
The All-Parties Conference Report, p.67.

-
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“Jinnah's mind is turned due to Congress pampering. Whom does he
represent? The Muslim community is with the Congress and Jamiat-ul-
Ulama-i-Hind who have accepted the Nehru Report and, therefore, no
need to accept Jinnah's proposals to please him"™.

Jayakar warned the Convention that “If you accede to Mr. Jinnah’s

- demands the Report will be torn to pieces and will be rejected by important
communities who have now accepted it as the final word in the matter”.}

On the other hand, there were a few sagacious minds present at the
Convention who were in favour of accepting the Quaid’s proposed
amendment for the sake of Hindu-Muslim amity. Sir Tej Bahadur
Sapru calling the Quaid-i-Azam ‘a spoilt child’ argued that he should
be placated by accepting his demands. However, evell Sapru’s pleas
failed to convince the Mahasabha.

The Quaid-i-Azam’s proposals wer
been accepted, they would have, in all probability, brought about
Hindu-Muslim amity, albeit, temporarily. In Dr. Ambedkar's words:
“These amendments show that the gulf-between the Hindus and the |
Muslims was not in any way a wide one. Yet there was no desire to
bridge the same”.? Motilal Nehru did not try to remove the misgivings
of the Muslims. Uma Kaur, an Indian historian, has rightly commented
that Jayakar was under the influence of Lala Lajpat Rai and both of

them were averse (o any compromise with the Muslims.

REACTION OF THE MUSLIMS

ply to the recommendations of

7
|
N

Rl = F N Al -

e entirely reasonable. Had these

The Muslims of India reacted shar
the Nehru Report. They were justifiably enraged because they
considered the Report inimical to their interests. The Hindus however
regarded the Report the ultimate solution of all the problems. Subash
Chandra Bose went to the extent of saying, “This Report has done all
that the Royal Commission was expected to do. What is now left for
the Commission is to study the report and accept it”. The Quaid-i-
Azam, by now, had adopted a definitive mode of thinking. His ideas
had crystallised by now. Talking to the special correspondent of daily

- Ingilab, he opined, “So far as the basic precept of the Nehru Report is
t concerned, I am totally opposed to it. I am against this Report. 1
consldl.?r it prejudicial to the interests of the Muslims”.’ The Aga Khan
also rejected the Report saying, “No serious-minded person can even

'* 'Waheed

; e -ud-Zaman, Towards Pakistan, Lahore, 1964, p.49.

3 'R Ambedkar, Pakistan or the Partition of India, Lahore, 1976, p.304.
Ahmad Saeed, Hayat-e-Quaid-¢-Azam: Chand Nae Pehlu, Islamabad, 1976, p.40.
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imagine the Muslims accepting such degrading proposajg» 1 imil
Moulana Shaukat Ali commented, “As a young man I hag been ; :r 1y,
owner of greyhounds, but 1 had never seen greyhounds deg] With 3 hten
as the Hindus proposed to deal with the Muslims".? are

Mohamed Ali Johar strongly reacted, and condemneq
Mahasabhitcs that “During the times of the East India Company, whepe ™
an announcement was made, it was prefaced with the words ‘“The pmv?;
belong to God, the country to the King-Emperor, but the edict is of f,.:
from the Company Bahadur, On the other hand, what the Cop aims
through the Nehru Report today is merely this “The people belong to Gog
the country to the Viceroy, but the edict is that of and from the Mahasabp,
Bahadur"? He compared it to permanent slavery and Hindu bondage. He
condemned it in the strongest terms on December 28, 1928 while Presiding
over the Khilafay Conference. He castigated the Report saying, “Our
population is twenty five percent (of the total Indian population) and you
refuse to accord us thirty three percent representation; you are Jews; you
are Bunyas™ (narrow-minded money-lender).

On March 12, 1929, the Nehru Report came up for debate in the
Central Legislative Assembly. The Quaid-i-Azam along with all the other
Muslim members, opposed it tooth and nail. The Times correspondent
reported, “The solidarity of Muslim feeling in the Assembly was not
unexpected but c=rtainly disturbing to those trying to represent the Nehru
Report as a demand of a united India. Henceforth such a claim must be
manifestly absurd”.* The Times concurred with those people who
regarded the Nehru Report as a scheme for imposing Hindu Raj.

The Muslim print-media in the Punjab had launched a campaign
against the Nehru Report. All the Muslim newspapers of the Punjab
including the daily Ingilab, Siasat, Paisa Akhbar and the Muslim
Outlook were in the forefront of sustained opposition campaign. The
orly exception was the daily Zamindar of Moulana Zafar All Khan
waich favoured the Report. Even the Muslim Anjumans rejected the
Report outrightly. The Anjuman-i-Islamia Amritsar — a representative
association of the Muslims of Amritsar — refused to accept the Report
without the justifiable amendments proposed by the Muslims.

The height of the Congress ignominy was reflected in the complete
rejection of the Nehru Report by the Jamiat-ul-Ulama-i-Hind, a body
which had, ever since its inception, stoutly sided with the Congress:
The daily Al-Jamias, a mouthpiece of the Jamiat, wrote an editorial

1 L )
K-K.Aziz, The Making of Pakistan: A Study in Nationalism, London, 1967, p42

id Bin Sayeed, Pakistan - The Formative: Phase, Karachi, 1960, p72

3
Abdul Waheed Khan, J ?
: ndia Wins Freedom: ide, Lahore, 1961, p200. £
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,;umnwnting, “The recommendations of the Nehru Re annot
d as based on justice because all the mgmmpf;aﬁm of ul:
Muslims, the Muslim populace and a dominant majority of the Muslim

s regard these proposals T?St unjust and contrary to the Muslim

interest and we also agree to it™.
The same newspaper, in another editorial commented, “The Nehru

Report is not at all acceptable to the Muslims and neither they wish to
vest the power 10 control their destiny in a constitution which is
infested with the feelings of Hinduism and of communalism”.

The Hindus, themselves, recognised the strong opposition of the
Muslims to the Report. Subash Chandra Bose admitteJ chat the Nehru
Report had lost its importance due to the opposition of the Muslims.
Another Hindu politician, Sir Chamanlal Setalvad, thought that an
excellent uPPDrtunil]Y to solve Hindu-Muslim problems had been

allowed to go waste.

Dr. KK. Aziz, 2 scholar, and renowned historian, assessing the
ressed his views most aptly, “With the end of the

t the short honeymoon of Hindu-Muslim unity also

merged but this time with a greater

Between the two nations ceased to
flict and peace disappeared

situation has €xp
Khilafat Movemen
came to an end and hostilities re-¢
intensity and’ the prospects of unity
exist. The Nehru Report put seal on this con

from India for good™.
* Anyhow, one good aspect of the Nehru Report was the reawakening

and growing .awareness amongst the Muslims of the necessity of forging

unity in their ranks and files. The daily Mustagil of Kanpur commented
in its editorial, “Nehru Report has rekindled and reinvigorated awakening

in the Muslims and they, in various provinces, girded up their loins to
protect and safeguard their genuine rights and interests”.”

"The daily Al-Jamiar, Delhi, October 1 1928, p.3.

Ibid., April 1, 1929, p.3.

mﬁﬂli‘ﬂi vad, Recollections and Reflections, Bombay, 1949.

d‘iIZ.M Rl'uad to Pakistan” (article) The Pakistan Quarterly.
y Mustagqil, Kanpur, November 19, 1928, p.3.
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JINNAH’S FOURTEEN POINTS

The Nehru Committee made an unsuccessful attempt to prepare g
constitution for India, acceptable to all. Thus, all the Muslim politica]
parties opposed the Nehru Report when it was published. During the
preparation of the Nehru Report, M.A. Jinnah was in England butthe kept
himself fully aware of the political developments in India. On his return,
he made an unsuccessful attempt to include some amendments in the
Nehru Report. And ultimately, this “Ambassador of Hindu-Muslim
Unity” had to say “From now onwards, this is parting of the ways”,

A positive implications of the Nehru Report was that the Muslims
felt the need of unity among themselves. At that time, the All-India
Muslim League was divided into two opposing camps known as the
Jinnah League and the Shafi League. The Quaid-i-Azam took the first
step towards reuniting the party and called a meeting of the League in
March 1929. During this meeting, the nationalist Muslims tried hard to
get the Nehru Report approved. According to Sir Muhammad Yameen,
a few Congress supporters who were in favour of joint electorate and
who were much despised by the public reached the venue of the
Muslim League meeting in Delhi. They wielded no influence and had
no hope of being elected in the separate electorate system. They
included, Rafi Ahmad Kidwai, Khwaja Abdul Majeed, Chaudhry
Khaliquzzaman and Dr. Alam. They tried to benefit from the absence
of M.A. Jinnah and called upon the participants of the meeting to passa
resolution in support of joint electorate to give a false impression to the
public that the Jinnah League had approved the Nehru Report and the
joint electorate system. They elected one of their members Dr. Alam as
the president of the meeting but the League’s assistant secretary drove
all of them out of the hall with the help of the police. During the
meeting, M.A. Jinnah presented the demands of the Muslim League
which came to be known as Jinnah’s Fourteen Points. The points were

as follows:- '

The League after careful consideration most earnestly and
emphatically lays down that no constitution would be acceptable to the
Muslims of India, unless it contained the following basic ingredients: -
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1) The form of the future constitution should be federal with all
the residuary powers vested in the provinces, the Central
Government to have the contrcl only of such matters of

mmon interest as may be guaranteed by the constitution.

co
rm measure of autonomy shall be guaranteed to all

2) Unifo

provinccs. ' |

3) Adequate and effective representation should be given to all the
minorities in all the assemblies and all other elected bodies

of the country and no effort should be made by any territorial
educe the majority of a community in a

redistribution to T
province to minority or even equality.
4) At least one-third seats in the central legislature should be

reserved for the Muslims.
5) The representation of communal groups should continue (o be

by means of separate electorate as at present, provided that it
should be open to any community at any time to abandon
its separate electorate in favour of joint electorates.

6) Any territorial redistributin that might at any time be
necessary should not in any way effect the Muslim majority in
Bengal, North-West Frontier Province and the Punjab.

7) Full religious liberty, that is, liberty of belief, worship,
observances, propaganda, association, and education should be

guaranteed to all communities.
8) No bill or resolution nor any part thereof, should be passed in any
legislative or elected body, if three-fourths of the members of a
ill or resolution oppose it.

community directly affected by that b
9) Sindh should be separated from the Bombay Presidency and

constituted into a separate province.
10) Reforms should also be introduced in the N.W.F.P. and

Baluchistan on the same footing as in other provinces.

11) Provision should be made in the constitution giving the
Muslims an adequate share along with other Indians in all the
services of the state and in self-governing bodies, having due
regard to the requirements of efficiency.

12) The constitution should embody adequate safeguards for the
protection of Muslim religion, culture and personal law, and the
promotion of Muslim education, language, religion, personal
laws, h_duslirn charitable institutions, and for their due share in

13) ﬁm‘s‘“?'ﬂid given by the state and by self-governing bodies.

O cabinet, either Central or Provincial should be formed
without there being.a proportion of Muslim ministers of at

least one-third.
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14) No change or amendment should be

constitution by the Central Legislature “m‘dl‘- in the

concurrence of the States constituting the Indil:ep L with the

Before these Fourteen Points, Gandhi had told M.A. Jm‘“"“-
would send him a blank cheque in which he could fill as much nwm?t he
wamed,BymisGmﬂhimntthaleuuldguwmm"M
Congress, whatever proposals Jinnah would present. But when M A_ J the
presented his Fourteen Points to him and asked him to get them g
from the Congress he replied that in his personal capacity he wa:rp::w
accept everything but could not guarantee their approval from ﬂleCung;ég\m
Jinnah's Fourteen Points clearly reflected the demands, sentiments
and aspirations of the Muslims. But as in the past, the Congress dig not
give them any importance and instead, determined to oppose them, py
Moonje, the leader of the Hindu Mahasabha, bitterly condemned the,
Fourteen Points while presiding over a meeting of his party in Andhrg
on November 7, 1929. He declared these points to be contrary o the
spirit of Indian nationalism. He called the separation of Sindh from
Bombay a “luxury” and dismissed all the other points which in his
opinion would eliminate the unity of India. Criticising these points for
being sectarian and communal in nature, he said, “It would not be
wrong to say that the ideology which has given birth to these points is
only intended to create divisions among the Hindus and the Muslims
forever which would make it impossible to preserve the unity of India. [ believe
that Hindus should, under no circumstances, accept communalism. The
Muslims should be assured that the Hindus, by no means, would exert
any force or pressure on them. At the same time, the Hindus must resist
all efforts to incorporate communalism into the constitution. It is
something which has already been created by the Nehru Report”.

The Hindu press strongly criticised the Fourteen Points. The
Tribune, in its issue of August 12, 1931, wrote, “As a matter of fact
the demand, which is familiarly known as the Fourteen Points, is
simple conglomeration, a base summing up, of all the most extravagant
and unreasonable demands ever made in any Muslim quarter, and it is
easy to show that on not a single point could the communalists possibly
have gone farther. The peace-maker who first states the case for on¢
of the two sides between*which he seeks to bring about peace in It
most exaggerated form and then solemnly appeals to the other side 10
accept the terms in its entirety in the interest of peace and harmony:
invites nothing but ridicule. That unhappily is the exact position If
which Mr. Jinnah has placed himself in this case™.!

1
Punjab Native Newspapers Repont, August 15, 1931, pp.737-38.
-




JINNAH'S FOURTEEN POINTS -

In a letter to M.K. Gandhi, Pandit Jawaharlal N
Fourteen Points in this way: “If I had to listen to ;I;ru deTru ;eml:e
Jinnah talking the most unmitigated nonsense about his Fourteen Points
for any length of time, I would have to consider the desirability of
resorting to the South Sea Islands, where there would be some hope of
meeting with some people who were intelligent or ignorant enough not
(o talk of the Fourteen Points. I marvel at your patience”.!

This letter of Pandit Nehru clearly reveals the fact that right from the
beginning, the Hindus had adopted an absolutely irresponsible attitude
towards the desires and demands of the Muslims. Their attitude towards
separate electorate, Delhi Muslim propgsals, Nehru Report and Fourteen
' Points prove that in every case, they winted to enforce their will upon the

Muslims. Secondly, it teaches a lesson (o those who still argue that a
compromise with the Hindus was and is still possible.

s of Indian Unity 191740, Oxford, 1974, pp.241-42.
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THE ALLAHABAD ADDRESS

On December 29, 1930, Allama Mohammad Igbal presided over the
annual session of the All-India Muslim League held at Duazdah Manzi]
a house belonging to a tobacco merchant named Rahim Bakhsh, Tpe
house was situated in the Yagootganj Bazar of the Allahabad city. Qp
four sides of its courtyard, or hall, there were twelve doors. Therefore, it
was known as Duazdah Manzil (house having twelve doors).!

By that time, the AIML had not started holding open public aeetings,
Generally, the League held its sessions in cinema halls and town halls of
the cities. In 1919, the League’s session was held at a cinema in Amritsar?
In 1924, the League was to hold its session at the Habibia Hall of Islamia
College Lahore, but later on, due to certain reasons, it was held at the
Globe cinema (now Sanobar cinema) in Lahore. In 1929, the Roshan
Theatre of Delhi became the venue of the League’s session.” The 1933
session was convened at the Town Hall of Calcutta.*

The Allahabad session was not attgnded by a large number of
people. According to Mufti Fakhr-ul-Islam, who himself attended the
meeting, there were only four or five hundred people present on the
occasion. Many of them were school children.® Information culled from
other sources also indicates that the session was attended by only a handful
of people. It is difficult to give the exact number of the participants, but a
journal satirically stated that besides a number of honorary magtrates and
civil servants, the meeting was also attended by Haji Abdoola Haroon
(Karachi), Seth Tayyab Ji (Sindh), Abdul Majeed Sindhi, Nawab Ismail
Khan (UP.) Moulvi Ala-ud-Din, Moulana Mohammad Sadiq (Punjab),
Moulana- Abdul Majid Badauni (U.P.) Sayyid Husain Imam (Bihar),
Sayyid Zakir Ali (UP.) Abdul Qadir Qasuri (Lahore) Sayyid Habib
(Lahore) and Nazir Hasan, who was a member of the Bihar Legislative
Council. Some of the above mentioned names arc quite unknown.’

1

Mukhtar Zaman, “Duazdah Manzil Sey Manzil-e-Paki > article in
lﬁuqﬂﬂlh..lqbﬂ Number, September, 19?3"?, o 499"“?' stan Tak” arti
Jﬂbf.!l.l.l Mljtﬂd Salik, Sarguzashi, Lahore, 1963, p.110.
‘I’nq:!ab, April 12, 1929, p.6.

Faisa Akhbar, October 24, 1933, ps.

*Nugoosh, Igbal Number, p.501.

Indian Annual Register, Vol II, July-December, 1930, p.334.
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League found it very difficult to complete the quorum.! The Modern
Mkwufcmmhunbopomudnmdwhctufqmm.w‘m;m
the journal, 75 delegates were needed” for the quorum, but the delegates
mlmuewmnmhmunumh.mm.lbcjomddmm
that Allama Igbal, who had presided over the meeting, had departed from'
Allahabad even before the session was over.? =
Is it just a coincidence that Iqbal went to Allahabad, the home town of
Nehru and expressed his desire for a separate Muslim state. The very same
year, Pandit Nehru visited Igbal’s city and demanded freedom for India.

SALIENT FEATURES OF THE
ALLAHABAD ADDRESS

Igbal was the first Muslim League President to stress the role of Islam
in moulding the character of the Indian Muslims and also in determining
their future destiny.”

Igbal, in his Address, discussed the role of Islam in India that “Islam
as an ethical ideal plus a certain kind of polity has been the chief formative
factor of the life-history of Muslims of India”. It has given them those
“basic emotions and loyalties” which unify individuals and make them into
a “well-defined people, possessing a moral consciousness of their own”.
He believes that “India is perhaps the only country in the world where
Islam, as a people building force, has worked at best”. - .

Igbal emphatically stated that Islam does not believe in the arbitrary

segregation of religion and world. Igbal strongly negated the Western
idea that religion is one's private affair and has nothing to do with the
temporal life. Islam does not .believe in the duality of matter and soul.
“In Islam, God and the universe, matter and spirit, and State and Church
are organic to 2ach other. In Igbal’s opinion, the division of spiritual and
temporal worlds has seriously affected the political and religious ideas in
the West. Islam rejected the idea of priesthood in Islam. He reaffirmed
his firm conviction that Islam was still a living force which liberates man
from the prisons of race and territory. In Islam religion enjoys a pivotal
place in the life of the individual and the state. According to Igbal “Islam
is itself Destiny and will not suffer a destiny”. Igbal vdnqwmly opposod
the idea that religion was one’s private affair. He asked if the Muslims
wanted to suffer the doom of Islam as a political and ethical code as has

'Shamsul Hasax, Plain Mr. Jinnah, Karachi, 1976, p.52.

Modern Review, February, 1931, p.259.
3K K_Aziz. A History of the Idea of Pakistan, Vol., Lahore, 1987, p.189.
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in the West “Is it possible to retain Islam
as an ethical ideal and to reject it as 2 pelity in favour of mu?nai politics
in which religious attitude 1S not permitted 1O play any part”? he asked.
Iqbal opposed the idea of 2 single Indian nation. He argued that the
Bhagti Movement of Kabeer and the Dﬂﬂ‘ﬂ:uﬂ*‘“ of Akbar could only
have a peripheral impact o0 the general public who Ffm“ﬂ_““—'d to adhere
to their ancestral religions. There was no such trend in India as to merge
the divergent castes int0 2 single nation at the expense of their separate
individual entities. The reason was that each group or community was

nce. Igbal repeats the words of

intensely i 'one of the collective existe : :
I the making of a national feeling and

the French philosopher Renan on _ =
finds that by his definition India is not a nation. The various religious and
caste groups “have shown nO inclination to sink their respective

». Iqbal concluded that in the given

individualities in a large whole”. !
uld be opposed to bring about unity

circumstances, all such attempts sho : ‘
and coordination of the various parties. Iqbal

in India by the interaction
questioned as to why the two major nations 1 India had failed to reach a
compromise and why all attempts to unite them had ended up in failure.
Perhaps the two nations

f each other. Another reason could be that

motives and intentions O
secretly, both were desirous of dominating each other. They were not
ready to accept that every nation had the right to progress in line with its

own culture, civilization and traditions.
Igbal categorically stated that if the communal problem of India

could be solved keeping in view the principle that the Indian Muslims

should have the right to flourish in accordance with their culture and
traditions, they would be ready to stake their all for the freedom of India.
Igbal promoted the ideas and concepts of Sir Sayyid Ahmad Khan and
remarked, “India is a continent inhabited by people belonging to different
races, communities and religions. Moreover, they speak different
languages. For this very reason, the application of western democracy in
_ India by ignoring the various religious groupings 1S impossible”. In this
manner, he fully justified the demand for a Muslim India within India.
Igbal not only himself supported the resolution passed at Delhi during
the All-Parties Muslim Conference but also called upon the House to do
the same. He stressed that in order to create a balanced and integrated
nation. it was imperative that they should be given the opportunities {0
develop and demonstrate their inherent capabilities. Iqbal with his foresight
had visualised the implications inherent in the blue-print of the federation
at the Round Table Conference. The inclusion of the Native States in
proposed federation would have ensured the perpetual servitude of India
and the perennial subjugation of the Muslims by the Hindus.

166
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Pointing out to this fact the Hamdam .

. made it very clear that the proposed fedegt?:ﬁwg:;?‘“r '[qb:Itl:;i
Round Table Conference is only meant to strengthen the hold of the
British Government by including the Indian States into it”. Due to this
reason, the newspaper bitterly deplored the idea of including the Indian
States into the proposed federation.

Giving the essence of his Address, Igbal said, *“I would like to see
the Punjab, N.-W.F.P., Sindh, and Baluchistan amalgamated into a
single state. Self-government within the British Empire or without the
British Empire, the formation of a consolidated North-West Indian
Muslim state appears to me the final destiny of the Muslims at least of
North-West India”. Igbal told the Hindus and the British not to be
scared by this proposal, as India was then the largest Muslim country in
the world where, in order to preserve Islam as a cultural force, it was
vital for it to be centralised in a specified territory. Iqbal reminded the
English that despite their unjust treatment, the Muslims in their large
numbers had joined the British police and army and ensured the
continuation of the British rule. Thus, concentrating and integrating
them into a certain area would solve the problem of India and that of
the entire continent of Asia. It would rejuvenate their living spirit and
strengthen their sense of patriotism. Igbal stated that if the Muslims
were given the right to flourish effectively and adequately, they (The

Muslims of North-Western India) would prove the best defenders of the

country against all sorts of invasions, be that invasion the one of ideas

or of bayonets. At this point, Iqbal’s words “Within the political entity
of India”, are noteworthy. Igbal negated the allegation made by

Srinivasa Sastri that the demand for autonomous Muslim state on the

North-West border was actuated by a desire to pressurisc the

Government of India, otherwise the Muslims of that region did not

have "any such intentions or desires. Igbal frankly told him that

“Muslim desire is actuated by a genuine desire for free development,

which is practically impossible under the type of unitary government

contemplated by the nationalist Hindu politicians with a view to secure
permanent communal dominance in the whole of India”. igbal also
demounced the idea that the demand for a Muslim state was being made
in order to create some sort of “religious rule”. After disposing all
Hindu objections and fears Igbal reiterated his proposal in clear terms
that “1 therefore demand the formation of a consolidated Muslim state
in the best interests of India and Islam™.

Iqbal reiterated the demand for the distribution of the British
Pm““msl w'th. 2 view to finding a permanent settlement of the
communal tensions. He further pointed out that the Muslims would
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never agree to a constitutional change which affected the Mugl;

majority in the provinces of Bengal and the Punjab. Furtherm, Uslim
constitution should also guarantee that the Muslims would ge Te, the
seats in the central legislature. . ne-third

Igbal laid a great emphasis on the separation of Sindp from
Bombay Presidency. He made it clear that Sindh had more in ﬂﬂtmn?
with Iraq and Arabia than with India. In this connection, he quoteq tpe
well-known Muslim geographer Masoodi who had stated that Sindh
was a country nearer to the dominions of Islam. At the same time, pe
quoted Hazrat Ameer Muaviah who had said about Egypt that “Eg'm
has her back towards Africa and her face towards Arabia”.

According to Igbal, the same was true of Sindh in the contemporary
world. She has her back towards India and her face towards Central Asia,
Moreover, Igbal also argued that the Bombay Government was
completely oblivious of the agricultural problems of Sindh. Keeping in
view the tremendous trade potentials of Karachi, Igbal predicted that
“one day or the other, it would become the second capital of India”.

Igbal bitterly criticised the Simon Commission for its views
regarding reforms in the N.W.F.P. Opposing the idea of reforms in the
province, the Commission had argued that since its people lived in a
powder house, they could not be granted the right to light the cigarette.
In Igbal’s estimate, political reforms were like a “light” rather than fire.
He asserted that no one could be deprived of the right to acquire light,
even if he lived in an ammunition depot or a powder house.

He ended his Address, with a sensational note by saying, “I am not
hopeless of an intercommunal understanding, but I cannot conceal from
you the feeling that in the near future our community may be called
upon to adopt an “independent line of action” to cope with the present
crisis. But, such “an independent line of action is possible only toa

determined people possessing a will focalized by a single purpose”.
Igbal was definitely visualising the future Pakistan movement.

THE HINDU REACTION

The Hindu politicians and journalists reacted sharply and raised 2
great hue and cry at the Address. On January 1, 1931, the Tribune
(Lahore) held the British Governmedt and the Muslim leaders
responsible for the Hindu-Muslim tensions and for the failure of hé
Round Table Conference. According to the newspaper, it was 1qbh
among all the Muslim leaders, who was solely responsible for the crsis
because he had delivered his Address at a time when there were obviows
signs of an imminent solution to the communal problems. The Tribu™
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also condemned Igbal for sending a tele am
Round Tat_#l: Conference, against joint ﬂlﬂzmez :':miﬂm of the
a o it Themwspapualsoallegedthm When they

Address with a view to sabotaging the Conference. !
Another biased Hindu newspaper Partap (Lahore) wrote s
against Igbal’s Allahabad Address under the hde};m g R

Muslim of North-Western India”. This editorial conferred &ndﬁ;m
titles of crazy, mischief-monger, prejudiced, narrow-minded and

In an editorial note, the monthly Modern Review (Calcutta
the demand for a Muslim state comprising the Punjal:n(. Sindh, %SLHL::EE
and the N.W.F.P., as envisaged in the Allahabad Address, had captured the
attention of most of the people. The newspaper added, “Now on one hand,
AK. Fazlul Haq and his compani‘ns are desirous of domination in Bengal
and, on the other, the poet Igbal is keen to have a Muslim state in the
North-West of India. To many people, both these statements provide a key
to the better understanding of Jinnah's fourteen points™ 2

According to the daily Ingilab (Lahore), a cheap Hindu columnists
went to the extent of saying that Igbal wanted to snatch the country of the
Hindus from them and to give it to the Muslims. Mr. S.W. Wilson, the
London-based correspondent of the Indian Daily Mail (Bombay)
reported that the British Prime Minister Ramsay McDonald was furious
at the views expressed by Igbal in his presidential address at Allahabad.?

THE REACTION OF THE HINDU POLITICIANS

Besides the Hindu journalists, Hindu politicians were also
unanimous in their condemnation of Igbal. A famous Bengali leader
Bipin Chandra Pal wrote in an article, “Iqbal and his companions are still
dreaming of that period when India was under the occupation of the
Muslims. Iqbal wishes that his fellow Muslims should once again rule
over India and Asia, but he has forgotten the fact that radical changes
have come about in India and the rest of the world. Things have
dramatically changed and even those people are no longer in a pn;sitiun to
assist in the establishment of a Mughal or Pathan empire in India.

M.R. Jayakar, who was one of the delegates at the Round Table
Conference, criticised Igbal’s address in scathingly satirical terms. He
ironically expressed his pleasure that Iqbal had at least conveyed his

1ingilab (Lahore) January 3, 1931, p.3.
3Modern Review, February, 1931, p.259.

3 Abdus Salam Khurshid, History of the Idea of Pakistan, Karachi, 1977, p.77.
YIngilab, January 21, 1931, p.3. _ :
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wrue feelings so openly- Jayakar described his Address as untimely p,
based on the elements which were present in Jinnah's Fourteen Pojpys
and to which he had already alluded a long time ago, as pregnant with
implicit ramifications for the Hindus. Commenting on Igbal’s telegram
to the delegates of the Round Table Conference against joint electorate,
Jayakar said, *1 there and then, dismissed the whole issue of Hindy.
Muslim understanding and refused to acceptany proposal which could
lead to the creation of a Muslim state in the North-West of India as
desired by Igbal”. He threatened to use all available means to prevent
the fulfilment of the international aspirations of the Muslims.!

In short, all the Hindu leaders spoke bitterly against Iqgbal’s Allahabad
Address. Referring to this attitude, the daily Ingilab had written, “There is
hardly any Hindu writer who has not hurled abuses in the filthiest of the
language on Igbal’s Address. Even those Hindu writers who are only

apable of writing a few lines have exploited this opportunity to improve
u.eir writing skill by criticising and venting their spleen on the Address.
The mean and hostile propaganda being directed against Iqbal has even
surpassed the veheiwaence of the venomous propaganda unleashed b}’ the
Hindus against Sultan Mahmood Ghaznavi and Aurangzeb Alamgeer.

An interesting thing to be noted in this connection is that besides the
Hindus and the British, Igbal’s Address was also criticised by a sectionof -
the Muslims themselves. Its prominent critics were Seth Yaqoob Hasan
(Madras) and Muhammad Ali Currim Chagla. They could not see eye-io-
eye with Igbal’s desire for a separate Muslim state in the North-West of
India. They were proud of being nationalist Muslims and one of them
had even described Igbal as the founder of the Indian Ulster.’

Mian Muhammad Shafi, a glose political associate of Igbal, while
responding to an objection made by Dr. Moonje at the Round Table
Conference said, “If Iqbal has mentioned an independent state out of
the British Commonwealth, I reject any such proposal on behalf of all
the Muslim delegates™.*

In those hostile atmosphere, a handful of moderate Hindus made an
attempt to understand the viewpoint of Igbal. The Times of India carried &0
article written by someone under the pseudonym A Liberal Hindu. The
writer fully supported Igbal’s views; especially on the ground that for th¢
preservation gnd promotion of the Islamic culture it was indjspms&bh!ﬁ'
them to be concentrated in those provinces where they were in majority:

bi
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THE ALLAHABAD ADDRESS

THE ATTITUDE OF THE MUSLIM PRESS -

We have no access to the reaction of the Muslim press towards the
Allahabad Address delivered by Igbal. However, the daily Ingilab and
the daily Haradain (Lucknow) ardently supported the views of Igbal,
The Hamdam agreed with Igbal regarding his notion that the Muslims
of India should be given a chance to establish Muslim India and this
idea could only be put into practice if the Punjab, Sindh, Balucnistan
and the N.W_.F.P. were included into a new single state.

The daily Ingilab was perhaps the only newspaper iu India which
wholeheartedly, fearlessly and unequivocally supported the ideas of
Igbal. In more than a dozen of its editorials, it appreciated the various
contents of the Address,

In one of its editorials entitled “Igbal and the Hindu Press — Is the
Demand for Freedom by the Muslims Unjustified?”, the daily Ingilab
wrote, “It is amazing that those who are relentlessly demanding from the
British to quit India so that they could benefit from freedom and
independence by establishing a government of their own according to their
culture, tradition and propensities are not prepared to give the Muslims any
such rights and privileges. If the Hindus are eager to establish Hindu Raj in
India on the basis of their majority, without caring the least for the Muslims
then the Muslims also have the right to strive for a Muslim state consisting
of the Punjab, Sindh, Baluchistan and the N.W.F.P."

In anticipation of the severe reaction of the Hindus, the daily Ingilab
wrote another forceful article in which it said, “The fact is that Igbal’s
Address is the first crushing blow to the Hindu concept of nationalism and
their desire to establish Hindu Raj in India. It has shaken the very
foundation of their secret ambitions. In fact, it has shattered and fragmented
all those dreams which the Hindus believed to be on the point of fulfilment.
Monjees, Jayakars, Gandhis, Malavias and Nehrus had hatched a cunning
and treacherous trap to strangle all the non-Hindu communities of India,
especially the Muslims by exploiting ail the villainies of democracy and
nationalism and to establish a purely Hindu Empire in India. However,
Igbal’s bold Address has exposed all those refarious designs”.?

It is generally said that Igbal was the first person who propounded
the ide& of the partition of the sub-continent, but historically, it is not
true. Long before Igbal’s Address, several eminent figures had
proposed the partition of India as the only possible solution of the on-
going Hindu-Muslim rivalries. Secondly, researchers bitterly dispute
whether Igbal had talked of a Muslim state or a Muslim province. On

1M
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two occasions, in his Address, Iqbal talked of Muslim g,
mentioned Muslim India. Later on, in letters to Edw ardte —
Raghib Ahsan, he discussed in detail the creation of a M Thomsgy anq
Edward Thomson, lecturer in the Bengali |anm“3"m ‘
University, while commenting on Igbal’s Address, dcscﬁ,; Oxforg
supporter of the Pakistan Scheme. Thomson himself was him g,
Pointing out to this glaring mistake, Igbal wrote to Thomson
4, 1934, from Lahore, “You call me a protagonist of the sch:n Marcy
‘Pakistan’. Now Pakistan is not my scheme. The one I sug ;; Calleg
address is the creation of a Muslim Province i.e. a proyimi ks Iy
overwhelming population of Muslims — in the North West u??g iy
This new province will be, according to my scheme, a par u?d >
proposed Indian federation. Pakistan scheme proposes a the
federation of Muslim provinces directly related to Englar:p :?"
separate dominion."' An interesting thing is that just two days Iawa
that is on March 6, he sent a copy of Thomson’s comments in a lr.t!m.;;
Raghib Ahsan and said, “Please note down that the commentator has
been misled. He believes that my proposal is related to the Pakistan
Scheme. As far as my proposal is concerned, it calls for the creation of
a Muslim province within the Indian federation. The Pakistan Scheme,
on the other hand, aims at the establishment of a new federation of the
Muslim provinces in the North-Western parts of India. This new
federation would be directly linked to England”.”

. The question arises as t0 why Igbal felt it necessary to clarify his
position. In this respect, Dr. Javeed Igbal’s explanation seems relevant
and appropriate. According to him, till 1930, the All-India Muslim
League strictly adhered to the Fourteen Points of Jinnah and there was
also a possibility of the settlement of the communal problems. Thus, i
was almost impossible to present such a revolutionary proposal al that
time from the platform of the League.’ .

In the light of this explanation of Javeed Igbal, we can say wilh
confidence that Igbal presented his revolutionary proposal consciously o
unconsciously, but later on tried to reshape it in response t0 the
criticism that it received. However, in spite of describing the creation of 2
Muslim province as his sole objective, Igbal was earnestly yearning for?
Muslim state. On September 15, 1933, Iqbal wrote to Raghib Ahsan fr";:
Lahore, “The fulfilment of what you are thinking of, is deP""d".‘w
several new causes and conditions. The most important among them . ihe
need for the creation of an Islamic state in the North-West of India f

. 80
"Hasan Ahmad (ed.), Igbal - His Political Ideas at Cross Road, Aligs™ 197.p
:Fu'idul Haq, Jahane Deegar, Karachi, 1983, p.116.
Javeed Igbal, Zinda Rood, Lahore, 1984, p.415.




implementation of the Pakistan Scheme. Despite all such ]

In 1937, in his letters to Jinnah, Iqbal laid a great hud“'“i :
creation of a Muslim state in India. On May 28, 193;'?:5.1 sl
Jinnah, “After a long and careful study of Islamic law T have come 1o
the conclusion that if this system of law is properly understood a:E
applied, at least the right to subsistence is secured to everybody. But
the enforcement and development of the Shariat of Islam is impossible
in this country without a free Muslim state or states”.

H_ further writes, “But as I have said above in order to make it
possiblcfm'thlim India to solve the problems it is necessary to
redistribute the country and to provide one or more Muslim States with
absolut. majorities”. He asked the Quaid: “Don’t you think that the time
for such a demand has already arrived?" In another letter on June 21,
1937, Igbal described the Government of India Act 1935, as disap' Jinting.

For the maintenance of law and order in the country and for protecting
the Muslims from the domination of the non-Muslims, Iqbal suggested that a
new federation consisting of the Muslim majority provinces should be
created. The next line of the letter in particular, is worthy of our attention.
Iqbal says, “This has been my honest conviction for many years and I still
believe this to be the only way to solve the problem of bread for Muslims as
well as to secure a peaceful India.® Thus, it can rightly be said that historical
factors brought Igbal in conformity with the Pakistan Scheme of Chaudhry
Rahmat Ali — something which he had vehemently denied in 1934.

On November 22, 1937, Sayyid Abul Hasan Ali Nadvi had a
meeting With Igbal during which the latter described the establishment of
a Muslim state in the sub-continent as indispensable. Igbal told him,
“Had not there been the struggle of Shaikh Ahmad Sarhindi, Shah
Waliullah and Aurangzeb, the Hindu civilisation and philosophy would
have devoured Islam. A nation that does not have its state cannot
preserve its civilisation and religion. Religion and civilisation survive
only due to power and authority. Therefore, Pakistan is the only solution
to the problems of the Muslims including their economic problems”™.*

Even if we accept that Igbal, in his Address, only mentioned the
formation of a Muslim province, his words “Final Destiny” deserve our
attention and consideration. By these words, he was alluding to those
circumstances and conditions towards which destiny was driving the

- Muslims of India.

i.fahmw Deegar, p.51.
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In short, without indulging in the controversy whether Igba] yac :
favour of a Muslim state or Muslim province, we must reme mbcrafh in
he was earnestly desirous of the creation of a region in which thal
Muslims could model their lives in accordance with their cyjy, e
traditions and spiritual values. ral

Mukhtar Zaman is fully justified in saying that, “The Allahapsg
Address definitely contains the spirit of Pakistan if not its name, Tp;
very spirit infused by Iqbal penetrated into the political COnSCiousness
of the Muslims within ten years and l:einvignrated and revitalised !

L

b
Nugoosh, Igbal Number, p-503. l
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THE ROUND TABLE
CONFERENCES 1930-1932

After the approval of the Nehru Report, the Congress, in its annual
session at Lucknow in December 1929, empowered its working committee
10 launch a Civil Disobedience movement at some proper moment. Thus, on
March 13, 1930, a Civil Disobedience Movement was launched under the
leadership of Gandhi. Meanwhile, the Simon Commission had also
completed its investigations. Before the publication of the Simon
Commission Report, Governor-General, Lord Irwin, announced the decision
of the British Government that a conference of all the political parties and
rulers of the States would be held in London, to discuss the political tangles
afflicting India. It is worth mentioning here that the Quaid-i-Azam had
already presented a proposal to the similar effect, to the British Prime
Minister Ramsay McDonald. On June 19, 1929, MK. Gandhi made his
participation into the conference conditional to fulfilment of the demand that
the British Government should announce that the proposed conference would
draw up a constitution which would grant the Dominion Status to India. The
Congress leaders were arrested on starting the Civil Disobedience
Movement. In this way, the Congress did not take part in the first Round
Table Conference. The Muslims remained away from the Civil Disobedience
Movement, because, as Moulana Mohamed Ali put it, “The aim of this
movement, instead of complete independence for India, was to enslave the
seventy million Muslims by the Hindu Mahasabha™. The Quaid-i-Azam also
opposed the Civil Disobedience Movement.

The All-India Muslim League in December 1929, welcomed the
convening of the conference and demanded that only those Muslims should
be invited to attend the conference who were the true representatives of
their nation. Allama Igbal and seven ~ther leaders of the Punjab while
welcoming this decision, linked the success of the conference with two
conditions. In their opinion, the conference could not succeed without
settling the Hindu-Muslim disputes. Secondly, the participants of the
conference should be the true representatives of their communities.'

1
l M. Rafique Afzal (ed.) Gufiar-e-Igbal, Lahore, 1966, pp.101-02.
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For the first Round Table Conference the British GO
announced the names of 57 delegates which included eighteen
and 16 representatives of the Indian states. The Muslim represeatatives
e aded M.A. Tiomah, Moulana Mobamed Al the Ags KP Moulv
AK. Fazlul Haq and Mian Muhammad Shafi. The ofher representatives
were Sastri, Sir Tej Bahadur Sapru, M.R. Jayakar, Chamanlal Setalvad,

C.Y. Chintamani and B.R. Ambedkar. The Conference Was inaugur ated by
the King-Emperor George V on November 12 1030, at St. Jame’s Palace.
The Conference did not have a preset agenda. Its first decision was
about the separation of Burma from India. The Indian mpre'scntatwe:s and
those of the Indian States were unanimous in their opinion that India
should have a federal system of government. Maharaja of Bikaner
declared that the Indian States would also join the proposed _fedefaf:mn
provided, their rights wore adequately safe ed. During this session,
Moulana Mohamed Ali made the final speech of his life. He said, 1 want

to go back to my country if I can go back with the substance .of freedom
ave country. If you do not

in my hand. Otherwise [ will not go back t0 2 sl )
give us freedom in India you will have ©© give me a grave here”.
Afier lengthy discussions, various committees and sub-committees

were formed regarding provincial constitution, minorities, reforms in
the N.W.F.P., seoaration of Sindh, Defence and the federal structure,
M.A. Jinnah fu'y participated in the proceedings of the first Round
Table Conference. He served on (a) Federal Structure Sub-Committee;
(b) Minorities Sub-Committee; (¢) Defence Sub-Committee and (d) the
S 1b-Committee on the Separation of Sindh from the Bombay
Prasidency,” where he gave an ardent and free expression to his views
and ideas as a true representative of the Indian Muslims.

He fully supported the demand of the separation of Sindh from
Bombay. He proved with arguments that the administration of Sindh was
er..irely different from that of Bombay except that a few who were
clected from Sindh, represent their constituencies in the Bombay
Legislative Council and problems facing Sindh come under discussion
perhaps once in a blue moon. The Quaid also pointed out that as far as
the judicial system was concerned Sindh was completely separate from
Bombay because in Sindh, there was 2 Chief .Court and the Judiciel
Commissioner’s Court was the highest Tribunal, the appeal from thet®

Tzl Iqbal (ed) Writings and Speeches of Moulana Mohamed Ali, Labore, 199
VolIl, p345. ' ;

Ypiay, Abmad, Quaid--Azam Mohammad Ali Jinnah = Second Phase of H
Freedom Struggle 1924-34, Islamabad, 1994,p.132. -
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lying 10 the Privy Council direct and not to the Bombay High Court. The
Chairman of the Committee agreed-With the Quaid that Sindh was not
under the Bombay High Court. Continuing his arguments the Quaid

" argued that if Sindh was to be constituted as a separate province, the only
question that would be left whether or not the new province be able to
stand on its own economically”’. He strongly condemned the notion that
Sindh was a deficit province. He blamed that it was only on papers that
gindh was shown as a deficit unit. On the other hand, if in reality it was
as a representative of Bombay, he would like to ask as to why this
“Bombay must get rid of this white

elephant and Sindh should be linked with some other province. The

Quaid further argued that the Congress itself during its Karachi session of
1913, had recommended the separation of Sindh from Bombay. He
called upon the members of the Committee that while deciding the fate of
the province, only the interests of its people should be kept in view.!

ed in the discussion about the

The Quaid also actively participat
state of the Indian army. Presenting solid facts and figures, he said that
at that time, out of the three thousand officers of the Indian army, only

seventy had received the Royal Commission. He recommended the
gradual decrease in the number of British soldiers in the Indian army
and the setting up of an institution on the pattern of Sandhurst. He also
called for a timetable for the fulfilment of the above-mentioned
demands. The Quaid also demanded that from then onwards no English
soldier in the Indian army should receive the Royal Commission. He
also emphasised the need that all recruitments should be made purely
on merit so as to enhance the efficiency of the army.

The Quaid bitterly criticised the principle of the nominations to the
sub-committee on the structure and nature of the federation. He asserted
that no community or party would like the nomination of its
representatives. The Quaid expressed his opinions on all imporiant
constitutional matters, carefully avoiding comments on communal issues.
Butata meeting of the Federal Structure Committee on January 13, 1931,
E‘Lm; :f:ft stress % the Hindu-Muslim settlement. He said, “We have

a stage, howev i il : g
I d'o not tell thisgsub-coe:r:ﬁtt‘::ﬂ:m:mﬂ:md}:cl ﬁuﬁs:len::lr:;?g ms;?iy dully Ilf
:;aymti:l?s Ti:lethe Hindu-Mussalman settlement is a oomiitigs pr::ec;:.nt,
Government of?mnt: {Wm‘ﬂai?lﬂtg’jnmdzutu;mn 60 5 (fumpleted for the
the Mussalmans that will give the unless you provide safeguards for
feeling of confidence in the future m a ‘cuqlphlc sense of security and a
constitution of’@@mnt of India

S0,
province was linked to Bombay.

1
M. Rafique Afzal (ed.) §
: ) Selected Speeches and § -
Al Jinnah, Lahore, 1973, pag . o @ Quaid--Azam
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and unless you secure their cooperation and willing
constitution that you frame for India will work for 24 hours” " ™
During the discussion on federation, the Quaid visualiseq
federation for India, as he wrote to Abdul Matin Chaudhry, “If j, ¢Inb:
genuine real one not artificial or fictitious™.!
mmmmmmﬂyunmmuu}
federal system of government for India and; (2) abolition of the
system in the provinces and replacing it by a responsible gover
Consensus was also reached on the separation of Sindh from Bombay, By
mwmdhdrm&powsbﬁmnﬂ:mmumm
udmcHindemlinFobhmumHmthcsmled.Thm,m]mm
1931, the first Round Table Conference was formally wound up.

GANDHI-IRWIN PACT

After the first Round Table Conference, Lord Irwin realised that as
longulhc“SmPruidaﬂ“oftheCongmss.M.K.Gmdhiwusinjlilil
would be a futile exercise to go for the second conference. On January
25, 1931, Gandhi and his colleagues were released unconditionally and
the notification declaning the Congress Working Committee as unlawful
was withdrawn. “I am content”, announced the Viceroy, “to trust those
who will be effected by our decision to act in the same spirit as inspires
it"? In the meanwhile, Lord Irwin was persuaded by the Liberals
including Sapru, Jayakar and Sastri to see Gandhi if he sought an
interview. Thus the stalemate was broken and Gandhi agreed to have a
frank talk with the Viceroy. The “Super President” of the Congress and
Lord Irwin met on February 16, for 4 hours. They had two meetings on
the 18" and 19* for three and a half hours. The conversation was
restricted mostly to the conditions on which a truce could be reached. At
last the truce which came to be known as Gandhi-Irwin Pact, was signed.
This Pact contained the following points:- ,
1) The Congress would effectively discontinue its Civil
Disobedience Movement.

2) The Congress would take part in the second Round Table
Conference. .

3) The Congress would be allowed canvassing for the sale of
Indian manufactured goods.

4) The Government would withdraw all the ordinance

promulgated in connection with the movement.

1
2q g Saced (ed.) Quaidti-Azam - A Bunch of Rare Letiers, Lahore, 19%9.P%
Gopal, The Viceroyalty of Lord Irwin 1926-31, Oxford, 1957, p99-
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5) All those arrested durin ivil D; ;
would be released. g the Civil Disobedience Movement
6) All the lawsuits filed against ici
Disobedience ancmentgtuuldml:cp:ttf:lf:nwt: of the Civil
involved in violence. SxREpt G
The decision was Irwin’s own. The bulk of the : .
opinion in India believed that the Viceroy was mﬂl‘tgl::ia:;ﬂ and offical
setting up a defeated foe. The Home Government too expressed ifx
private their dislike of the acceptance of the unique and semi-sovereign
position of the Congress. As soon as the Pact was signed it appeared
that the Congress had gained a good deal more than the Government.
The whole pro-Congress press made the world believe that it had won a
great victory and the Ram Raj was just round the comer." The Vir
Bharat (Lahore, 3 April, 1931) treated the Pact as a personal victory for
M.K. Gandhi. The Hariana Tilak (Rohtak, 14 April, 1931) stated that
the Government had to bow before the Congress and the Viceroy had to
surrender before the country’s united voices and great sacrifices.
This Pact damaged the credibility of the British Government in the
eyes of the Indian Muslims. Once again, after the annulment of the
partition of Bengal the Muslims were forced to conclude that the British

Government understood only the language of violence and agitation.
THE SECOND ROUND TABLE CONFERENCE

The second Round Table Conference lasted from September 7 to
December 1, 1931. Under the Gandhi-Irwin Pact, the Congress also
participated in it. Two committees were set up to resolve the federal
and minorities issues. M.K. Gandhi, who was a member of both these
committees, created hindrances in all constructive activities. First of all,

and asserted that they were only the self-appointed delegat
not the true representatives of the Indian people. Secondly, he proposed
to dissolve the Minorities Committec as it failed to achieve its
objectives. Gandhi also insisted that communal question should not be
allowed to become an obstacle in the way of the formulation of the
constitution. Sir Muhammad Shafi out rightly dismissed his viewpoint
and declared that any constitution that failed to address the communal
problems would be totally unacceptable to the Indian Muslims.

'David Page, Prelule to Partition, Delhi, 1982, p.230.
Native Newspapers Report, April 18, 1931, p.325.
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The proposal presented by Gandhi for the solug
problem was mtdiﬁuemﬁmﬂwﬂwukgpmmmt’:h:mm
unanimously rejected by the Muslims. In his personal capacify, ("""
mmﬂymmmmmmmmmclmw
Muslims on .the condition that the Muslims should not support "tfo{uu
of separate electorate for other minorities. But this proposal was rei oy

When Gandhi foiled all attempts of reconciliation, the Agy -
brokered a deal regarding the minorities. Besides the Muslil:u o
Anglo-Indians, the Depressed Classes and the Indian Christiang i
parties to the agreement. All the groups included in the g i
supported the separate electoral system. Presenting the accord bef
the Minorities Committee on November 13, 1931, the Aga 1(5:
remarked, “This agreement dealing with a highly sensitive and
complicated issue has been reached after lengthy deliberations
therefore, all the people should regard it as a joint accord. It shoyld be
accepted or rejected as a whole”. Gandhi not only rejected the
agreement but also threatened to start fast unto death if the
Untouchables were given the right of separate electorate. In a speech he
said, “I can fully understand the demands presented by other nations
but the demands made by the Untouchables are extremely shocking.
We do not want to separate the Untouchables. The Sikhs, the Muslims
and the Christians can live separately but those who talk of the political
rights of the Untouchables are completely unaware of the conditions
prevailing in India and its society. I want to declare it forcefully that I
would resist this move even if I am left alone”."

COMMUNAL AWARD

Unable to resolve the communal disputes, the British Prime
Minister made a fervent appeal to all leaders to reach a communal
settlement and, at the end, told them that if such an agreement was nol
forthcoming within a reasonable time the British Government would
have no alternative to laying down a provisional scheme of its own.

When there seemed no possibility of resolving the communal
problems, on August 16, 1932, the British Government announced its
famous Communal Award. It ensured the continuation of the separal®
electorate. The Muslims were given mwﬂdﬂnmmﬁ!{ﬂ“r
weightage in the Muslim minority provinces. In the same way, weightage
was given to the European settlers in Bengal and Assam. The Sikhs got this
privilege in the Punjab whereas the Hindus of the N.W.F.P. and Sindh also
benefited from it. The Award also gave the right of separate electorate ©

! Ameen Zubairi, Siasar-e-Millia, p.264.
l &
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for India, Gandhi wrote, “The separate electorate is b; i

Hindus and the Untouchables and as far a5 the H&?ﬂmwgmg i

the separate electorate would chop it into Pieces”. He threatened that if the
electorate was not withdrawn from the Untouchables, he \:m[d

end his life by observing the fast unto death,

Gandhi started his fast on September 30, 1932, Meanwhile
prominent Hindu leaders prevailed upon the Untouchables’ leader 1y
B.R. Ambedkar to abandon the right of separate electorate under certain
conditions. Thus, under the Poona Pact, the Untouchables got a specific
number of seats in the general Hindu seats and, in this way, Gandhi’s fast
was brought to an end. Under the Communal Award, the proportion of

the Muslim representation in the various provinces was as follows:-
sty g:a': Repl:::::b:ion
U.P. 228 66
Punjab 175 86
Bengal 250 119
Bombay 175 30
N.WEF.P. 50 36
Madras 215 21
Sindh 60 34
Orissa 175 42

The above figures clearly indicate that the Muslims did not get any
special benefit from the Communal Award and yet, keeping in mind the
greater interest of the country, the Muslims decided to endorse it for the
transitional period. The Executive Board of the All-India Muslim
Conference in its session at Delhi on August 21, 1932, passed a .
resolution declaring the Muslim representation in the various provinces
provided in the Communal Award to be disappointing. The Board
expressed its grave concern over the fact that the proportion of the
Muslim representation in the legislative assemblies of U.P., Bihar,
Orissa and Madras was reduced even from the former level. As against
this, the representation given to the non-Muslims in the legislative
assembly of the N.W.F.P. was three times more than that of their
Population. On November 20, 1932, in a joint statement issued by

T ———
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Moulvi Mazhar-ud-Din of Jnminl.-e-l.llama-c-l(anpu,
Secretary of the Muslim Conference and Sir M
Secretary of the All-India Muslim League declared that the anq"“h.
Award was against the political rights and aspirations of the Mmm!w
Despite this, the three leaders decided to endorse the Aushm"i
Condemning the Communal Award in one of ts editorials, t, o™
India (Calcutta) wrote, “Juggle with figures, how YOu may, or ht:r o
over percentage for ever, the basic fact remains that the Muslin:g g
Bengal have not been given the majority to which they are entitleg~ 2 o
Although the All-India Muslim League was divided i 'hl'u
factions, yet both of them expressed their dissatisfaction over the
Communal Award. At the Calcutta session of the All-India Muslim
League in 1933, Mian Abdul Aziz in his presidential address askeq the

- Muslims to “accept the Award as an accomplished fact even though

some of its provisions did not come up to our expectations which were
based on definite promises made by the Prime Minister consistent with
the justice of our cause”. Hafiz Hidayat Husain of the Hidayat Group of
the All-India Muslim League in his presidential address expressed the
opinion that the Communal Award fell short, not only of the minimym
Muslim demands, but even of the recommendations made in the
Government of India’s Despatch.’ During the same session, Moulvi
Shafee Daudi tabled a motion emphasising that although the Communal
Award did not come up to the expectations of the Muslims, Jet they
had decided to accept it in the collective interest of the country,

The League Council at its session on March 4, 1934, decided to
accept the Communal Award until a substitute was agreed upon by the
various communities, and on that basis, expressed its readiness for
cooperation with other communities and parties to secure such a future
constitution for India as would be acceptable to the country. The Quaid,
after the meeting of the Council, opined that “The emphasis which
Musligns place on the Communal Award is only an indication of their
desif¥ to make sure that any national demand which they join to put
fofvard on behalf of the country will incorporate the safeguards which
" tuslims consider to be minimum”.*

Quaid-i-Azam Mohammad Ali Jinnah also held the view that the
Communal Award should be accepted till alternate proposals wcff-
formulated. On February 4, 1935, proposing an amendment in the Joint

‘Ix.x.nziz. The All Parties Muslim Conference, Karachi, 1972, pp.115-121.
"h.ﬂh.ccd_- = -
. uz-Zaman, Towards Pakistan, Lahore, 1964, pp.70-71.

-:;:f'ﬁldﬂln Pirzada, Foundations of Pakistan, Vol.Il, Karachi, 1970, o
] bid., Vol.1N, Pp.-224-25.
'bid.. Vol 11, p.233.
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parliamentary Report in the Central Legislature, ha sai

our Hindu friends are not satisfied with the mﬁﬁmm

the same time I can also tell the House that my Muslim friends are not

satisfied with it either, because-it does not meet their full demands. And
ing for myself, personally, I am not satisfied with the Communal

Award, and again speaking as an individual, my self-respect will never

be satisfied until we produce our own scheme”.

The Muslim press with one voice asked the Muslims to accept the
Communal Award until some alternate was agreed upon. The Eastern
Times (Lahore) on December 21, 1933, observed that the only way to
meet the present situation was to accept the Communal Award for at least
10 years and present a united front to the enemics of India’s freedom.” In

* another editorial the Eastern Times expressed the view that the Muslims
were insisting on the maintenance of the Award not because they were
to national unity or to an agreed settlement of the communal
question, but because they were forced in defence of their existence to
insist on the definition and protection of their rights.> The Zamindar on
March 28, 1934, declared that the Muslims would not give up the
Communal Award as long as the Hindu Mahasabhites were dreaming
that they would makg the Award ineffective by inciting the Sikhs and
. Christians against it of by seeking the support of Col. Wedgewood.*

The Indian National Congress adopted a wavering stand regarding
the Communal Award. On Junc 17, 1934, the Congress Working
Commitiee adopted a resolution neither accepting mor rejecting it. It
said, “since the different communities in the country are sharply
divided on the question of Communal Award, therefore, it can neither
accept nor reject it as long as the division of opinion lasts”.®* But with
the passage of time the Hindu leaders and their press raised great hue
and cry against the Award. Jawaharlal Nehru calling the Award as “an
undesirable thing” remarked "Wat “if we think in terms of an
independent India we cannot posybly fit that Award in it The
Congress condemned the Commungl Award as “inconsistent with
democratic principles and disruptive otY{ndian unity”.”

The Hindu press started a tirade ayainst the Award. The Bande
Matram (Lahore) on May 4, 1934, held thit the Communal Award was

:M.H.Saiyid, Muhammad Ali Jinnah -A Political*tudy, Karachi, 1970, p.162.
JPunjab Native Newspapers Report, December 23,1'933, p.709.

‘Pun_;:ab Native Newspapers Report, March 30, 1933, pp.132-33.

sPun;ab Native Newspapers Report, March 30, 1934, v.? 133.

‘Faundan'am of Pakistan, Vol 1l, p.247.

TI.H.Qumslu'. The Struggle For Pakistan, Karachi, 1965, p.111.

The Indian Annual Register, 1936, Vol.II, p.181.
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to the fundamen inciples of nationalism." The Tribyp,
) on August 27, 1934, SllppOI"t?d Madan‘ Mohan Malavia who
denied that the British Premier’s ‘decision was ‘Award’. According 1
the newspaper it was just a Government pmpo_sal neither better nor
rorse.? Khushal Chand, in Milap ) of April 29, 1934, threatened
the Swaraj Party that if it did not oppose the Communal Award it would
not be able to achieve real success and no true Indian would support it.*

P

THE THIRD ROUND TABLE CONFERENCE

The third Rou

nd Table Conference lasted from November 17 to
December 24, 1932. The Congress and the Labour Party did not take part
in it. As in the past, the Muslims continued t0 insist that the residuary

owers in the proposed federation should be given to the provinces.
a White Paper based on the

The British Government issued
recommendations of all the three Conferences. It was handed over to a
| report in November 1933.

Select Committee which published its fina
Both the Houses of the Parliament approved this bill and on July 4,
1935 a new constitution of India came into being.

Newspapers Re
port, May 5, 1934
, Newspapers Repor, p.380. il
ve Newspapers Repor1, May 5, 1934 p.193
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- THE GOVERNMENT OF INDIA
ACT 1935

Under clause 84 of the Montagu-Chelmsford Reforms, the Simon
Commission was set up in 1927. This Commission was boycotted by
the overwhelming majority of the Indians. The Nehru Report was an
attempt to resolve the political disputes facing the country. But this
Report further complicated the situation. M.A. Jinnah presented his
Fourteen Points, however, the Hindus refused to accept them. The
Simon Commission Report appeared in 1930. In the meantime, three
Round Table Conferences were held in London from 1930 to 1932. As
a result, the Commugal Award was presented. The British Government
issued a White Pa;er based on the recommendations of the three
Conferences. It was Sent to a select committee of the British Parliament
in April 1933. This committee functioned continuously for 18 months.
During this period, it held 159 sessions. Based on the recommendations
of the select committee a bill was presented to the Parliament on
February 5, 1935. This bill was debated in the House of Commons and
the House of Lords for 43 and 13 days, respectively. The Government
of India Act 1935 was the longest bill ever passed by the British
Parliament. This Act had the following salient features:-

1) Establishment of an All-India Federation.

2) Establishment, of a semi-responsible government at the Centre.

3) Provincial autonomy.

4) Special powers of the Governors and the Governor-General.

5) Establishment of the Federal Court, the Federal Railway

Authority, the Reserve Bank of India and the Federal Public

Service Commission.

CREATION OF THE ALL-INDIA FEDERATION

. I,:'“ﬁﬂg the Round Table Conferences, the Indian States had agreed in
principle to join the proposed federation but later on, due to certain reasons,
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they. refused to do so. Under the. Government of India Act 1935,
were divided into the federal, provincial and concurrent subjects.
Dyarchy was abolished in the provinces but introduced at the
Centre. Under the Act, the Central Government was given the charge of
defence, religious, financial and tribal affairs. These were 1o pe
administered by the Governor-General with the help of his nominateq
secretaries. The remaining federal subjects were transferred to the
ministers who were responsible to the Assembly for their actions.

FEDERAL ASSEMBLY

The Act provided a bicameral legislature, the Indian Legislative
Assembly and the Council of State. The Assembly was to consist of
375 members out of which 250 represented British India while 125
were to be nominated by the Indian States.

The Assembly was to meet at least once a year. Both the Houses
were to elect their own President and Vice-President from amongst its
members. The life of the Assembly was five years but the Governor-
General could extend it.

The Upper House, the Council of State, was a permanent body of
which one-third members to retire after every three years. The Council was
to consist of not more than 260 members of whom 156 were to represent
British India and 140, the Indian States. The members from British India
were elected while those of the States were nominated by their rulers.

The legislature was not an independent but a sham body. The Govemor-
General could veto the laws passcu by the Assembly. In certain cases his
prior sanction was necessary for introduction of Bills in the Assembly. The
legisiature had no control over the Executive. There were 80% non-votable
items in the Budget over which the legislature had no control. The legislature
had no power whatsoever to amend or change the Act of 1935.

POWERS OF THE GOVERNOR-GENERAL

The Governor-General who was appointed by the British Crown
had a distinctive position in the constitution. He was given unlimited
powers. He enjoyed the following special powers:

1) Financial credibility of the federal government.

2) Maintenance of law and order in India.

3) Safeguarding the legitimate rights of the minorities.

4) Safeguarding the public servants and their rights.

5) Checking the discriminatory taxes against the British goods.

6) Safeguarding the rights of the Indian States.
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In the following matters, he was not even'bound by the advice of
his Council:-

1) Appointment and sacking the Council of Ministers.

2) Issuing ordinances.

3) Suspending the constitution. g

4) Summoning and adjourning the session of the Central

Legislature and dissolving the Assembly.

5) Interfering in the provincial matters.

6) Disallowing the debate on any bill in the assemblies.

7) Sending back the already approved bills to the assemblies for

further discussions.

The Governor-General was made in charge of the defence,
religious and tribal affairs. He himself appointed the counsellors for
administering these affairs. The Governor-General also had the power
to approve the appointment and dismissal of the President of the
Assembly. Even in the financial matters, he enjoyed wide-ranging
powers. No tax could be levied without his assent. He had complete
jurisdiction over 80% of the country’s budget.

Like the Governor-General, the provincial governors also had
unlimited powers. The special powers of the governors included the
maintenance of law and order in the provinces, the protection of the state
employees and their rights and the protection of the rights of the minorities.

FEDERAL COURT
3

A Federal, Court was set up under the Act with jyrisdiction over
British India and the States. The court was to consist of a Chief Justice
and six judges. A Judge of the Federal Court could hold office till the
age of sixty-five. A person who had practised law for ten years in a
High Court or acted as a judge in a provincial court for five years,
could be appointed as a judge in the Federal Court. The Federal Court
had original and appellate, jurisdiction. The Federal Court was
authorised to interpret the constitution and to see that the provinces and
the Centre acted only within those spheres which were reserved for
thmp under the constitution. The Federal Court was also empowered to
advise the Governor-General on constitutional matters. But it was up to
the Governor-General to accept or reject the advice.

ABOLITION OF THE INDIA COUNCIL

The office of the Secretary of State for India was created by the
Act of 1858. By the same Act a Council of the Secretary of State
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ltnm'vn as India Council was established to assist him in (he g;
of his duties. The Government of India Act 1935 not only e 8¢
powers of the Secretary of State but also abolished the lm:linlmedﬂ-"=
The Act empowered the Secretary of State to appoint not less than "
and not more than six advisors. They were not entitled three
Parliament and their function was merely advisory.

Although the Government of India Act 1935 was the outcome of
prolonged discussions and debates yet, it could not come Up 10 the
expectations of any community of India. It d¥d not transfer significan
powers to the Indians. On the contrary, the Governor-General and the
provincial governors were given so many powers that the federal apg
provincial legislatures could not function as law-making bodies in (he
real sense of the word. Discriminatory treatment was meted out to the
States. They were given special powers and privileges. The proportion
of their representation was more than that of their population,
Moreover, the representatives of the British India were elected whereas
those of the Indian States were nominated by the rulers of these States.
These rulers were under the Political Department and, thus, their
nominees always displayed their loyalty to the British Government.

Both, the League and the Congress, expressed their dissatisfaction
over the Act. In a resolution, the All-India Muslim League deplored the
enforcement of the Act despite the disapproval of all the political
parties of the country. The League condemned the Act for being
detrimental both to the British India and the Indian States. In the
League’s opinion, its aim was to create more hindrances in the way of
giving a completely autonomous and responsible government to the
Indians. Although, the provincial scheme of the constitution contained
several objectionable points yet, in the League’s view in the light of the
prevailing circumstances, maximum benefit should be derived from it.
Expressing his views about the Act, the Quaid-i-Azam remarked that it
was “thoroughly rotten, fundamentally bad and totally unacceptable™
A.B. Keith denounced the proposed Federation as “bastard federalism”.

According to Moulvi A.K. Fazlul Haq, the Act ensured neither the
Muslim Raj nor the Hindu Raj but the British Raj.' Condemning the
Act the Congress declared in a resolution that any such constitution was
totally unacceptable which usurped the rights and powers of the Indians
and deprived them of their right to solve their political and economic
problems in the manner in which they liked. Pandit Nehru equated the
Act with a machine having strong brakes but no engine.

to sit in the

'The Indian Annual Register, 1937, Vol.II, p.411.
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when the Congress assumed power |
vandalistic policies to annihilate Muslim Culture, Civilization, language
and religion to settle, Présumably, old scores with them,

It all started when elections were held in India i February-March
1937 under the Government of India Act 1935. B j

summed up in the following objectives:
a) Protection of the religious rights of the Muslims.
b) Quashment of aj| oppressive laws,
¢) Opposing all those laws which were antagonistic to the interests
of India and which adversely affected the basic human rights.
d) Curtailing administrative expenditure and using the savings on
constructive projects.
e) Curtailing expenditure on Indian army, ensuring Indians’ inducting
into the army and using the savings on constructive projects.
D Industrialization ang improvement in the economic, social and
educational conditions in rural areas.
2 Compulsory primary education.
h)  Protection of Urdy language and its script.
f) Improvement in the general welfare of the Musl!f!ls n
) Cultivating correct public opinion and reawakening. of gener
Political awareness. :
In addition, the AllIndia Muslim League also announced s
Vould C00perate with the Congress in the Legislative A;s;:];fe;im Prof.
%Tl:f-‘ election manifesto of the Congress was m‘““:ctm manifestoes
"d, a fenowned historian, after studying

-
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concluded, “To all appearances the social policy it [the
advocated was much the same as the Congress policy”! Eyer o)
g f . A : Yén Pm
Mohammad Mujib, a staunch Nationalist Muslim admits gg.s "
manifesto issued by the League showed as much awareness at “the
peoples needs as that of the 'L',‘m':gn::ss“.1 Of the

The Congress fought these election with money and material reg,
of Hindu capitalists of Bombay and Ahmedabad on the one hand ang
the other, used its propaganda machinery and the Hindu:ienﬁgod G&ndh?'n
influence o its best interests. On the contrary, the AllIndia Mugj,.
League did not have capitalists for financial support to match, neither it hag
any effective propaganda machinery to counter the Congress on any frop
The All-India Muslim League had only one newspaper The Star of Indig o
face the onslaught of the Congress media. The All-India Muslim League
could not.transform the political situation to any great extent as it had not
yet become a popular party of the masses itself.

As a cumulative effect of all these factors, the Congress earned
significant success in the elections as it won 711 seats out of total 1585
provincial seats. It won absolute majority in five provinces i.e. in
Madras, U.P., C.P., Bihar and Orissa. In Bombay, though it could not_
attain absolute majority yet it was in a position to form the government,
with the help of smaller groups. The All-India Muslim League could
not get any notable success in these elections.

Long before the elections, the Congress party and its leaders were
intoxicated with the prospects of success but the unexpected landslide victory
at the polls virtually turned their heads. As the results of the election started to
pour in, the real intentions of the Congress began to come to light. The
president of the Congress, Subash Chandra Bose, was the first to declare that
from now on the Congress would adopt the slogan of “Congress
Dictatorship” and should abandon the idea of cooperation or formation of a
coalition government. Pandit Nehru went a step ahead and declared that there
were only two parties in India, the Congress and the Government. The others
must line up. The Quaid-i-Azam promptly refuted this claim and said, ‘1
refuse to line up with the Congress. There is a third party in this country and
that is the Moslems. We are not going to be dictated to by anybody”.”

Immediately after the elections the Congress started putting forward
unscrupulous and unconstitutional demands reflecting how it was going ©
wield its brute majority. The Act of 1935 had invested the govemors of the
provinces with special powers to protect the rights of the minorities. As a first
step to realise its dream of Ram Raj the Congress announced that it ywould

1

R. C':uplard. Indian Polisics 1936-1942, London, 1943'.g.\13.
- i:]::b' The Indian Muslims, London, 1967, p.439. N\,

n Sayeed, Pakistan — The Formative Phase, Karach); 1960, p.85.




House of ].m:ls on April 18, 1937 that since the governors were inm
Mmmmalpowm'urﬂermeﬁcmhmfmmﬂmmmem&
gimﬁwmmsp.en‘smnmcimpassemmined unresolved till Jupe
1937. At last, Lord Linlithgow, the Viceroy of India, made a categorical
assurance that the governors would not interfere in the day-to-day affairs of
the provinces. In the same breath, hcbcldnutassmametotlwnﬂmﬁtimtlw
the Government would protect their rights at all cost. The Viceroy appealed
to the Congress to help the Government to form the ministries. The Congress
Working Committee heeded the call and decided to form the ministries.

THE PROBLEM OF SETTING UP
OF GOVERNMENT

As has already been explained that there was a common perception
before the elections that the Congress and the League would form
coalition governments, but as a consequence of unexpected Congress

" victory at the polls, the impression turned out to be false.

In UP. the Congress$ displayed its customary Hindu narrovsminded
mentality with regard to the formation of the ministry. This province had a
special significance due to various reasons. Firstly, this area had been the
citadel of Mughal glory and its remnants were present at every inch of the
land. Secondly, the Indian culture and literature had developed here due to
deep Hindu-Muslim social intermixture. Thirdly, the Muslims of U.P.
despite being in minority had been leading the Indian Muslims in culture
and civilisation, literature and traditional national aspiration. Fourthly, U.P.
being the home province of Nehru family had been the hub of Congress
activities. Therefore,. the whole of India was watching intently the
developments taking place in this province. It was commonly and
popularly believed that whatever settlement was arrived at between the
Hindus and the Muslims in this province was bound to throw its shadow on
the whole of the sub-continent. _ ;

In the UP. Legislative Assembly the number of clected Muslim

; : : tv-six only one Muslim member
members was sixty-six. Qut of these sixty-six only Kalam Azsd
had been elected on Congress party ticket. Moulana Abllélhalia an:
the president of the Congress, sent a letter to Chaudhry. quz

"Ashi ' 456.
Ashiq Husain Batalvi, Igbal Kai Akhri Do Saal, Lahore, 1969, P
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the President of Muslim League Parliamentary Party statin
Muslim League could be allowed to join the Governmep >, ™ the
acceded o certain conditions. He put forward the following copgr ! i
1) The U.P. Muslim League Parliamentary Party shal cegge "
2) The existing members of the Muslim League Party ' EXigt,
Assembly shall become a part of the Congress Party, ~ ' @
3) These new members of the Congress would abide by the coge
conduct prepared by the Working Committee of the Cop, o
4) The Muslim League Parliamentary Buard' would be disguj.,,
and the League would not put up its own candidates in ,:d
future elections. 4
5) In the event the Congress Party deciding on resignation from
the Ministq or the Assembly seats, the new members would
follow suit.

The Muslim League could not have accepted these disgracefy|
conditions. These conditions had made the Congress intentions and
prejudices quite clear to the Muslims. The Congress believed that the Up,
was the centre of power for the League and its elimination from there
would automatically forecast its virtual demise all over India. Abul Kalam
Azad had himself admitted, “If the U.P. League’s offer of cooperation had
been accepted, the Muslim League party would for all practical purposes
have merged in the Congress. All students of Indian politics know that it
was from the U.P. that the League was reorganised. Mr. Jinnah took full
advantage of the s uation and started an offensive which ultimately led to
Pakistan”.” Fven Jjawaharlal Nehru, without mincing words wrote (o
Rajendra "asad, ' This was the winding up of the Muslim League group in
the U.®. a-d its absorption in the Congress. This would have a great effect
nc oaly in the U.P. but all over India and even outside. This would meana
tre. field for our work without communal troubles”.’

Quaid-i-Azam rejected these untenable condition of Abul Kalam
Azad outrightly. Not only the Muslims -but also a large number of
for gners and some Hindus as well condemned this Hindu narrow-
mi: ded mentality. Sir P. Griffiths terming it as a grievous blunder on
the part of the Congress, declared, that since there was no difference
between the political and social programmes of the two parties so the
coalition government could easily function. The Muslims, in this
situation, were compelled to believe that they were removed from
power only because the Congress was an utterly Hindu party."

1 : ;
Chaudhry Khaliquzzaman, Pathway to Pakistan, Lahore, 1961, p.16.
2Abul Kal ia Wi
X am Azad, India Wins Freedom, Calcutta, 1959, p.161.
‘g-g:aﬂdﬁ}". The Indian Nationalist Movement, p.125.
‘Griffiths, The British Impact on India, London, 1953, p.340.



the' League 1o join the ministry as ridiculous Moyy; Tufai
Manglori, who was a great supporter of the Congress mnfessadfxlum
smmqmmemmofmemoparﬁ:swmrdmm
during elections, the Congress, perceiving that it had attained maior:
refused to accept the Muslim League in the cabinet.? s

Eventually, when the Congress formed its governments in various
provinces, it adopted a dictatorial policy of highhandedness towards the
Muslims. The Urdu biweekly Madina (Bijnor) which supported the
Congress was forced to comment, “The Hindus developed a
misconception that the sun of the Hindu Raj was now in ascendcnce,
therefore, they should treat the Muslims like the rulers do” *

BANDE MATRAM — AS NATIONAL ANTHEM

Immediately after coming to power, the Congress declared the Tricolour
(Flag) as the national flag and Bande Matram as national anthem. As, a
deliberate attempt to further tease and pique the Muslim sentiments the
Congress government issued orders that the assembly session and meetings of
District Boards should begin with the singing of Bande Matram. In fact, this
anthem had been picked up from a novel Anand Math by a Bengali writer,
Bankim Chandra Chatterji. A cursory glance at the theme of the novel and the
anthem reveals beyond any doubt that they are nothing but a heap of malicious
and vicious propaganda against the Muslims. Pandit Nehru declared Bande
Matram national anthem refuting the Quajd-i-Azam’s objections. In response
to the Quaid-i-Azam'’s letter, he wrote, “It is true that the Bande Matram song
hmhmmﬁmclymociawdwimhﬂiannﬂﬁmaﬂsmfmmmdmndmty
years and numerous associations of sentiment and sacrifice have gathered
mnﬂ,it?optdusongsmmmadtmmﬂu‘.mrcmﬂtybcsmﬁlﬂy
mmmmwmnofplbucm&nmgauﬂmmﬂnﬂmde
Mmumﬂrgmmmamdashavinganyreﬁgimssig:ﬁﬁcmmmﬂ
was treated as a national song in praise of India™*

* How far Pandit Nehru's claim was based on truth and si ncerity can
be gauged by throwing a glance at the novel and the anthem. The story
of novel revolves round the life of a Hindu militant who decides to
fight against the Muslim rulers as a defender of his faith. The plot of

"Iqbal Kay Akhri Do Saal, p.480.
3. Wail Ahmad Manglori, Musalmanon ka Roshan Mustaqbil, Delhi, 1945, p.459.
Madina (bi-weekly, Bijnor), January 9, 1940,

SIE Eﬁm Pirzada (ed) Quaid-e-Azam Jinnah's Correspondence, Karachi,
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the novel is d:velged in the backdrop of Siraj-ud-Daula’s gege,, .

Bengal. The Naw 'now ruled Murshidabad. The hero of the n
Bhaonand plans to raise an army (0 topple the Muslim rulers, He o
one Mohinder andjputs before him the plan of an armed revoly 2gaing
the Muslims but Mohinder turns down the plan as impracticable, |,
infuriates Bhaonand. In utter frenzy and depression he says that the;;
religion has been.destroyed; their honour has been defiled, therefore
their religion can not be safeguarded unless those Muslims arc '
out. Mohinder asks him if he can turn them out all by himself. [,
answer, Bhaonand sings an anthem, “Will you consider the Motherland
weak even when seven hundred million tongues raise the slogan ang
fourteen hundred million hands wield the sword?” Mohinder st
refuses to believe him and Bhaonand tries again to convince him
saying, “An Englishman does not fle€'the battlefield even when his life
is in danger, but a Muslim runs away even if he perspires”.

Then Bhaonand, takes Mohinder to a Hindu temple to take oath in fron
of a statue called Jagar Dharti. The Hindu priest of the temple narrates to
them the glorious past of the motherland before the arrival of the Muslims.
Then they go into a cellar where a dreadful black statue of naked Kali Mata
is kept. The priest tries to incite their feglings saying “Look! what the
Mustims have done to the mother”. Afterwvards they enter another room
where anather statue of female deity with ten arms is kept. The priest says
that the mother will regain her youthful charm when they defeat the enemy.

Afterwards, Bhaonand and Mohinder together raise an army (o
liberate the mother (land) from the enemy (the Muslims). Every soldier
takes oath that he will refrain from indulging in worldly pleasures unless
he succeeds in evicting the enemy from the Motherland. After taking the
oath, every soldier sings Bande Matram with utmost solemnity.

The controversy over this anthem continued to rage for a long
time. 1.8rd Zetland rightly pointed out to Linlithgow, the Viceroy of
India that, in fact, it was not a song but declaration of war which the
Hindus had adopted to start a national movement against the Muslims
but if the Congress ministers of the U.P. thought that the Muslims, too,
ought to sing this Bhajan (Hindu religious song) with love and
devotion, then their ignorance was extremely regrettable. It
tantamounts to saying that the people of Czechoslovakia and Poland
should be called upon to raise slogans in favour of their common
enemy Hitler. Quaid-i-Azam condenmed Bande Matram as a war-song
against the Muslims. He declared that it smacked of blasphemy.'

Commenting on Bande Matram, Himayat-e-Islam, a non-political
magazine representing Anjuman-e- Himayat-e-Islam Lahore wrote, “We

' Ahmad Saced (ed.), Gufiar-i-Quaid-i-Azam, Islamabad, 1976, p.199.
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disagree with this song only because being M i '
by no means appropriate for the Muslims Ign si:i ::’51-:: hl:ev? that it is
views expressed in it are quite contrary to the Islamic bﬂ:_’:::';n is that the
Adabi Dunia was another popular and ﬂﬂn-polittc;.] '
published from Lahore. It was also critical of Bande Matram l:-“;:gm“F
was written in a provincial language Bengali, expressing v Fusf: it
and narrow miaded views, According to Adabi Dunia Ajla:; Iu;mid
national anthem “Saray Jahan Say Acha Hindustan 'Hamara"lq al’s
much better creation than Bande Matram on account of js fumfual
expression and thought content. Moreover, it had been S Sng HI:r.hal
in a language which was much simple and easily understo nd};; qth
people living throughout India from Peshawar to Calcutta and ]l:rm:
Sylhet to Banglore and Srinagar.

WARDHA EDUCATIONAL SCHEME

Another vicious plan reflective of bigoted Iindu mentality was a report
that came to be known as Wardha Educational scheme. The real purpose of
this scheme was to brain wash the Muslim y>uth by infusing in them the
ideology and theory of One Nation in place of Two Nation Theory. With this
blatantly anti-Muslim intentions M.K. Gandhi appointed a committee in
1937 under the presidentship of Dr. Zakir Husain to prepare a new
educational syllabus. The committee comprised of ten member out of which
only two were the Muslims. In fact, the c>mmittee which worked under
direct control and guidance of Gandhi, prepar=d its report in December 1937.
The report was called Wardha Scheme — an apt appellation, for it was titled
heavily against the Muslims. The report, in essence, sought to erase from the
minds of the Muslims the glory, importance, and love of their religion,
culture, and traditional social values. It envisaged the culmination of this
process by infusing in Muslim minds the supremacy of Hindu religion and
culture. Of the multifarious designs, the two most crucial and most nefarious
were the inculcation of the spirit of nationalism and Ahimsa (non-violence) in
the context of Hindu domination. Obviously both these evil objectives were
repugnant to the fundamental Islamic teachings.

The new educational scheme declared co-education and teaching
of music as compulsory. Five new books for students were prepared,
under the serial title of New Book, which described the qualities of
Hindu culture in the most emphatic manner. The manner, approach and
style of writing showed a deliberate attempt to minimise the glory,
honour and achievements of the Muslim pioneers. For instance, the
write-up of the Prophet of Islam (PBUH) was done with the conscious

: - in which he is held by the
¢ffort to denigrate the veneration and esteem, in
fai ‘o b , ike this: “Hazrat Muhammad
aithfuls, His biographical sketch ran like
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worshipped in a cave. He started his work at the age of forty gpg
this world at the age-of sixty-three”. Contrary to this, Hindu re}jo:
philosophy and the achievements of its pioneers were .dwm
highly hyperbolic style. The books propagated the concept ﬁgﬂmlu:l‘
that all the religions were genuine and, therefore, there was no neeg y
follow any particular religion for salvation. o
In C.P. and Berar, a new scheme under the name of Vidya Mande
scheme was akin to Wardha scheme in purpose and intent. The m;
scheme for its very name was unacceptable to the Muslims. Secondly
the Muslims rejected it because all the members of this syllabys
committee were non-Muslims. According to the scheme, schools were
to be set up only in those rural areas where land for school was donateq
by a philanthropist whose annual income was not less than Rs.200/.

and where at least forty educated, capable boys and girls were available .

within the radius of one mile. The medium of instruction, under this
scheme of education, was to be the vernacular language. It meant that
the Muslims were, per force, supposed to study Hindi or Marathi
language. The Muslims, then, demanded that the name of the scheme
should be changed and syllabus should be modified in such a way that
their children could get education in their own mother tongue. These
demands of the Muslims were deemed unworthy of consideration.
Then, things came to such a pass that they were forced to start an
agitation in front of the secretariat at Nagpur in January, 1939.

In fact, Wardha scheme was a part of Congress’ grand political
plan, the main objective of which was to prepare a generation of the
Muslims devoid of knowledge and insensitive to their past cultural
glory, civilization and religion. A glance at Moulvi Abdul Haq's letter
to Gandhi would reveal the dangerous implications involved in this
scheme for the Muslims. In his letter he stated, “You will be surprised
to learn that when a representative of my Anjuman paid visit to a school
in village Pandher of district Chindhwara, he was dumbfounded to se¢
that most of the Muslims and the Hindu students were offering prayers
in front of the statue of the goddess Sarsawati with hands clapped
before the school hours. The students studying in such schools have
forgotten their traditional greetings and in stead of exchanging
Assalamo Alaikum they greet with Namastay or Jay Ramji kel

On the Wardha scheme there is considerable agreement among
and foitign observers that it alienated the Muslims by cutting at the root of
their cultural tradition and educational system. “Was this not bound t0 %

1
h )
meen Zubairi, Siasat-e-Millia, Agra, 1941, p-408.
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as a deliberate challenge to the Muslim :

Je as the quintessence of idolatry? “asked Sir Regih:;:d c:f tlhe lfmdu

Eventually, all the political and non-politica] pmnip 5
Muslims de.::lared the Wardha scheme as harmful ang m?mp,"f.b"“
The All-India Musl{m Lcagug at a meeting of its working commi .
+ith @ uaid-i-Azam in the chair, rejected this scheme outrightl T}u'l;m
2 1939.Ina resolution adopted on the occasion, it was clca:iy ';:ﬂ
that the scheme was repugnant to the sentiments, ideology and religi
god ifs real purpose was to destroy the Muslim cultural l’u:riﬂ‘m

dually md: elevate the Hindu culture to a place of du:nimi

progressively. Sayyid Suleman Nadvi criticised this so-called
educational scheme as an attempt of the majority to dye the :ﬁinurity in
their own colour. Even Moulana Ahmad Saced of the Jamiarul Ulama-
¢-Hind — supporter of the Congress — threatened in a public meeting on
March 5, 1939 to launch civil disobedience movement if the Congress
implemented the scheme in toto.”

URDU LANGUAGE

The controversy over Hindi or Urdu has been raging since long but
during these two years the Congress found the real opportunity to
implement its nefarious designs. The Congress had adopted the kill-
Urdu policy because Gandhi who was its spiritual mentor had once
remarked that Urdu was the religious language of the Muslims and
since it was also written in the Quranic script, therefore, only the
Muslims could take the responsibility of keeping it alive.

In the beginning Gandhi raised the slogan of Hindustani language
then carried the flag of Hindi language. Then all the leaders of the
Congress, in a chorus, propagated the cause of Hindi. Pandit Nehru
supporting the use of Hindi emphasised, “The national movements could
gain great strength through Hindi language”. Therefore, he suggested (o
adopt Hindi as medium of instruction. The then president of the Congress,
Subash Chandra Bose joined the chorus reiterating that only Hindi could
become the common language. The chief minister of Bombay, B.G. Khare,
declared that nobody differed with the idea that India should have a
common language and that everybody agreed that Hindi was the common
language. Babu Rajendra Prasad declared that one common language Was

———

1

Indian Politics 1936-42, p.191.

"Resolutions of the All-India Muslim League, December 1938-March 1940,
PP.14-15,

JD‘I’ Ingilab, Lahore, March 9, 1939, p-3-
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necessary to cement the relationship of nationali
language was Hindi. For Gandhi, there wasn:.:beuﬂ- nnd that COmmgy
Devnagri and so only that should be adopted. Seript for Hindi thyy
. Immediately after assuming power, the
'mplﬂmt their schemes. Ins Ig’rism’a. thf u:g:f;::f‘“‘ t_"ﬂﬂlu
education issued orders that Hindi should be taught in ter of
while in Madras province Devnagri script A school,
hundred Y gri scripl was introduced in
schools for Hindi language. To top it all, all go e
announcements, statements and advertisements bega;g to hge ?emn“?'
Devnagri script. This insistence on teaching of Hindi und:s :;ed S
provoked strong reaction throughout the province. The C.P, Legi Iurf'“
Assembly, then, also decided to publish its proceedings ané mi%:ls amft
Hindi and Marathi. On demand from the Muslim members that U?:ic: &
also used for this purpose, one minister declared that printing ;,;
publishing of assembly speeches in Urdu for the sake of a handful of
minority members would be wastage of time and money.

In U.P. the language which was sought to be introduced in
government offices and courts was tempered and all the commonly
understandable Urdu words were replaced by difficult Sanskrit words.
When the school inspectors would visit schools, they would ask
students questions in a language replete with difficult and uncommon
Hindi words. Even in All-India Radio news broadcasts Sanskrit words
replaced the current and easily understandable diction. Words like
Taleem (education), Azadi (freedom), Ailaan (announcement), Muddai
(plaintiff) and Siasi (political) were replaced with weirdly sounding
Sanskrit words like Shiksa, Sotantra, Ghoshna, Tabadi and Rajnaitik
respectively. Commenting on this state of linguistic affairs, the Madina
(Bijnor) wrote, “News and articles which are being broadcast from the
Radio stations these days are stuffed with majority of such words that
cultured people feel impelled to plug their ears”.!

In short the Congress, after coming to power tried its level .best to
obliterate Urdu language but failed to achieve its goals, During this
period, Baba-i-Urdu Moulvi Abdul Haq did a yeoman's service 10
protect Urdu language from the linguistic atrocities of the Congress.
The All-India Muslim League and Anjuman-e-Taraqqi-e-Urdu forged a
joint stand and the Muslim League issued, as it did in the past,
statements in favous of Urdu. In 1937, in the Lucknow session of the
* All-India Muslim League, the Raja of Mahmudabad, stressed upon the
Urdu speaking people in a resolution that they should continue their
- efforts for the progress and protection of the language at every level.

1 N
Farman Fatehpuri, Hindi-Urdu Tanaza, Islamabad, 1976, pp.423-24.
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In his speech in New Delhi in 1938, the/Quaid.;.

the ramifications and du::lly _aﬁﬂ-effdcts of the Ooaci':'wn ﬁaflgm?
language and the extermination of Urdu. He sig that ﬁm:ibl.e"m-lp;i Hindi
mmammfuumlpmwh,hm%mmf
Mﬂmis.mmwmufmmw.mwé
o e ey e Mustim chikdn suady Hindy g
philosophy. Its unavoidable outcome is that Urdu language will e eliminateq
and the Muslims will loose their Islamic characteristics” ! Similarly, Liaquat
Ali Khan, another Muslim League stalwart, explaining the Muslim viewpoint
with regard to Urdu-Hindi conflict, stated in 1939, “we '

for this India and for the Hindus, we left Turkish language and adopted a
language which came into existence and made Progress in this country - 3
language which is not spoken anywhere else. Now, it is demanded of us that
we should speak the language of Balmeek. We
forward for the sake of Hindu-Muslim unity. We s
stq;forwmd.Wearestandingatll'ncedgeufoml
meet us, should come here” 2

PIRPUR REPORT

In 1937, the All-India Muslim League set up an eight member
committee under the chairmanship of Raja Sayyid Mohammad Mehdi of
Pirpur to look into the complaints of the Muslims. The committee after
thorough investigations and deliberations prepared a report which came
to be called Pirpur Report. This report, spread over 96 pages and divided
into three portions, covered a whole range of socio-cultural, political and
intra-communal tensions. The first portion of the Report made a general
review of the communal problem, the second encompassed Congress
policies, the rift of anthem, Bande Matram, Taranga Flag, dismissal of
the Muslims from Local Bodies, causes of communal riots and riots on
language and culture, .while the third portion dealt with the complaints of
the Muslim inhabitants of Madras, Bihar, Orissa, CP., Bombay and U.P.

Analysing this report, Prof. Coupland remarked that the report was
Prepared with utmost wisdom and it presented the Muslim complaints
in a logically argumentative style. Its notable quality was that nowhere

it lost control over moderation and patience and, therefore, whatever
was written was done with extreme care.

SHAREEF REPORT
Similarly,

vestionr ) N Bihar, the All-India Muslim League, constituted an
investigation committee under S M. Shareef to probe into the complaints of

‘Gﬂﬁ’ﬂr-f-ﬁuaid-i-am

; m, p.214.
*Hindi-Urdy Tanaza, p.4q).

have taken many steps
hall not now take another
imit. Anyone who wishes to
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excesses committed against the Muslims by the Congress minjg
repqnufﬂusmmmitteewnsalsudi\ridedimoﬂmcmm - The
portion qrescnted a deep insight into the duplicity of the (:m The finy
g!nnng dichotomy-between its principles and practices and the o
dllate-_:l upon the acts of suppression and oppression against ::d -
and violation of their rights with regard to government emplum?dusum

CONGRESS RAJ IN C.P.

A book under this title, having three hundred and si
collated in 1941 by Hakeem Israr Ahmad Kurevi. %Eﬁ’;ﬁs

* o : is
considered an authentic history of Congress ministry in C.P and B
The book contained report on .the state of law and order, w;drt;
Educational scheme, Vidya Mander scheme, exploitation and cama
of the Muslims, injustice and ill-will of Hindus and usurpation of righg;
of the Muslims to public sector jobs. In addition to this, two other
booklets, Muslim Sufferings Under the Congress Rule and It Shall
Never Happen Again were brought out. These two booklets too took
stock of the exploits of the Congress ministry.

It is worth mentioning that everyonc from the President to an
ordinary worker of the Congress had come to believe that the time to
take revenge of their thousand years slavery of the Muslims had
arrived. Towards the end of 1938, a carefree Congressite from
Lucknow said to” his Muslim friend, “My dear, people have become
unnerved only in a year and a half. Look at us! We did not loose heart
when the Muslims straddled us for seven hundred years”."

The historical importance of the period of the Congress ministries
lies not so much in the question of whether the Muslim grievances were
greater oOr whether they were exaggerated, but in the fact that the
overwhelming majority of Muslims believed them to exist.

THE DAY OF DELIVERANCE

ms suffered atrocities at the hands of the

Hindus during these two years can be gauged from the statement that the
Quaid-i-Azam gave at the end of the Congress ministries. On October 22,
1939, the Congress ministries resigned. On this occasion, the Quaid-i-Azam
expressed his heartfelt satisfaction in a statement in which he appca]cd to the
Muslims to celebrate the end of Congress ministries as a Day of Deliveranc®
He exhorted the provincial, district and primary Muslim

organisations to hold public meetings and offer thanks giving prayers 10

The extent to which the Musli

1 £
Sayyid Raza Ali, Aamal Nama, Delhi, 1945, p.503.



on this occasion “This public meeting of the Mucarmed in public meetings
that the Congress ministries hanfc conclusively mmw'mmds its mmnn
of the Congress claim that it represents al| intcrmT;ﬂ the
fairly, by its decidedly anti-Muslim policy. That the Congress mini& y and
failed to safeguard the rights and interests of the Musalmans m:; ha;
minorities. That the Congress ministries both in the discharge of their d{::u
i : ; es
of the administration and in the legislatures have done their best to flout the
Muslim opinion, to destroy Muslim culture and have interfered with their
religious and social life and trampled upon their economic and political
rights.. Therefore, it expresses, its deep sense of relief at the termination of
the Congress_ regime and rejoices in observing this day as the Day of
Deliverance™.?

The Quaid-i-Azam’s appeal to the Muslims infuriated the Congress
leaders to state of frenzy. They criticised the announcement as untimely,
provocative and anti-national. They accused him of expressing delight on
the termination of elected governments and welcoming bureaucratic

. arrangements. He was also arraigned for inciting the Muslims against the
Hindus. This step of his, they declared, would add fuel to the already
flaming fire of communal tension. Some Muslim leaders like the Prime
Minister of the Punjab, Sir Sikandar Hayat and two other leaders of the
Unionist Party, Raja Ghazanfar Ali Khan and Mir Magbool Mahmood
strongly objected to this resolution. .They declared that the decision was
disturbing and inimical to the communal amity.” _

The Quaid-i-Azam refuted all these impressions and stated that their
movement was not against the Hindus but its object was simply to
.condemn the actions of the Congress governments. This statement was

! ! received warmly all over India. It is worth mentioning that not only ¢=
Muslims but other minorities i.e. Parsees, Depressed Classes and Justice
Party responded to the call of the Quaid-i-Azam wholeheartedly. The
Day of Deliverance was celebrated in all the villages, towns and cities IE
the most disciplined manner and with unprecedented fervour. It Wlfed
a tremendous success that S.P. Rath, editor of the New Orissa, dee
the Day of Deliverance as a red letter day in the annals of political history

, : 8:
1Jamil-ud-Din Ahmad (ed.), Speeches and Writings of Mr. Jinnah, Lahote, 1960 p9

*Ibid., pp.98-99 .
3Reminiscences of the Day of Deliverance, Islamabad. 1976, p.18-
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of India because on this day thousands of Muslims .
gathering together to pay their gratitude to Allah fo::hmm"*m
from a nightmare of intolerance and authoritarianism.! Vering them
M.C. Rajha who was the president of the All-Indi oo
Dgpms&ed Classes welcomed Quaid-i-Azam’s dmmmm of
supported the demand for setting up of a Royal Cummissinns::nﬂ?
into the misdeeds of the Congress ministries. The Parsees, on the; look
participated in the celebrations with full zeal. T pan,
In connection with the Day of Deliverance, a meeting was held in the
Badshahi Mosque, Lahore after the Friday congregation. The meeting wag
presided over by Malik Barkat Ali. In his speech he said that the atrocities
of Jallianwala Bagh paled before the huge loss of life, property and honouys
suffered by-the Muslims of minority provinces during those two and a half
,years. As the representative of the Parsee community, Homi Rustam Ji
addressed the meeting. He declared, “T8day Jinnah is, undoubtedly, the
hero of the minorities who is fighting against Congress fascism alone. The
Parsee nation has full confidence in the leadership of Mr. Jinnah. We are
part and parcel of Jinnah’s army”. On December 22, in Bombay, a
resolution was moved by Currimbhoy Ebrahim in a meeting which was 4
presided over by Ismail Ibrahim Chundrigar. Dr. Ambedkar, the leader of
the Untouchables, supported this resolution unequivocally and declared,
“Today, the position of the British Government is that of a ‘Receiver’ who
is the guardian of the disputed property of the two parties. If the Congress
usurped this property through intimidation of the Receiver, this act would
be regarded as a crime not only against the British Government but also
gainst the minorities”. This meeting was described by the Times of India
as the most peaceful and disciplined meeting in Bombay.

The Day of Deliverance was celebrated through the length and
breadth of India in a most disciplined and most graceful manner. Sir
Arthur Moor, ex-editor of The Statesman expressing his views about
the manner in which this Day was celebrated stated, “This day was-
celebrated with almost religious solemnity; there was no violence and
‘thanksgiving’ prayers were offered in the most responsible manner”.

In short, the Day of Deliverance enjoys a place of prominence in the
history of Indian Muslims. This incident established beyond doubt that the
Quaid-i-Azam had cast his influence over the Muslims of India in a very
short period of time and proved that he was their only genuine representative
 and true leader. This Day of Deliverance belied the Congress claim that it

was the sole representative of India. It was also a strong testimony of the
Quaid’s political acumen and strategy. It manifested the fundamental quality
of his leadership namely *“when to strike and how to strike”.

eminiscences of the Day of Deliverance, p.18.
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'~ THE QUAID-I-AZAM AND
 REORGANISATION OF THE

. ALL-INDIA MUSLIM LEAGUE

i
| The famous American writer Stanley Wolpert has p!u'd glowing tribute
| to Quaid-i-Azam Mohammad Ali Jinnah in his book Jinnah of Pakistan
| saying that “few individuals significantly alter the course of history. Fewer
| still modify the map of the world. Hardly anyone can be credited with
| creating a nation-state. Mohammad Ali Jinnah did all three”.
| M.A. Jinnah was born at Karachi on December 25, 1876. He,
| according to his biographers, M.H. Saiyid and Hector Bolitho, started
| his primary education from Gokaldas Tejpal School, Bombay.
However, the latest findings of Rizwan Ahmad reveals that Jinnah
' started his early education on July 4, 1887, from Sind Madrasatul
| Islam, Karachi. After a while, he had to go to Bombay whete he got
| admission in the Anjuman:e-Islam High School. On December 23,
| 1887, he returned to Karachi and continued his gtudies at the Sind
| Madrasa upto class three. On January 5, 1891, wlen he was in class
four, his name was struck off from the school register on account of
| prolonged absence. From May 8 to October 31, 1892, he studied in
A class six at the Church Mission School, Karachi.
| In Janvary 1893, M.A. Jinnah left for Ergland on a business trip. In
| their books, Mrs. Sarojni Naido, A.A. Ravoof, Hector Bolitho, M.H.
Saiyid and Ghulam Ali Allana have stated that Jinnah left for England in
1892 in order to get higher education in law. However, according to
' Rizwan Ahmad, Jinnah went to England to receive the remaining amount
' of money to be paid on the trade goods which his father had sent from
| Kafachi. He was sent to expand the business and get some practical
trauping and experience in that field. But as ill-luck would have it, the
business failed so miserably that the young Mohammad Ali Jinnah had to
pursue studies leading to a law degree. On June S, 1893, he Joined the
Lincoln’s Inn and on April 29, 1896, he was called to the Bar.
‘On his return to India in 1896, the young barrister thought of
testing his fortunes at Bombay instead of Karachi. The first three years
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of his Practical life were
unknown in that

204

: spent in extreme ﬁlrdshi . He

o that big city. He was confronted wip e
Provlems. Daily, he used to go from home to the
would return €mpty handed. At last, fortune

the year 1900, a post of Presidency Magistrate was advertised
uffereq an employment for three months. The Quaid took the job b,}t
Wht‘fn its period was extended for another three months agiin h-.:
decided not to continue with it. When he :

was offered a job w
Rs.1500 per month, he turned it down saying that he would rather ]i:t

to earn the same amount daily. He prgved his worth with his hardwork
anq honesty. In 1936, he received 1500 mpe;0 per day during a Jay
suit. In his own words that success was the outcome of integrity of
character, courage, perseverance and hardwork.

al
th acute ﬁna:;::

office on foqr
started favouring him, 1

THE BEGINNING OF HIS POLITICAL CAREER

On his return to India, the Quaid decided to take part in ‘politics
along with his legal practice. He made his first appearance at a
Congress session in 1906. In the beginning, he was a strong advocate of
Hindu-Muslim unity. That is why, during the Congress session of 1910,
he bitterly opposed the introduction of separate electorate in the district
boards and municipalities.

The Quaid-i-Azam started his parliamentary career in 1910. On
January 4, that year, he was elected as a member of the Imperial
Legislative Council from Bombay At that forum he gave a frank and
dauntless expression to his views and opinions. When the South
African Government unleashed a reign of terror against the Indian
community, the Quaid strongly and forcefully protested against these
atrocities in the Imperial Legislative Council. At this, the Governor-
General, Lord Minto, who was presiding over the Council meeting
asked him to withdraw his words. But the Quaid refused to do so. His
daring and defiant speech was widely publicised in the IndianiplﬂE
with prominent headlines. One newspaper quoted this incident in the
following words: “During the course of a debate on the question of
South Africa held at the Imperial Council, the Honourable Mr: Jinnah
from Bombay made a detailed and argumentative speech. During _ll_ill
fiery speech he used the words “extremely brutal” for the atrocities
committed against the Indian community of Nital. At this, the President
of the Council, Lord Mintp, the Governor-General, drew his attention
to the choice of his words. Mr. Jinnah continued his speech and by
changing the words to "harshest and the most unjust”, made the debate
even more interesting. Mr. Jinnah’s behaviour and his style of making
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speech is very refined and it is hoped that he would prove to be a very

aggressive member”.}

The Quaid-i-Azam continued to take part in the proceedings of the
Council. That is why, in 1913, Governor-General, Lord Hardinge,
appointed him as a member of the Council. He also presented a bill

regarding Waqf-alal-Aulad which was the first bill presented by a
Private Member.

THE ALL-INDIA MUSLIM LEAGUE

Although, he was net a member of the All-India Muslim League,
yet, he had correspondence with Sayyid Wazir Hasan, the acting
Secretary of the League during 1910 and 1912. On a number of
occasions, he was invited to attend the meetings of the League Council.
When Moulana Mohamed Ali and Sayyid Wazir Hasan went to
England in connection with the Kanpur Mosque tragedy they had a
meeting with the Quaid who was already there. On their insistence, the
Quaid became a member of the League on October 10, 1913.

On December 30, 1913, he attended a meeting of the League
Council. He was successful in persuading the party officials to amend
the constitution of the League by including in it the demand of suitable
self-government for India under the aegis of the British Crown.

The Quaid was of the view that in the absence .of Hindu-Muslim
unity, India could never march on the road to freedom. Thus, he
stressed the need for closer co-operation between the League and the
Congress. It was the result of his sincere efforts that both the parties
continued to hold their annual sessions simultaneously and at the same
place from 1915 to 1921. '

The first and the last agreement between the Hindus and the Muslims,
known as the Lucknow Pact, was the fruit of his untiring efforts.

At the start of 1917, Mrs. Annie Besant launched the Home Rule
Movement from Madras. She set up a party known as the Home Rule
League. She demanded Home Rule for India in such a forceful manner
that very soon the branches of her party were opened in several cities of
the country. B.G. Tilak also established his own Home Rule League in
Bombay. During 1916 and 1917, the Quaid was not a member of any of
the two Home Rule Leagues, which were known as the Tilak League
and the Besant League. However, due to his keen interest in the Home
Rule, both the parties, on a number of occasions, asked him to preside
over their meetings. He enthusiastically participated in the agitation
against the house arrest of Mrs. Annie Besant. On June 18, the Quaid

1 -
Ahmad Sased, Hayat-¢-Quaid-i-Azam — Chand Nae Pehlu, Islamabad, 1978, p.88.
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JI?r::ddenn? P;esam Home Rule League. Later on, he was
imges of the Bombay Home Rule League. In 1918 :;d e
o e Campaign against the farewell party in honoyr oftl;,e f_a:, led
el seday. Lofd “{llhngdnn. On this occasion, the people of Bm"""
- POsed to build Jinnah People’s Memorial Hall, Within a mu y
. ge su‘m of 65 @ousand rupees was collected. Thus, 1o ack]wom' :
1§ services, the Jinnah People's Memorial Hall was built, Viedg

The Quaid once again displayed his unique cour
nPP0§ed the Rowlatt Bill. Takifmgfaan in the gebate inatiiﬁ:;r:? fully
the B:II‘. he warned the Government that if it became a law "'yﬂuy o
Create in this country from one end to the other a discontent o
agitation, the like of which you have not witriessed” ! When, d,_:::
the bitter opposition of the Indians, the Bill became a law, the Qum'dp &
a protest, resigned from the Imperial Legislative Council. '

Like the other Indian Muslims, the Quaid also had a great love and
syrqpathy for the Turkish Muslims. In many of his photographs of that
period, he is seen wearing the Turkish cap. During the Balkan Wars he
collected funds for the Turks. He expressed grave concern and asked .
several questions in the Imperial Legislative Council about the arrest of
the Ali Brothers who had been arrested on charge of inciting pro-
Turkish sentiments.

He was greatly concerned about the proposed disintegration of the
Ottoman Empire. In 1919, he was staying in England where the fate of
the Ottoman En pire was being decided. On August 27, 1919, he
presented a Men orial to the British Prime Minister, Lloyd George that:
“On January 5, 1918, you, Sir, spoke ‘not merely the mind of the
Government, but of the nation and of the Empire as a whole’ that nor are
w. fighting to deprive Turkey of its capital, or of the rich and renowned
lards of Asia Minor and Thrace, which are predominantly Turkish in
race. We do not challenge the maintenance of the Turkish Empire in the
homelands of the Turkish race with its capital at Constantinople. Now
tha' victory has been achieved to which the Muslim blood and money
have contributed not a little, the Muslims have a right to claim that
nothing will be done to whittle down or alter the pledge you gave to the
world generally and Muslims in particular in the above words”. .

On his return to India, the telegram which he sent to the All-India
Khilafat Conference clearly reflects the sentiments which he had for the
Ottoman Empire. He sent a message stating: *Participation in the Peace
Celebrations is impossible while the Punjab is crying for redress. We cannol

IM.Rafique Afzal (ed.), Selected Speeches and Statements of the Quaid-i-Azam
Mohammad Ali Jinnah, Lahore, 1973, p.85.
25 hmad Saeed (ed.), Writings of the Quaid, Lahore, 1976, p.29.
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Wamwﬁchmﬁwdimmntof‘{‘mkeymwhici‘m
filled our lives uilhaﬂﬂtapprdmsiomofmaumchovnmmnt“.

While presiding over the' special session ofthe'Leagm at Calcutta in
1920, the Quaid expressed his anguish over the Armistice: “F“u-qt came the
Rowlatt Bill and then came the spoilation of the Ounm Emplre.md the
Khilafat. The one attacks our liberty and the other our faith. Unchivalrous
and outrageous terms have been imposed upon Turkey and the Ottoman
Empire has served for plunder and been broken up by the Allies under the
guise of Mandates”. The Quaid strongly criticised the Peace Treaty saying
“And what of the sacred land of the Crescent and Stm: and the blv::e, and
golden Bosphorus - its capital seized and the Khalifa vu'tual_ly a prisoner,
its territories overrun by Allied troops, groaning gndcr an imposition of
impossible terms. It is a death warrant, not a treaty”. L=

By temperament, the Quaid was against all unconstitutional
activities. That is why, he showed a sharp reaction against the Rowlatt

" Act and even went to the extent of resigning from the Imperial

Legislative Council but he remained away from M.K. Gandhi's Non-
Cooperation Movement. He had a feeling that the League was being
overshadowed by Gandhi's ideologies, therefore, he not only distanced
himself from the Khilafat Movement but also strongly opposed the
Non-Cooperation Movement. His attitude towards the Caliphate and
Turkey was based on his political maturity.

The Quaid also decided to contest the elections when in 1923, the
Swaraj Party also made a similar decision. Once again that year, he was
clected as a member of the Imperial Legislative Council from the
Bombay constituency. He still firmly believed in“the Hindu-Muslim
unity and continued his efforts in this direction. The Hindus were of the
Opinion that the S€parate electorate was one of the

€xchange fur. the acceptance of the Delhj Proposals by the Hindus.
Although, this issue divided the All-India Muslim League into two

8T0UPs yet, the Quaid, through the Delhi Proposals demonstrated his

Umost  sincerity to indu-Musli i
Wortungy | y the cause of Hindu Muslim  unity, But,

The Y, the prejudiced Hindus never acknowledged his feelings.

ejectog a;:hll- arties Conference prepared the Nehru Report that

' the genuine demands of the Muslims. He tried his best to

Mm 10 accept a few, if not all the demands of the
‘ 9} Gufiar-i-Quaid-i-Azam, Islamabad, 1976, p.17.

ISHM . v

Pirzada, Foundations of Pakistan, Vol 1, Karachi, 1969, Pp-541-44,
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Muslims. At an open session of the All-Parties Confgrem. he
Pf::!ll;z aﬁ;‘cw mrdments to the Nehru Report but the H]miUs once
again rejected them. He was so much shocked by. the negative attityg,
of the Hindus that for the first time people saw tears in his ??res Al thyy
point, he was forced to say “This is the parting of the ways”. It markeq
the beginning of the second phase of his political career.

THE RESTRUCTURING OF THE '
ALL-INDIA MUSLIM LEAGUE

The Quaid left for England in April 1928, and stayed there til|
October. Thoroughly dejected by the political situation in India, he
decided to settle in England permanently. After participating in the
First Round Table Conference in 1931, he stayed on in England. This is
quite interesting that even during his stay in London he wrote to Abdul
Mateen on May 5, 1932 that “my heart is in India”.! On the request of
Abdul Mateen Chaudhry and some other leaders, he decided to bring an
end to his self-imposed political exile and to return to India with a view
to uniting the Muslims on a single platform.

Even during the days of the Khilafat Movement, the All-India
Muslim League had become an ineffective political party. The number of
its members could be counted on fingers, Its ineffectiveness can be
judged from the fact that in 1923, its session could not be convened
because of lack of quorum. Though the League continyed to hold its
annual sessions regularly, all of those remained lifeless gs they were
attended only by a handful of people. For instance from 1924 to 1927 the
League’s annual sessions were presided over by Sir Raza Ali, Sir Abdur
Rahim, Sir Abdul Qadir and Seth Yaqoob Hasan respectively, but they

all proved an exercise in futility as in one instance i 1931, the League's
annual session at Delhi was attended by only 120 Participants. Things
went so far that the strength of the quorum had to be reduced. The
activities of the League were very limited, €xample, its total
expenditure from 1911 to 1923 was Rs.3,000/-. Its annyy sessions were
confined only to discussions and resolutions. The Jac) of interest for the
League among the ordinary Muslims can be imagined from (he fact that
its annual sessions Wﬂfﬂhﬂd ln.CIﬂEEIES. hﬁtﬂls, Town s or private
homes. Thus, in 1924, it held Its annual session g Globe Cinema in
Lahore. Similarly, the 1929 session was held at D

lhi®
In 1923, the session was held at the Town Hall, H“‘Wr;xhs. Roshan Theatre.

Tanmad Saced (ed.), Quaid-i-Azam Mo N Sy

= A Bunch of Rare
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On one hand, there was no communication between the party and the
masses and, on the other, there were sharp divisions within its own ranks.
The League was split into the “Jinnah League” and the “Shafi League” on
the question of separate electorate and cooperation with the Simon
Commission. Even in 1934, the Quaid, on his arrival in India, found the
AIML split into “Hidayat League” and “Aziz League”. With the arrival of
the Quaid, both these factions agreed to unite. He was clected as the
League's President. Calling him the most capable and the best leader of
India, the Paisa Akhbar wrote on this occasion, “At this moment, the
nation is looking up to its most capable political leader. We hope that Mr.
Jinnah would transform the League into a true representative political p
of the Muslims and, thus, render a valuable political and national service”.

Supporting the League’s decision, the daily [lngilab (Lahore)
wrote, “Now Jinnah's presidentship would improve the condition of the
League. Mr. Jinnah is one of those few Muslim leaders who enjoy
complete trust of the maximum number of Muslims belonging to every
shade of opinion. In the present political scenario, which places heavy
responsibilities, only Mr. Jinnah can lead the Muslim League™.

In these most unfavourable circumstances, the Quaid undertook the
decision of reorganising the League. As a first step to popularise the
League among the ordinary Muslims he reduced the annual subscription
from rupees four to two annas. The central and provincial Parliamentary
Boards of the party were set up. Moreover, a well-defined constitution was
also prepared. A committee comprising Moulana Akram Khan, Husain
Imam and Haji Abdus Sattar Essac Sait was set up to increase the
membership of the League. The practice of electing fifteen Vice Presidents
was done away with. District and primary Leagues were established. In
1938, a women’s sub-committee was also set up. At the same time, the
foundation of the Muslim League National Guards was also laid. A three
member committee was formed in 1941, to organise and activate the
National Guards. The National Guards acquitted themselves with much
distinction. It was their duty to maintain discipline during the sessions of
the League. During the massacre of the Muslims in Bihar, the National
Guards rendered valuable services. The National Guards were also in the
forefronts during the civil disobedience movement in the Punjab and at the
time of referendum in the N.W.F.P. and Sylhet.

In 1938, the Quaid appealed for one million rupees to strengthen the
financial position of the League. He reiterated this appeal in 1943. By
that time, the League Fund had received five lac fifty thousand rupees.

For the first time in 1941, all the provincial presidents and sgcretaries
of the League got together at Delhi in order to further strengthen the

e

§
« Mg Akhbar (weekly), March 15, 1934, p.16.




.-I , TREK TO PAKISTAN

210
fination between the central and pmvmclal Leagues. Huge
meetings of the League were arranged to enhance its popularity. annual
L As a result of the reorganisation, a general swing in Muslim
for the League took place, which could be observed in the outcome of e
by-elections and elections that took place from 1937 onwards. In the ¢
ions to Muslim seats between 1937 and 1943, the

47, independent Muslims 10 and Congressi Muslims 4. Of the 14 Cenyry|
Legislature by-elections, the League won 7 and thc Congress only 2. And
from 1943-45 of the 11 Muslim seats in the ;Provmces. the League won §,

independent Muslims 3 and Congress none.
At its annual session in 1940, the League passed the Lahore

Resolution under the inspiring leadership of the Quaid-i-Azam. It gave
a tremendous boost to its popularity. By virtue of his insight,
statesmanship and dauntless courage, the Quaid successfully met the
challenges posed by the Hindus, «he British and the Nationalist
Muslims. Within a short span of seven years, the nation was able to

achieve the goal set before it by him in 1940.

MOUNTBATTEN VS. JINNAH
THE ISSUE OF COMMON
GOVERNOR-GENERALSHIP

The common Governor-Generalship issue was raised for the first time
* in a meeting on May 15, 1947. Point 6 of the “Heads of Agreement” which
was drafted by V.P. Menon and signed by Nehru on behalf of the
Congress, read “The Governor-General should be common o both the
states. We suggest that the present Governor-General should be
reappointed”.> Nehru on May 17, agreed to the proposal and requested
Mountbatten to continue in his office and “help us with your advice and
experience”.’ The Quaid had no objection if Mountbatten could continue
even after August 15, in the capacity of a Super Governor-General. But the
proposal was rejected both by the British Government and the Congress.
Mountbatten had another meeting with the Quaid on May 17, 1947,
about which Mountbatten wrote to the British Prime Minister: “Jinnah had
consistently impressed on me the absolute need for me to remain-untl the
process of Partition was completed”. Strangely enough, Shri Mountbatten

T
S: :': IT'M-QPWSN- “Muslim Nationalism and the Role of Jinnah', Paper.
1Nictm1u t:dmatmnal Con_gmss on Asian History, Malaysia, August, 1968.
v ansergh (Editor-in-Chief), The Transfer of Power 1942-19¢7
,Mﬂ:-:ép,ul.
iﬁhiﬁam’ “The Govemor-Generalship Issue and the Quaid-i-Azam"
. sian Studies, Lahore, January, 1986, p37.
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whoopposedmuth and nail the creation of a Muslim homeland still nursed -
the ambition (0 become its Governor-General. Leonard Mosley has w.-
rightly obsenrﬁd “I'he momént Jinnah considered that he was being rushed K

he became immediately suspicious. He said that he could not possibly
commit himself on the subject straightway”.! :

Onhismu.uanelhi ﬁomEnglardnnMayM,Mmmtbattmmud
ﬁﬁhmmcumarﬂmnﬂmgluofinwhngﬂwmﬁmofﬁrwmu
Monkton to “‘concoct convincing case for the Viceroy's assumption of twin
pmiﬁons".‘ He even deputed Lord Ismay and Eric Mieville to see the Quaid in

gthThcmuappoachedLiaquatAliKhanonJuneZOMmmavail.

this re
Shri Mountbatten even requested Nawab of Bhopal, a personal friend

of the Quaid, to intercede on his behalf. Actually Mountbatten had made it

a point of prestige and wanted to become the Governor-General at any cost

and by all means. Had the League accepted Mountbatten as the common
Governor-General it

would have been a crowning glory for him.
On July 5, 1947, Liaquat Ali Khan confirmed in a etter to Mountbatten
that the Quaid had made up his mind

and “has asked His Excellency to
formally suggest to the King the name of M_.A. Jinnah as the first Governor-
General of Pakistan”. The Quaid’s decision evidently dismayed the Viceroy
and caused him a great deal of embarrassment. As Lord Ismay confirms that
whis decision had not merely caused him political worry but had hurt him.
Perhaps he had set his heart on becoming the dual Govemor-General; the
rebuff knocked against his most vulnerable point, his pride.J In retaliation
Mountbatten threatened the Quaid and asked him, “Do you realise what this
will cost you?” The Quaid said, “Tt may cost me several crores of rupees in
assets”. To which Mountbatten replied, “Tt may well cost you the whole of

your assets, and future of Pakistan.

The Quaid’s decision has evo
non-Muslim historians but :also among some of the Muslim politicians like
Chaudhry Khaliquzzaman and Sardar Shaukat Hayat as well. Firstly, there
are critics like Michael Breacher, B.N. Pandey, Larry Collins and Dominique

Laperie who believe that the Quaid’s decision was the result of “his long

gherished ambition” and his inability “to resist the pomp, the gaudy

' kﬂﬂﬂmnials of the top office of the statc for which he had worked so hard” In
this regard, Dr. Waheeduzzaman has very rightly is i

overdrawn interpretation of the Quaid’s motives and betrays ignorance of his

Wﬁﬁcm.mmmmmdnﬂthﬂrﬂﬂdmmmﬂd

! hislﬂ‘easwellnsﬂmhisloryufttnmb-wnﬁn

I e -
Leonard Mosley, The Last Days of the British Raj, London, 1961, p.

2

312: Last Days of the British Raj, p-153-

o Stephens, Pakistan Old Country/New Nation, London, 1964, p-214.
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Ayesha Jalal analyses the common Governor-

a totally erroneous premises i.e. “Jinnah did not ha?c a Seal strong
fore, he wanted 10 have a strong

political party organisation”. There ' \
central government to “discipline the particularism of"tzhe “Muslim
majority provinces and his notoriously wayward followers™. ‘

Such assumptions and conclusions are totally baseless and d_cs:gmd
to belittle the Quaid's image and statesmanship, by underscoring ?nd
even ignoring facts and the hostile situatioft in wh}ich he had to function,
especially during the Viceroyalty of Mountbatign- As Dr. Rafique Afzal
has very rightly obsernnd that the Quaid could not get a more casual and
hostile treatment from any biased Indian or a British writer than what he
gets from the pen of Ayesha Jalal.’

While Alan Campbell-Johnsyn has traced his decision to the
“pride” and w.ranitg,r,s

First of all the decision taken by the Quaid was a sound one in principle
and in the best interest of Pakistan. Both Auchinleck and Field Marshal
Montgomery have confirmed that long before Partition Lord Mountbatten
had lost the trust of Jinnah and the Muslim League and that he was in
“Nehru’s pocket”.* Then how a statesman like Jinnah could have handed
over the destiny of the state yet to be bomn to a person who was right from
the start hated the creation of a Muslim homeland - Pakistan. The Quaid
was deeply aware of the extent of damage which Mouintbatten had already
done to the Muslims. It would have been neither an act of statesmanship nor
of service tc his people if he had agreed to the proposal.

When 2akistan came into being there was such a dearth of Muslim
officers, both Civil and Military that the Quaid had to appoint three
Governors of the new State and all the three Chiefs of the Staff
belonging to the British bureaucracy. Under these circumstances some
symbolic act was necessary to highlight the fact that people of Pakistan
were masters in their,own house and no better symbol could have been
exhibited for them than Jinnah - the founder of the State — taking over

as the first Governor-General of Pakistan.’

waheeduzzaman's atticle in Journal of the Pakistan Historical Society, July:
October 1976, p.204.

2Rafique Afzal, op. cit., p.31.

3bid., p.31.

‘Ibid., p.30.
S Alan Campbell-Johnson, Mission With Mountbatten, London, 1972, p.127.

$5 M. Ikram, Modern Muslim India and the Birth of Pakistan, Lahore, 1965, p-279.
7K. Brohi's article in World Scholars on Quaid-i-Azam, Islamabad, 1979, p.295.
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_ Leaving aside all arguments one must have a look at Quaid’s life

who by temperament for lifelong training had a constitutional bent of

mind could not see how an unconstitutional governor-general faced

with conflicting advice from two Dominion cabinets could discharge
his responsibility properly. In Cha dhry Muhammad Ali’s words: “A
common Governor-General for two independent governments with
opposed interests was, to his mind, a constitutional absurdity.'

lan Stephens also supporting Quaid's decision observed: “As
common Governor-General, Lord Mountbatten would have to spend
less time in’ Karachi than in Delhi and when functioning in part on
Pakistan's behalf, he would have been so near to Mr. Nehru, whom he
liked, as to be influenced by him. And Mr. Nehru detested the very idea

of Pakistan — point undeniably has weight"

Besides the constitutional argument against the common
Governor-General there was even a stronger political aspect. The
powerful propaganda-machine of the Congress concentrated on the
theme that Pakistan was nothing but a temporary secession of certain
Indian territories that would soon be absorbed. The Hindus were
confidently predicting that Pakistan was a mistake which history would
soon rectify. A common head of the state would strengthen this belief
throughout the world. What sort of independence we have got, the
people of Pakistan might ask, when the Governor-General of India is
our Governor-General and the King of England” is our King.?

According to A.K. Brohi, such was the situation in June and July 1947
that the very establishment of Pakistan was a matter of touch and go. And
there was no guarantee that it would have been allowed to take off the
ground and become a reality. At that time the Pakistanis needed faith in the
viability of their infant sedte. The Quaid’s undivided leadership alone could
have dispelled their fears and provided the inspiration needed to overcome
the dreadful odds poised to crush them.* It must be said to the credit of the

Quaid that in those uncertain days when so much was happening and so
fast, despite his advancing years, he undertook the responsibility of being
the first Governor-General of Pakistan.

Time has amply confirmed that Shri Mountbatten did not act as a
neutral empire and the Quaid’s wisdom in keeping Pakistan’s
Governor-Generalship out of his hands.

-

:Chaudhxy Mohammad Ali, The Emergence of Pakistan, Colur ~a 0 4.9 113
!Pak:'smu Old Country/New Nation, pp-214- 15.
‘:'K' Brohi's article in World Scholars on Quaid-i-Azam.

M Burke's article in World Scholars on Quaid-i-Azam, p.303
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QUAID’S VISION OF PAKISTAN

Before any discussion on Quaid’s vision of Pakistan, it m
kept in mind that the Pakistan in which we are living is I;ﬂt whl;? *
Quaid had visualized for his Ideal Muslim Homeland Sham'shl:
Ahmad Khan’s (Retired Foreign Secretary) words are a true pictyre

: ; ; . of
our state of affairs, that we not only ignored his advice but are Jiyi,
remorsly with all these “evils” as an integral part of our society”, €

Regrettably, Pakistan of today is not what the Quaid has visiilizeq
There have been deviations and departures from the Quaid’s precepts i
every sphere — political, economic, social and foreign affairs. The ruling
elite and political and military “leaders” made a mess of Quaid’s Pakistan,

In the annals of Pakistan, the Quaid stands gloriously at the same
pedestal as the founding fathers of America, Turkey and China, George
Washington, Mustafa Kamal Pasha and Mao Tse Tung respectively.

The Quaid all through his life struggled bard to save the Muslims
from the<Brifish-Bania exploitations and he firmly believed that the
creation of a separate and independent Muslim Homeland was the oaly
panacea of Muslims’ diseases. |,

As Pakistan was a land of his dreams so the creation of Pakistan
was not an end itself but it was means to an end. According to his
vision, Pakistan would be an ideal Islamic State with its socio-
economic aspects based on the teachings of Islam.'

His ideal state, in the words of Husain Imam, “would be one where
Islamic concept of equality, fraternity, liberty and justice would find
play.” The Quaid, speaking at the Lahore Session of 1940, emphasized
the need for the creation of a Muslim Homeland “that would develop to
the fullest our spiritual, cultural, economic and political life in a way
that we think best and in accordance with our own ideals and according
to the genius of the people.”

His vision of an ideal Muslim State was the establishment of a base
“where we would be able to train and bring up Muslim intellectuals,
educationists, economists, doctors, engineers, technician who will work
to bring about /slamic renaissance. These people will not confine their
activities for Pakistan but would serve their Muslim brothers in othef
parts of the Islamic world. He had in his vision the creation of 8 thi
Block neither communistic not capitalistic but truly, socialistic based on
the principles which characterized Caliph Umar's regime”}

- :

Waheeduzzaman, “Quaid-i-Azam's Vision of Pakistan in Quaid-i-Azam and Pakisi®

lcdm:d by Ahmad Hasan Dani, [slamabad, 1976, p.235.

%‘fudﬂg Shaukat Hayat Khan, “The Commander | served Under” in Jamiluddin Ahmad
' ant--Azarg: As seen by His Contemporaries, Lahore, 1966, p.40
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ECONOMIC VISION

The Quaid had a very clear and vivid picture of economi ;
Pakistan. There would be no place for exploitation of the m mit“
any group of society, be that of landlords, industrialists and busine Y.
cartels. As in the would be Pakistan there would be concentration of
landlords, zamindars, vaderas, pirs-cum-vaderas, so he knew it well that
these groups would continue their exploitation. As a precautionary measure
he wamned these vested interests who had flourished at the people’s
expense. He reminded them that they had forgotten the lesson of Islam.
«“There are millions and millions of our people who hardly get one meal a
day. Is it civilization?” He made it categorically clear that if this was the
aim of Pakistan he would not have it."

The Quaid set a very clear direction to the future economy of the
newly-bomn state Pakistan. While inaugurating the State Bank of Pakistan
on July 1, 1948, his speech at the occasion, as his biographer Hector
Bolitho has very correctly remarked, was “his last comment on the
confusion of the world”.? He rejected both the Western and Communist
economic systems for Pakistan “as it will not help us in achieving our goal
of creating a happy and contended people. He instead advised that we must
have our own destiny in our own way and present 10 the world an.
economic system based on the Islamic concepl of equality of mankind and
social justice. The Quaid advised not t0 follow the Western economic
system and advanced two arguments in this respect. First the system has
resulted in two world wars in the 20" century and secondly this was
instrumented for increasing the gap between the “haves” and *‘have-nots™.

Quaid’s vision of Pakistan was 10 evolve Islamic social stability
narrowing the gap between the two groups. He visualized the principle
of social justice to be followed.

His denunciation of capitalists and exploitation of the poor clearly
indicates his preference for an exploitation-free social welfare polity.
He, thus, set a clear direction on the future economy of Pakistan. He
asked the State Bank to evolve banking practices compatible with
Islamic ideas of social and economic life. The ongoing economic crisis
of America and collapse of communism validates Quaid's observations.

In September 1945, Sir Homi Moodi had enquired from the Quaid
what would be the workable economic grounds when Pakistan would
emerge as a sovereign state on the political map of the world. The
Quaid’s vision was crystal clear. He explained development, stability
and economy three pillars would form the foundation of workable

1
,'Im"‘“‘: ;‘F'-i Guftar-i-Quaid-i-Azam, Islamabad 1976, p.265.
litho, Jinnah: Creator of Pakistan, Karachi, 1954, p.217.
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economic grounds for pakistan. He desired to ensure internal ang
_ His vision had forecasted the presence of

external development
and potentialities in Pakistan. He had urged (o

resources.
'a Amjad Saced, Human Resource
Development is considered as 2 pre-requisite for economic
development. It is firmly believed that the man behind the machines is
very important. The Quaid had clearly visualized this aspect as he said
on 26 September 1947 that funds, no doubt, are necessary for
development but at the same time national growth and regeneration did
not depend on funds alone. «[t is human toil that makes for prosperity

that we havg in Pakistan a nation of

of a people and 1 have no doubt
industrious and determined people whose past traditions have already

distinguished them in the field of human achievements.
for a viable industrial base for the

The Quaid strongly wished
prosperity and progress of the country. He very rightly regarded
industrial and economic development as a sine qua-non for preserving

the national freedom and dignity.

The Quaid, even before the creation of Pakistan, was instrumental in
the establishment of the Orent Airways, the forerunner of defaced PIA.
The Orient Airways rendered yeoman service during the disturbances

which followed Partition. Had there been no Orient Airways there would
i East and West Pakistan for a long time.
d and almost insisted on the

ank, besides Habib Bank.

It was the Quaid’s drive and inspiration which egged the Habib

brothers in Bombay to float the Muhammadi Steamship Company that

ave the Muslim nation an opportunity to create workers in another
ssential and nation-building understanding.’

The Quaid did not visualize privatization in his Pakistan. During
his short span as Govemor-General, he laid foundations of several mills
which shows his interest in the industrial development of Pakistan.

Alrhough the Quaid laid great stress on the industrial development
o hic Pakistan yet he was not oblivious of the agricultural
Mﬂlt. While speaking at the League Session at Karachi it
1943, he upheld the cause of the agriculturists and producers
of food-grains said that they were n
iNdustrialists. He raised his voice to protect

216

the rights of the farmers.
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RIGHTS OF MINORITIES

As the Quaid firmly believed in Human Rights, so even before the
creation of Pakistan he repeatedly emphasized that the Minorities
would be protected and safeguarded to the fullest. He citied the
example of Prophet Muhammad (PBUH) who gave the -clearest proof
and treated his non-Muslim people not justly and fairly but generously.

The last Governor-General of Pakistan Pandit Mountbatten, an
inveterate adversary of Pakistan and Quaid presented on 14 August .
1947 for the new, state path followed by Akbar the Mughal king. The
Quaid on the spot rebutted him by saying, “The tolerance and goodwill
that Emperor Akbar showed to all the non-Muslims is not of recent
origin. It dates back thirteen centuries ago when the Holy Prophet
(PBUH) not only by words but by deeds treated the Jews and
Christians, after he has conquered them, with the utmost tolerance and
regard and respect for their faith and belief”.

The Quaid knew fully that an isolated community could not make
headway in the comity of nations therefore he assured the non-Muslim
communities of full support and protection. ,

He envisaged Islamic, human and modern Pakistan ruled by justice
irespective of religion, colour, caste, where everybody would be equal
before law. The Quaid had reiterated time and again during the struggle
for Pakistan that every one, no matter what community he belongs to,
would be entitled to full-fledged citizenship with equal rights, privileges
and obligations, that there would be no discrimination between one
community and another and that all would be equal citizens.

In November 1941, he assured the minorities that Islam stands for
justice, equality, fairplay, tolerance and even generosity to the non-
Muslims. i

Next year again he reassured the Minorities that their rights would”
be fully safeguarded by the injection from the Highest authority namely
Quran that a minority must be treated justly.

HISTORIC SPEECH OF AUGUST 11, 1947

While addressing the Constituent Assembly of Pakistan, the Quaid on
August 11, 1947, gave us a road map of what he believed were the biggest
hallenges for the country’s government and law-makers. According to
Vs the foremost duty of a government was to maintain law and order and

Protect tite life, property and religious beliefs of its citizens.
€ above-mentioned speech is the only speech which is read and
ted by every Tom, Dick and Harry according to his own
ions. Two points must be made clear that this is not the

"4 ’
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uSolitary Speech” made by the Quaid in his long political career
ranging over more than four decades. ‘

His speeches have been collected by Jamil-ud-Din Ahmad (2
vols.), Dr Waheed Ahmad (6 vols.), Dr. M. Rafiq Afzal (1 vol),
Khurshid Ahmad Khan Yusufi (6 vols.) Ahmad Saeed, Guftar-i-Quaid.-
i-Azam, (vol 1). A few years back Dr. Mubarik Ali claimed that the
speech was banned by the Government. This was a laughable claim
because the speech was delivered when Pakistan did not come into
existence secondly, the speech in full is available on the page of Dawn
(Delhi), Pakistan Times (Lahore), the Eastern Times (Lahore). :

Then there is a group of intellectuals and scholars who claim that it is
a confession of Secularism by the Quaid. But as Shariful Mujahid, rightly
refuting this conjuncture that the pronouncement prevail over a plethora of
pronouncements made before and after the establishment of Pakistan,
“Does one morsel make a dinner? Does one swallow make a summer”.

Secondly, a close study of all his pronouncements during 1934-48
and even before 1934 shows that the word Secular does not find a
mention in any of them.

If we go through this speech in its true perspective it will become
crystal clear that the speech was, among other things, a road map for the
state yet to be born. It was an assurance to the Minorities. The daily Dawn
(Delhi) on August 13, 1947, reproduced his speech under the caption

Jinnah Assures Minorities for Full Citizenship
and Asks for Cooperation

Mian Iftikhar-ud-Din’s Pakistan Times on August 13, 1947,
captioned the speech

Jinnah's call to concentrate on Mass Welfare
Hope for End of Hindu-Muslim Distinction in Politics
Equal rights for all citizens in Pakistan State

Times (London) published this historic speech with the caption

A Call for Tolerance

In 1949, S.A.R. Bilgrami published Pakistan Year Book, in which
he reproduced the speech under the caption

Jinnah’s Charter of Minorities Announce'

i . : :
Ahmad Saeed, “Secular Jinnah?" article in Muyalia Ty kh-o-Sakafat Islamabod.
October 2006-March 2007, pp.22-23. o .
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The above-mentioned speech does rot mention

Hector Bu'lilhn Ras beautifully summed up that “the wo r;:iﬂ;‘fsm ?
the thought and belief are an inheritance from the Prophet w;t:,nah_s
these words 13 centuries ago”.' said
An incident, rarely quoted, explains his altitude towards minorit
Hector Bolitho writes that “Jinnah was never generous mmwﬁﬁ‘a?ﬁ
he had only been seen weeping, the one occasion being when he toured the
riot-affected encampment of Hindus in Karachi in January 1948 2

EDUCATION

The Quaid firmly believed that there should be a uniform system
of education. He emphatically urged for greater attention to be paid to
promote technical, vocational and scientific education which was a pre-
requisite fo industrial and economic development. He wanted the
educatiogal policies and programme to be tailored to suit the genius of
the penf and having regard to the modern conditions and scientific
and techgological developments in the world. -

Several centuries of the world achieved socio-economic driver. So
he had clear vision in respect of using education as an economic driver.

He identified the primary aim of education as character-building
and inculcating the spirit of altruism and self-less service in the youth,

The Quaid’s concern for education can be judged from his will,
through which he has nominated 6 educational institutions i.e. Anjuman-
i-Islam School, Bombay (Rs.25 thousand), Bombay University (Rs.50
thousand), Anglo-Arabic School, Delhi (25 thousand), and all his
remaining assets to be equally divided between Aligarh Muslim
University, Sindh Madrasatul Islam, Karachi and Islamia College,
Peshawar.’ No other Pakistani leader has ever followed his suit. -

FOREIGN AFFAIRS

The Quaid, as a believer and upholder of human dignity and freedom,
without mincing words condemned and denounced the British, French,
Dutch and other colonists and imperialists in no uncertain words. His
espousal of the cause of the subjugated nations, bears ample-testirgony of
hi_s conviction in the right of self-determination. .

The Quaid had always been sensitive to the developments which
were taking place across the globe and would not hesitate in taking sides.

l Jinnah: Creator of Pakistan, P
?Hector Bolitho.

I ,
aid-i-Azam ki J, ) _ _
Ezm_ 0226 dad and Sarmayakari, edited by Malik Muhm!‘lmlti Riaz. Karachi.
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The trouble-spots which attracted his attention mog i
ine.and the colonies which were aspiring for i“dwm Tutkey,
The' Quaid all through Bis political career tried to settle i
Hindus on the principle offequality and as far as foreign € With the
Pakistan would be conducted on the same solid principle. oF his

hhbhmﬂwiﬁaSWMjmmlist(Muﬁll,lM),he j
sumdwryi:ll.-.:urljrtfh.m“‘F:ilt:istm1b'm=.vemslt::rha'o.»'w.':ft'il:ndly11.-,1;“:59.1,,‘1,,;:*1’.1"i
provided the Indian Government sheds the superiority complex and wil!m'
wimPnhmﬂnmapadfmmgmdﬂxlbfwmﬂnmlm_ -

The basic tenants of the foreign policy of the state were outlined
him in Delhi on July 14, 1947 that Pakistan “will be most friendly 1 a)
nations. We stand for peace of all the world",

When he became the Governor-General of Pakistan he reiterateq
that “oy object shall be peace within and peace without. We want 1
live peagefully and maintain friendly relations with all iy countries”.

The Quaid on numerous occasions stressed that Pakistan's foreign
policy would be based on the principle of mutual respect and
understanding with all countries of the world. He visualized Pakistan o
emerge as an honourable state in the country of nafions”.

L

POLITY

During the last years of his life, the Quaid addressed almost every
segment of society including legislators, armed forces, civil servants,
educationists, students, business community workers, lawyers and
public providing guidelines in evs v aspect of national life for building
up Pakistan into a modern and democratic Islamic welfare state.

| The Quaid firmly believed that Islam was not only a set of rituals,
traditions and spiritual doctrines, but it was a code of life Which
regulated Muslims’ life and conduct in politics and economic alike. In
February 1948, at the Sibi Darbar he reiterated that our salvation lies in
following the golden rules of conduct set for us by our great law-giver,
the Prophet of [slam (PBUH).

In accordance with the interpretation of the Quaid, the charter _“f
polity of Pakistan, the ruling-elite, the legislators and the assemblies

- were committed to the creation of such social and political structure.
{ which assured equality of all citizens in the eyes of the law Illd

| from the evils of nepotism, bribery, corruption, black-marketing A%
\ hoarding. The Quaid visualized all these evils to be eradicated from /5

1 - ;
Jinnah on World Affairs, Select Documents 1908-1948, edited by Mehrundist
Ali, Pakistan Study Centre, Karachi,
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pakistan which are so flourishing here and are the golden principles of
the New Pakistan.” *

BUREAUCRACY

In Quaid’s vision the bureaucracy of His Pakistan was not to act as
Masters of the people but as servanis of the masses. He laid down the code
of conduct for the civil servants and directed them to serve as the true
servants of the people. He wished the bureaucracy to wipe of the century-
old reputation and prove that they did not belong to the ruling class.

He visualized a bureaucracy not to be influenced by politics and
politicians and to have no connection with this political party or that
political party. He warned the “not to let people leave you will this
bearing that you hate, that you are offensive, that you have insulted or
that you are rude to them.

He expected selfless work and steadfast devotion to duty from
every civil servant. He never visualized “political army”, always ready
to take over, but dedicated defenders of the State. He, on June 14,1948,
reminded the armed forces of their constitutional responsibilities urging
them to understand the true constitutional and legal implications of
their oath of allegiance to the country’s constitution.

L
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THE LAHORE RESOLUTION

Never in the history of the world a resolution consisting of mere fou
hundred words had chan%ed the destiny of a nation. The Lahor,
Resolution passed at the 27" session of the AIML did this miracle,
The All-India Muslim League came into being in 1906, but jt wag
only after 1936, that it really became a popular Muslim political party of
the Muslim masses. Right from the start, the AIML effectively performeg

the task of safeguarding the rights of the Muslims. It was due g j
untiring efforts that the Muslims were given the right of sepang
electorate in 1909. The Congress never appreciated the conciliatory
gestures of the League. At one point, the League even agreed to forego
the right of separate electorate but due to the uncompromising attitude of
the Hindu leaders of the Congress, no understanding could be reached
The Quaid-i-Azam made every possible effort to bridge the gulf betwees
the Hindus and the Muslims but in the end he was forced to announce
“the parting of the ways". The two year (1937-39) tyrannical Congress
Raj further disillvsioned the Muslims and they were compelled to
conclude that only a separate and independent Muslim homeland could
guarantee their rights. At last, in 1940, the AIML came up with the

demand of a separate homeland for the Muslims and achieved its goalin
the form of Pakistan within a short span of seven years.

PROPOSALS FOR THE PARTITION
OF THE SUB-CONTINENT

Although the AIML formally demanded the creation of a separaf
Muslim state in 1940, yet long long ago, similar proposals had been pi
forward from time to time in order to bring to an énd permanently the
feud between the Hindus and the Muslims, The famous novelist
journalist Abdul Haleem Sharar (1860-1926) was the first nutat.rtu
prominent Muslim intellectual who made this proposal. Discuss!lls the
oft-occurring Hindu-Muslim riots, he wrote in his weekly JOU"
Mohazzab that the partition of India into Hindu provinces and Musli®
provinces, was the only reasonable and plausible solution 0 the look
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- THE LAHORE RESOLUTION .

standing rivalries, differences and gi :
communities. Hoputes hﬂ"’“’_‘ the two

Wilaiat Ali, who used the pen-name Bamboog ,
humorous column entitled Gup Shup in Moulana mﬁ:iedw";j, a
Comrade. In May 1913, he wrote a column under the title Aek Mul I;
(A meeting). It contained an interview with an imaginary person thu
was asked to suggest a permanent solution to the Hindu-Muslim
problem. The illusory figure replied that the two communities should
be separated from each other, with Northern India given to the Muslims
and the rest of the country to the Hindus. Although, it was only an
imaginary interview yet, it mirrored the thinking of the Muslims.

At the Stockholm Conference of the Socialist International 1917,
Abdul Jabbar Kheri and Professor Abdus Sattar Kheri who were
popularly known as the Kheri Brothers proposed the partition of India
into a Muslim India and a Hindu India. _

In March and April 1920, Qazi Aziz-ud-Din Bilgrami wrote an
open letter to M .K. Gandhi in weekly Zulgarnain. The letter contained
a proposal of dividing India between the Hindus and the Muslims. The
letter also contained a list of districts for the proposed division. This list
was not much different from that of the districts which were later on
included in the East and West Pakistan.

In 1923, Sardar Gul Mohammad Khan, President of the Anjuman-
e-Islamia, Dera Ismail Khan, while giving evidence before a committee
proposed the partition of India. He further suggested that the areas from
Agra to Peshawar should be given to the Muslims.

In December 1928, Moulana Murtaza Ahmad Khan Maikash , in a
series of four articles contributed to the daily Ingilab (Lahore) proposed
the creation of a Muslim national homeland consisting of the Punjab,
Sind, N.W.F.P. and Baluchistan in order to solve the Hindu-Muslim
problems. The Hindu daily Partap denounced this proposal. But
Moulana Maikash wrote a forceful reply defending his proposal.

In February 1929, Fazal Karim Khan Durrani, the editor of Muslim
India wrote a book entitled The Future of Islam in India in which he wrote,
“It is impossible for two conflicting cultures to co-exist, A clash between
the two is inevitable. Thus, the only solution to the Indian problem is that
the Muslims should either commit suicide or start growing long hair to
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It demanded the creation of a separate Muslim state. Sir Zafrullah Khan
called this proposal “impracticable”. .

Dr. Sf;yf: Abdulpr[.atif of Hyderabad Deccan in I_ns book A

Federation of Cultural Zones for India proposed the partition of India
. into several cultural zones. Out of them, the Muslims were to get four
cultural zones.

1) North-Western Zone consisting of Sind, Baluchistan, the Punjab,

the N.W.F.P., Khairpur and Bahawalpur.

2) North-Eastern Zone consisting of East Bengal and Assam.

3) The Zone comprising Delhi' and Lucknow.

4) The Deccan Zone.

He proposed eleven zones for the Hindus. All of these zones were
to be linked with a centre under a loose confederation. This scheme
also mentioned the transfer of population within twenty-five years.

In 1939, Dr. Zafarul Hasan and Dr. Afzaal Husain Qadri presented
a proposal called “The Problems of Indian Muslims and Its Solution”,
This scheme also popularly known as the “Aligarh Scheme” proposed
the partition of the country into three completely independent and
autonomous states.

1) North-Western India that would include the Punjab, the

N.W.F.P., Sindh and Baluchistan.

2) Bengal, Sylhet Division.

3) Hindustan (India).

The proposed Hindustan was to include the two new provinces of
Delhi and Malabar.

In 1938, the Sindh Provincial Muslim League held its session in
Karachi. In a resolution passed at the meeting the AIML was asked to
prepare such constitutional proposals that would give full autonomy to
the Muslim majority provinces within their federation.

In February 1940, the Working Committee and the Council of the
AIML held their meetings at Delhi, where it was decided to present the
demand for a separate Muslim state before the full session. After the
Working Committee meeting, the Quaid-i-Azam met the Viceroy, Lord

~ Linlithgow, and informed him that the AIML in its Lahore session
would demand the partition of India, '

It is to be noted that from June 4, 1858 1o 194q there were 170

s to divide the sub-contingnt and interestingly enough the
authors of lhﬂlsz ﬁg‘:ﬁ‘;‘;ﬁ:ﬁtga}?x Indian and foreign Muslims
(70+4) DU 8 " were included Bhai pm"::nﬁ‘;:ms (10). Among

Sastri, A.R. Banerji, Gulshan Raj, aq CI:R.P;T:;I; Lajpat

L, Lahore, 198, p 725,
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THE KHAKSAR TRAGEDY

A great tragedy took place at Lahore just four days before the

Lahore session. This tragic ,incident appeared to cause the
postponement of the session. It so happened that the Government of the
Punjab outlawed the paramilitary groups and placed a ban on parading
and wearing a military uniform. The activists of the Khaksar moverment
decided to violate this ban. So, on March 19, they started parading in
their particular uniform within the Bhati Gate. The clashes that broke
out with the police, resulted in the death of almost fifty Khaksars. The
situation became very tense in the city. The Unionist Premier of the
Punjab, Sir Sikandar, tried to postpone the League session taking
advantage of the firing on the Khaksars. Sir Zafrullah Khan was sent to
the Quaid in order to prevail upon him to postpone the Lahore session.
Besides that Sir Sikandar asked Khan Sahib Kuli Khan of the N-W.F.P.
who was passing through Lahore to Delhi to see the Quaid to do his
best to induce him to agree to a postponement of the session without
mentioning Sikandar’s name.’ The Governor of the Punjab, Henry
Craik, on March 20, 1940, informed the Governor-General that “Sir
Sikandar is doing what he can “to influence the local organizers of the
Conference to agree to a postponement”.> However, the Quaid turned
down all these requests and declared that the session would go ahead
on the scheduled dates.” -

A reception committee headed by Sir Shah Nawaz} Khan of
Mamdot was formed to make arrangements for the session.ts secretary
was Mian Bashir Ahmad. For the preliminary expenditures, the Nawab
of Mamdot gave rupees.six.hundred, from his own pocket. The largest
contribution was made by the Nawab of Kalabagh. He declared that if
someone else made even a larger contribution he (the Nawab) would
pay twice as much.

The Quaid-i-Azam reached Lahore on March 21, went straight to

‘the Mayo Hospital from the railway station to enquire after the

wounded Khaksars. The citizens of Lahore had decided to take their
Quaid in a procession but the programme had to be cancelled due to the
Khaksar tragedy. Outside the station, a large number of people were
insisting that instead of a car, the Quaid should sit in a phaeton so that

"hram ' Ali Malik (ed.), Muslim League Session 1940 and the Lahore
la‘'t‘e.'.'c'ﬁ.mrl‘ﬁ::aJr:, Islamabad, 1990, p.176.

JH. Craik to Linlithgow in Ikram Ali Malik, p.175.

Siddiq Ali Khan, Bey Taigh Sepahi, Karachi, 1971, pp.208-09.
Meem Sheen, “The Lahore Resolution”, The Pakistan Times, March 23, 1966.
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they could drag his carriage and take him to the Mamdo, Villa
However, the Quaid declined the offer.! The Punjab Police Intelligep,
Report had also appreciated “Jinnah's well-handling of ':.‘:
controversial issue of Khaksar disturbances”.?

On reaching Lahore, the Quaid in a statement to the press revealed
lha.t the League would make a revolutionary decision during the session
This triggered a series of rumours and speculations in all quarters, '

The inaugural session was held on March 22, 1940, at 3.00 p.m. in 5
huge pandal with a capacity of 60,000 persons. The session was attendeg
by a large number of delegates, visitors, volunteers and enthusiastic
audience. Admission was thorough ticket ranging from Rs.100 (dias),
Rs.10 (chairs), Rs.2 (ordinary chairs) to annas 8 for floor. According to
the Punjab Police Intelligence Report the inaugural session was attended
by 25000 persons.’ Shah Nawaz Khan of Mamdot presented the
welcome address. Ashiq Batalvi has narrated that when during the course
of his address he mentioned Sir Sikandar’s name the audience became
furious and started calling out “shame shame™. The Governor of the
Punjab, H. Craik, in a letter (23 March 1940) to the Governor-General
testifies Batalvi’'s statement that “There was, I was informed, some

interruption of the speech of Mamdot when he made a complimentary
reference to the work done by the Unionist Government. A certain
section of the audience started to shout “Sikandar Murdabad” >

In his presidential address the Quaid alluding to the religious and
cultural differences between thedHindus and the Muslims said, “The Hindus
and Muslims belong to two different religious philosophies, social customs,”

literatures. They neither intermarry nor interdine together, and, indeed they
belong to two different civilizations which are based on conflicting ideas
and conceptions. Their aspects on life and of life are different. It is quite
clear that Hindus and Musalmans derive their inspiration from different
sources of history. They have dlﬁ'ﬂ?nl epics, different heroes, qiﬁm
isodes. Very often the hero of one is the foe of the other and, likewise,
eir victories and defeats overlap. To yoke together two such nations under
. le state, one as a numerical minority and the other as a majority, must
:;';f; gmwi'ng discontent and ‘final’ desm?‘ion of any fabric that may be
sobuﬂtupfﬂfﬂ’cso"mm“fmh’m i
e wHistoric Lahore Session”, Dawn, March 23, 1965.
'Syed Shams - Ha;a:.z‘ l-:pri] 1986, National Documentation Centre, Lahore.
2NDC Newslener, 0'2 April 1986, National Documentation Centre, Lahore.
SNDC Newsletter: 5= nd Yadain Chand Taasurat, Lahore, 1969, p.244.
Session I and the Lahore Resolution, p.180.
SMuslim LeaBUe * ;) speeches and Writings of Mr. Jinnah, Lahore, Vol.Il
éyamiluddin
1976, p-16%-
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" The Quaid-i-Azam forcefully refuted the notion that the Muslims were
only a “minority”. He asserted, “They are a nation according to any
definition of a nationhood. Thus, they must have their separate homeland”.

During his speech, the Quaid read out Lala Lajpat Rai’s letter of 1924
to C.R. Das in which he had categorically stated that the Hindus and the
Muslims were two separate and distinct nations which could never be
merged into a single nation. This letter stunned the whole audience. Malik
Barkat Ali spontaneously remarked that Lala Lajpat Rai was a “nationalist”
Hindu leader. At this, the Quaid emphatically said, “No Hindu can be a
“nationalist”. Every Hindu is a Hindu first and last™}

Dr. Mohammad Alam who, like our present-ddy politicians, changed
political parties with the change of the season, was now with the AIML,
said that “from his experience in the Congress he had come to realise that
they wanted to establish Hindu Raj under British protection”. According
to the Intelligence Report “his speech met with great acclamation”.?

Some of the prominent Muslim leaders who came to attend this
historic session of the League from various Indian provinces were Sir
Abdoola Haroon, Qazi Muhammad Isa, 1.I. Chundrigar, Sayyid Rauf
Shah, Dr. Alam, Sayyid Zakir Ali, Abdul Hamid Qadri, Chaudhry
Khaliquzzaman, Nawab Muhammad Ismail Khan, Nawab Bahadur Yar
Jang, AK. Fazlul Haq, Sardar Abdur Rab Nishtar, Khawaja
Nazimuddin, Abul Hashim, Sardar Aurangzeb Khan and Malik Barkat
Ali.. According to a careful estimate, more than fifty thousand people
attended the Lahore session. A well-known Congressi leader Moulvi
Tufail Ahmad acknowledged that this meeting was very successful
from the point of view of the number of its participants.’

On March 23, 1940, Moulvi A.K. Fazlul Haq presented the historic
Lahore Resolution before the full house. It was supported by Chaudhry
Khaliquzzaman, Moulana Zafar Ali Khan, Sir Abdoola Haroon, Sardar
Aurangzeb Khan, Nawab Ismail Khan, Qazi Muhammad Isa and

Begum Mohamed Ali Johar.
THE LAHORE RESOLUTION

The Lahore Resolution consisted of four hundred words and four
short paragraphs. It said, “Resolved that it is the considered view of this
session of the All-India Muslim League that no constitutional plan

Would be workable in this country or acceptable to the Muslims unless
tis designed on the following basic principles viz., that geographically

b i
!Chm,d Yadain Chand Taasurat, p.245. .
NDC Newsletter, No.2, April 1986, National Documentation Centre, Lahore.

me Ahmad Manglori, Musalmanon ka Roshan Mustagbil, Delhi, 1945, p.468.
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constitute ‘Independent States’ in which the constituent units shaj| l::
autonomous and sovereign.

“That adequate, effective and mandatory safeguards should pe
specifically provided in the constitution for minorities in these units
and in regions for the protection of their religious, cultural, €Cconomic,
political, administrative and other rights and interests in consultation
with them and in other parts of India where the Musalmans are in a
minority adequate, effective and mandatory safeguards shall pe
specifically provided in the constitution for them and other minorities
for the protection of their religious, cultural, economic, political,
administrative and other rights and interests in consultation with them”,

A vast majority of the Muslims were readily moved by the Lahore
Resolution. The idea of a Separate state offered to them the only way in .
which freedom had meaning. The idea of a Muslim homeland brought a
sense of identity and purpose and it soon became the symbol of Muslim
nationalism and their ultimate goal.! :

Some scholars, researchers and politicians turned historians have
managed to identify some “ambiguities” in the Lahore Resolution.
Firstly, they argue that the Lahore Resolution contains the idea of two
states instcad of one. There is no doubt that the Resolution contains the

Muslim State™. In October 1940, just seven months after the passing of
the Lahore Resolution, the Quaid-i-Azam wrote, preface to India’s
Problems of Her Future Constitution. In his preface, he used the words
“Independent State”, with reference to the lehcn'c Resolution. This
preface contains the signatures of the Quaid. InaSpeechnuAp-il I,
1940,tnuscdthcwmds“hdushmpumdmd”.lnmwm
April 14, 1941, he mentioned “An independent Muslim state™. A fier
1944, he never used the word states, 'Iﬂhlsm.()nﬂxmnf
Gmd},j_mm.h talks, in 1944, the Qtﬂu!"mmovod all sorts of doubts
from the minds of the people by categorically stating that the two wnjs

: at, Aspects of the Pakistan Hmlm 1991, p.131.
:MS:Z (ed.), Writings of the M—a-ﬂlm_u. Lahore,
3Ahmadwdﬁd Qureshi, Tareekhi Faisla, Karachi, 1976, p
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mentioned in the Lahgre Resolution would be the provinces of a single
state and not of two states.

The- League Legislators’ Convention at Delhi on April 7, 1946,
which was attended by eight hundred elected representatives of the
Central and Provincial Assemblies and the Council of State, members
of the Council and Working Committee of the All-India Muslim
League. Husain Shaheed Suhrawardi of Bengal presented a resolution
in which it was clearly stated ﬂnt the Pakistan zones be constituted into

a Sovereign Independent State.!

- Some scholars including Penderel Moon, Durga Das, Kanji
DWkadasarld Ayesha Jalal have advanced the theory that the Lahore
Resolution was meant to serve as a “bargaining counter”. Ayesha Jalal’s
sensational and wild assumption that the Pakistan demand was not a
spontaneous and genuinedemand of the South Asian Muslims but merely a
“bargaining counter”, is not only uncharitable to the Quaid and an msuit to
the Muslims’ urge for a separate homeland but is incorrect h:stoncaliy

The argument of the Quaid’s use of the Lahore Resolution as a
counter for bargaining is weakened by the fact that both the British and
the Hindus accuse the Quaid of intransigence and obstinacy on the
issue of Pakistan. V.P, Menon, B.R. Nanda, and Tara Chand all accuse
him on that account. It is interesting to note the Quaid himself refuted
the charge on March 2, 1941 that “I have said often that it is a matter of
life and death to the Musalmans and is not a counter for bargaining.

Then there is a group of politicians turned pseudo-scholars who accuse
that the Lahore Resolution was inspired by the British. One can only l!'ugh
at their accusation because right from Lord Linlithgow (1936—43] to
Wavell (1943-47) and from Wavell to Shri Mountbatten (March—August
1947) on the one hand and from Zetland (1935-40) to L.S. Amery (1940-
1945) and from Amery to Pethick Lawrence (1945-47) all opposed the
division of their Empire. Lord Linlithgow, the Viceroy, wrote very next
day.to Lord Zetland, the Secretary of State, “I do not attach too much
importance to Jinnah’s demand for the carving out of India into an
indefinite number of so-called ‘Dominions”. He grmed the Lahore
Resolution as “extreme and preposterous demand”. Lord Zetland readily
agreed. In his reply to Linlithgow, he stressed: “I shall be bound to express
my dissent from the propdsal”. He disliked the creation”of a number of
“Ulsters” in India because that would mean the “wrecking of all that we

]““ﬂbmdmng for a number of .years past”.’

THE LAHORE RESOLUTION 229

,:Wuw:gfmem-fm Muslim League, Jan-Dec, 1946, Delhi, n.d., pp45-46
™ M. Rafique Afzal, “The Govemor-Generalship Issue” in South Asian Studies,
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230 the Secretary of State for India, was no less ml

L.S. hmczrg' 1941, he wrote to the Viceroy, “Jinnah andm:'l i
. b;ginniﬂs to be almost more nf_a menace and g iy
Pakistanis al'ﬁof “ealities”. Lord Mountbatten himself admits: «]

ost all sense ‘n a unified India. I thought the ?’ealest single legacy “
great h\‘-“‘”ie {ndians was a unified country”.
could Iﬂ“‘; ¢ the Governors of the provinces that the Quaid claimeq f,,
'Nnnc red separate Muslim nationhcod. Bertrand Gi,
pakistan favou . in a United India and could "<
1y “firmly believed in a Unit ndia and could not see hoy,
(PU'."J"‘I": could work”. Mudie (Sind) argued that the Muslims in pjg
!P,::::i,. did not believe ip complete se_:paralion but rather iy
association with the rest of India on a new basis that would ensure thep

: i mination.

aga:r'}s;ﬁ{f'iil;l? {;eadcrs and the Hindu press started a tirade against the
Resolution the very next day. Partap, Bande ﬂ;!ﬂfmm, Milap, Tribune
and other Hindu newspapers called it as ll'lt? Pakistan Resolution. It was
done in spite of the fact that the word Pakistan was not used anywhere
in the Lahore Resolution. Perhaps, the All-India Muslim League could
not have succeeded in giving as much publicity and popularity to the
Lahore Resolution as it received in the wake of the extremely hostile
reaction and criticism of the Hindu press. The Hindus could not
conceive of the religious sacrilege of their sacred soil, the vivisection of
Mother India. On August 21, 1940, the daily Tribune (Lahore) called
the Pakistan Scheme unacceptable and horrible. Declaring the scheme
to be useless, the same newspaper wrote in another editorial that it
offered no sblution to the communal problem of India. The newspaper
added that the scheme would, on the contrary, complicate the problem.
In June 1940, the Modem Review (Calcutta) wrote that all the people
except Jinnah and his Muslim League companions had a firm belief
that the Pakistan Scheme was harmful not only for the Indian nation but
for the Muslims as well.

In an editorial, the Hindustan Times wrote, “History had made
Hindus and Muslims in India into one people which even the ingenuity of
the most ingenious constitution-monger will be unable to divide. To
break up the unity of India 1S not to satisfy the ambitions of this
community or that, but to ruin the peace and prosperity of the people of
this country as a whole. This is a solution which the Muslim community
as a whole will reject, whatever the League and its leaders do”.
Schg‘:tnﬂﬂﬂ*ler“ncwsp?er Amrita Bazar Patrika dismissed the "t"ahf*“”

© as “absurd” and added, “If the Muslims cannot live & *

haye
was 3

1
Mt;unmfbanen and the Partition of India, p.42.
- Moore, The Escape F. rom Empire, Oxford, 1983, p.81.
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minority mﬂﬂ;g} under an all Ingj

expect that ¢ Hindus would like to live under : can
Commenting on the Lahore Resolution, th:h;mlgﬂﬂ g

a revolutionary proposal but those who are will: wrote, “It is
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. The ‘may Or not but it has to be admitted
eighty million Muslims living in India have a strong mtlsciu:lsncssth::’
their distinct cultural identity. This is a suggestion which has been

presented in_ the present atmosphere of frustration. Thus, we would
have to admit, that through this proposal, an honest attempt has been
made to suggest a practicable solution to the on-going bitter di'spute
between the Hindus and the Muslims. Those who have gresenh:d this
proposal believe that this is the only practicable solution”.

Like the Hindu press, the Hindu leaders also strongly condemned the
Lahore Resolution. On April 6, 1940, Gandhi wrote in his newspaper the
Harijan, “1 think, the Muslims would not accept the idea of partition.
Their interest itself would prevent them from partition. Their religion
would not allow them to commit such a suicidal rebellion. The Two-
Nation Theory is a lie, I believe in non-violence and cannot, therefore,
violently stop the proposed partition. But I would not become a party to
this slicing. Partition is meant to destroy the work of those innumerable
Muslims and Hindus who, for centuries, tried to live together as a nation.
Partition is a lie. My soul rebels against this viewpoint that Hinduism and
Islam are two contradictory faiths and civilisations. We are all the
children of one God. Definitely, I would revolt against the idea that the
millions of Indians who were Hindus till yesterday can change their

ionali hanging their religion™.

naﬂu;;}:it;.s?:gc l}mgt[,ﬁhum R:sulutinn._ l_iajggupal;charia said, “Mr.
Jinnah's step towards the partition of India is like a dispute bctwgr.n two
brothers over the ownership of a cow and the two hl‘ﬂlhﬂrs"lllﬂmmlj’
divide the cow between themselves by cutting it into two parts’’. y
The Congress President Shri Ab_ui Kalam Az.ad commentc_d: |
that the very term Pakistan goes against my grain. It
must confess ome portions of the world gre pure while others are
:divisiﬂ n of territories into pur;t and impure is un-Islamic

on of the very spirit of Islam”. _
h press did not attach much importance to the Lahore
Times, the Manchester Guardian and the Daily Herald

suggests that
impure. Such :
and a repudiati
The Britis
Resolution. The :
: : oundations ﬂfpdﬂﬂﬂﬂ. vﬂl“. p,ﬂ\l’ll
1Sharifuddin IT:‘FT;:-E-HHHH. Agra, 1941, pp.499-500.

2 Zubai
Ameen ia Wins Freedom, Calcutta, 1959, p.142.
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mhdhtfmmiemmmkmluﬂnn.m%?.
| «completely ignored it. According to the Times, the e elegrapy
| 'Muslims as a nation was a product of the mﬁcyufﬂncmmluﬂumﬁf the
disﬁvmnedﬁuhﬁmnmﬂb&auuitmmdmh Piper
unity. The Manchester Guardian stated that by getting e | &P
Resolution approved, Mr. Jinnah had re-established the Teign of chags :
the Indian politics. According to the newspaper this resolution Struck g in
heart of Indian nationalism. All the prominent English newspapers e the
ignored the resolution or opposed it. However, surprisingly, sci:tt
journal the Nature made every possible effort to understand the import
of the Lahore Resolution. It wrote, “Apart from the fact that the vojce of a
minority of some eighty milliog, or more, sectional differences, for once,
forgotten, cannot be ignored, it is based upon a very real difference ina
cultural tradition, as every student of Indian civilisation is aware, for the
Muslim tradition fosters democratic outlook, while fearing and resenting
Hindu domination in an independent India, which would from its
immemorial tradition of caste be essentially oligarchic in practice,
;However impracticable the Muslim demand may be, no solution wil
“secure the future of India in world affairs or internally which attempis to
i ignore or override the fundamental differences of culture and tradition”
! The Lahore session of the AIML proved a landmark in the history
E of the South Asian Muslims. Even the Governor of the Punjab, H.
Craik, had to admit that three results had clearly emerged from the
5' Lahore session, (a) The importance of the All-India Muslim League as
| the representative Muslim organisation had been immensely enhanced,
(b) Jinnah's own personal prestige had greatly risen. His position as the
only AIML leader was now unchallenged and in practice he alone was
in a position to dictate .the ‘League’s policy, (c) Muslim opinion was
now outwards at least unanimous in favour of the partition of India.!
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india was forced to get involved in the Second World War which broke
out in September, 1939, On September 14, 1939, the Congress called
upon the British Government to announce the aims and objectives of
the War. Moreover, if its aim was the survival and strengthening of
democratic forces, it must start from India.

The Congress began insisting on the “immediate unconditional and
regardless of consequences, whether invasion, civil war or general
anarchy” complete independence for India and on assigning the task of the
preparation of the constitution to a constituent assembly. The real intention
of the Congress behind this demand was that it wanted an opportunity to
establish Ram Raj in India. M.K. Gandhi himself reflected the true Hindu
mentality in an essay on June 15, 1940, in the following words:-

“The Congress is the only democratic and elected political
party in India. All other parties are self-created and communal”.
Meanwhile, on September 18, 1939, the All-India Muslim League

demanded from the Government the assurance that no constitutional
reforms would be introduced in India without consulting it and without
its consent.!

On July 1, 1940, the Quaid-i-Azam sent a few proposals to the
Viceroy, Lord Linlithgow, regarding the restructuring of the Viceroy’s
Executive Council &nd War Council. Hg demanded of the Governor-
General to give a clear-cut assurance that no interim or final
constitution would be imposed on India without the prior approval of
the Muslims and the All-India Muslim League.?

THE AUGUST OFFER

On August 8, 1940, His Majesty’'s Government issued a White
Paper that after the war a constituent assembly would be formed in
India. It would include all the elements of the national life and its task
would be to prepare the framework of the country’s future constitution.
The minorities were assured that “His Majesty’s Government could not
contemplate transfer of their present responsibility for the peace and

1 Ani O
Resolutions of the All-India Muslim League Delhi, n.d.
- Mseli, g, 9-23
M.H. ohammad Ali Jinnah - A Political Study, Karachi, 1970, pp.232-33.
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welfare of India to any system of Government whose authorjy, .
directly denied by large and powerful elements in India’s nationg] life»
Furthermore, the British Government would not force these elemen
into admission to such a government. The Government also anNOungey
that the differences between the two parties would not be alloweg %
become a hindrance in the way of the extension nf‘ the Vicgm},-s
Executive Council. The hope was expressed that various parties of
India would cooperate with the Viceroy regarding the war efforts,

The August Offer revealed a clear and dlsl:mf:t f:hange in the
approach of the British Government towards the constitutional problems
facing India. Until then, the British Parliament was cunsl_dcred to be the
final authority with regard to the decisions about the Indian affairs, Tpe
Indians had no power to decidedheir own fate. The August Declaration,
for the first time, promised the formation of a constituent assembly made
up of Indian representatives. Secondly, in the proposed assembly, all the
minorities, especially the Muslims, were assured that their rights would
be adequately safeguarded. Thirdly, this Declaration removed the fears of
the Muslims, and that of all other minorities, that the Government might
surrender to Congress demands was set at rest.’

On September 1, 1940, the All-India Muslim League Working
Committee, at a meeting, presided over by the Quaid-i-Azam, discussed the
August Offer. It expressed its satisfaction over the British Government's
decision that no future constitution would be adopted without the prior.
approval and consent of the League. In their speeches, the Viceroy and the
Secretary of State had talked about “national unity”. The Working
Committee clearly stated that th~ughout the history, “national unity” had
been non-existent in India, that is why, such remarks would inevitably give
birth to doubts and speculations in the hearts of the Muslims. The Muslim
Leaguet merefcrre, reiterated that it was stil] committed to the Lahore
Resolution, which called for the partition of the sub-continent and the
creation of a separate Muslim homeland consisting of the Muslim majority
areas in the Nonh-WESm and North-Eastern parts of the country. The
League Working Committee declared that the partition of India was the only
solution to the complicated political problems facing the country 4

The Congress sharply reacted ag :

ainst the A :
President, Shri Abul Kalam Azad, eve ugust Offer and its

; n refused to h b th
Government on this issue, because he belieyeq 0 hold talks with the

i ; that the i as
“totally at variance with Congress policy” $ declaration w

he Congress completely
rejected the August Offer and alleged that the British g:vemmeﬁl was

— g

3 i Struggle for Pakistan, Karachi
AP + 1965, pp.158.50
4Resolutions of the All-India Muslim League, p 70, PP 9

SThe Struggle for Pakistan, p.161.
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a0t sincere to the cause of Indian independence. It added that the
vernment Wwas deliberately using the minority issue to create

obstacles in the way of independence.

THE DEFENCE COUNCIL AND THE
ALL-INDIA MUSLIM LEAGUE

On July 20, 1941, the Government briefed the Quaid about the
extension of the Governor-General’s Executive Council. At the

came time, the formation of a 30-member Defence Council was also
This decision had been taken without consulting the Quaid, so

announced. : :
he summoned an emergency meeting of the Working Committee of the

League at Bombay. The League severely criticised the Government’s
decision to encourage its members to join the Defence Council without
wking its leader (M.A. Jinnah) into confidence. In this way, the
Government had acted undemocratically. The League called upon its
members, who had joined the Defence Courcil, to submit their resignations
within ten days. The Muslim leaders who had joined the Defence Council
were Moulvi A.K. Fazlul Haq, Sir Sa’adullah, Begum Shah Nawaz, Sir
Zafrullah Khan, Sir Sikandar Hayat and Nawab Ahmad Saeed Chattar.

When Moulvi Fazlul Haq was asked to resign from the Defence
Council, he not only did so but resigned from the League as well. In a letter
on September 8, 1941, he accused the Quaid of adopting autocratic
behaviour regarding the Defence Council. This attitude enraged the
Muslims, especially those of Bengal. It was demanded that if Moulvi
Fazlul Haq did not withdraw his charges, he should be expelled from the
League. Thus, the All-India Muslim League Working Committee told him
to withdraw his charges and to express regret over his remarks. At last, on
November 14, he apologised to the Quaid in a letter and the Working
Committee closed that chapter. Once again, he changed his mind and
despite being the head of the Muslim League Parliamentary Party, the
President of the Bengal Muslim League and the member of the All-India
‘Muslim League Council and the Working Committee, he initiated a move
to form a progressive group within the Assembly. He also started a
newspaper in which abuses were hurled at the League. Later on, he
resigned from the Muslim League and in order to form his ministry,
formed alliance with such anti-Muslim leaders as Sarat Chandra Bose and
Shayama Prasad Mookerjee. At this, the Quaid-i-Azam was forced to expel
him from the League. In April 1943, Moulvi Fazlul Haq had to yield to the
Pressure of the public opinion and resigned from the Government.

Begum. Shah Nawaz also refused to abide by the decision of the

gue o quit the Defence Council. Thus, she too was expelled from the



Leaguerandtosremain in the Defence Council, bﬂaune! h""illith
protect the Tights of the Muslims whose - inﬂthywmh

reduced from 72 per cent to 52 per cent.> On the other hand, g o ™=
Hayat and Sir Sa’adullah had resigned from the Defence Councy, 2

CRIPPS PROPOSALS

. At a time, when the gulf between the Congress and the Leagy,
widening, the rapid advance of the Japanese troops had brought the "
the Indian borders. When Burma was engulfed in the flames of the v 1:
Congress decided to take advantage of the seemingly helpless mmﬁ
the British Government. It believed that in case of th British defey,
would have ample opportunities to fulfil its old dream of establishing Ry
Raj in the country. Meanwhile, the British Govenment realising ¢
gravity of the situation, decided to send a delegation headed by Sir Staffory
Cripps to India to try to break the political deadlock. As Cripps was ;
regular and permanent supporter of the Congress, therefore, the Congreg;
and the Hindus, expressed great delight over his appointment. Govern.
General, Lord Linlithgow, himself told the Reforms Commissioner, HY,
Hodson, that with the appointment of the Mission, “the Hindus are jubilant
They think they have scored with the British Government and that Cripps
is their man”." The N-W.FP. Governor, George Cunningham, furthe
confirmed these speculations. In a report, on the eve of the arival of
Stafford Cripps in India, he wrote to the Governor- General that the Hindws
and some pro-Congress Muslims were pleased to think that Cripps was1
friend of Nehru. They believed that all the practical difficulties would be
solved in a way acceptable to Congress and the Hindus.*

L.S. Amery, the Secretary of State for India, made a statement full
of truth about Stafford Cripps that “he had swallowed all Nehru's view
and thus believed unquestionably in the unfailing virtues of arithmetica
democracy and ‘the sacred right of majorities and could only regard
ninety million Muslims as a tiresome uppogitiun“.’ :

Cripps arrived in Delhi on March 22, 1942. He had meetings Wil
the Quaid-i-Azam, Jawaharlal Nehru, Abul Kalam Azad, Sir Sikand*
Hayat, Moulvi Fazlul Hag, B.R. Ambedkar. V.D. Savarkar and 5" T
Bahadur Sapru. He briefed them about his fullnvq’ng proposals:-

Way

:Iahan Ara Shah Nawaz, Father and Daughter, Lahore, 1971, pp. 1741, %
H.V.Hodson, The Great Divide - Britain-India-Pakistan, Karachi, 1960,

Mansergh (Editor-in-Chicf), The Traiigferaf Power 194247, Vol P4

% *Waheed Ahmad (ed.), The Nation’s Voice, VoLII, Karachi, 1996. p-Xs8"



The British Government wants 1o _
2) Dominion which, in spite of having mﬂ: :e‘w I:ld:an
internal autonomy, would be associated with U.K,n:,r&a DE
Dominions by a common allegiance to the Crown,
3) At the end of the War, a new constituent

assembl
fmnwdtoﬁmﬂwﬁnhnemmﬁmﬁun.ltsmhnzmz

elected on the basis of. proportional representation by the members
amelowmufmmﬁmammmmmmnm
would also be represented in the constituent assembly. The
mmﬁmﬁunp'q)aredb}'thisassmnblymddbeamblemﬂn
British Government. A treaty would be concluded between the
Assembly and His Majesty's Government. It would resolve all the
issues and problems that would crop up at the time of the transfer of
power from Britain to the people of India. All the promises made to
_ the religious minorities would be honoured in these accords.

4) Any province would be free to keep itself out of the proposed
Union and to retain its prevailing constitutional position. If
such non-acceding provinces so desired they could have their
own separate Union.

5) During the critical period which now faces India and until the new
constitution is framed His Majesty’s Government must inevitably
bear the responsibility for the control of the defence of India.

As it has been said earlier that Cripps was a “friend of the Congress”.

His proposals were mainly based on those broad principles which had been
discussed at length by Nehru with him and Attlee in 1938.1

From their bwn points of view, both the Congress and the League

rejected the Cripps proposals on various grounds.

The Working Committee of the All-India Muslim League rejected

thesesproposals on the following grounds:-

1) The announcement by the Government that a Union would be
set up in India was not in line with the basic principles and
desires of the League, because the League did not believe in
the so-called Indian unity. The Working Committee
emphatically declared that it was neither just nor possible, in
the interest of peace and happiness of the two peoples, to
compel 10 constitute One Indian Union."

2) Since in the proposed assembly, in which the Muslims would
get only one-fourth seats, all the important issues would be

::R.I.Mnum Escape from Empire, Oxford, 1983, p.11.
 Brhe TWHOI Power 194247, Vol l, p.749.
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decided by a majority vote, the Muslims would pe left v,
option but to surrender to the dictates of the majority, I;"’lll't.llln
in view that fact the League opposed the setting ueepms
constitution-making body because the only solutj P of 3
g i P on of Indl ’
constitutional problem was the partition of India. ‘.
3) Although the provinces were given the right to sebede fr
the Union but the proposals did not lay down the method o
procedure to implement the provision. Secondly, no Pmcedw
had been laid down as to how the verdict of a province wa&m;
be obtained in favour or against accession to the one Unjop 2
The Quaid-i-Azam called these proposals very unsatis
asserted that they amounted to taking the Muslims to the galloyy
Expressing his views on the issue he said that the proposals have “aroused
our deepest anxieties and grave apprehensions, specially with reference o
Pakistan Scheme which is a matter of life and death for Muslim India. W,
will, therefore, endeavour that the principle of Pakistan which finds only
veiled recognition in the Document should be conceded in unequivocal
terms”." The Quaid hoped that in order to give real effect to the principle
of Pakistan and Muslim self-determination His Majesty's Government and
Stafford Cripps would not hesitate to make the necessary amendments.
The Congress basically denounced the Cripps proposals because it
contained seeds of Pakistan. It condemned the “novel principle of non-
accession” as a severe blow to the conception of Indian unity and an
apple of discord likely to generate growing trouble in the provinces.
The Congress also demanded that the portfolio of defence should be
immediately handed over to the Indians, It also objected to the power
given to the rulers of the States to nominate their representatives in the
constituent assembly. M.K. Gandhi was deeply distressed at the idea of
the breaking away of the provinces from the Union. Rejecting the
proposals as totally unacceptable, he said, “These proposals would only
add to our difficulties and resolving the communal issues would
become impossible™.'* Gandhi compared these proposals to a post-
dated cheque on a liquidated bank.' :
Commenting on this aspect of these proposals, Pandit Nehru wroté
in an article in New York Times on July 19, 1943, that proposal had

shown the Indians the way to divide their country not only into two but
several parts.

:‘:Sharifuddin Pirzada, Foundations of Pakistan, Karachi, 1970, Vol.II, p.385-
1i1he Nation’s Voice, Vol I, p.429.
*Races Ahmad Jafri

| 15, Quaid-i-Azam Aur Unka Ehd, Lahore, p.476.
_ India Wins Freedom, p.58. .
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wonh-menti.nnin aspects of the above-mentioned
of the Cripp§ proposals, which were so bitterly

two

are
Th:r:sign clause : .
by the Congress. Firstly, according to Lord Hailey, the non-

on clause Was incorporated into the Cripps proposals not to the
M‘i‘:ﬁ T of Pakistan but to pressurise the Hindus so that they could
for making some sort of settlement with the Muslims.

f;;dﬂ;: :im. professor Coupland also believes that the non-accession
ase WBS meant to preservosthe Indian unity instead of allowing the
‘uﬁm to break away which would mean the partition of the
f;nw-“ Not to speak of Lord Hailey or Prof. Coupland even the

the Cripps proposal Sir Stafford Cripps in a meeting with

quthor of
March 27, 1942, confirmed that “the document was

i on
ion of a United India and it was only

Pf'““““y based upon the concept
in the case of Congress being unable to come (0 an agreement with the

Muslims in the constitution-making body that any question of non-

accession would arise”.
Secondly, the British press also condemned that clause. The

Manchester Guardian, on March 30, 1942, regretted “such a breach in
[ndian unity. Another newspaper, the New Statesman expressed the
hope that none of the Muslim provinces would vote to opt out of the
Union. The Daily Herald was ill-disposed towards the offer
commenting on the non-accession clause its remark was pithy from the
very beginning. “Every Punjabi, Hindu or Sikh or Muslim is proud to
be an Indian. He will not sell that birthright in the name of Pakistan”."

Besides the British press, the Viceroy, Lord Linlithgow, the
Commander-in-Chief of the Indian forces, Lord Wavell, and the
prgvincial governors bitterly opposed the non-accession clause of the
Cripps Plan.!® These facts are enough to open the eyes of those who
still believe that Pakistan was a by-product of British conspiracy.

On April 3, 1942, the Working Committee of the Hindu
Mahasabha rejected the Cripps Plan. It said that the basic principle of
the Mahasabha was that India was one and indivisible. The right to step
out of the Indian federation wwill stimulate communal and sectional
animosities”. The Mahasabha demanded that India should be
immediately declared an independent country.?

d P;F:?:;?Q;:Td _a‘ﬂ;;ndia Muslim League rejected the Cripps
— -i-Azam admitted that the only positive aspect of the
“The Struggle For Pakistan, pp.186-87.

le
Transfer of Power 1942-47, Vol .1, p.499.

K.Aziz, Britain and Mi

| uslim India,

OThe Great Divide, p94. a, London, 1963, pp.153-54.
The Transfer of Power 1942-47, Vol 1, pp.627-28




plan was that for the first time the British Governmen, 4 |
principle to the idea of partition. Secondly, within two -~ Agresq in
Lahore Resolution, the British Government years of the |
partition as a fundamental principle of any future C‘-Dnstitut]::e ideg of |
indeed a great achievement of the Muslims. It was for the rtlun: It vy
the idea of partitioning India was mentioned in the Bﬁl?t time hy
documents. The Governor of the N.W.F.P., George Cunnn.s e
report to the Governor-General also testified that “he Mzham_ iy
obviously pleased at the thought that Pakistan is now
practical politics by His Majesty’s Government” 2!
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|
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- THEFINAL YEARS OF THE
BRITISH RAJ
(1944-1947)

On July 14, 1942, the Congress Working Committee passed a
resolution calling upon the British Government to quit India
immediately. It believed that as the war had reached the Indian borders
the British Government would be compelled to yield to the demand
made in the resolution. The Quaid-i-Azam called the Quit India
Movement a step towards establishing Hindu Raj in India. Talking to
some foreign correspondents on July 31, 1942, he said, “The decisionis
the culminating point in the policy and programme of Mr. Gandhi and
his Hindu Congress of blackmailing the British and coercing them to
concede a system of government and transfer power to that government
which would establish a Hindu Raj immediately under the aegis of the
British bayonet, thereby placing the Muslims and other minorities and

interests at the mercy of the Congress Raj"."

With the passing of the resolution by the All-India Congress
Committee on August 8, a series of rioting and sabotage began throughout
the country. Railway stations were set ablaze and railway tracks were
uprooted. The Government outlawed the INC and on August 9, 1942, the
whole Congress leadership including M.K. Gandhi was arrested. _

On November 12, 1942, Chakarwarti Rajagnpalachgna had a
meeting with Lord Linlithgow, the Viceroy, and requested him to allow
him to meet Gandhi so that he could arrange some sort of settlement
between the Congress and the All-India Muslim League. However, the

""'“ﬁ “%mﬁ f;?scd that the Quit India Movement was heading
- fail"‘u’; o wrote a letter to the Viceroy on July 27, 1942. He assured

' . that if the British Government announced the immediate
the Vmﬂl‘ﬂYmd_a and created a national government accountable to the
freedom of Indi uld ask the INC to withdraw the Movement.

mbly, he WO : |

ﬁzﬁajﬂﬂ; Vig:my turned down his suggestion.

1 jamiluddin Ahmad (ed) Speeches and Writings of Mr Jinnah, Vol.1, Lahore, 1960,
ppjﬂ-nﬁ.
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C.R. FORMULA ’

for Sinmcﬁcmmmﬁwmcmdmwlﬁu“ﬂmmlﬂﬂtm }
el me sort of reconciliation. Before this time, Rajagopalacharia wag g

Y person who was seeking some understanding with the Mugli, |
although to further his own vested interests. In .a letter 10 the Quajq
April 8, 1944, he wrote, “Here is the basis for a setllement whigy | |
discussed with Gandhiji in March 1943, and of which he expressed f
approval. He then authorised me to signify his approval of these oy 8
should 1 be able to convince you of their being just and fair to all”,

On April 17, 1944, C.R. in another letter 1o the Quaid expregge,
his disappointment at his inability to approve of the terms. CR, hopeq
that the Quaid would reconsider his position.

On June 30, Rajagopalacharia in a ttlﬂgrarn wrote, “Gandhj still
holds by Formula presented to you by me. At this stage, I would like |,
publish my Formula and your rejection. However, I would like yo, a
this juncture to reconsider your rejection”.

On July 2, the Quaid-i-Azam denounced the unjust and falsifieg
statement of Rajagopalacharia and denied his charge of having rejecteq p
Formula. He wrote, “Although this Formula was not open to any
modification, I was ready to present it before the Working Committee of
the AIML. Since you did not agree to it, things could not move forward”

In reply, Rajagopalacharia wrote, “The proposal of presenting the
Formula to the Muslim League Working Committee is useless. There
can be no success as long as it does not have your own support™.!

The above-mentioned Formula presented by Rajagopalacharia wa
as follows:-

This is the basis of the terms and conditions for an agreement between
the INC and the AIML to which Mr. Gandhi and Mr. Jinnah have agresd
They would try to get it approved from their respective parties.

1) Subject to the terms set out below as regards the constitution

of Free India, the Muslim League endorses the Indian demand
for independence and will cooperate with the Congress in (e
formation of a provisional interim government for (¢
transitional period.

2) After the termination of the war, a commission shall be setup
to demarcate the contiguous Muslim majority districts in the
north-west and east of the country. After the demarcation of
these districts, a plebiscite of all the inhabitants held on te
basis of adult suffrage or some other practicable franchist

shall ultimately decide the issue of separation from Hindusia?

! Sharifuddin Pirzada, Quaid-i-Azam Jinnah's Correspondence, Karachi, 197,38



THE FINAL YEARS OF THE BRITISH RAJ 243

e

o
il

___lJ" A

P

. .

il

- o W O

If the majority of the people living in these areas voted in
favour of forming a sovereign state separate from Hindustan
the decision would be enforced without any prejudice to the
right of districts on the border to choose to join either state.

3) Before the referendum, all the political parties would be free
to advocate their viewpoint to the public. _

4) Inthe event of separation of the two statestmutual agreements
would be entered into for safeguarding defence, commerce,
communications and for other essential purposes.

5) The transfer of population between the states shall only be on

an absolutely voluntary basis.
6) These terms and conditions wou
the British Government transfers full

for the governance of India.’
Making the best use of his legal expertise, the Quaid-i-Azam studied

0 detail each and every aspect of the C.R. Formula and rejectqd it. The
first point that he raised was that if, as Rajagopalacharia had claimed, the
Formula had the full backing of Gandhi, why he had not presented it
directly to the President of the AIML. If the Formula did not enjoy the
support of the Congress, a discussion only on its various aspects would
only mean the wastage of time. The factual position was that, on one
hand. Rajagopalacharia had been expelled from the INC and, on the
other, Gandhi was not even a “four anna™ member of that party. Thus, if
the League had accepted this Formula, there was no guarantee that the
Congress would have done the same. The Quaid declared the Formula to
be nothing more than a sordid imitation of the Lahore Resolution. He
opined that the Formula was only meant to sabotage the Lahore

Resolution, because it was contrary (o it.
The Quaid-i-Azam pointed out

inconsistencies in the Formula:
1) The League was asked to support the Congress for the independence

of India. In other words, the League was being accused that it had
hitherto been opposed to the Indian independence.

2) Who would appoint the boundary commission? Who would be its
members? Who would be responsible for the implementation of
the decisions of the commission?

3) The Formula envisaged the transfer of responsibilities but it did
not specify as to when and to whom these responsibilities would
be transferred; to the Hindus, to the Muslims or to both?

4) Instead of the Muslims, all the people were being given the

right to take part in the referendum.

|d come into force only when
power and responsibility

the following flaws and

——

1
The Indian Annial Register, 1944, Vol.II, pp.129-30.
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5) If the commission drew up the boundaries of the Mugjin
s majority districts, then afterwards, there would be no need fo;
any referendum.

6) Ra?agupnlmharia had claimed that his Formula ‘contained al}
those things which the Muslims had demanded in the Lahore |
Resolution.

The Quaid-i-Azam called the Formula “a parody and a negation” t
of the Lahore Resolution. To him it was “the greatest travesty” 1o say
that the Formula conceded all that the League had demanded. The
Quaid was of the view that the C.R. Formula was “ufferl!llg a shadow
and a husk, a maimed, mutilated and moth-eaten Pakistan”.

The Quaid further asked that if Gandhi and C.R. were ready to accept
the demand for Pakistan why they had concacted a new formula instead of
endorsing the Lahore Resolution straight away.? The interesting thing is
that, on one hand, the Quaid brought out the inConsistencies and
shortcomings in the C.R. Formula and, on the other, the Sikhs and the
Hindus, opened a united front against the Formula. Their opposition was
only due to the fact that they saw in it a slight touch of Pakistan. Criticising
the Formula, N.B. Khare, a member of the Viceroy's Executive Council
said, “It is obvious that Gandhi has accepted the proposals of

-Rajagopalacharia. These proposals would inevitably divide the country into
more than one political states. Gandhi had once said that the 1pal.rtit.it‘.unl't of

India was a sin but now he himself is ready to commit that sin”.
Presiding over the council of

the Bengal Provincial Hindu Sabha,
Shayama Prasad Mookerjee denounced the C.R. Formula under which

the country was being divided on communal lines. He called the
Formula an attempt to appease the fanaticism of Mr. Jinnah.

Whetting his fury over the idea of the partition of India envisaged in
the Formula, the President of the Hindu

_ personal property of Gandhi
or Rajagopalacharia who could present them as gifts to anyone. He
appealed to the Bengal Provincial Hindu Mahasabha 1o
week of August as “All-India Week” in order o oppose the C.R. Formula

Srinivasa Sastri of the Liberal Party alsq disliked the Formula. -
Gokal Chand Narang and other prominent Punjabi Hindy Seadats j

of the Punjab were
united to defend and safeguard the geographica) unity of Indjia. They

Ly Ry g Sm;; Receni Speeches anq Writings of p, Jinnah,
Lahore, 1952, Vol.IL, pp.158-59.

rhe Indian Annual Register, 1944, Vol.Il, pp.181-91,
3 :an Annual Register, 1944, Vol .Il, p.5.
The Indian rrar
4v.P.Menon, The Transfer of Power in India. Caleutta, 1957, p, |64
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jsimed that the Formula was only meant to dismember the country."
The Sikhs also vehemently denounced the Formula.

It would be interesting to note that besides the Hindu and Muslim
political leaders, the intellectuals and writers of that time also rejected
the C.R. Formula. D.N. Benarjea, the head of the Political Science

¢ at Dacca University, regarded this Formula as “harmful,
damaging, problematic and communal”. He believed that the Formula
was contradictory to the policies and objectives of the Congress. He
added that the Formula denounced and refuted the goal which the
Congress had been cherishing for the last sixty years.1

The question arises as to why Rajagopalacharia presented such a
vague and controversial formula. In the opinion of a Lahore daily, the
Eastern Times, the Formula was devised to discredit the All-India
Muslim League and the Quaid in the eyes of the people. At that time,
Sir Khizr Hayat Tiwana had started an all-out campaign, against the
League in the Punjab, that is why a very vague formula was presented
against the background of the Hindu-Muslim hostilities to entrap the
Muslim League. It was thought that in case of the League's acceptance
of the Formula, it would be induced to join a coalition government. n @
case of its rejection, the Leaguc a its leader would be condemned for
being obstinate and for creating hihdrances in the way of peace and
settlement of the communal problems In support of its viewpoint, the
newspaper quoted an extract from an editori.a! carried by a leading
newspaper, the Hindustan Times: “That so fair and whole-hearted an
offer should evoke such an irresponsible and ill-considered reply from
one who claims to speak for his community is nothing short of a

betrayal of his community and the country at large. It is now upto the
Muslim community 0 judge the nffer on its merits and find the leader

or leaders who will play the game”.

Pointing out to this conspiracy of the Congress, Governor-General
Lord Wavell, on July 11 1944, srcie i & report €0 Ahe Sectetary of
State for India, L.S. Amery. _‘Thc Congress newspapers have opened a
violent attack of Jinnah. | Thmk whalt it generally want is the
humiliation of innah and his remova from all India politics™.*

On July 12; 1?44, n another report, Lord Wavell wrote to L.S.
Amery, that -:Fajagnpalda;:_l}an? is probably sincere but believes
Pakistan impossible G;q dl sfm;ps are not known but he may wish to
assess the strength of Hindu fecling against Pakistan and at the same

—  nual Register, 1944, Vol II, p.11.
s
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time decrease Jinnah's prestige by spo:j:;filng Plan which is Ostensibly
€rous but most unlikely to be accepted”. e

5 lr)nes:nt:e alluil.s shortcoyminss. the C.R. Formula is significant in the

history of the sub-continent, because it was for the first lime that 5

prominent Hindu leader talked of an understanding with the Muslims on

the basis of the partition of India. Secondly, in September 1944, Jinnah ang

Gandhi held negotiations in Bombay on the basis of this very Formula,

JINNAH-GANDHI TALKS

On July 17, 1944, Gandhi wrote a letter to the Quaid exl?rcssiqg his
desire 10 have a meeting with him to discuss the on-going Hindy-

Muslim disputes. The Quaid-i-Azam agreed and the All-ln!@ Mﬁsl?m
League Working Committee empowered him to hold negotiayons with
M.K. Gandhi.

The first meeting between the two
September 9, at the Quaid's residenc
M

alabar Hill. This series of meetings continued til] September 23
During the course of these meetings, twenty-five hours were spent in
discussions. At the same time, both the leaders ::::I-,angod letters in
addition to the verbal discussions, The first letter Was written by the
Quaid-i-Azam on September 10, Again it was he, who wrote the Jast
letter on September 26. In all, 21 letters were exchanged. Out of which
11 were written by the Quaid and 10 by Gandhi. The failure of these
talks was announced on September 27.

The following important
the Jinnah-Gandhi talks:-

1) On September 8, 1944, even before the start of these talks,
Gandhi assured Hari Parsann, Mi

leaders was held in Bombay on
e at the Mount Pleasant Rodd,

points are noteworthy in connection with

. _ eration, that he would not
ignore even alsmgte interest of the Hindus nor he would
bargain over it.

2) Gandhi was taking part in the Negoliations in
capacity and the Quaid dig not like this Posture. These

discussions were useless as long as Gandh; did not negotiate in
the capacity of a representative of the Hindus or the Congress.
Moreover, there was no guarantee Congress would
approve any agreement reached between the 'Wo. Referring 10
this fact the Birmingham Post wrote in an editorial thay My
Gandhi talked as a free agent withgy, responsibil;

his personal

innah,

- LIV, p. 105
“The Transfer of Power 194247, Vol.IV, p 1055

Yrhe Indinr Annual Register, 1944, Vol I, i |I
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to be sure, already suggested otherwise —and it is perfectly true
as he now complains, that no ‘settlement’ could have been
effectively .negotiated by the two parties, one of whom
represented nobody but himself”.

3) Gandhi continued to insist that constitutional issues could be
resolved only when the third power was ousted. In that case, all
the communal disputes would be resolved. The Quaid-i-Azam, on
the other hand, argued that if mutual disputes were resolved, the
third power would automatically have to go. In this connection
Lord Wavell wrote to Amery, “Jinnah wants Pakistan first and
independence afterwards. While Gandhi wants independence first
with some kind of self-determination for Muslims to be granted
by a provincial government which would be predominantly
Hindu. Gandhi's ideal, though he is careful not to express it, is a
United India in which the Hindus, given a free rus, would
inevitably dominate the Muslims”." Throwing light on the real
intentions of Gandhi, the Governor of U.P. Maurice Hallett, wrote
on October 13, 1944, “The Gandhi-Jinnah talks have made the ¢
position clearer, they have shown that neither of these two leaders 1
have abandoned any of their former ideas; Jinnah emphasizes the
two-nation theory and Pakistan more strongly than before, and
clearly wants this question finally decided before the British
leave; Candhi, though he camouflages his position as usual, aims
at a Hindu Raj and adheres to the view that independence must
come before a settlement” 2

4) In the beginning, the C.R. Formula was discussed in the
parlance and in correspondence. Gandhi claimed that
Rajagqpalacharia had extracted the essence of the Lahore
Resolution and presented it in a well-defined shape. The
Quaid, on the other hand, alleged that the Formula had
mutilated the Lahore Resolution. When he pointed out the
shortcomings in the Formula, Gandhi retaliated with
condemning the Lahore Resolution as being ambiguous and
vague and full of flaws. He wanted the Quaid to answer fifteen
questions about the Lahore Resolution and the demand for
Pakistan. He called the Two-Nation Theory unrealistic.

In this connection, two letters can be referred to, which would
:’:a:l"f? helpful in understanding the minds and viewpoints of both the
e _;:Ts- In a letter written on September 15, M.K. Gandhi deplored

wo-Nation Theory and wrote, “I find no parallel in history for a

1
N
IThe ;’“Mf" of Power 1942-47, Vol.V, p.75.
ransfer of Power 1942-47, Vol.V, p.65.
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body of converts and their descendants claiming to be 2 natio

from their parent stock. If India was one nation before the ‘ﬁ:'
Islam, it must remain one in spite of the change of faith of 5 "ﬁ';;“ of
body of her children”. _ : arge

In reply the Quaid wrote, “We maintain and hold that Muslimg
Hindus are two major nations by any definition or test of 3 nation, W s
a nation of a hundred million and, what is more, we are 3 nation mﬂ: are
own distinctive culture and civilization, language and literature, gy our
architecture, names and nomenclature, sense of values and pn; nd

legal laws and moral codes, customs and calendar, history and trad;l' ﬁﬂrnsm
aptitude and ambitions. In short, we have our own distinctive outlook gp
life and of life. By all canons of international law we are a najop" 1

The Gandhi-Jinnah parleys broke down, because of differences on
such primary issues as the representative character of the All-India
Muslim League, the Two-Nation Theory — the bedrock of the Pakistan
demand and the scope and machinery of the plebiscite and Whether
independence should precede self-determination or vice versa,

Louis Fischer was justified in writing that there stood between Gandhi
and Jinnah, the wall of the Two-Nation Theory. The fate of these
ncgotiations was apparent right from the start, because all the Hindy
leaders were unanimous that the negotiations should be held only on the
basis of a United India and nothing should be talked about the partition of
India. M.S. Anney had expressed similar views at the start of these talks.’

Sir Chamanlal Setalvad expressed his delight at the failure of these
talks and said that he not at all regretted at the breakdown of the
negotiations, because they were based on the vicious principle of the
partition of India.‘ Dr. N.B. Khare while expressing his strong
opposition for the creation of Pakistan said, “I am glad that the failure

of the negotiations at last has been announced and that the proposal for
the vivisection of India has been buried — I hope for ever”. Without
mincing words he bluntly said that “Pakistan, as envisaged in the
Lahore Resolution, cannot be obtained by/negotiations; if at all, it can
be carved out only by the use of sword”.*

It is interesting to note the observations of the Muslims about the
Jinnah-Gandhi parleys. Khawja Shahab-ud-Din, Minister of Industries
& Trade, Bengal, was of the opinion that “The Congress and the nor
Muslims will soon realise that Pakistan is the only solution of the

"The Indian Annual Register, 1944, Vol.I1, p.142.
:'Louis Fischer, The Life of Mahatama Gandhi, Bombay, 1951, p.195.
‘Ta‘u Indian Annual Register, 1944, Vol.II, p.16.
¢ The Indian Annual Rgister, 1944, Vol.Il, p.156.
The Indian Annual Register, 1944, Vol.Il, p.157.
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jics and communal problem of India”. Moulvi Tamizuddin Khan,
pﬁﬂﬂ“““ Minister of Bengal, expressed full support of Muslim India
er e stand taken by the Quaid in the negotiations.
¢ Hindu press continued venomous propaganda about the

of India which formed the basis of the negotiations between

. and the Quaid. Commenting on the failure of the talks, the

mﬂn Times wrote, “The current negotiations indicate that some
wofmnfedmtiun can be the only solution to this problem”.

Reflecting a similar viewpoint the Hindustan Standard commented,
qtis not oppressed with any sense of disappointment at the failure for it
pever expected that any negotiation on the present basis would succeed”™.
The journal was confident that India would become independent at no
distant future and it would not be necessary to wait for an agreement with

M. Jinnah for this." The remarks made by the Amrita Bazar Patrika
(Calcutta) were quite interesting. The paper commented, “The procedure
adopted by Mr. Jinnah in the talks smacked more of a law court than of a
joint army headquarters. The lawyer in him got the better of Mr. Jirhah
s a patriot. His approach to some of the important questions was more
legalistic than practical”. The paper paid tributes to M.K. Gandhi for his
“inexhaustible patience”.

4n fact, the negotiations lacked the
Hindus were deliberately trying to take advanta
these negotiations. Pointing out to this fact, the Governor of C.P. and
Berar, H. Twynam wrote to Lord Wavell, “My information is that at
Sevagram itself there was never expectation of a successful outcome
and I incline to the view that the talks were designed to trap Jinnah into
an exhibition of unreasonableness which would be beneficial to the

Hindu case in the eyes of the world”.*

The Congress was successful in its endeavours. Thus, immediately
after the failure of the talks, besides the Hindu leaders and the Hindu press,
the British newspapers and the British politicians also started criticising the
Quaid-i-Azam. The views expressed by Governor-General, Lord Wavell,

»  were extremely hostile and full of bitter contempt and grudge.

IMPORTANCE

of mihazuf‘:;‘: Jinnah-Gandhi talks, in fact, was another victory
gk i and the All-India Muslim League. M.K. Gandhi
was:at Jaat mml;?m"‘“l of the idea of partitioning the sub-continent

upon to discuss this issue at length during the course

elemeat of seriousness. The
ge out of the failure of

1
The Indian Annual Register, 1944
' . v .
YThe Transfer of Power 1942-47, \fnl?n:' l':: ;lm.

iy




athon discussions. The Momning Neys -~
:;mm:nlgat;at the termination pf the talks was not a ‘failype’ b«:ﬁ’
good deal of mutual understanding had gone forth, from ope iy
other. Mr. Jinnah wanted a partition and Mr. Gandh; nutwi[hsunding“{t
assertions to the contrary, had been converted to grant jt ! hiy
According to Dawn (Delhi), “The failure of t,
more as a stage of proceedings than the filing o
petition”. The paper stressed some lessons 0
"The lesson of the talks is that Mr. R
succeeded in winning over Mr. Gandhj
self-determination for the Muslims of |

to other elements on whose cooperation the Congress woylq
We do not know if any tactics are applied, byt the Muslim
have a better inkling of the mind of the Mahatma and the valye o -

solidarity in their ranks. Our earnest anticipation is that there wil] p, |
greater efforts for mutual accommodation on the Part of the Hingy |
despite the door banged by Mr. Gandhi, Mr. ] innah, it is clear from b
letters, put the Muslim ¢

ase with precision and Profound faith ip pg
cause and Muslims are fortunate that in him they hgve a leader,
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These negotiations afforded an Opportunity to the Qu;jd-i-Azam ]
cxplain all the doubts and ambiguities aboyt

the. Two-Nation Theory
and the demand for Pakistan.

These talks further strengt™.cned the position of the Quaid-i-Azam
According to an Indijan writer, “these talks were 5 clear-cut victory of M.
A. Jinnah and, in this way, he had won half the battle for Pakistan", The
reputation and .position of the Quaid Was considerably boosted by these
talks. Moreover, the standpoint of the Teague was also strengthened,?

'The Indian Annual Register, 1944, Vol 11, p. 160,

z‘i"JFu- Indian Annual Register, 1944, Vol II, p.159,

%S.K.Majumdar, Jinnah and Gandhi - Thei, Role in , s Quess o
Freedom, Lahore, 1976, p.208.
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—  WAVELL PLAN/
I SIMLA CONFERENCE

'
On June 14,1945, Lord Wavell in Delhi and L.S. Amery, the Secretary
: 2 in the House of Commons announced that the Government
would make some interim arrangements about the reorganisation of the
Governor-General’s Executive Council. The following arrangements put
fmwdbyl.nrdWwaﬂ are known as the Wavell Plan.

1) TttExemi'eCouncilufmcGovmm-Gcmﬂmuldbe
reconstituted. All the members of the Council, except the
Governor-General and the Commander-in-Chief would be Indians.

7) The Governor-General would convene a meeting of the party
leaders, the provincial chief ministers and the ex-chief
ministers, the deputy leader of the League and the Congress in
the Legislative Assembly, the leaders of the Congress and the
League in the Council of State so that they may propose the

names of the members of the new Council.

The, Hindus were hoping that they would be in majority at the Centre
and, in case of no compromise, their influence and authority would be
established over the whole country. For this reason, the Hindus gave an
immediate approval to these proposals. M.K. Gandhi did nol attend the
Simla Conference, because he claimed that he did not represent the
Congress. Preliminary talks were heid at Simla on June 24, 1945.

The Quaid-i-Azam, who was invited telegraphically to attend the
Conference, readily accepted the invitation and in his telegraphic reply
assured the Viceroy of his full cooperation bul sought some
clarifications with regard to the proposals embodied in his recent policy
statement and asked him to postpone the Conference for a fortnight so
that he might be able w0 discuss Government's new initiative with his
Wurt;:'. g Committee. The Viceroy was pleased 10 hear about the

Quu%; cooperative attitude but refused (o postpone the Conference.
v .The Quaid paricipated in the Simla Conference not only (o make
e mh“““‘m‘i:“b“ﬂ?a solution of the knotty problem, but also to see
ic demands were conceded.

e 3
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THE SIMLA CONFERENCE

» . _ |
The Conference started at the Viceregal Lodge, Slml:n, On June s
1945, at 11,00 a.m. All the invitees except M.K. Ganqn; attendeg llu
Conference. The Viceroy addressed the first session eXpressing
Government’s viewpoint regarding new plan :?f action. Abuy] Kalap
Azad, the Congress President and after him Qua:d—l.{uaml Presideny 5
the League, addressed the second (aﬁmu?on) session explaining (y,
positions and viewpoints of their respective parties. Then followeg
general discussions. Controversy arose on the quession of parity
between the Caste Hindus, the Muslims, and the nomination of gy,

“representative of various minorities to compose Viceroy's Executiye

Council. The Muslim seats particularly became a bone of contentiop !

The main parties were asked to submit a list of nominees from whicy
Lord Wavell was to select his councillors. The Quaid rejected th;s
procedure on two grounds. Firstly, he demanded that all Muslim
appointed to the Council should be from among the All-thdia Muslip
League; while the Congress insisted on nominating twb Muslims of jis
own. Secondly, as the Eastern Times wrote that only the penetrating cye
of a gnstitutiunalist of the stature of the Quaid could see that what was
being offered as an interim arrangement was in reality a dangerous trap

The Quaid contended that as there was no constitutional provision
in the offer or anywhere else to prevent this interim-arrangement from
becoming permanent so that if it once got going, the likelihood was that
it would remain in force for an indefinite period and make the way
smooth for the establishment of a Hindu-dominated unitary central
government, reducing the Muslims for ever to political servitude.’

The Quaid insisted that instead of making temporary arrangements,
permanent constitutional solution be sought and that the principle of
Pakistan must be recognised first. The Quaid feared that if the League
accepted the Wavell Plan, “the Pakistan” issue will be shelved and put
in cold storage indefinitely”

The Quaid wrote to Lord Wavell asking him to choose Muslim
members only from the Muslim League. Wavell in reply refused 10
E::.a gharantee to meet Quaid’s demand and again appealed to him [0
Cun::s:itt;:: list of nominees, The Quaid, after consulting his Working

» Wrote to Wavell, reminding him that in the absence of the

l—-—-— S
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oquired assurances, he could not do what the Viceroy wanted.
Thereupo™, Lord v{avcll, after cupsulung Amery, drew up his own list
of 14 including four Muslim Leaguers. And on the instructions
of he arranged an interview with the Quaid to seek his consent
¢ he refused even 10 discuss the names unless he could be giyen the
right to select the Muslim members for the Council, otfierwise,
he clearly told the Viceroy, the League would not cooperate. The
Viceroy remained unreconciled on this issue and was finally compelled
i abandon his plan. The Conference thus ended in fiasco on July 14.
Though the Viceroy took the responsibility for the failure upon himself,
the Quaid was widely criticised for his so-called “intransigence”. The
failure of the Conference, however, had weakened the position of the
Muslim Unionists and Nationalists while it had enhanced and
srengthened the position of both the Quaid-i-Azam and the League.

The Simla Conference failed mainly because of the refusal of the
British Government and the Congress to recognise the All-India
Muslim League as the only representative body of Muslim India.

The British press, as usual, blamed the Quaid for causing this
failure. The Times found the Quaid’s claim to appoint all Muslim
members as “extreme proposition”. The Observer put the most obvious

blame on the Quaid, but reminded the Congress leaders, who were now
pluming themselves on their cooperative attitude, that their past
was responsible for his intransigence. The

treatment of the Muslims
Manchester Guardian and the New Statesman all held responsible the

Quaid for the failure of the Simla Conference.!

Now the only way left for the League to justify its claim was to go
to the electorate. Hence the All-India Muslim League under the Quaid's
guidance now emphatically demanded fresh general elections which
were overdue since long. The Congress was also in favour of fresh
general elections. Other organizations, 00, joined in the demand.

The Government, under the mounting political pressure, was
compelled to hold elections in th:.winler of 1945-46. The All-India
Muslim League, on the issue of lfa|lustan §nd the Congress on the basis
of its Quit India resolution participated in the elections. The League
had not done well during the general elections of 1937, But it had
performed remarkably wf:ll in the by-:lecr:ions held during 1937-45.
Now in the gen:ral e_lecuqns qf 1945.-46, it astonished everybody by
achieving overwhelming Victories. It swept all the Muslim seats in the
Contal Assembly and captured as many as 428 out of 492 Muslim
scats in the pmvincul Ieg_tslamres. Nu?w the League's claim to dpeik
behalf of the Muslim India was fully vindicated. . .

. Britain and Muslim India, London, 1963, pp.159.60
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THE CABINET MISSION PLAN ™
(1946)

The continuous sapping of energies and resources during the six
of the Second World War left Britain tired and impoverished. Besides, iy
India itself for the first time after the War of Independence there 0]
mutiny in the Royal Indian Navy on February 18, 1946. The Brifg |
Government now realised that it would not be possible to rule India wig
the help of the army and the sooner India was given independence the
better it would be. In these circumstances the Secretary of State for Indiz
Lord Pethick Lawrence on February 19, 1946, announced the formation of
the Cabinet Mission to solve the Indian political tangle.

The Cabinet Mission consisted of A.V. Alexander, Pethick Lawrence
and Stafford Cripps. In a statemient, the Quaid-i-Azam said that he wouk
try to convince the members of the Mission that the partition of India was
the only and the best solution to the whole problem.!

On March 15, 1946, while announcing the appointment of the Cabinet
Mission, the British Prime Minister Clement Attlee stated in the House of
Commons, “We are mindful of the rights of the minorities and that
minorities should be able to live free from fear. But we would not allow
any minority to place a veto or obstruct the advance of the majority”.
Criticising the viewpoint of Attlee, the Quaid said, “T regret that Mr. Atlee
has done the rope-walking when he says ‘we cannot allow a minority 0 |
place a veto on the advance of a majority’ and yet he has fallen into the trap |
of false propaganda. There is no question of veto or holding up the
progress or advance of the majority. The issue is, to give a simile, says th
spider to the fly, ‘walk into my parlour’ and if the fly refuses, it is said IM

the veto is being exercised and the fly is intransigent”? The Quaid's
rejoinder forced Attlee to clarify that “That does not mean that the
reasonable claims of minorities are to be disregarded™

—— e m——

!Jamiluddin Ahmad (ed.), Speeches and Writings of Mr. Jinnah, Lahore, VolIl, p27"
ISpcechc.r and Writings of Mr. Jinnah, Vol.l, pp.276-77.
The Transfer of Power 1942-47, VoLVIL p.6.
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THE

ve statement of Attlee clearly indicates that till then he

mroﬁ; to accept the Muslims as a separate and distinct nation.
s 101 1SR conception of Atle, the Quaid said, “We arc not 8
| RefuinB 08 T nation and it s our birthright to get the right of self
e

. » The Congress, however, expressed great delight at
[t assumed that perhaps the British Government had

All-India Muslim League.

MlThc gecretary of State for India on his arrival at Karachi on March
| 43, 1946, explained the purpose that “It is, in conjunction, with Lord
L el to discuss with the Indian leaders and selected representatives
W!Wbc;r 1o speed the fulfilment of your aspirations (0 full control of
w own affairs, and thus to enable us to complete the transfer of
B asibility”. The Mission continued to hold discussions and
;s:;?ﬂuliuns with the leaders of the political parties, provipcial chief
ministers and opposition leaders for almost two weeks. Sir Stafford
Cripps, Who was the most active member of lhft Mission, was upf.:nly
siding with the COngress. Welcoming the appointment of the Cabinet
Mission the Congress President Shri Abul Kalam Azad said, “One
thing seemed absolutely clear to me. The new British Government was

vot shirking the Indian problem but facing it boldly”." _
The Congress President had a meeting with the members of the
delegation on April 3 and told them about his viewpoint. The Congress was
eager that the task of formulating the new constitution should be given to a
constituent assembly. It believed that the best solution to all the problems
of India lay in the federal system with maximum powers given to the
provinces. It believed that the federal government should only deal with
defence, foreign affairs and communications. The Congress did not even
wish to consider the idea of the partition of India. Azad told his “honest and

sincere view” that the kind of Pakistan they were u::!king about would be

injurious and harmful and do the Muslims no good™.

On the next day, the Quaid-i-Azam had a meeting with Lord
Wavell and members of the Mission. The Quaid attracted their attention
towards the fact that throughout her history from the days of Chandra
g:pu there had never been any government of India in the sense of a
Mdlsl; Eﬂ\'ernment‘. The Quaid told them